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In the opinion of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, Bond Counsel, assuming continuing compliance by the Issuer after the date of delivery of the
Series 2018 Bonds with certain covenants described in the Bond Indenture and Loan Agreement, and subject to the matters described herein under
“Tax Matters” herein, interest on the Series 2018 Bonds for federal income tax purposes under existing statutes, requlations, published rulings, and
court decisions (1) will be excludable from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) to the date of delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds and (2) will not be included in computing the alternative
minimum taxable income of individuals or, except as described herein, corporations. See “TAX MATTERS” herein.
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Dated: Date of Issuance Due: July 15, as shown below

The Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation Revenue Refunding Bonds (Army Retirement Residence Foundation Project) Series 2018
(the “Series 2018 Bonds”) are being issued to refund certain bonds previously issued to finance and refinance a portion of the costs relating to certain capital
improvements made to the continuing care retirement community known as the “Army Residence Community” or “ARC,” which is owned by Army Retirement
Residence Supporting Foundation (the “Borrower”) and operated by The Army Retirement Residence Foundation - San Antonio (the “Corporation” and together
with the Borrower, the “Co-Obligors”). See “PLAN OF FINANCING.”

The Series 2018 Bonds are issuable only as fully registered bonds initially in denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof. All of the Series 2018
Bonds initially will be maintained under a book-entry system and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as registered owner and nominee for The Depository Trust
Company (“DTC”), New York, New York. DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2018 Bonds. Purchases of the Series 2018 Bonds will be in book-
entry form only. So long as the Series 2018 Bonds are maintained under a book-entry system, payments of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on
the Series 2018 Bonds will be made when due by The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as bond trustee (the “Bond Trustee”), to DTC in accordance
with the Bond Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement between the Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation, a nonstock nonprofit health
facilities development corporation (the “Issuer”), duly organized and existing pursuant to the provisions of the Texas Health Facilities Development Act, Chapter
221, Health and Safety Code, as amended (the “Act”), and the Bond Trustee (the “Bond Indenture”), and the Bond Trustee will have no obligation to make any
payments to any beneficial owner of any Series 2018 Bonds. See “THE SERIES 2018 BONDS -- Book-Entry Only System.” The first Interest Payment Date for
the Series 2018 Bonds will be July 15, 2018.

The Series 2018 Bonds will be issued under and pursuant to (i) the constitution and statutes of the State of Texas (the “State”), including the Act, in
conformity with the provisions, restrictions and limitations thereof and (ii) the Bond Indenture.

The Series 2018 Bonds will constitute limited obligations of the Issuer payable solely from payments by the Borrower to the Issuer pursuant to the Loan
Agreement between the Issuer and the Borrower (the “Loan Agreement”) and under the promissory note (a “Note”) issued by the Borrower under the terms of
the Master Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement by and among the Co-Obligors, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as master trustee
(the “Master Trustee”), as amended and supplemented. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2018 BONDS.”

The Series 2018 Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer. None of Bexar County, Texas (the “County’), the State or any political
subdivision thereof, including the Issuer, shall be obligated to pay the Series 2018 Bonds or the interest thereon except from the revenues and
moneys pledged therefor, and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the County, the State or any political subdivision thereof,
including the Issuer, is pledged to the payment of the principal of or the interest on the Series 2018 Bonds. The Issuer has no taxing power.
The Series 2018 Bonds do not constitute, within the meaning of any statutory or constitutional provision, an indebtedness, an obligation or a
loan of credit of the State, the County, the Issuer or any other municipality, county or other municipal or political corporation or subdivision
of the State. The Series 2018 Bonds do not create a moral obligation on the part of the State, the County or any other municipality, county or
other municipal or political corporation or subdivision of the State, and each such entity is prohibited by the Act from making any payments with
respect to the Series 2018 Bonds.

The Series 2018 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as described herein under
“The Series 2018 Bonds -- Redemption Provisions.”

$11,395,000 SerIAL Bonps

Due INTEREST Due INTEREST
(Jury 15) AMOUNT RATE YIELD CUSIP (JuLy 15) AMOUNT RATE YIELD CUSIP

2018 $ 885,000 4.00% 1.98% 088354FX8 2024 $1,065,000 5.00% 3.07% 088354GD1
2019 845,000 5.00 2.15 088354FY6 2025 1,120,000 5.00 3.24 088354GE9
2020 880,000 5.00 2.36 088354FZ3 2026 1,170,000 5.00 3.40 088354GF6
2021 925,000 5.00 2.54 088354GA7 2027 1,230,000 5.00 3.54%* 088354GG4
2022 970,000 5.00 2.73 088354GB5 2028 1,285,000 5.00 3.65* 088354GH2
2023 1,020,000 5.00 2.92 088354GC3

$7,430,000 5.00% Term Bonds due July 15, 2033 - Yield 3.910% ** CUSIP 088354GJ8
$6,400,000 5.00% Term Bonds due July 15, 2037 - Yield 4.02% *** CUSIP 088354GK5
$3,315,000 5.00% Term Bonds due July 15, 2042 - Yield 4.10% *** CUSIP 088354GL3

The Series 2018 Bonds are offered, subject to prior sale, when, as and if issued by the Issuer and accepted by the Underwriter, subject to the approval of
certain legal matters by Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, San Antonio, Texas, Bond Counsel and counsel to the Issuer, the approval of certain legal matters by
Foley & Lardner LLP, Chicago, Illinois, counsel to the Co-Obligors, and McKennon Shelton & Henn LLP, Baltimore, Maryland, counsel to the Underwriter, and to
certain other conditions. It is expected that the Series 2018 Bonds will be available for delivery on or about February 28, 2018.

RAYMOND JAMES”®

*Yield to July 15, 2023, the first optional call date for the Series 2018 Bonds.
*#*Yield to July 15, 2026.
#Yield to July 15, 2028.




IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT
TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE SERIES 2018 BONDS AT A LEVEL
ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED,
MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

No dealer, broker, sales representative or other person has been authorized by the Issuer, the Co-Obligors or the Underwriter
to give any information or to make any representation other than as contained in this Official Statement and, if given or made, such other
information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing. This Official Statement does
not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Series 2018 Bonds by any person in
any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. The information set forth herein has been
obtained from the Co-Obligors and other sources that are deemed to be reliable but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness and
is not to be construed as a representation by the Issuer. This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between
the Issuer and the purchasers or holders of any of the Series 2018 Bonds.

The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities
to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not
guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

CUSIP numbers on the cover page of this Official Statement are subject to a copyright of the American Bankers Association.
CUSIP numbers herein are provided by CUSIP Global Services, which is managed by S&P Capital IQ, a division of McGraw-Hill
Financial, and none of the Issuer, the Underwriter or the Co-Obligors takes any responsibility for the accuracy thereof. CUSIP numbers
are not intended to create a database and do not serve in any way as a substitute for CUSIP Global Services.

Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute “forward looking statements.”
Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used, such as “plan,” “expect,” “estimate,” “budget,” “forecast” or other
similar words. Such forward-looking statements include, among others, certain of the information in “Certain Bondholders’ Risks”
herein and in Appendix A. The achievement of certain results or other expectations in such forward looking statements involves known
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results, performance or achievements described to be
materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. The
Co-Obligors do not plan to issue any updates or revisions to those forward looking statements if or when its expectations, or events,
conditions or circumstances on which such statements are based, occur or fail to occur.
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All quotations from and summaries and explanations of provisions of laws and documents herein do not purport to be
complete and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete statements of their provisions. Any statements made
in this Official Statement involving estimates or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended merely as estimates
or opinions and not as representations of fact. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice,
and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale of the Series 2018 Bonds shall under any circumstances create any
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer or the Co-Obligors since the date hereof.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
relating to

$28,540,000
BEXAR COUNTY HEALTH FACILITIES DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS
(ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE FOUNDATION PROJECT)
SERIES 2018

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
General

This Official Statement, the cover page (exclusive of prices and yields) and appendices
set forth certain information for use in connection with the issuance by Bexar County Health
Facilities Development Corporation (the “Issuer”), a nonstock nonprofit health facilities
development corporation duly organized and existing pursuant to the provisions of the Health
Facilities Development Act, Chapter 221, Texas Health and Safety Code, as amended, in
conformity with the provisions, restrictions and limitations thereof (the “Act”), of its Revenue
Refunding Bonds (Army Retirement Residence Foundation Project) Series 2018 (the “Series
2018 Bonds”). The Series 2018 Bonds are issued under and pursuant to (i) the constitution and
statutes of the State of Texas (the “State” or “Texas”), including the Act, and (ii) a Bond
Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement (the “Bond Indenture”) between the Issuer and The
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as bond trustee (the “Bond Trustee”). For the
definitions of certain other words and terms used in this Official Statement, see Appendix C-1
and Appendix C-2.

The Series 2018 Bonds are being issued at the request of Army Retirement Residence
Supporting Foundation, a nonprofit, non-stock membership corporation organized and existing
under the laws of the State (the “Borrower”), in order (i) to refund all of the Issuer’s outstanding
Refunding Revenue Bonds (Army Retirement Residence Foundation Project), Series 2007 (the
“Series 2007 Bonds”) in the aggregate principal amount of $17,585,000 (the “Refunded Series
2007 Bonds”) and all of the outstanding Issuer’s Revenue Bonds (Army Retirement Residence
Foundation Project), Series 2012-1 and Series 2012-2 (the “Series 2012 Bonds”) in the aggregate
principal amount of $14,775,000 (the “Refunded Series 2012 Bonds” and together with the
Refunded Series 2007 Bonds, the “Refunded Bonds”), the proceeds of which were applied to
finance and refinance the costs relating to certain capital projects of the Borrower with respect to
the Community (as defined below), and (ii) to pay certain costs of the issuing the Series 2018
Bonds. See “PLAN OF FINANCING.” The proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds will be loaned
to the Borrower pursuant to a loan agreement between the Issuer and the Borrower (the “Loan
Agreement”).

Upon the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds and the refunding of the Refunded Bonds
there will remain outstanding under the Master Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement dated
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as of January 1, 2007 (sometimes referred to herein as the “Original Master Indenture) among
the Borrower and the Corporation, as the members of the Obligated Group (collectively, the
“Co-Obligors” or sometimes referred to as “members of the Obligated Group”) and The Bank of
New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as master trustee (the “Master Trustee”), as amended
and supplemented (as so amended and supplemented, the “Master Indenture”), $85,580,000
aggregate principal amount of indebtedness constituting Secured Debt under the Master
Indenture secured equally and ratably on parity with the obligations of the Borrower under the
Loan Agreement with respect to the Series 2018 Bonds. See “PARITY DEBT.”

The Borrower owns the Army Residence Community (the “Community”), a continuing
care retirement community also known as the “ARC” which offers three levels of care on its
approximately 150-acre campus located in San Antonio, Texas to approximately 750 residents,
consisting of independent living, assisted living and skilled nursing care, which is managed and
operated by The Army Retirement Residence Foundation — San Antonio (the “Corporation™).
The Corporation is a nonprofit, non-stock membership corporation organized and existing under
the laws of the District of Columbia. The Community is the sole continuing care retirement
community owned by the Borrower and operated by the Corporation and is accredited by the
Continuing Care Accreditation Commission of the American Association of Homes and Services
for the Aging.

For detailed information concerning the Borrower, the Corporation, and the Community,
see Appendix A. Appendix B sets forth recent audited consolidated financial statements of the
Borrower and Affiliates, audited by Fisher, Herbst & Kemble, P.C., independent auditors. Such
financial statements include an affiliate of the Borrower, South Texas Army Residence
Beverages, Inc., that is not a member of the Obligated Group and has no liability with respect to
the Series 2018 Bonds.

Certain risk factors that should be considered by prospective investors in the Series 2018
Bonds with respect to the Co-Obligors and the Series 2018 Bonds is set forth herein under the
heading “CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS.” No prospective purchaser of the Series 2018
Bonds should make a decision to purchase any Series 2018 Bonds without first reading and
considering in full the information under the caption “CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS” to
determine the suitability of investing in the Series 2018 Bonds.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]



ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The estimated uses and the sources of funds are as follows:

Sources of funds:

Series 2018 BONAS ....eiiiiuiiiiieiiiee e $28,540,000
Original iSSUE PIEIMIUITL ....c..vieeiieeiieesieesiieeteeetteesebeesseessseeesseessseessseesssseessseenns 2,477,109
Amounts on deposit in funds pledged to Series 2007 Bonds..........ccceecveenvennnnne. 1,811,372
Amounts on deposit in funds pledged to Series 2012 Bonds.........ccccvveevvveennnnns 562,062
Equity CONIIDULION.......eetieiieiieiteiteiteiteste ettt sete st esae et e enteeneeenseenes 147,326
Total sources of fUnds .......coccoeveeviiiiiniini e $33.537.869
Uses of funds:
Amount required to refund the Refunded Bonds ..........cccoeevieeiiiiiieniinniieiien, $32,769,293
COStS OF ISSUANCE ... 768.576 D
Total uses Of fUNAS ....occvieiieiieece e $33.537.869

(1) Includes the Underwriter’s discount, certain fees and expenses of the financial advisors to the Issuer and the Co-Obligors, Bond Counsel, legal
counsel to the Co-Obligors, the Issuer and the Underwriter and certain accounting fees, as well as printing costs, fees and expenses of the Bond
Trustee and the Master Trustee and other miscellaneous expenses.

PLAN OF FINANCING

The proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds and other available funds will be used (i) to
refund the Refunded Bonds and (ii) to pay the Underwriter’s compensation and other
administrative, legal, financing and miscellaneous expenses related to the issuance of the Series
2018 Bonds. See “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.”

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Issuer will lend the proceeds of the Series 2018
Bonds to the Borrower. Under the Loan Agreement, the Borrower has agreed to make payments
to the Bond Trustee to provide for the full and prompt payment when due of the principal of,
premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2018 Bonds. The obligation of the Borrower to pay
the Series 2018 Bonds will be secured by a promissory note of the Borrower in principal amount
equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Series 2018 Bonds (the “2018 Note”). The 2018
Note will constitute Secured Debt under the Master Indenture. Pursuant to the Bond Indenture,
the Issuer will assign to the Bond Trustee all of its right, title and interest in and to the Loan
Agreement and the 2018 Note, except for Indemnity Payments.

In order to effect the refunding of the Refunded Bonds, a portion of the proceeds of the
Series 2018 Bonds and other available money will be applied to the purchase of United States
government securities or ownership interests therein (collectively, “Federal Securities”), which
will be deposited with The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (in its capacity as
escrow agent and as bond trustee for the Series 2007 Bonds) and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association (in its capacity as escrow agent and as bond trustee for the Series 2012 Bonds) under
Escrow Deposit Agreements, each among the Issuer, the respective escrow deposit agent and
bond trustee and the Borrower. Such Federal Securities will be payable as to principal and
interest at such times and in such amounts as will be sufficient, together with any initial cash
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deposit, (i) to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunded Series 2007 Bonds upon their
redemption on or about March 30, 2018 and (ii) to pay the principal of and interest on the
Refunded Series 2012 Bonds upon their redemption on or about March 30, 2018. See
“Verification of Mathematical Computations.” Such Federal Securities will be pledged only to
the payment of the Refunded Bonds and will not be available for the payment of the Series 2018
Bonds. After the deposit of the Federal Securities and cash as described above, the Issuer and
the Co-Obligors will be discharged from all of their obligations with respect to the Refunded
Bonds.

The obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement and the 2018 Note will be
secured by the lien of the Master Indenture, together with the other outstanding Secured Debt
previously issued under the Master Indenture. The Master Indenture provides for the creation of
an Obligated Group, currently consisting of the Co-Obligors, whose members are jointly and
severally liable for the payment of obligations secured by the Master Indenture on a parity basis,
including the note securing the Issuer’s Revenue Bonds (Army Retirement Residence
Foundation Project), Series 2010 (the “Series 2010 Bonds” and such note being referred to
herein as the “2010 Note”), and the note securing the Issuer’s Revenue Refunding Bonds (Army
Retirement Residence Foundation Project), Series 2016 (the “Series 2016 Bonds” and such note
being referred to herein as the “2016 Note” and the 2010 Note and the 2016 Note being referred
to herein together as the “Existing Notes™), the 2018 Note and any other notes outstanding from
time to time in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Master Indenture that constitute
Secured Debt. See “PARITY DEBT.”

As security for the performance of its obligations under the Master Indenture, the
Obligated Group has granted a security interest to the Master Trustee in its Revenues and certain
other property of the Obligated Group. In addition, as security for the performance of its
obligations under the Master Indenture, the Borrower and the Corporation have each granted to
the Master Trustee a lien on the Community and the site thereof (the “Mortgaged Premises”) and
a security interest in certain tangible and intangible personal property of the Borrower and the
Corporation under a Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents and Leases, and Security Agreement, as
amended and supplemented (the “Deed of Trust”). The liens created by the Master Indenture
and the Deed of Trust are subject to certain Permitted Encumbrances and the right of the
Borrower and the Corporation to dispose of assets and to obtain a partial release of the Deed of
Trust, in each case under certain circumstances. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2018 BONDS -- Loan Agreement and Deed of Trust,”
“FACILITIES AND SERVICES -- Mortgaged Property” in Appendix A and “Covenants and
Warranties -- Limitation on Disposition of Assets” in the conformed copy of the Master
Indenture Supplement No. 1 included in Appendix C-1. The Borrower and the Corporation are
currently the only members of the Obligated Group under the Master Indenture.



THE SERIES 2018 BONDS
General

The Series 2018 Bonds are dated as of February 1, 2018 but will bear interest from the
date of their initial delivery at the rates set forth on the cover page of this Official Statement,
payable on July 15, 2018, and semiannually thereafter on each January 15 and July 15 and,
subject to the redemption and purchase provisions set forth below, will mature on the dates and
in the amounts set forth on the cover page of this Official Statement.

The Series 2018 Bonds are issued only as fully registered bonds in denominations of
$5,000 and integral multiples thereof. The Series 2018 Bonds initially shall be maintained under
a book-entry system. Beneficial Owners shall have no right to receive physical possession of the
Series 2018 Bonds and payments of the principal and Redemption Price of and interest on the
Series 2018 Bonds will be made as described below under “Book-Entry Only System.”

If the book-entry system is discontinued, interest on the Series 2018 Bonds will be
payable by check mailed by the Bond Trustee to the persons in whose names the Series 2018
Bonds are registered as of the Regular Record Date for each Interest Payment Date (or such
other day as shall be established by the Bond Trustee as described under “Terms and Issue of the
Bonds -- Payment of Interest on Bonds; Interest Rights Preserved” in the proposed form of the
Bond Indenture included in Appendix C-2) at the address shown on the registration books
maintained by the Bond Trustee, which is registrar and paying agent for the Series 2018 Bonds
and the principal or Redemption Price of the Series 2018 Bonds will be payable only upon
presentation and surrender of such Bonds at the principal corporate trust office of the Bond
Trustee.

Redemption Provisions
Optional Redemption

The Series 2018 Bonds maturing on and after July 15, 2024 will be subject to optional
redemption prior to their Stated Maturity at any time beginning on July 15, 2023 at the option of
the Issuer, at the direction of the Borrower, in whole or in part, and, if in part, in denominations
of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof, at the following prices, expressed as percentages of the
principal amount of the Series 2018 Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest thereon to the
date set for redemption:

Period During Which Redeemed (both dates inclusive) Redemption Price

July 15, 2023 through July 14, 2024 105%
July 15, 2024 through July 14, 2025 104
July 15, 2025 through July 14, 2026 103
July 15, 2026 through July 14, 2027 102
July 15, 2027 through July 14, 2028 101
July 15, 2028 and thereafter 100



Sinking Fund Redemption

The Series 2018 Bonds maturing on July 15, 2033, July 15, 2037 and July 15, 2042 will
be subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest

to the redemption date, without premium, from mandatory sinking fund redemption on each July
15 as follows:

BONDS MATURING JULY 15, 2033

Date (July 15) Sinking Fund Installment
2029 $1,350,000
2030 1,410,000
2031 1,490,000
2032 1,550,000
2033* 1,630,000
*Stated maturity

BONDS MATURING JULY 15, 2037

Date (July 15) Sinking Fund Installment
2034 $1,150,000
2035 1,205,000
2036 1,265,000
2037* 2,780,000
*Stated maturity

BONDS MATURING JULY 15, 2042

Date (July 15) Sinking Fund Installment
2038 $595,000
2039 630,000
2040 660,000
2041 700,000
2042%* 730,000
*Stated maturity

The principal amount of Series 2018 Bonds so to be redeemed in any year shall be
reduced, upon Borrower Request, by an amount equal to the principal amount of Series 2018
Bonds (a) surrendered uncancelled and in transferable form by the Borrower to the Bond Trustee
not less than sixty (60) days prior to such Redemption Date or (b) redeemed (not less than sixty
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(60) days prior to such Redemption Date) pursuant to optional or extraordinary optional
redemption, if in either case such Series 2018 Bonds shall not have previously served as the
basis for any such reduction.

The average lives of the Series 2018 Bonds maturing on July 15, 2033, July 15, 2037 and
July 15, 2042 are approximately 13.475 years, 18.267 years and 22.483 years, respectively.

Extraordinary Optional Redemption

The Series 2018 Bonds are subject to extraordinary optional redemption by the Issuer,
upon the request of the Borrower not more than 90 days after the occurrence of the event
described below and not less than 60 days prior to the date of redemption in whole or in part and,
if in part, in denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof, on any date within such 90
day period at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof (without premium) plus
accrued interest thereon to the date set for redemption, without premium:

(1) in whole or in part, if any property of the Borrower shall have been
damaged or destroyed to the extent that, in the reasonable judgment of the Borrower, (a)
restoration and repair of a substantial portion of the properties of the Borrower is required and
either could not reasonably be expected to be completed within a period of six months or is not
economically practicable or desirable or (b) the Borrower is prevented or would likely be
prevented from using a substantial portion of its properties for their normal purposes for a period
of six months or more; or

(2) in whole or in part, if title to any property of the Borrower or the use or
possession thereof shall have been taken or condemned by a competent authority for any public
use or purpose to such an extent that the Borrower is prevented or, in the reasonable judgment of
the Borrower, would likely be prevented from using a substantial portion of its properties for
their normal purposes for a period of six months or more or the repair, rebuilding or restoration
of such property or the acquisition of other property of at least equal value and economic utility
to that taken or condemned and suitable for the proper and efficient operation of the properties of
the Borrower is substantial and is not economically practicable or desirable.

Selection of Bonds to Be Redeemed

If fewer than all of the Series 2018 Bonds are to be optionally redeemed or redeemed
pursuant to an extraordinary redemption, the Series 2018 Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected
not more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date by the Borrower and the particular Series
2018 Bonds of a maturity to be redeemed shall be selected not more than 60 days prior to the
Redemption Date by the Bond Trustee, by lot or such method as the Bond Trustee shall deem
fair and appropriate from the Series 2018 Bonds which have not previously been called for
redemption (and except in the case of mandatory sinking fund redemptions of the Series 2018
Bonds which were outstanding on the date of the Borrower’s election to optionally redeem any
of the Series 2018 Bonds). If less than all the Series 2018 Bonds are to be redeemed, the
particular Series 2018 Bonds to be redeemed pursuant to the mandatory sinking fund redemption
schedule for the Series 2018 Bonds shall be selected not more than 60 days prior to the
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Redemption Date by the Bond Trustee, by lot or such method as the Bond Trustee shall deem
fair and appropriate, from the Series 2018 Bonds subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption
pursuant to the Bond Indenture which have not previously been called for redemption. See
“Selection by Bond Trustee of Bonds to be Redeemed; Possible Serialization of Bonds” in the
proposed form of the Bond Indenture included in Appendix C-2.

So long as the Series 2018 Bonds are maintained under a book-entry system, if fewer
than all of the Series 2018 Bonds of any one maturity are to be redeemed or purchased as
described in the foregoing paragraph, the selection of individual ownership interests in the Series
2018 Bonds to be credited with any partial redemption or purchase shall be made as described
below under “Book-Entry Only System.” At any other time, if fewer than all of the Series 2018
Bonds of any one maturity shall be called for redemption or purchase, the particular Series 2018
Bonds to be redeemed or purchased shall be selected by the Bond Trustee, by such method as the
Bond Trustee shall deem fair and appropriate.

Notice of Redemption

So long as the Series 2018 Bonds are maintained under a book-entry system, notice of the
call for any redemption or purchase of the Series 2018 Bonds shall be given as described below
under “Book-Entry Only System” and shall be made at least 30 days (but in no event more than
60 days) prior to the redemption date. At any other time, the Bond Trustee shall mail notice of
the call for any redemption or purchase at least 30 days (but not more than 60 days) before the
redemption date to the registered owners of the Series 2018 Bonds to be redeemed or purchased
at their addresses as they appear on the Bond Register, but neither the failure to give any such
notice not any defect therein shall affect the sufficiency of notice properly given to Bondholders.
Such notice shall specify any condition to such redemption. The Series 2018 Bonds so called for
redemption or purchase will cease to bear interest on the specified redemption date (unless the
Issuer shall default in the payment of the Redemption Price or the purchase price) and shall no
longer be secured by the Bond Indenture.

Purchasein Lieu of Redemption

At any time that the Series 2018 Bonds are subject to redemption in whole or in part, the
Bond Trustee may purchase such Series 2018 Bonds for the account of the Borrower. The
purchase price of such Series 2018 Bonds, excluding accrued interest, shall not exceed the
applicable Redemption Price of the Series 2018 Bonds that would otherwise have been
redeemed. Such option may be exercised by delivery to the Bond Trustee on or prior to the
Business Day preceding the Redemption Date of a written Borrower Order specifying that the
Series 2018 Bonds shall not be redeemed, but instead shall be subject to purchase. Upon
delivery of such Borrower Order, the Series 2018 Bonds shall not be redeemed but shall instead
be subject to mandatory tender on the date that would have been the Redemption Date.

Book-Entry Only System

The information in this section has been obtained from The Depository Trust Company
and the Issuer, the Co-Obligors and the Underwriter believe such information to be reliable, but
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none of the Issuer, the Co-Obligors or the Underwriter takes any responsibility for the accuracy
thereof.

The Depository Trust Company

The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC” or, together with any
successor securities depository for the Series 2018 Bonds, the “Securities Depository”), will act
as securities depository for the Series 2018 Bonds. The Series 2018 Bonds will be issued as
fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co., DTC’s partnership nominee, or
such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-
registered certificate for each maturity of the Series 2018 Bonds will be issued in a principal
amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of each such maturity of the Series 2018 Bonds
and will be deposited with DTC or its agent.

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company
organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of
the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation”
within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency”
registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of United States
and non-United States equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market
instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with
DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other
securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry
transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for
physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both United States and
non-United States securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations
and certain other organizations.

DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation
(“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation
and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is
owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to
others, such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and
clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct
Participant, either directly or indirectly (the “Indirect Participants”). DTC has a Standard &
Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC rules applicable to its Direct and Indirect Participants are on
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). More information about DTC
can be found at www.dtcc.com and www.dtc.org.

Ownership of Bonds

Purchases of the Series 2018 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through
Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2018 Bonds on DTC’s records. The
ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2018 Bond (the “Beneficial Owner”)
is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will

9



not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however,
expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic
statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participants through which the
Beneficial Owners entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Series
2018 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect
Participants acting on behalf of the Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive
certificates representing their ownership interests in the Series 2018 Bonds except in the event
that use of the book-entry only system for the Series 2018 Bonds is discontinued under the
circumstances described below under “ Discontinuance of Book-Entry Only System.”

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2018 Bonds deposited by Direct and Indirect
Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or
such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of
Series 2018 Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other
DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the
actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2018 Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of
the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 2018 Bonds are credited, which may or
may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible
for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by
Direct Participants to Indirect Participants and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to
Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Series 2018
Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment transmission to them of notices of significant
events with respect to the Series 2018 Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults and
proposed amendments to the security documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Series
2018 Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Series 2018 Bonds for their
benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative,
Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Bond Trustee and
request that copies of the notices be provided directly to them.

S long as a nominee of DTC is the registered owner of the Series 2018 Bonds,
references herein to the Bondholders or the holders or owners of the Series 2018 Bonds shall
mean DTC and shall not mean the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2018 Bonds. The Issuer and
the Bond Trustee will recognize DTC or its nominee as the holder of all of the Series 2018 Bonds
for all purposes, including the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on,
and the purchase price of, the Series 2018 Bonds, as well as the giving of notices and any
consent or direction required or permitted to be given to or on behalf of the Bondholders under
the Bond Indenture. Neither the Issuer nor the Bond Trustee will have any responsibility or
obligation to Direct or Indirect Participants or Beneficial Owners with respect to payments or
notices to Direct or Indirect Participants or Beneficial Owners.
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Payments on and Redemption or Purchase of Series 2018 Bonds

So long as the Series 2018 Bonds are held by DTC under a book-entry system, principal
and interest payments on the Series 2018 Bonds will be made to DTC. DTC’s practice is to
credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding information
from the Bond Trustee on the applicable payment date in accordance with their respective
holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be
governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for
the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the
responsibility of such Participants and not of DTC, the Bond Trustee or the Issuer, subject to any
statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal
and interest to DTC is the responsibility of the Issuer or the Bond Trustee, disbursement of such
payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC and disbursement of such
payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

So long as the Series 2018 Bonds are held by DTC under a book-entry only system, the
Bond Trustee will send any notice of redemption or purchase with respect to the Series 2018
Bonds only to Cede & Co. or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. Any failure of DTC to advise any Direct Participant, or of any Direct
Participant to notify any Indirect Participant or of any Direct or Indirect Participant to notify any
Beneficial Owner, of any such notice and its content or effect will not affect the validity of the
proceedings for the redemption or purchase of the Series 2018 Bonds or of any other action
premised on such notice. If fewer than all of the Series 2018 Bonds of any one maturity are
selected for redemption or purchase, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the
interest of each Direct Participant to be redeemed or purchased, except as otherwise directed by
the Issuer.

None of the Issuer, the Bond Trustee, the Underwriter or the Co-Obligors can give any
assurances that DTC or the Direct or Indirect Participants will distribute payments of the
principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Series 2018 Bonds paid to DTC or its
nominee, as the registered owner of the Series 2018 Bonds, or any redemption or other notices,
to the Beneficial Owners or that they will do so on a timely basis or that DTC will serve and act
in the manner described in this Official Statement.

Discontinuance of Book-Entry Only System

DTC may discontinue its services as a securities depository for the Series 2018 Bonds at
any time by giving reasonable notice to the Issuer, the Borrower and the Bond Trustee, or the
Issuer may discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC. Under such
circumstances, in the event that a successor Securities Depository is not obtained, Bonds are
required to be printed and delivered in fully certificated form to the Direct Participants shown on
the records of DTC provided to the Bond Trustee or, to the extent requested by any Direct
Participant, to the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2018 Bonds shown on the records of such
Direct Participant provided to the Bond Trustee.
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Registration and Exchange of Series 2018 Bonds

So long as the Series 2018 Bonds are maintained under a book-entry system, transfers of
ownership interests in the Series 2018 Bonds will be made as described above under “Book-
Entry Only System.” If the book-entry only system is discontinued, any Series 2018 Bond may
be exchanged for other Series 2018 Bonds of any authorized denominations and of the same
aggregate principal amount as the Series 2018 Bonds to be exchanged, and the transfer of any
Series 2018 Bond may be registered, upon presentation and surrender of such Series 2018 Bond
at the designated office of the Bond Trustee, together with an assignment duly executed by the
registered owner or his attorney or legal representative. The Issuer may require the person
requesting any such exchange or transfer to pay any tax or other governmental charge payable in
connection therewith. The Issuer is not required to issue, transfer, or exchange any Series 2018
Bond (1) during a period beginning at the opening of business five days before the day of the
mailing of a notice of redemption of Series 2018 Bonds and ending at the close of business on
the day of such mailing or (2) which is selected for redemption in whole or in part.

Acceleration

Upon the occurrence of certain events, the due date for the payment of the principal
amount of the Series 2018 Bonds may be accelerated. See “Default and Remedies” in the
proposed form of the Bond Indenture included in Appendix C-2.

THE ISSUER

The Issuer is a public, nonprofit health facilities development corporation created
pursuant to the provisions of the Act by an order duly adopted by the Commissioners Court of
Bexar County, Texas (the “Commissioners Court”). Among other things, the Issuer is
authorized under the Act to issue bonds and to loan the proceeds derived from the sale of such
bonds for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, providing, improving, financing and
refinancing health facilities located in the County, which facilities have been found by the Board
of Directors of the Issuer to be required, necessary or convenient for health care, research and
education in the State, and to refund such bonds. The Issuer is governed by a Board of Directors
consisting of the five members of the Commissioners Court. At present, the members of the
Board of Directors of the Issuer and their offices are as follows:

Name Office

Kevin Wolff Director and President

Tommy Calvert Director Vice President

Sergio “Chico” Rodriguez Director and Secretary/Treasurer
Paul Elizondo Director

Nelson W. Wolff Director
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The Series 2018 Bonds and the interest thereon are special, limited obligations of the
Issuer, payable solely from the trust estate and give rise to no pecuniary liability of the Issuer.
The Series 2018 Bonds and the interest thereon neither constitute nor give rise to a pecuniary
liability, general or moral obligation or pledge of the full faith and credit or taxing power, if
any, of the Issuer, the County, the State or any political subdivision of the Sate within the
meaning of any constitutional or statutory limitations. None of the Sate, any political
subdivision of the Sate, the Issuer or the County will be obligated to pay the principal of the
Series 2018 Bonds, the interest thereon or other costs incident thereto except from revenues
pledged therefor under the Bond Indenture, all as more fully set forth in the Bond Indenture.
Neither the full faith and credit nor the taxing power, if any, of the Issuer, the County, the Sate,
nor any political subdivision thereof, is pledged to the payment of the principal of the Series
2018 Bonds or the interest thereon or other costs incident thereto.

None of the Board of Directors of the Issuer or any person executing the Series 2018
Bonds will be personally liable on the Series 2018 Bonds or will be subject to any personal
liability or accountability by reason of the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds. Each Holder of
the Series 2018 Bonds as a condition of their purchase agrees to the foregoing condition of
ownership of the Series 2018 Bonds.

THE PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF AND INTEREST ON THE SERIES
2018 BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OR LIABILITY OF THE STATE OF TEXAS,
THE COUNTY OR OF ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF OR A PLEDGE
OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, THE COUNTY OR ANY
OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, BUT SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY
FROM THE FUNDS PLEDGED THEREFOR IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE BOND
INDENTURE. THE ISSUANCE OF THE SERIES 2018 BONDS UNDER THE PROVISIONS
OF THE ACT DOES NOT DIRECTLY, INDIRECTLY OR CONTINGENTLY OBLIGATE
THE STATE OF TEXAS, THE COUNTY OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION
THEREOF TO LEVY ANY FORM OF TAXATION FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF OR TO
MAKE ANY APPROPRIATION FOR THEIR PAYMENT AND SUCH SERIES 2018 BONDS
AND THE INTEREST AND PREMIUM, IF ANY, PAYABLE THEREON DO NOT NOW
AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF THE STATE OF TEXAS OR THE
COUNTY WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE CONSTITUTION OR THE STATUTES OF
THE STATE OF TEXAS OR THE COUNTY AND DO NOT NOW AND SHALL NEVER
CONSTITUTE A CHARGE AGAINST THE CREDIT OR TAXING POWER OF THE STATE
OF TEXAS, THE COUNTY OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF. NO
BREACH BY THE ISSUER OF ANY SUCH PLEDGE, MORTGAGE, OBLIGATION OR
AGREEMENT MAY IMPOSE ANY LIABILITY, PECUNIARY OR OTHERWISE, UPON
THE STATE OF TEXAS, THE COUNTY OR ANY CHARGE UPON THEIR GENERAL
CREDIT OR AGAINST THEIR TAXING POWER.

Except for the information contained under the caption “THE ISSUER,” the Issuer has
not provided any of the information contained in this Official Statement. The Issuer is not
responsible for and does not certify as to the accuracy or sufficiency of the disclosures made (or
any other information provided) by the Co-Obligors, the Underwriter or any other person.
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The Issuer has previously issued bonds for the purpose of financing other projects for
other borrowers which are payable from revenues received from such other borrowers. Revenue
bonds issued by the Issuer for other borrowers have been, and may be, in default as to principal
or interest. The source of payment for other bonds previously issued by the Issuer for other
borrowers is separate and distinct from the source of payment for the Series 2018 Bonds, and
accordingly, any default by any such other borrower with respect to any of such other bonds is
not considered a material fact with respect to the payment of the Series 2018 Bonds.

The firm SAMCO Capital Markets has been retained as financial advisor to the Issuer in
connection with the issuance of its debt obligations and certain other financial matters.

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2018 BONDS
Limited Obligation

The Series 2018 Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer payable solely from the Trust
Estate. None of the County, the Sate or any other political subdivision thereof, including the
Issuer, shall be obligated to pay the Series 2018 Bonds or the interest thereon except from the
Trust Estate, and neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the County, the State or any
other political subdivision thereof, including the Issuer, is pledged to the payment of the
principal of or the interest on the Series 2018 Bonds. The issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds
does not directly or indirectly or contingently obligate, morally or otherwise, the County, the
Sate or any other political subdivision thereof, including the Issuer, to levy or to pledge any
form of taxation whatever therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment. The Issuer
has no taxing power.

Master Indenture

Under the Master Indenture, the Co-Obligors are authorized to issue Secured Debt to
evidence or secure Funded Debt or Hedging Transactions. Following the refunding of the
Refunded Bonds, the 2018 Note will be secured under the Master Indenture on a parity basis
with the 2010 Note, the 2016 Note and any other Secured Debt hereafter issued. Under the
Master Indenture, the Co-Obligors have unconditionally and irrevocably agreed to pay the
principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on the 2018 Note and other outstanding Secured
Debt and all other amounts payable by the Co-Obligors under the Master Indenture. See
“PARITY DEBT.”

Obligated Group

Under the Master Indenture, the Obligated Group is composed of the Co-Obligors. At
the time of issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds, the Borrower and the Corporation will be the only
Co-Obligors. The Master Indenture provides that any non-stock corporation or limited liability
company, the sole member of which is a non-stock corporation, may be admitted to the
Obligated Group from time to time and that any future Co-Obligors other than the Borrower and
the Corporation may at any time withdraw from the Obligated Group, subject in each case to the
satisfaction of certain requirements of the Master Indenture. See “Co-Obligors” in the

14



conformed copy of the Original Master Indenture and “Amendments to Original Master
Indenture” in the conformed copy of the Master Indenture Supplement No. 1 included in
Appendix C-1. The Borrower and the Corporation may not withdraw from the Obligated Group
and have no present intention of admitting any other Person to the Obligated Group.

During the period in which any Person is a member of the Obligated Group, such
member, as co-obligor and not as guarantor, will jointly and severally covenant to pay the
principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on the Secured Debt and to perform any and all
other agreements and obligations of any other member of the Obligated Group under the Master
Indenture. See “Covenants and Warranties -- Payment of Outstanding Secured Debt;
Subrogation” in the conformed copy of the Original Master Indenture included in Appendix C-1.

Security Interest in Revenues

Under the Master Indenture, the Co-Obligors have granted to the Master Trustee a
security interest in the Revenues, subject to the Permitted Encumbrances. Under the Master
Indenture, “Revenues” include accounts receivable and contract rights, including agreements
respecting Medicare, Medicaid and any other governmental health care programs, and other
contract rights now or hereafter owned, held or possessed by or on behalf of each Co-Obligor,
and the proceeds thereof.

Rate Covenant

The Obligated Group covenants in the Master Indenture to establish, charge and collect
rates, fees and charges for goods and services furnished by, and for the use of, the properties of
the Obligated Group such that the Coverage Ratio as of the last day of each Fiscal Year is not
less than 1.20. The “Coverage Ratio” is defined under the Master Indenture as the ratio of Net
Revenues of the Obligated Group to Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirements on Funded
Debt of the Obligated Group. The covenant described in this paragraph is referred to herein as
the “Rate Covenant.”

If the Coverage Ratio is less than 1.20, the Obligated Group shall engage a Management
Consultant within 30 days after the close of such Fiscal Year to make, and the Obligated Group
shall implement, recommended changes permitted under then existing state and federal laws and
regulations, in the rates, fees and charges or expenses or in such other affairs of the Obligated
Group such that the Coverage Ratio for the immediately succeeding Fiscal Year is at least 1.20.
If, in the opinion of the Management Consultant, the Obligated Group is precluded by the then
existing federal or state laws or regulations from implementing the changes necessary to produce
a Coverage Ratio for the immediately succeeding Fiscal Year of at least 1.20, the Management
Consultant will make, and the Obligated Group shall implement, recommended changes in the
rates, fees and charges or expenses or in such other affairs of the Obligated Group such that the
Coverage Ratio will be the maximum amount permitted under then existing federal and state
laws and regulations.

If the Obligated Group follows the recommendations of the Management Consultant,
then the failure to satisfy the Coverage Ratio in such Fiscal Year will not be an Event of Default
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under the Master Indenture, provided that an Event of Default will be deemed to have occurred
to the extent provided in the Master Indenture if the Coverage Ratio is less than 1.00 for two
consecutive Fiscal Years unless the Obligated Group has at least 300 Days of Operating
Requirements as of the last day of the second such Fiscal Year. If the Obligated Group fails to
achieve a Coverage Ratio of at least 1.00 for three consecutive Fiscal Years, such failure shall
constitute an Event of Default under the Master Indenture.

Liquidity Covenant

The Obligated Group covenants in the Master Indenture to maintain unrestricted cash and
investments in an amount at least equal to 120 Days of Operating Requirements. The covenant
described in this paragraph is referred to as the “Liquidity Covenant.” Compliance with the
Liquidity Covenant shall be tested as of June 30 of each Fiscal Year.

If as of June 30 of any year, the aggregate amount of unrestricted cash and investments
maintained by the Obligated Group is less than the amount required by the Liquidity Covenant,
the Obligated Group shall engage a Management Consultant to make, and the Obligated Group
shall implement, recommended changes such that the Obligated Group shall be in compliance
with the Liquidity Covenant.

The failure to satisfy the Liquidity Covenant on any June 30 will not be an Event of
Default under the Master Indenture, provided that an Event of Default will be deemed to have
occurred to the extent provided in the Master Indenture if unrestricted cash and investments
equal to (1) at least 45 days of Operating Requirements is not maintained by the Obligated Group
on such calculation date or (i1) at least 120 Days of Operating Requirements is not maintained by
the Obligated Group on the next succeeding calculation date.

Disposition of Assets

The ability of the Obligated Group to convey, transfer or lease any of its assets is limited
as described under “Covenants and Warranties -- Limitation on Disposition of Assets” in the
conformed copy of Master Indenture Supplement No. 1 included in Appendix C-1.

Additional Debt

Upon the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds, in addition to the 2018 Note, the other
outstanding indebtedness of the Borrower and the Corporation issued under the Master Indenture
will be the 2010 Note and the 2016 Note. In addition, the Obligated Group may issue or incur
other indebtedness subject to the conditions described in “Covenants and Warranties --
Limitations on Debt” in the conformed copy of the Original Master Indenture and “Amendments
to Original Master Indenture” in the conformed copy of Master Indenture Supplement No. 1
included in Appendix C-1.
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Loan Agreement and Deed of Trust
Loan Agreement

The Loan Agreement is an absolute, irrevocable, complete and unconditional general
obligation of the Borrower and will remain in full force and effect until all of the Series 2018
Bonds and the interest thereon have been paid or provision for the payment thereof has been
made in accordance with the Bond Indenture. The Loan Agreement requires the Borrower to
make payments in such amounts and at such times as shall be sufficient to provide for the
payment of the principal of and premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2018 Bonds when
due, in accordance with the Bond Indenture.

Pursuant to the Bond Indenture, the Issuer pledges and assigns to the Bond Trustee as
security for the payment of the Series 2018 Bonds all right, title and interest of the Issuer in and
to, among other things, (i) the Loan Agreement (except for certain indemnity payments),
including the Loan Payments and the 2018 Note, (ii) any and all security heretofore or hereafter
granted or held for the payment of amounts owing under the Loan Agreement, but excluding
certain indemnity payments, (iii) all money and investments held for the credit of the funds and
accounts established by or under the Bond Indenture, excluding the Rebate Fund and certain
other money excluded pursuant to the terms of the Bond Indenture, and all money and
investments held for the credit of such funds, (iv) all rents, issues, profits, revenues and other
income and proceeds of the property subjected or required to be subjected to the lien established
by or under the Bond Indenture and (v) any and all property that may be subjected to the lien and
security interest of the Bond Indenture to the extent provided in the Bond Indenture.

Deed of Trust

Under the Deed of Trust, as security for the outstanding Secured Debt, including the
2018 Note, the Existing Notes and any other Secured Debt hereafter issued, the Borrower and
the Corporation have granted to the Master Trustee a lien on certain real property and a security
interest in all personal property of the Borrower and the Corporation. The land subject to the
Deed of Trust includes approximately 150 acres in Bexar County, Texas, which includes the land
on which the Community is situated. The liens created by the Deed of Trust are subject to
Permitted Encumbrances and to the right of the Borrower and the Corporation to obtain a partial
release of certain property from the lien of the Deed of Trust and to dispose of assets under
certain conditions. See “Amendments to Original Master Indenture” in the conformed copy of
Master Indenture Supplement No. 1 included in Appendix C-1.

No Debt Service Reserve Fund

The Series 2018 Bonds shall not be secured by a debt service reserve fund.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS ON OUTSTANDING SECURED DEBT

The following table sets forth for each 12-month period ending July 15: (i) the principal
due on the Series 2018 Bonds (whether at maturity or by mandatory redemption); (ii) the interest
due on the Series 2018 Bonds; (iii) the total debt service requirements of the Series 2018 Bonds;
(iv) the total debt service requirements of the Series 2010 Bonds and the Series 2016 Bonds that
will be outstanding on the date of issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds (the “Outstanding Bonds™);
and (v) the total debt service requirements of the Series 2018 Bonds and the Outstanding Bonds.

Year
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045

Principal
$885,000
845,000
880,000
925,000
970,000
1,020,000
1,065,000
1,120,000
1,170,000
1,230,000
1,285,000
1,350,000
1,410,000®
1,490,000
1,550,000
1,630,000
1,150,000
1,205,000
1,265,000
2,780,000
595,000%
630,000
660,000
700,000
730,000

(1) Approximately 4.5 months.

(2) Principal payments for Sinking Fund Installment for Term Bonds due July 15, 2033.
(3) Principal payments for Sinking Fund Installment for Term Bonds due July 15, 2037.
(4) Principal payments for Sinking Fund Installment for Term Bonds due July 15, 2042.

Series 2018 Bonds

Interest

$ 539,685

1,382,750
1,340,500
1,296,500
1,250,250
1,201,750
1,150,750
1,097,500
1,041,500
983,000
921,500
857,250
789,750
719,250
644,750
567,250
485,750
428,250
368,000
304,750
165,750
136,000
104,500
71,500
36,500

Total
$1,424,685
2,227,750
2,220,500
2,221,500
2,220,250
2,221,750
2,215,750
2,217,500
2,211,500
2,213,000
2,206,500
2,207,250
2,199,750
2,209,250
2,194,750
2,197,250
1,635,750
1,633,250
1,633,000
3,084,750
760,750
766,000
764,500
771,500
766,500
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Total Debt Service on
Outstanding Bonds

$3,215,700
3,217,388
3,221,463
3,219,863
3,224,738
3,226,850
3,226,100
3,223,100
3,227,850
3,219,850
3,230,650
3,224,250
3,231,250
3,221,050
3,234,250
3,234,850
3,788,250
3,787,250
3,793,050
2,335,250
4,674,000
4,673,750
4,675,500
4,678,750
4,678,000
5,602,000
5,602,800
5,605,600

Total Debt Service
on Outstanding
Bonds and Series
2018 Bonds
$4,640,385
5,445,138
5,441,963
5,441,363
5,444,988
5,448,600
5,441,850
5,440,600
5,439,350
5,432,850
5,437,150
5,431,500
5,431,000
5,430,300
5,429,000
5,432,100
5,424,000
5,420,500
5,426,050
5,420,000
5,434,750
5,439,750
5,440,000
5,450,250
5,444,500
5,602,000
5,602,800
5,605,600



CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS

The Series 2018 Bonds are payable solely from the payments to be made by the Borrower
pursuant to the Loan Agreement and the 2018 Note. Future revenues and expenses of the Co-
Obligors are subject to conditions which may change in the future to an extent that cannot be
determined at this time.

The paragraphs below discuss certain Bondholders’ risks, but are not intended to be a
complete enumeration of all risks associated with the Co-Obligors and the Community or the
purchase or holding of the Series 2018 Bonds. The order in which such risks are presented does
not necessarily reflect the relative importance of such risks or the likelihood that any of the
events or circumstances described below will occur or exist.

Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

When used in this Official Statement and in any continuing disclosure by the Co-
Obligors, in a Co-Obligors’ press release or in oral statements made with the approval of an
authorized officer of a Co-Obligor, the words or phrases “will likely result,” “are expected to,”
“will continue,” “is anticipated,” “estimate,” “project” or similar expressions are intended to
identify “forward looking statements.” Such statements are subject to certain risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those presently anticipated
or projected. The Co-Obligors caution readers not to place undue reliance on any such forward-
looking statements. The Co-Obligors advise readers that certain factors could affect the financial
performance of the Obligated Group and could cause the actual results of the Obligated Group
for future periods to differ materially from any opinions or statements expressed with respect to

future periods in any current statements.

2 ¢

General

No representation can be made or assurance given that revenues will be realized by the
Co-Obligors in amounts sufficient to make the payments necessary to meet the obligations of the
Co-Obligors, including the obligations of the Borrower under the Loan Agreement and the 2018
Note. Future revenues and expenses of the Co-Obligors are subject to, among other things, the
capabilities of the management of the Co-Obligors and future economic conditions and other
conditions which are unpredictable, and which may affect revenues and the ability of the Co-
Obligors to make payments of principal of and interest on the 2018 Note sufficient to pay the
Series 2018 Bonds and other Secured Debt of the Co-Obligors under the Master Indenture,
including the 2018 Note. Such conditions may include an inability to generate entrance fees for
the Community (the “Entrance Fees”) and the monthly fees payable by residents of the
Community (the “Monthly Maintenance Fees”), respectively, or to control personal care costs
and skilled nursing care costs, in a period of inflation or rising health care costs and difficulties
in increasing Entrance Fees, Monthly Maintenance Fees and third-party payments while
maintaining the amount and quality of services offered by the Corporation at the Community or
to properly manage and control expenses at the facilities, including utility costs, changes in
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government licensing procedures, regulation and competition and changes in the rules and
guidelines governing reimbursement for health care by third party payors.

Limited Obligations

The Series 2018 Bonds are special obligations of the Issuer, the principal or Redemption
Price of and interest on which are payable solely from the Trust Estate and, to the extent
provided in the Bond Indenture, the proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds.

None of the State or any other political subdivision thereof, including the Issuer, shall be
obligated to pay the Series 2018 Bonds or the interest thereon except from the Trust Estate, and
neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or any other political subdivision
thereof, including the Issuer, is pledged to the payment of the principal of or the interest on the
Series 2018 Bonds. The issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds does not directly or indirectly or
contingently obligate, morally or otherwise, the State or any other political subdivision thereof,
including the Issuer, to levy or to pledge any form of taxation whatever thereof or to make any
appropriation for their payment. The Issuer has no taxing power.

Obligated Group

The Obligated Group is currently composed of the Borrower and the Corporation. The
Master Indenture provides that other entities may be admitted to the Obligated Group from time
to time and that Co-Obligors that become part of the Obligated Group, other than the Borrower
or the Corporation, may withdraw from the Obligated Group upon the satisfaction of certain
conditions. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2018
BONDS -- Master Indenture -- Obligated Group.” Thus, there is no assurance that any Person
that may in the future become a Co-Obligor will remain a part of the Obligated Group. See “Co-
Obligors” in the conformed copy of the Original Master Indenture and “Amendments to Original
Master Indenture” in the conformed copy of Master Indenture Supplement No. 1 included in
Appendix C-1. The covenants included in the Master Indenture apply only to Co-Obligors.

Security for the Series 2018 Bonds
Security Interest in Revenues

The Master Trustee’s security interest in the Revenues is subject to Permitted
Encumbrances and certain other liens and encumbrances as set forth under “Covenants and
Warranties -- Limitation on Liens” in the conformed copy of the Original Master Indenture and
“Amendments to Original Master Indenture” in the conformed copy of Master Indenture
Supplement No. 1 included in Appendix C-1, and, among others, to the following:

(1) statutory liens or rights arising in favor of the Master Trustee;

(i1) other statutory liens;
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(i)  rights arising in favor of the United States of America or any
agency thereof;

(iv)  prohibitions against assignment contained in state or federal
statutes, including those governing Medicare and Medicaid, and the absence of an
express provision permitting assignment of receivables due under contracts with
other third party payors;

(v) constructive trusts, equitable liens or other rights impressed or
conferred by any state or federal court in the exercise of its equitable jurisdiction;

(vi)  state and federal insolvency or bankruptcy laws affecting
Revenues earned by a Co-Obligor within the statutorily prescribed preference
period prior to any effectual institution of bankruptcy proceedings by or against a
Co-Obligor and thereafter;

(vil) rights of third parties in any Revenues, including Revenues
converted to cash, not in the possession of the Master Trustee; and

(viii) the requirement that appropriate financing statements be filed in
accordance with the Uniform Commercial Code and that such financing
statements be continued in accordance with applicable law from time to time.

The Revenues will not include any revenues generated from the use and operation of a
Co-Obligor’s property after any person other than a Co-Obligor obtains possession of such
property, whether by voluntary transfer, foreclosure under a mortgage or other security
agreement or enforcement of a statutory or judicially created lien. The Master Indenture permits
the Co-Obligors to dispose of assets and to pledge, mortgage or grant a security interest in
revenues, property and other assets of the Co-Obligors to secure other obligations of the Co-
Obligors, subject to certain limitations stated therein. Such liens and any liens created in
violation of the Master Indenture may give the holders of the obligations secured thereby priority
in payment over the Secured Debt, including the 2018 Note securing the Series 2018 Bonds,
from the property so encumbered in the event of the enforcement thereof. See “Covenants and
Warranties -- Limitation on Liens” in the conformed copy of the Original Master Indenture and
“Amendments to Original Master Indenture” in the conformed copy of Master Indenture
Supplement No. 1 included in Appendix C-1.

Recovery Value of Mortgaged Property

The Community is specifically designed and constructed as a continuing care retirement
facility and may not be practically suited to alternative uses. The number of entities that could
be expected to purchase or lease the Community in the event of a default under the Master
Indenture is therefore limited and, as a result, the remedies available to the Master Trustee may
be limited. The realization of revenues from the sale or leasing of the Community following
foreclosure of the Deed of Trust might thus be materially and adversely affected. No appraisal
has been undertaken to determine the fair market value of the Mortgaged Premises. If any Event
of Default were to occur under the Master Indenture, the amount received upon any foreclosure
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and sale of the Mortgaged Premises may not be sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on
the outstanding Secured Debt.

The value of the Community also may be limited by (i) any failure of any Co-Obligor to
maintain any of its required licenses and (i) actual or asserted rights of residents. See
“FEDERAL AND STATE REGULATION” below.

While governmental taxes, assessments and charges are common claims against property,
there are other, less common claims that may affect the value and marketability of property. One
of the most serious is a claim related to the release, presence or handling of hazardous substances
on property. The federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability
Act of 1980, sometimes referred to as “CERCLA” or the “Superfund Act,” is the most well
known and widely applicable of these laws. Under many of these laws, the owner (or operator)
is obligated to remedy a hazardous substance condition on property, whether or not the owner (or
operator) had or has anything to do with the creation or handling of the hazardous substance. If
any part of the Mortgaged Premises is affected by a hazardous substance, the marketability and
value of the property may be reduced by the cost of remedying the condition.

Priority of the Liens

The liens created under the Deed of Trust are subject to Permitted Encumbrances and are
subordinate to liens for general property taxes, special taxes and assessments. Additional special
taxes or assessments taking priority over the liens created by the Deed of Trust may be imposed
on the Mortgaged Property in the future.

The Co-Obligors covenant in the Master Indenture not to create or permit to exist any
mortgage or other lien on their property, except Permitted Encumbrances. However, under
certain conditions, the Master Indenture permits the Co-Obligors to dispose of assets, including
(without limitation) accounts receivable, and to pledge, mortgage or grant a security interest in
revenues, property and other assets of the Co-Obligors to secure other obligations of such Co-
Obligors, subject to certain limitations stated therein, which may under certain circumstances be
prior to the lien of the Master Indenture and the Deed of Trust. See “Covenants and Warranties
-- Limitation on Liens” in the conformed copy of the Original Master Indenture and
“Amendments to Original Master Indenture” in the conformed copy of Master Indenture
Supplement No. 1 included in Appendix C-1. Any lien on accounts receivable or other property
of the Co-Obligors created by the Master Indenture or the Deed of Trust and the proceeds thereof
would terminate and be immediately released upon the sale of such property or the enforcement
by the holder of any lien on such property that is prior to the lien of the Master Indenture and the
Deed of Trust, whether such lien is permitted by the Master Indenture or constitutes a statutory
lien (such as liens for enforcement of tax and environmental laws) or is created in violation of
the Master Indenture. Further, the existence of any such liens could have an adverse effect on
the treatment of holders of the Secured Debt, including the 2018 Note securing the Series 2018
Bonds, in any bankruptcy proceeding involving a Co-Obligor and any future members of the
Obligated Group. See “Bankruptcy” below.
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Foreclosure Rights under Texas Law

In the State, foreclosure of a deed of trust is generally accomplished by a non-judicial
trustee’s sale under a specific provision in the deed of trust that authorizes the trustee to sell the
mortgaged property to a third party upon default by the borrower under the terms of the note or
bond secured by the deed of trust or under the terms of the deed of trust.

In the State, a sale of real property under a power of sale conferred by a deed of trust or
other contract lien must be a public sale at auction held on the first Tuesday of a month at the
county courthouse in the county in which the land is located. Notice of the sale must be given at
least 21 days before the date of the sale. The borrower, any successor in interest to the borrower,
or any beneficiary under a junior deed of trust or any other person having a subordinate lien or
encumbrance, may pay, prior to the proposed sale, the entire principal due as a result of the
acceleration of the indebtedness secured by the prior lien, with interest and the costs and
expenses actually incurred in enforcing the obligation. In both a judicial and non-judicial
foreclosure of a deed of trust, the beneficiary of the deed of trust under foreclosure need not bid
cash at the sale, but may instead make a “credit bid” to the extent of the amount due under the
deed of trust, including legally cognizable costs and expenses incurred in enforcing the deed of
trust.

A sale of real property by a trustee conducted in accordance with the terms of the power
of sale contained in a deed of trust confers legal title to the real property to the purchaser, but the
purchaser takes the foreclosed property “as is” without any expressed or implied warranties,
except as to warranties of title, and at purchaser’s own risk. The foreclosure, though, would
eliminate all junior mortgages or deeds of trust and all other liens and claims subordinate to the
deed of trust under which the sale is made (with the exception of certain governmental liens).

Because of the difficulty a potential buyer at the sale would have in undertaking any due
diligence regarding the mortgaged property (€.g., determining any liens or other encumbrances
that may run with the property after foreclosure, assessing the physical condition of the property,
etc.), a third party may not be likely to purchase the mortgaged property at a foreclosure sale,
whether that sale is a judicial sale or a trustee’s sale. If a third-party does purchase the
mortgaged property at a foreclosure sale, it may be for a purchase price less than the unpaid
principal balance of the indebtedness, in which case the borrower would remain liable for any
deficiency remaining after the application of the proceeds of foreclosure to the outstanding debt;
provided, however, recovery of any such deficiency is governed by §51.003 of the Texas
Property Code, as amended. Perhaps more common is for the lender (or its designee) to purchase
the mortgaged property from the trustee for an amount which may be as high as the unpaid
principal balance of the note, plus accrued and unpaid interest and the costs and expenses of
foreclosure. Thereafter, the lender will assume the burdens of ownership, including servicing any
senior deed of trust, obtaining hazard insurance and making such repairs (at its own expense) as
are necessary to render the mortgaged property suitable for sale.
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Bankruptcy

The Series 2018 Bonds, the Master Indenture, the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement,
the 2018 Note and the Deed of Trust are subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium,
reorganization and other state and federal laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights and
to general principles of equity. A claim for payment of the principal of or interest on the Series
2018 Bonds could be made subject to any statutes that may be constitutionally enacted by the
United States Congress or the State legislature affecting the time and manner of payment or
imposing other constraints upon enforcement. The obligation of the Co-Obligors and any future
Co-Obligor to make payments of debt service on the Series 2018 Bonds may not be enforceable
under applicable state insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, bankruptcy, trust and other laws
affecting any Co-Obligors. Further, the obligations of the Co-Obligors to make payments of
debt service on any Secured Debt, the proceeds of which were not loaned or otherwise made
available to such Co-Obligors, may not be enforceable under applicable state insolvency,
fraudulent conveyance, bankruptcy, trust and other laws affecting any Co-Obligor.

If the Borrower or the Corporation or any future Co-Obligor were to file a petition for
relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”), the filing could
operate as an automatic stay of the commencement or continuation of any judicial or other
proceeding against the Borrower, the Corporation and any future Co-Obligor and their property,
respectively. If the bankruptcy court so ordered, the Borrower, the Corporation and any future
Co-Obligor, including their accounts receivable and proceeds thereof, could be used for the
benefit of the Co-Obligors despite the claims of its creditors.

In a case under the Bankruptcy Code, the Borrower, the Corporation and any future Co-
Obligors could file a plan of reorganization. The plan is the vehicle for satisfying, and provides
for the comprehensive treatment of, all claims against the debtor, and could result in the
modification of rights of creditors generally, or the rights of any class of creditors, secured or
unsecured. Under certain circumstances, those voting against the plan or not voting at all are
nonetheless bound by the terms thereof. Other than as provided in the confirmed plan, all claims
and interests are discharged and extinguished. If less than all the impaired classes accept the
plan, the plan may nevertheless be confirmed by the bankruptcy court, and the dissenting claims
and interests bound thereby. There is also a risk that in a bankruptcy case, the rights of the
residents of the Community under state law, including among other things their right to any
refund obligations on their Entrance Fees, could be found to preempt the Bankruptcy Code,
thereby giving the claims of such residents a higher priority compared against the claims of other
creditors than such claims would otherwise receive in a bankruptcy reorganization. See “Rights
of Residents” below

The Bankruptcy Code permits a bankruptcy court to modify the rights of a secured
creditor. In the event of a bankruptcy proceeding involving the Borrower, the Corporation or
any future Co-Obligor, the Master Trustee could be treated under the Bankruptcy Code as one
holding a secured claim, to the extent provided in the Master Indenture and the Deed of Trust.
The potential effects of the bankruptcy of the Borrower, the Corporation or any future Co-
Obligor could be to delay substantially the enforcement of remedies otherwise available to the
Master Trustee and to allow the bankruptcy court, under certain circumstances (i) to substitute
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other assets of the Borrower, the Corporation or any future Co-Obligor for collateral under the
Master Indenture and the Deed of Trust, (ii) to sell all or part of the collateral under the Master
Indenture or the Deed of Trust without application of the proceeds to the payment of the Secured
Debt, (ii1) to subordinate the Master Indenture and the Deed of Trust to liens securing
borrowings approved by the bankruptcy court, (iv) to permit the Borrower, the Corporation and
any future Co-Obligors to cure defaults and reinstate the Master Indenture or the Deed of Trust,
(v) to compel the termination of the Master Indenture or the Deed of Trust by payment of an
amount determined by the bankruptcy court to be the value of the collateral pledged by the Co-
Obligors thereunder (even though less than the total amount of Secured Debt outstanding), or
(vi) to modify the terms of or payments due under the Master Indenture or the Deed of Trust.
For additional detail, reference is made to the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. §101 et seq.

The state of insolvency, fraudulent conveyance and bankruptcy laws relating to the
enforceability of obligations issued by one corporation in favor of the creditors of another,
including the obligation of the Borrower, the Corporation and any future Co-Obligor to make
payments on indebtedness issued on behalf of any other Co-Obligor, is unsettled and the ability
to enforce such obligations under the Master Indenture against the Borrower, the Corporation or
any future Co-Obligor which would be rendered insolvent thereby or would thereby become
undercapitalized could be subject to challenge. In particular, such obligations may be voidable
under the Bankruptcy Code or applicable state fraudulent conveyance statutes if (i) the
obligation is incurred without “fair” and “fairly equivalent” consideration to the obligor, (ii) the
incurrence of the obligation thereby renders the Borrower, the Corporation or such future Co-
Obligor, respectively, insolvent or (iii) the Borrower, the Corporation or such future Co-Obligor
is undercapitalized or intended to incur or believed or reasonably should have believed that it
would incur debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they become due. The standards for
determining the fairness of consideration and the manner of determining insolvency are not clear
and may vary under the Bankruptcy Code and state fraudulent conveyance statutes and judicial
opinions with respect to them.

In determining whether various covenants and tests contained in the Master Indenture are
met, the Borrower, the Corporation and any future Co-Obligor will be combined,
notwithstanding uncertainties as to the enforceability of certain obligations of the Borrower, the
Corporation and any future Co-Obligor contained in the Master Indenture which bear on the
availability of the revenues of the Borrower, the Corporation and any future Co-Obligor for
payment of debt service on Secured Debt, including the 2018 Note securing the Series 2018
Bonds.

Rights of Residents

Although under the current residency contracts relating to the Community (the
“Residency Contracts™), residents have no lien on or claim against any property of the Co-
Obligors, there can be no certainty that residents could not successfully claim or otherwise
restrict the use of the Co-Obligors’ property in bankruptcy proceedings or other disputes. In the
event that the Master Trustee seeks to enforce any of the remedies provided by the Master
Indenture and the Deed of Trust upon the occurrence of a default thereunder, it is impossible to
predict any judicial resolution of competing claims between the Master Trustee and the residents
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of the Community who have fully complied with all the terms and conditions of their Residency
Contracts. The ability of the Master Trustee to foreclose its lien on the Mortgaged Premises or
enforce other rights and remedies under the Master Indenture may be adversely affected by
litigation on behalf of residents.

Additional Limitations on Enforceability

In addition to the limitations described above under “Bankruptcy,” the obligation of the
Borrower, the Corporation and any future Co-Obligors to make payments of debt service with
respect to any Secured Debt, the proceeds of which were not loaned or otherwise made available
to such Co-Obligors, is subject to the application of charitable trust principles which may vary
from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and may not be enforceable to the extent that such payments (i)
will be made on Secured Debt issued for a purpose that is not consistent with the charitable
purposes of the entity from which such payment is requested; (ii) will be made from any
property that is donor restricted or that is subject to a direct or express trust that does not permit
the use of such property for such payments; (iii) would result in the cessation or discontinuation
of any material portion of the services previously provided by the entity from which such
payment is requested; or (iv) will be made pursuant to any loan violating applicable usury laws.
Due to the absence of clear legal precedent in this area, the extent to which the property of the
Borrower, the Corporation and any future Co-Obligor may be described above cannot be
determined and could be substantial.

There exists, in addition to the foregoing, common law authority and authority under
various state statutes pursuant to which courts may terminate the existence of a nonprofit
corporation or undertake supervision of its affairs on various grounds, including a finding that
such a corporation has insufficient assets to carry out its stated charitable purposes or has taken
some action which renders it unable to carry out such purposes. Such court action may arise on
the court’s own motion or pursuant to a petition of a state attorney general or other persons who
have interests different from those of the general public pursuant to the common law and
statutory power to enforce charitable trusts and to see to the application of their funds to their
intended charitable uses. A court could restrict the ability of the Master Trustee to compel the
liquidation of the Borrower, the Corporation or any future Co-Obligor and its property to pay a
judgment against it for payment of the Secured Notes because it is a nonprofit corporation
carrying out charitable purposes.

As described above under “Bankruptcy,” in determining whether various covenants and
tests contained in the Master Indenture are met, the Borrower, the Corporation and any future
Co-Obligor will be combined, notwithstanding uncertainties as to the enforceability of certain
obligations of the Borrower, the Corporation and any future Co-Obligor contained in the Master
Indenture.

In addition to the limitations on enforceability described above, the realization of any
rights under the Master Indenture, the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Deed of
Trust upon a default by the Borrower, the Corporation and any future Co-Obligor depends upon
the exercise of various remedies specified in the Master Indenture, the Bond Indenture, the Loan
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Agreement and the Deed of Trust, respectively. These remedies may require judicial action
which is often subject to discretion and delay. Under existing law, certain of the remedies
specified in the Master Indenture, the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Deed of
Trust may not be readily available or may be limited. For example, a court may decide not to
order the specific performance of certain covenants contained in the Master Indenture, the Bond
Indenture, the Loan Agreement and the Deed of Trust. Accordingly, the ability of the Master
Trustee or the Bond Trustee to exercise remedies under the Master Indenture, the Bond
Indenture, the Loan Agreement or the Deed of Trust upon an Event of Default could be impaired
by the need for judicial or regulatory approval.

Requirements of Other Credit Facility Providers

Any future credit arrangements entered into by any Co-Obligor (the “Other Credit
Agreements”) may contain certain terms that are more restrictive than those described herein,
including, among others, requirements that any such Co-Obligor generate a greater debt service
coverage ratio, maintain a certain level of unrestricted cash and marketable securities, maintain
certain credit ratings and meet other financial tests, as well as certain limitations on the
incurrence by such Co-Obligor of additional indebtedness and other obligations and on
dispositions of assets, that have been required by banks and swap counterparties providing such
credit facilities. Any such future terms may be waived by the respective credit facility providers
without notice to or the consent of the holders of the Series 2018 Bonds. Any default under any
such terms that is not remedied within any applicable cure period or waived by such credit
facility provider could cause an Event of Default under the Master Indenture, which could result
in a decline in the market value of the Series 2018 Bonds and acceleration of the Series 2018
Bonds.

Discretion of Board and Management

The Co-Obligors and any future Co-Obligor may enter into transactions that could
materially affect their business, organizational structure and control, subject to certain limitations
contained in the Master Indenture. Such transactions could include, among others, divestitures
of affiliates, substantial new joint ventures and mergers, consolidations or other forms of
affiliations in which control of a Co-Obligor could be materially changed. The ability of the Co-
Obligors to generate revenues sufficient to pay debt service on the 2018 Note securing the Series
2018 Bonds and other Secured Debt is dependent in large measure on the decisions of
management with respect to any such transactions.

Failure to Achieve and Maintain Occupancy

The economic viability of the Community depends on, among other things, a relatively
steady level of occupancy and income from fees paid by residents of the Community.

Various factors may adversely affect the marketing of units in the Community.
Occupancy of the Community (and, accordingly, the Corporation’s revenues) could be adversely
affected by continued economic instability and any further decline in economic conditions
generally and in the market area of the Community, which could adversely affect the ability of
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prospective residents to sell their homes and reduce the net worth of prospective residents,
resulting in an inability or reluctance of the prospective residents to pay the Entrance Fees and
the Monthly Maintenance Fees required for residency in the Community.

Further, if a substantial number of residents live beyond the life expectancies anticipated
by management of the Corporation, new residents will be admitted at a slower rate and the
receipt of additional Entrance Fees will be curtailed with a consequent impairment of the
Corporation’s cash flow. In addition, even if the anticipated attrition levels are realized and
maintained, no assurance can be given that remarketing of vacated units will take place as
quickly as assumed by management.

Concentrated Market; Limitation on Eligibility of Resident

The primary market area for the Community is comprised of the metropolitan areas of
San Antonio, Texas, Austin, Texas, Fort Hood in Killeen, Texas and Georgetown, Texas. Two-
thirds of the current residents in the Community come from this geographical area. Accordingly,
the occupancy rates in the Community may be adversely affected by regional and local economic
conditions, competitive conditions, applicable local laws and regulations, and general real estate
market conditions, including the supply and proximity of senior living communities in such area.

Eligibility for entrance into the Community is open to retired career military officers
(minimum of 20 years military service, of which at least ten was served as a commissioned or
warrant officer) and their spouses, widows or widowers, and therefore occupancy rates in the
Community may be adversely affected by economic or other changes that affect residents and
potential residents meeting these criteria. Although the Board of Directors of the Corporation
reserves the right to open admissions to other people who do not meet these criteria, there can be
no assurance that the Community will be able to market to non-military retirees. See
“Admissions Policy and Resident Contracts -- Eligibility and Resident Contract” in Appendix A.

Competition

The Community faces competition from similar facilities in or near its market area and
from other facilities throughout the country which cater to retired military officers. See
“Selected Market Information -- Competitors and Other Senior Living Options” in Appendix A.
The Community may also face additional competition in the future as a result of changing
demographic conditions and the construction of new, or the renovation or expansion of existing
continuing care facilities in the geographic area served by the Community. Further, the
Corporation faces competition from other forms of retirement living, including condominiums,
apartment buildings and facilities not specifically designed for the elderly and home health
services, some of which may be designed to offer similar facilities, but not necessarily similar
services, at lower prices. There are few entry barriers to future competitors because competing
facilities do not require a certificate of need for residential living facilities. All of these factors
combine to make the elderly housing industry volatile and subject to material change that cannot
be currently predicted.
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Impact of Market Turmoil

Economic turmoil has historically, from time to time, led to a scarcity of credit, lack of
confidence in the financial sector, volatility in the real estate and financial markets, fluctuations
in interest rates, reduced economic activity, increased business failures and increased consumer
and business bankruptcies.

Any economic instability and any decline in general economic conditions or conditions in
the market area of the Community could (i) adversely affect the ability of prospective residents
to sell their homes and (ii) cause a decline in the net worth and future investment earnings of
prospective residents. These factors could render prospective residents unable or unwilling to
pay the Entrance Fees and the Monthly Maintenance Fees required for residency in the
Community.

In addition, existing market conditions and any further deterioration of market conditions
could adversely affect future investment earnings on the Co-Obligor’s available funds.

When investor confidence wanes, investments previously recognized as stable, such as
tax-exempt money market funds (which are one of the largest purchasers of tax-exempt bonds),
have at times experienced significant withdrawals.

Fluctuation of Investment Earnings

A portion of the Co-Obligor’s nonoperating revenues are expected to come from
investment earnings on the investment of available funds. Investment income may also be a
source of payment of Monthly Maintenance Fees of residents of the Community and fees paid by
residents of the Community. The amount of such investment earnings fluctuates with changes in
prevailing market conditions.

As described below under “Nature of Income of Elderly,” investment income of the
residents may be adversely affected by declines in market interest rates and other investment
earnings, also resulting in payment difficulties.

The Nature of the Income of the Elderly

A large percentage of the monthly income of some of the residents of the Community is
expected to be fixed income derived from military retirement pay, pensions and social security.
In addition, some residents of the Community may liquidate assets in order to pay the Monthly
Maintenance Fees and other charges for occupancy of the Community. If, due to inflation or
otherwise, substantial increases in Monthly Maintenance Fees and other charges are required to
cover increases in operating costs, wages, benefits and other expenses without a corresponding
cost of living increase in retirement pay, pensions and social security, some residents may have
difficulty paying or may be unable to pay such increased Monthly Maintenance Fees and other
charges. Furthermore, investment income of the residents may be adversely affected by declines
in market interest rates, also resulting in payment difficulties.
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Sale of Homes

It is anticipated that many prospective residents of the Community will need to sell their
current homes prior to occupancy in order to pay the Entrance Fee and meet the other financial
obligations for residence at the Community. Adverse economic conditions over the past eight
years resulted in decreases in average home sale prices and increases in the length of time
required to sell existing homes in many areas of the country, including the areas where the
Community located. If prospective residents encounter difficulties in selling their homes due to
the local and national economic conditions affecting the sale of residential real estate or
otherwise, they may not have sufficient funds to pay fees or other obligations under their
Residency Contracts, thereby causing a delay in marketing the units at the Community. Any
such delay could have an adverse impact on the revenues of the Co-Obligors and the ability of
the Co-Obligors to pay debt service on its obligations, including the 2018 Note securing the
Series 2018 Bonds.

Federal and State Regulation

The Corporation is and any future Co-Obligor may be subject to regulatory actions by a
number of federal, state and local agencies. See “STATE OF TEXAS REGULATION OF
CONTINUING CARE RETIREMENT COMMUNITIES” below. Failure by the Corporation
and any future Co-Obligor to meet applicable standards could result in the loss of licensure, the
delay in or loss of reimbursement or an inability to deliver services.

Further, regulatory provisions may be promulgated from time to time, and it is not
possible to predict the effect of any such future promulgations on the Co-Obligors. Future
actions by the federal, state or local government increasing the required services to be provided
to residents of the Community or otherwise changing existing regulations or their interpretation
could increase the cost of operation of the Community and adversely affect the revenues of the
Co-Obligors. No assurance can be given that any future legislation that is enacted will not
materially adversely affect the Co-Obligors.

Federal and State Reimbursement Regulation

The Corporation is and any future Co-Obligor may be subject to regulatory actions by a
number of governmental, state and private agencies, including Texas Department of Aging and
Disability Services (“DADS”) and Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) and
those which administer the Medicare and Medicaid programs. On October 4, 2016, the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
published a final rule including extensive revisions to the conditions of participation for long-
term care facilities that took effect on November 28, 2016 with additional phases becoming
effective November 28, 2017 and November 28, 2019. These new regulations will require
skilled nursing facilities to review and modify multiple operational and system activities as well
as operational and compliance policies and procedures. In addition, the new regulations require
periodic new facility wide assessment of resources. Consequently, the new regulations could
have a material adverse effect on the Corporation. The referenced governmental, state and
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private agencies may promulgate additional new regulatory provisions from time to time, and it
is not possible to predict the effect of any such future promulgations on the Corporation.

The amount of reimbursement available to the Corporation could be adversely affected
by various federal cost containment programs designed to reduce federal payments to health care
facilities by limiting the amount of reimbursement for health care costs.

Future actions by the federal government with respect to Medicare and by the federal and
state governments with respect to Medicaid, reducing the total amount of funds available for
either or both of these programs or changing the reimbursement regulations or their
interpretation, could adversely affect the amount of reimbursement available to the Corporation.
Revision and expansion of effective regulations or the proposal of additional regulations may
affect long-term health care facilities and providers which seek payment under the Medicare and
Medicaid programs.

The United States Congress (“Congress”) and the State legislature have considered a
number of proposals, some of which involve comprehensive health care reform, in recent years.
The provisions that may be included in future federal or state legislation or regulations and their
impact upon the Co-Obligors cannot be determined at this time. No assurance can be given that
any future health care legislation that is enacted will not materially adversely affect the Co-
Obligors.

The Corporation maintains a total of 12 nursing beds at the Community that are licensed
under the federal Medicare program, and there are no nursing beds licensed under the State
Medicaid program. While the 12 certified Medicare beds subject the Corporation to the complex
federal legislative and regulatory program governing Medicare, approximately 5.6% of the Co-
Obligor’s revenues in fiscal year 2016 were derived from Medicare payments.

Medicare Audits and Withholdings

Participants of Medicare and Medicaid are subject to audits and retroactive audit
adjustments with respect to reimbursement claimed under those programs, and the
representations upon which such reimbursements are claimed. There can be no assurance that
any such future adjustments will not be material or that the Co-Obligor’s reserves for such
purpose will be adequate to cover any such adjustments. Both Medicare and Medicaid
regulations also provide for withholding payments in certain circumstances. Any such
withholding with respect to the Corporation could have a material adverse effect on the financial
condition and results of operations of the Co-Obligors. In addition, contracts between health
care providers and third-party payors often have contractual audit, setoff and withhold provisions
that may cause substantial, retroactive adjustments. Such contractual adjustments also could
have a material adverse effect on the financial condition and results of operations of the Co-
Obligors. No assurance can be given that in the future Medicare payments or other payments
will not be withheld, which could materially and adversely affect the financial condition or
results of operations of the Co-Obligors.
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Under both the Medicare and the Medicaid programs, certain health care providers,
including skilled nursing care providers, are required to report certain financial information on a
periodic basis, and with respect to certain types of classifications of information, penalties are
imposed for inaccurate reports. These penalties may be material and could include criminal,
civil or administrative liability for making false claims and exclusion from participation in the
federal healthcare programs. Under certain circumstances, payments made may be determined
to have been made as a consequence of improper claims subject to the federal Civil False Claims
Act (the “False Claims Act”) or other federal statutes, subjecting the provider to civil or criminal
sanctions. The United States Department of Justice has initiated a number of national
investigations involving proceedings under the False Claims Act relating to alleged improper
billing practices. These actions have resulted in substantial settlement amounts being paid in
certain cases.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
established the Medicare Recovery Audit Contract (“RAC”) program was initially a
demonstration program developed to identify improper Medicare payments. Under the program,
CMS contracts with private contractors (the “RAC Contractors”) to conduct RAC audits, used to
identify and recover improper Medicare payments paid to healthcare providers under Medicare
plans. RAC Contractors are paid on a contingency fee basis receiving a percentage (typically
between 30 and 50 percent) of the improper overpayments and underpayments they collect from
providers. RAC Contractors can retrospectively review claims for up to three years from the date
the claim was paid and review provider claims for the following types of services: hospital
inpatient and outpatient, skilled nursing facility, physician, ambulance and laboratory, as well as
durable medical equipment. RAC Contractors use automated software programs to identify
potential payment errors in such areas as duplicate payments, fiscal intermediaries’ mistakes,
medical necessity and coding, and identified significant overpayments for collection in the
demonstration states. The Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006 made the RAC program
permanent and authorized CMS to expand the program to all 50 states. The Health Care Reform
Act expanded RAC audits to Medicare Parts C and D and Medicaid. See “Health Care Reform
Act” below.

Authorized by The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
(“HIPAA”), the Medicare Integrity Program (“MIP”’) was established to deter fraud and abuse in
the Medicare program by identifying and addressing fraud, waste, and abuse, which cause
improper payments. Funded separately from the general administrative contractor program, the
MIP allows CMS to enter into contracts with outside entities and insure the “integrity” of the
Medicare program. These entities, Medicare zone program integrity contractors (“ZPICs”),
formerly known as program safeguard contractors, are contracted by CMS to review claims and
medical charts, both on a prepayment and post-payment basis, conduct cost report audits and
identify cases of suspected fraud. ZPICs have the authority to deny and recover payments as well
as to refer cases to the Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”). CMS is also planning to enable
ZPICs to compile claims data from multiple sources in order to analyze the complete claims
histories of beneficiaries for inconsistencies. In February 2006, the Deficit Reduction Act of
2005 was signed into law and created the similar Medicaid Integrity Program under Section 1936
of the Social Security Act, which is similarly committed to combating provider fraud, waste, and
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abuse which diverts dollars that could otherwise be spent to safeguard the health and welfare of
Medicaid recipients.

Medicare and Medicaid audits may result in reduced reimbursement or repayment
obligations related to past alleged overpayments and may also delay payments to providers
pending resolution of the appeals process. The Health Care Reform Act (as defined below)
explicitly gives the Department of Health and Human Services (the “HHS”) the authority to
suspend Medicare and Medicaid payments to a provider or supplier during a pending
investigation of fraud. The Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009 (the “Fraud
Enforcement and Recovery Act” or “FERA”) and the Health Care Reform Act also amended
certain provisions of the False Claims Act to include retention of overpayments as a violation
and added provisions respecting the timing of the obligation to identify, report and reimburse
overpayments. The effect of these changes on existing programs and systems of the Co-Obligors
cannot be predicted.

In light of the complexity of the regulations relating to the Medicare and Medicaid
programs, and the threat of ongoing investigations as described above, there can be no assurance
that the Corporation will not be the subject of any such investigation.

Exclusions from Medicare or Medicaid Participation.

The term “exclusion” means that no federal or state health care program payment
(including Medicare and Medicaid) will be made for any services rendered by the excluded party
or for any services rendered on the order or under the supervision of an excluded physician.
There are two types of exclusions, “permissive” which are exclusions in which the OIG has
discretionary authority to exclude individuals and entities from participation in all federal health
care programs and “mandatory” which the OIG is required by law to exclude individuals and
entities from participation in all federal health care programs. Generally, the Secretary of HHS
must exclude from program participation for not less than five years any individual or entity who
has been convicted of a criminal health care offense or an offense relating to the illegal
manufacture, distribution, prescription or dispensing of a controlled substance.

The Secretary of HHS also may exclude individuals or entities under certain other
circumstances, such as an unrelated conviction of fraud, theft, embezzlement, breach of fiduciary
duty, or other financial misconduct relating either to the delivery of health care in general, or to
participation in a federal, state or local government program. The excluded person or entity and
the entity that enters into a contract with the excluded person or entity could be subject to a
financial penalty for each item or service furnished by the excluded individual, and the
responsible party might have to repay the governmental program three times the amount claimed
for each item or service. Any action to exclude the Corporation from participation in the
Medicare or Medicaid program could have a material adverse impact on the Co-Obligors.

Health I nsurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) added two
prohibited practices, the commission of which may lead to civil monetary penalties: (1) the
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practice or pattern of presenting a claim for an item or service on a reimbursement code that the
person knows or should know will result in greater payment than appropriate (“upcoding’), and
(2) engaging in a practice of submitting claims for payment for medically unnecessary services.
Violation of such prohibited practices could result in civil monetary penalties, which could be
substantial.

HIPAA also included administrative simplification provisions intended to facilitate the
processing of health care payments by encouraging the electronic exchange of information and
the use of standardized formats for health care information. Congress recognized, however, that
standardization of information formats and greater use of electronic technology present
additional privacy and security risks due to the increased likelihood that databases of
individually identifiable health care information will be created and the ease with which vast
amounts of such data can be transmitted. Therefore, HIPAA requires the establishment of
distinct privacy and security protections for individually identifiable health information.

Failure to comply with HIPAA can also result in civil and criminal penalties. Regulations
of the HHS designed to protect patient medical records and other protected health information
maintained by health care providers, hospitals, health plans, health insurers and health care
clearinghouses provide specific federal penalties if a patient’s right to privacy is violated. For
non-criminal violations of the privacy standards by the persons subject to the standards,
including disclosures made in error, there are civil monetary penalties. In addition, criminal
penalties are provided in HIPAA for certain types of violations of the statute that are committed
knowingly. The Secretary of HHS has discretion in determining the amount of the penalty based
on the nature and extent of the violation and the nature and extent of the harm resulting from the
violation. The Secretary of HHS is prohibited from imposing civil penalties (except in cases of
willful neglect) if the violation is corrected within 30 days (this time period may be extended at
HHS’ discretion). The Corporation may incur additional expense to ensure that its operations and
information systems comply with the HIPAA privacy and security regulations.

The OIG received substantial enforcement funding through HIPAA. In addition, U.S.
Attorneys are actively prosecuting a number of cases, including criminal False Claims Act cases,
against health care providers, some of which are exempt organizations. Failure to comply with
the complex Medicare and Medicaid billing laws can result in exclusion from the federal and
state health care reimbursement programs as well as civil and criminal penalties. A substantial
failure of the Corporation to meet its responsibilities under the law could materially adversely
affect the financial condition of the Co-Obligors.

HITECH Act

The federal Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act
(“HITECH Act”), enacted in 2009, included an approximately $20 billion appropriation for the
development and implementation of health information technology standards and the adoption of
electronic health care records. The HITECH Act also significantly expanded the HIPAA privacy
and security provisions applicable to covered entities such as the Corporation. Changes to the
privacy provisions include modifications to the minimum necessary requirement, the fundraising
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and marketing rules, the rules governing accounting for disclosures of protected health
information and the right of individuals to restrict disclosure of protected health information in
certain circumstances. HHS has developed guidance and promulgated implementing regulations
for these requirements.

The HITECH Act provides that a substantial part of the HIPAA administrative, physical
and technical safeguards, as well as security policies, procedures and documentation
requirements will now apply directly to all business associates. In addition, the HITECH Act
makes certain privacy provisions directly applicable to business associates. As a result of these
changes, business associates will be directly regulated by HHS for those requirements, and as a
result, will be subject to penalties imposed by HHS or the State Attorney General.

The HITECH Act also added new requirements for notification of individuals and the
Secretary of HHS when there has been a breach of unsecured protected health information.
There are strict timing and notice content requirements under the HITECH Act and its
implementing regulations. The HITECH Act also requires HHS to perform periodic audits to
ensure that covered entities and business associates are complying with HITECH’s new privacy
and security provisions.

HIPAA imposes civil monetary penalties for violations and criminal penalties, including
monetary as well as incarceration, for knowingly obtaining or using individually identifiable
health information. The HITECH Act revises the civil monetary penalties associated with
violations of HIPAA, as well as provides state attorneys general with authority to enforce the
HIPAA privacy and security regulations in some cases, through a damages assessment or an
injunction against the violator. The revised civil monetary penalty provisions establish a tiered
system. For a violation due to willful neglect, the penalty is a minimum of $10,000 or $50,000
per violation, depending on whether the violation was corrected within 30 days of the date the
violator knew or should have known of the violation. Further, the HITECH Act requires HHS to
promulgate a regulation to distribute a portion of civil monetary penalty proceeds directly to
harmed individuals, which may serve as an incentive for individuals to file complaints.

The costs of continuing compliance with HIPAA and the Administrative Simplification
regulations may be substantial.

The Corporation is currently in continuing compliance with HIPAA and HITECH

regulations. However, no guarantee can be made that the Corporation will remain compliant in
the future.
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Security Breaches and Unauthorized Releases of Personal I nformation

In addition to penalties that may be assessed under regulations promulgated under the
HITECH Act as described above, the public nature of breaches of unsecured protected health
information exposes health organizations to increased risk of individual or class action lawsuits
from patients or other affected persons. Failure to comply with restrictions on patient privacy or
to maintain robust information security safeguards, including taking steps to ensure that
contractors who have access to sensitive patient information maintain the confidentiality of such
information, could consequently damage a health care provider’s reputation and materially
adversely affect business operations. Similar repercussions exist for failure to comply with the
HITECH breach notification regulations.

Health Care Reform

In March, 2010, the United States Congress enacted the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act, as modified by the Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the “Health Care Reform Act”). Some of the
provisions of the Health Care Reform Act took effect immediately, while others will take effect
or will be phased in over a time period extending as many as ten years following the date of its
enactment. The current U.S. President and Republican leaders of Congress have repeatedly cited
health care reform, and particularly, repeal and replacement of the Health Care Reform Act, as a
key goal, but efforts to repeal all of the Health Care Reform Act have been unsuccessful to date.

On December 22, 2017 the President signed significant federal tax legislation, commonly
known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Tax Act”), which, among other things, repeals
the Health Care Reform Act’s “individual mandate.” In general, prior to enactment of the 2017
Tax Act, the Health Care Reform Act required that individuals who were not covered by a health
plan that provided at least minimum essential coverage were required to pay a ‘“shared
responsibility payment” with their federal tax return. For months beginning after December 31,
2018, the amount of the individual shared responsibility payment is reduced to zero. The
prospective repeal of the individual mandate could have a material adverse effect on the Co-
Obligor’s business or financial condition.

Even without a full repeal, the Health Care Reform Act may instead be further adversely
affected through various legislative efforts or executive orders. Management cannot predict
whether any additional bill aimed at repealing and replacing all or a portion of the Health Care
Reform Act will become law. Any legislative action that reduces federal health care program
spending, increases the number of individuals without health insurance, or otherwise
significantly alters the health care delivery system or insurance markets could have a material
adverse effect on the Co-Obligor’s business or financial condition.

Possible impacts on the Corporation include, without limitation, an increase in the
number of insured residents and a possible reduction in charity-care and bad-debt write-offs;
significant regulatory changes that increase the cost of operations; increased activity by
government agencies regarding fraud, waste and abuse; decreased reimbursements from third
party payors; significant changes to current payment methodologies for services; and changes to
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costs and expenses of providing health insurance coverage to employees. Possible impacts of a
repeal or replacement of the Health Care Reform Act on the Corporation include, without
limitation, a reduction in the number of insured residents; additional pressure on Medicaid and
Medicare funding; decreased reimbursements from third party payors; significant changes to
current payment methodologies for services; higher deductibles and less coverage by insurance.
The uncertainty of the impact of the Health Care Reform Act, or of any repeal or replacement
bill, on the Corporation is likely to continue for the foreseeable future as legislative and judicial
attempts to repeal or amend the Health Care Reform Act continue, as noted above.

Health Care Reform Act provisions relating to skilled nursing facilities (“SNFs”) include
requirements that facilities (i) make certain disclosures regarding ownership; (ii) implement
compliance and ethics programs; and (iii) make certain disclosures regarding expenditures for
wages and benefits for direct care staff. In addition, the Health Care Reform Act may affect SNF
reimbursement through the creation of value-based purchasing payment and post-acute care
payment bundling programs and may place limitations on SNF payments for health care acquired
conditions. Investors are encouraged to review legislative, legal, and regulatory developments as
they occur and to assess the elements and potential effects of the health care reform initiative as
it evolves.

Management of the Corporation is analyzing the Health Care Reform Act and legislation
aimed at repealing and replacing all or a portion of the Health Care Reform Act and will
continue to do so in order to assess the effects of the legislation on current and projected
operations, financial performance and the financial condition of the Co-Obligors. However,
management cannot predict the interim or long-term effects of the Health Care Reform Act on
the Corporation with any degree of certainty. The changes mandated by the Health Care Reform
Act may have a material adverse impact on the business and operations of the Corporation and
consequently, the financial condition of the Co-Obligors.

Anti-Fraud and Abuse Laws

The federal anti-kickback law (the “Anti-Kickback Law”) makes it a felony to knowingly
and willfully offer, pay, solicit or receive remuneration, directly or indirectly, in order to induce
business that is reimbursable under any federal health care program. The statute has been
interpreted to cover any arrangement where one purpose of the remuneration is to obtain
referrals or to induce further referrals. The Health Care Reform Act amended, among other
provisions of the Anti-Kickback Law, the intent requirement to provide that a person need not
have actual knowledge of the Anti-Kickback Law or specific intent to commit a kickback
violation to violate the statute. Violations or alleged violations of the Anti-Kickback Law may
result in settlements that require multi-million dollar payments and onerous corporate integrity
agreements. The Anti-Kickback Law can be prosecuted either criminally or civilly. A criminal
violation may be prosecuted as a felony, subject to a fine of up to $250,000 for each act (which
may be each item or each bill sent to a federal program), imprisonment and/or exclusion from the
Medicare and Medicaid programs. In addition, civil monetary penalties of $10,000 per item or
service in noncompliance (which may be each item or each bill sent to a federal program) or an
“assessment” of three times the amount claimed may be imposed. In addition, violations of the
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Anti-Kickback Law are increasingly being prosecuted under the False Claims Act (the “FCA”),
triggering the FCA penalties discussed above.

In addition, HHS, through the OIG, has the authority to impose civil assessments and
fines and to exclude hospitals engaged in prohibited activities from the Medicare, Medicaid,
TRICARE (a health care program providing benefits to dependents of members of the uniformed
services) and other federal health care programs for not less than five years. There are limited
regulatory safe harbors to the Anti-Kickback Law. Arrangements that implicate the Anti-
Kickback Law but do not fit within a regulatory safe harbor are not automatically in violation,
but are analyzed by OIG on a case-by-case basis. However, such arrangements face a risk of
running afoul of the Anti-Kickback Law, which may result in substantial penalties.

HIPAA also established a national Health Care Fraud and Abuse Control Program
(HCFAC), under the joint direction of the Attorney General and the HHS, designed to coordinate
federal, state and local law enforcement activities with respect to health care fraud and abuse.

Because of the breadth of the Anti-Kickback Law and the narrowness of the safe harbor
regulations, there can be no assurance that the Corporation will not be found to have violated the
Anti-Kickback Law. Although the Anti-Kickback Law applies only to federal health care
programs, a number of states, including Texas, have passed similar statutes that contain similar
types of prohibitions that are applicable to all other health plans or third party payors. While the
Corporation expects to continue to monitor its contracts and business arrangements, it cannot be
certain that all of its agreements with physicians and other covered activities qualify under
current regulations.

Stark Law

The federal “Stark” statute prohibits a physician or immediate family member who has a
financial relationship with an entity (including a hospital) from referring federal health care
program patients to such entity for the furnishing of designated health services, with limited
statutory and regulatory exceptions. Designated health services under the Stark Law include
physical therapy services, occupational therapy services, outpatient speech language pathology
services, radiology or other diagnostic services (including MRIs, CT scans and ultrasound
procedures), durable medical equipment, radiation therapy services, parenteral and enteral
nutrients, equipment and supplies, prosthetics, orthotics and prosthetic devices, home health
services, outpatient prescription drugs, inpatient and outpatient hospital services and clinical
laboratory services. The Stark Law also prohibits the entity receiving the referral from filing a
claim or billing for the services arising out of the prohibited referral. The government does not
need to prove that the entity knew that the referral was prohibited to establish a Stark violation.
Sanctions for violation of the Stark Law include denial of payment for the services provided in
violation of the prohibition, refunds of amounts collected in connection with prohibited referrals,
exclusion from the federal health care programs and civil penalties, which could be substantial.
Knowing violations of the Stark Law may also serve as the basis for liability under the False
Claims Act. The types of financial arrangements between a physician and an entity that trigger
the self-referral prohibitions of the Stark Law are broad, and include ownership and investment
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interests and compensation arrangements. Arrangements that implicate the Stark Law that do not
fall within a statutory or regulatory exception are not subject to a case-by-case review, unlike
violations of the Anti-Kickback Law. Rather, such arrangements are prohibited in all cases by
the Stark Law. Medicare may deny payment for all services performed based on a prohibited
referral and an entity that has billed for prohibited services may be obligated to refund the
amounts collected from the Medicare program. Additionally, violations of the Stark Law, even if
inadvertent, carry substantial penalties. If the violations of the Stark statute were knowing, the
government may also seek civil monetary penalties of up to almost $24,000 per claim, and, in
some cases, an entity may be excluded from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. In addition,
violations of the Stark statute are increasingly being prosecuted under the FCA, triggering the
FCA penalties discussed above. Potential repayments to CMS, settlements, fines or exclusion
for a Stark violation or an alleged violation could have a material adverse impact on the
Corporation.

Because of the complexity of the Stark Law and the requirement to meet a statutory or
regulatory exception, there can be no assurance that the Corporation will not be found to have
violated the Stark Law. Penalties for such violations, which may include exclusion from the
Medicare and Medicaid programs, could have a material adverse effect on the future operations
and financial condition of the Co-Obligors, as could any significant penalties, demands for
refunds or denials of payment. Although the Stark Law applies only to federal health care
programs, a number of states have passed similar statutes pursuant to which similar types of
prohibitions are made applicable to all types of providers and all other health plans or third party
payors. Currently, Texas does not have such a state statute but there is no guarantee that they
would not pass such a statute in the future.

False Claims Laws and Civil Monetary Penalties Law

There are principally three federal statutes which address the issue of “false claims.”
First, the FCA imposes civil liability (including substantial monetary penalties and damages) on
any person or corporation which, including, but not limited to, (1) knowingly presents or causes
to be presented a false or fraudulent claim for payment to the United States; (2) knowingly
makes, uses, or causes to be made or used a false record or statement to obtain payment; (3)
engages in a conspiracy to defraud the federal government by getting a false or fraudulent claim
allowed or paid; (4) knowingly makes, uses or causes to be made or used, a false record or
statement material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the government; or
(5) knowingly conceals or knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases an obligation to pay or
transmit money or property to the government. Specific intent to defraud the federal government
is not required to act with knowledge. FCA violations that occurred prior to August 1, 2016 are
punishable in an amount not to exceed $11,000 per claim, plus three times the amount of
monetary damages. For FCA violations occurring on or after August 1, 2016, FCA civil penalties
increase to as much as almost $22,000 per claim, plus three times the amount of damages that the
federal government sustains because of the false claim. In extreme circumstances, violation of
the FCA may result in criminal penalties. FCA investigations and cases have become common in
the health care field and may cover a range of activity from intentionally inflated billings, to
highly technical billing infractions, to allegations of inadequate care. The FCA also permits
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individuals to initiate civil actions on behalf of the government in lawsuits called “qui tam”
actions. Qui tam plaintiffs, or “whistleblowers,” can share in the damages recovered by the
government or recover independently if the government does not participate. The FCA has
become one of the government’s primary weapons against health care fraud. FCA violations or
alleged violations could lead to settlements, fines, exclusion or reputation damage that could
have a material adverse impact on health care providers. It is important to note that when FCA
penalties increase, so do the financial rewards for whistleblowers, increasing their incentive to
allege false or fraudulent claims.

In addition to the False Claims Act, the Civil Monetary Penalties Law (the “CMP”)
authorizes the imposition of substantial civil monetary penalties against an entity which engages
in certain activities, including, but not limited to, (1) knowingly presenting or causing to be
presented a claim for services not provided as claimed or which is otherwise false or fraudulent
in any way; (2) knowingly giving or causing to be given false or misleading information
reasonably expected to influence the decision to discharge a patient; (3) offering or giving
remuneration to any beneficiary of a federal health care program likely to influence the receipt of
reimbursable items or services; (4) arranging for reimbursable services with an entity which is
excluded from participation in a federal health care program; (5) knowingly or willfully
soliciting or receiving remuneration for a referral of a federal health care program beneficiary;
(6) using a payment intended for a federal health care program beneficiary for another use; or (7)
knowing of an overpayment and not reporting and returning the overpayment. The Secretary of
HHS, acting through the OIG, also has both mandatory and permissive authority to exclude
individuals and entities from participation in federal health care programs pursuant to this
statute. The CMP authorizes imposition of civil monetary penalties ranging from $10,000 to
$50,000 for each item or service improperly claimed and each instance of prohibited conduct.
Health care providers may be found liable under the CMP even when they did not have actual
knowledge of the impropriety of the claim.

Finally, it is a criminal federal healthcare fraud offense to: (1) knowingly and willfully
execute or attempt to execute any scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program; or (2)
obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises any money or
property owned or controlled by any healthcare benefit program. Penalties for a violation of this
federal law include fines and imprisonment and forfeiture of any property derived from proceeds
traceable to the offense.

Although the False Claims Act has been in effect for many years, in recent years there
has been a significant increase in the number of allegations (sometimes known as “whistle
blower” allegations) filed under the False Claims Act, a large number of which involve the
health care and pharmaceutical industries. This is due in part to the ability of relators, acting on
the government’s behalf, to collect a sizable percentage of the verdict or settlement. In 2009, the
Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act was enacted, which authorized increased funding for fraud
investigation and prosecution and expanded the scope of the False Claims Act.

The threats of large monetary penalties and exclusion from participation in Medicare,
Medicaid and other federal health care programs, and the significant costs of mounting a
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defense, create serious pressures on providers who are targets of false claims actions or
investigations to settle. Therefore, an action under the False Claims Act, FERA CMP law or
under the criminal federal healthcare fraud offense law could have an adverse financial impact
on the Co-Obligors.

As described below under “STATE OF TEXAS REGULATION OF CONTINUING
CARE RETIREMENT COMMUNITIES -- Health Insurance Fraud and Unprofessional Conduct
Statutes” below, Texas has passed similar statutes expanding the prohibition against the
submission of false claims to nonfederal third party payors.

Resident Rightsin Skilled Nursing Facilities

Skilled nursing facilities that accept payment from Medicare and Medicaid are required
to comply with federal laws that affect the rights of residents, including the Federal Nursing
Home Reform Act and related regulations. Failure to comply with these laws can result in
regulatory action, monetary fines, loss or restriction of licensure or certification, and other
remedies. There is no certainty that compliance with the laws or regulatory actions under them
will not adversely affect the operations of the Community or the financial condition of the Co-
Obligors.

Fair Housing and Anti-Discrimination Laws

There are a number of federal and state laws governing discrimination on the basis of
age, disability, familial status, religion, race, and national origin, including the Age
Discrimination Act of 1975, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Fair Housing Amendments
Act of 1989, and the Fair Housing Act of 1968. There are no assurances that the Co-Obligors
will not be subject to regulatory action to enforce these laws with respect to residents and the
Community or legal action by residents to enforce their rights under these laws.

Future Laws and Regulations

The enactment of additional legislation restricting or regulating the operation of
residential care facilities, creating additional residents’ rights or requiring certain financial
reserves could adversely affect the financial condition of the Co-Obligors and may limit the
terms and enforceability of and remedies under Residency Contracts.

Further, new regulatory provisions may be promulgated from time to time, and it is not
possible to predict the effect of any such future promulgations on the Co-Obligors. Future
actions by the federal, state or local government increasing the required services to be provided
to residents of the Community or otherwise changing existing regulations or their interpretation
could increase the cost of operation of the Community and adversely affect the revenues of the
Co-Obligors. No assurance can be given that any future legislation that is enacted will not
materially adversely affect the Co-Obligors.
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Organized Resident Activity

The Corporation may, from time to time, be subject to pressure from organized groups of
residents seeking, among other things, to raise the level of services or to maintain the level of
Monthly Maintenance Fees or other charges without increase. While such pressure from small
groups of residents is not unusual, no assurance can be given that such pressure will not escalate
into more serious organized activity such as a general payment strike. Moreover, management
of the Corporation may be subject to conflicting pressures from different groups of residents,
some of whom may seek an increase in the level of services while others may wish to hold down
monthly service fees and other charges. In such event, no assurance can be given that
management of the Corporation will be able to satisfactorily meet the needs of such residents.
Any such failure could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation through an increase in
the Corporation’s expenses or a decrease in the occupancy rate as a result of departure of
unsatisfied residents or an inability to attract new residents.

Risks Associated with Residents’ Financial Positions

Although the Corporation screens potential residents to ensure that they have adequate
assets and income to pay their obligations to the Corporation during their lifetime, there can be
no assurance that such assets and income will be sufficient in all cases. The pricing of Entrance
Fees, refund provisions, Monthly Maintenance Fees, and health care benefits are determined
from actuarial projections of the expected morbidity and mortality of the projected resident
population.

The Corporation may assist residents who become unable to pay fees and other charges
of the Corporation by reason of circumstances beyond their control. See “Fees and Monthly
Charges -- Monthly Maintenance Fees” in Appendix A. However, the increased cost of care
resulting from cost increases generally and financial assistance to a significant number of
residents could adversely affect the financial condition of the Co-Obligors.

Insurance

The Master Indenture requires the Co-Obligors to carry certain insurance. See “General
Information -- Insurance” in Appendix A. Uninsured claims and increases in insurance
premiums could, to the extent not covered by increased revenues, adversely affect the financial
condition of the Co-Obligors.

To the extent that insurance coverage maintained by any Co-Obligor is inadequate to
cover judgments against any of them, such claims may be required to be discharged by payments
from the Co-Obligor’s own funds. To the extent that insurance coverage maintained by others
with whom any Co-Obligor may have joint and several liability is inadequate, such Co-Obligor
(or its insurers to the extent of applicable coverage) may incur additional liability for such
claims. Further increases in the cost or limitations on the availability of insurance could
adversely affect the operating results of the Co-Obligors.
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Future Results May Differ from Historical Results

Certain audited financial information regarding the Co-Obligors is set forth in Appendix
B. There can be no assurance that the financial results achieved in the future will be similar to
historical results. Such future results will vary from historical results and the variations may be
material. Therefore, the historical financial results cannot be taken as a representation that the
Co-Obligor will be able to fulfill their obligations under the Master Indenture.

Entrance Fee Refunds

Following departure of a resident from the Community and the termination of the
Resident Agreement, the Corporation may be obligated to refund the departing resident’s
Entrance Fee up to the amount equal to 90% of the Entrance Fee paid, whether or not a new
resident is obtained for the departing resident’s Living Unit. See “Fees and Monthly Charges --
Entrance Fee Refund Programs” in Appendix A.

Tax Consequences to Residents

Section 7872 (Treatment of Loans with Below Market Interest Rates) of the Code
provides for, in certain circumstances, the imputation of interest income to a lender when the rate
of interest charged by the lender is below prevailing market rates (as determined under a
formula) or, even if the below market interest rate loan would otherwise be exempt from the
provisions of Section 7872, when one of the principal purposes for such below market rate loan
is the avoidance of federal income taxation.

A refundable entrance fee payment made by a resident to certain continuing care
facilities has been determined under Section 7872 to constitute a below market interest rate loan
by the resident to the facility to the extent that the resident is not receiving a market rate of
interest on the refundable portion of the entrance fee. Section 7872(h) provides a “safe harbor”
exemption for certain types of refundable entrance fees. The statutory language of Section 7872
does not permit a conclusive determination as to whether the Residency Contracts come within
the scope of the continuing care facility safe harbor or within the statute itself.

Provided the Residency Contracts fall within the scope of Section 7872, the safe harbor
exemption under Section 7872(h) is applicable (i) if such loan was made pursuant to a
continuing care contract, (ii) if the resident (or the resident’s spouse) has attained age 62 before
the close of the year and (iii) irrespective of the amount of the “loan” by the resident (or the
resident’s spouse) to the continuing care facility. The Health Care Reform Act amended
Section 7872(h) to make the exemption for loans to qualifying care facilities permanent.

Any determination of applicability of Section 7872 could have the effect of discouraging
potential residents from becoming or remaining residents of the Community.
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Environmental Risks

There are potential risks relating to the release, presence or handling of hazardous
substances on property. The federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation
and Liability Act of 1980, sometimes referred to as “CERCLA” or the “Superfund Act,” is the
most well known and widely applicable law relating to liability of property owners for
environmental hazards with respect to property. If hazardous substances are found to be located
on or to have migrated from property, the owner of such property may be held liable for costs
and other liabilities related to the removal of such substances. If any part of the Mortgaged
Premises is affected by a hazardous substance, the marketability and value of the property may
be reduced by the cost of remedying the condition, which could exceed the value of the property.
The Co-Obligors have no reason to believe that the Community or the site on which the
Community is located has environmental problems of a material nature. However, there can be
no assurances that such site is free of environmental concerns.

In their roles as owner and operator of real property, the Borrower and the Corporation
may be subject to liability for investigating and remedying any hazardous substances that have
come to be located on its real property, including any such substances that may have migrated
off its real property. In addition, the Corporation’s operations include the handling, use, storage
and disposal of hazardous, infectious and toxic materials and wastes. Such handling and use or
any release by the Corporation may produce risks of damage to individuals, property or the
environment; interruption of operations or increased costs; legal liability, damages, injunctions
or fines, or the triggering of investigations, administrative proceedings, penalties or other
government agency actions. There can be no assurance that the Corporation will not encounter
such risks in the future, and such risks may result in material adverse consequences to the
operations or financial condition of the Co-Obligors.

Personnel

Management believes that its salary and benefits package for employees is competitive
with other comparable institutions in the area in which the Community operates.

In recent years, the health care industry has experienced a shortage of nurses and other
health care personnel. The Corporation will compete with other health care providers and with
non-health care providers for both professional and non-professional employees. There can be
no assurance that labor shortages in the future will not affect their ability to attract and maintain
an adequate staff of qualified health care personnel. A lack of qualified personnel could result in
significant increases in labor costs or otherwise adversely affect their operating results.

Insurance and Legal Proceedings

The provision of personal and health care services entails an inherent risk of liability. In
recent years, participants in the senior living and health care services industry have become
subject to an increasing number of lawsuits alleging negligence, malpractice or related theories,
many of which involve large claims and result in significant legal defense costs. The Co-
Obligors carry property and general liability insurance and professional liability insurance in
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amounts deemed adequate by management and consistent with other comparable institutions.
See “General Information -- Insurance” in Appendix A. However, there can be no assurance that
any future claims will not exceed applicable insurance coverage. A claim against the Co-
Obligors not covered by, or in excess of, the insurance carried by the Co-Obligors could have a
material adverse effect upon the Co-Obligors.

In addition, the insurance policies of the Co-Obligors must be renewed annually.
Because the increased litigation in the retirement and nursing care business has resulted in
increased insurance premiums and an increased difficulty in obtaining insurance at reasonable
rates, there can be no assurance that insurance coverage will continue to be available to the Co-
Obligors at reasonable premiums, if at all.

The Co-Obligors currently are not a party to any legal proceeding that management
believes would have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of
operations of the Co-Obligors.

Secondary Market

There can be no assurance that there will be a secondary market for the purchase or sale
of the Series 2018 Bonds. The secondary market, if any, for the Series 2018 Bonds will depend
upon prevailing market conditions and the financial condition and results of operations of the
Co-Obligors. The Series 2018 Bonds should therefore be considered long-term investments in
which funds are committed to maturity.

Tax Exemptions
Tax-Exempt Status of | nterest on the Series 2018 Bonds

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and as in effect as of the date of
delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds (the “Code”), imposes a number of requirements that must be
satisfied for interest on state and local obligations, such as the Series 2018 Bonds, to be
excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. These requirements include
limitations on the use of proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds and the facilities financed or
refinanced with such proceeds, limitations on the investment of amounts deemed to be proceeds
of the Series 2018 Bonds prior to expenditure, a requirement that certain investment earnings on
amounts deemed to be proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds be paid periodically to the United
States and a requirement that the Issuer file an information report with the Internal Revenue
Service (the “IRS”).

The Issuer and the Co-Obligors have made certain covenants regarding actions required
to maintain the excludability from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on
the Series 2018 Bonds. Failure to comply with the requirements stated in the Code and related
regulations, rulings and policies may result in the treatment of interest on the Series 2018 Bonds
as taxable, retroactively to the date of issuance.
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The IRS has increased the number of audits of tax-exempt bonds in the charitable
organization sector in recent years. IRS officials have indicated that more resources will be
invested in these audits. Tax-exempt organizations must complete certain schedules to IRS
Form 990 - Return of Organizations Exempt From Income Tax: Schedule K requires detailed
information related to outstanding tax-exempt bond issues, including information regarding
operating, management and research contracts as well as private use compliance; and Schedule J
requires reporting of compensation information for the organizations’ officers, directors,
trustees, key employees and other highly compensated employees. There can be no assurance
that responses by the Co-Obligors to Form 990 will not lead to an IRS audit.

The Series 2018 Bonds may be subject to audits by the IRS from time to time. No ruling
with respect to the tax-exempt status of the Series 2018 Bonds has been or will be sought from
the IRS, and the opinion of Bond Counsel as to the excludability from gross income of the
interest on the Series 2018 Bonds for federal income tax purposes is not binding on the IRS or
the courts. See “TAX MATTERS.” In addition, if the Series 2018 Bonds were to be audited,
the market for and the market value of the Series 2018 Bonds could be adversely affected during
the pendency of the examination and thereafter, even if the outcome of the audit were to be
favorable.

Tax-Exempt Status of Co-Obligors

The tax-exempt status of the Series 2018 Bonds presently depends upon the maintenance
by the Co-Obligors of their status as organizations described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.
In addition, if either of the Co-Obligors were to lose their tax-exempt status, their property and
their revenues could become subject to federal, state and local income taxation. For this reason,
loss of the tax-exempt status of either of the Co-Obligors could have a material adverse effect on
the results of operations and financial condition of the Co-Obligors.

The maintenance of the federal tax-exempt status of an organization is contingent on
compliance with general rules promulgated in the Code and related regulations regarding the
organization and operation of tax-exempt entities, including their operation for charitable and
educational purposes and their avoidance of transactions which may cause their earnings or
assets to inure to the benefit of private individuals. As these general principles were developed
primarily for public charities which do not conduct large-scale technical operations and business
activities, they often do not adequately address the myriad of operations and transactions entered
into by modern nonprofit organizations.

The IRS has also issued revenue rulings dealing with the manner in which a facility
providing residential services to the elderly must operate in order to maintain its exemption
under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. These rulings provide, among other things, that in order to
be exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, such an organization must (1) be dedicated to
providing, and actually provide, services for care and housing to aged individuals who otherwise
would be unable to provide for themselves without hardship, (2) to the extent of its financial
ability, render services to all or a reasonable proportion of its residents at substantially below
actual cost, and (3) render services that minister to the needs of the elderly in relative hardship or
distress. In addition, certain revenue rulings provide that these facilities may admit only those
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tenants who are able to pay full rental charges and that the organization must have an established
policy to maintain persons as residents, even if they become unable to pay the monthly charges
after being admitted to the facility. While the Corporation believes it operates in compliance
with these revenue rulings, because of the complexity of tax laws and the existence of issues
upon which reasonable persons can differ, no assurance can be given that the IRS would not take
a different view upon any audit or examination. In the event of an audit or examination, the
Corporation could face additional taxes, interest or penalties and its tax-exempt status could be
lost.

One of the tools available to the IRS to discipline a tax-exempt entity for private
inurement or unlawful private benefit is revocation of the entity’s tax-exempt status. Although
the IRS has not often revoked the tax-exempt status of an organization, it could do so in the
future.

Local Tax Assessment

Section 11.18 of the Texas Tax Code offers exemption from property taxes to qualified
charitable organizations, specifically to those organizations that offer independent living,
assisted living and nursing services to senior citizens on one campus, such as the Community.
To be eligible for the exemption, organizations must, among other requirements, provide certain
charitable services and community benefits equal to at least 4% of net resident services revenue.
The Co-Obligors have obtained exemptions for ad valorem taxes on the Community. Failure of
the Co-Obligors to maintain such exemption could have an adverse effect on the financial
condition of the Co-Obligors.

In recent years, state, county and local taxing authorities have been undertaking audits
and reviews of the operations of tax-exempt organizations with respect to their real property tax
exemptions. In some cases, the real property tax exemption of the organizations has been
questioned. The loss of this exemption could adversely affect the financial condition of the
Corporation.

Challengesto Real Property Tax Exemption or Increase in Real Property Taxes

Recently, real property tax exemptions applicable to certain nonprofit healthcare
providers have been challenged on the grounds that the healthcare providers are not engaged in
charitable activities. These challenges have been based on a variety of grounds, including
allegations of aggressive billing and collection practices and excessive financial margins.
Several of these disputes have been determined in favor of the taxing authorities or have resulted
in settlements. It is likely that the loss by the Corporation of federal tax exemption would also
result in a challenge to the state tax exemption of the Corporation. Depending on the
circumstances, such event could be adverse and material.

Unrelated Business Taxable | ncome

In recent years, the IRS and state, county and local taxing authorities have been
undertaking audits and reviews of the operations of tax-exempt organizations with respect to
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their exempt activities and the generation of unrelated business taxable income (“UBTI”).
Management believes it has properly accounted for and reported UBTI; nevertheless, an
investigation or audit could lead to a challenge which could result in taxes, interest and penalties
with respect to unreported UBTI and in some cases could affect the tax-exempt status of a Co-
Obligor as well as the excludability from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the
interest payable on the Series 2018 Bonds and any other tax-exempt debt issued on behalf of the
Co-Obligors.

Legislative Developments

Legislative proposals currently under consideration or proposed after issuance and
delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds could adversely affect the market value of the Series 2018
Bonds. Further, if enacted into law, any such proposal could cause the interest on the Series
2018 Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation and could otherwise
alter or amend one or more of the provisions of federal tax law described below under “Tax
Matters” or their consequences.

The 2017 Tax Act makes a number of sweeping changes, including reduction of the
maximum federal corporate tax rate to 21% and repeal of the corporate alternative minimum tax
for tax years beginning after 2017.

The 2017 Tax Act also contains a number of new provisions that are generally adverse to
501(c)(3) organizations. These provisions include but are not limited to (1) a requirement that
UBTI must be determined in a manner that treats separate unrelated trade or business activities
separately, so that, for example, loss-making unrelated business activities may not be netted
against separate profit-making activities and (2) the imposition of a new excise tax on
compensation over $1 million for certain employees. Such legislative provisions adverse to
exempt organizations may have a material adverse financial effects on the Co-Obligors and may
indicate that Congress may in the future consider enactment of other legislation imposing new
federal tax burdens on exempt organizations.

In addition, prospective purchasers of the Series 2018 Bonds should consult with their tax
advisors as to the effect of the Tax Reform Bill on the federal or state income tax treatment of
holders of the Series 2018 Bonds.

Bond Rating
There is no assurance that the rating assigned to the Series 2018 Bonds at the time of

issuance will not be lowered or withdrawn at any time, which could adversely affect the market
price and marketability of the Series 2018 Bonds. See “RATING.”

Additional Debt

The Master Indenture permits the Co-Obligors to incur additional indebtedness,
including, under certain circumstances, Debt secured by a lien on the Co-Obligors’ property that
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is prior to the liens securing the Secured Debt or that may be equally and ratably secured with
the holders of the 2018 Note securing the Series 2018 Bonds. See “SECURITY AND
SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2018 BONDS -- Master Indenture -- Additional
Debt.” Additional Secured Debt issued under the Master Indenture would be entitled to share
ratably with the holders of the Series 2018 Bonds, the Series 2010 Bonds and the Series 2016
Bonds in any moneys realized from the exercise of remedies under the Master Indenture and the
Deed of Trust in the event of a default by the Co-Obligors and in the proceeds of certain
insurance and condemnation awards.

Prepayment Risks

The Series 2018 Bonds are subject to redemption, in certain cases without premium, in
advance of their stated maturities under certain circumstances. See “THE SERIES 2018
BONDS -- Redemption Provisions.” Upon the occurrence of certain events of default, the
payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2018 Bonds may be accelerated. See
“Default and Remedies” in the proposed form of the Bond Indenture included in Appendix C-2.
Thus, there can be no assurance that the Series 2018 Bonds will remain outstanding until their
stated maturities.

Actual Results May Differ from Historical Results

Certain audited financial information regarding the Borrower are forth in Appendix B.
There can be no assurance that the financial results achieved in the future will be similar to
historical results. Such future results will vary from historical results and the variations may be
material. Therefore, the historical financial results cannot be taken as a representation that the
Borrower will be able to fulfill its obligations under the Series 2018 Bonds, the Master
Indenture, and the Loan Agreement, respectively.

Other Regulatory and Contractual Matters

The Corporation is subject to extensive federal, State and local regulations governing
licensure, conduct of operations at their existing facilities, construction of new facilities, cost
containment and reimbursement for services rendered. Failure by the Corporation to meet
applicable standards could result in the loss of a license, the delay in or loss of reimbursement or
the loss of an ability to deliver services. There can be no assurance that federal, State or local
governments will not impose additional restrictions on the operations of the Corporation that
might adversely affect its business and as a result, the financial condition of the Obligated
Group.

Certain Other Risks

The following factors, among others, may also adversely affect the Co-Obligors, to an
extent that cannot be determined at this time:

(1) changes in key management personnel;
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(2) reductions in utilization of continuing care retirement facilities, assisted
living facilities and skilled nursing facilities as a result of increased payment for and
expansion of home health services, preventive medicine, improved occupational health
and safety, development and utilization of medical and scientific research and
technological advances and other developments;

3) future legislation and regulations affecting continuing care retirement
facilities, assisted living facilities and skilled nursing facilities, governmental and
commercial medical insurance and the long-term care industry in general, including
reductions in federal or state funding of Medicare, Medicaid or other government-
financed health care reimbursement programs;

(4) cost and availability of malpractice and other insurance in the State, as
well as the potential for claims in excess of available insurance funds;

(5) changes in public or private insurance programs;

(6) increased costs of attracting and retaining or decreased availability of a
sufficient number of nurses and other health care personnel;

(7) increased costs resulting from unionization of the employees of the
Corporation or the utilization by a non-union employee of the Corporation of proceedings
available under the National Labor Relations Act;

(8) increased costs resulting from enhanced requirements governing the
quality of care or services provided in retirement communities, assisted living facilities
and skilled nursing facilities;

9) increases in costs, including costs associated with, among other things,
salaries, wages and fringe benefits, supplies, technology and equipment, insurance,
energy and other utilities, compliance with or violation of environmental laws and
regulations and other costs that could result in a sizable increase in expenditures without
a corresponding increase in revenues;

(10) any inability of the Co-Obligors to obtain future governmental approvals
to undertake additional projects necessary to remain competitive as to rates, charges and
the quality and scope of care or any limitation on the availability of tax-exempt or other
financing for future projects; and

(11)  the occurrence of natural disasters, including floods, hurricanes, tornadoes
and earthquakes, or the occurrence of criminal or terrorist acts or other calamities that
could damage the Community, interrupt utility service or otherwise impair the operations
of the Corporation and the generation of revenues from the Community, any losses
resulting from the occurrence of any such event that is not covered by insurance covering
the Borrower or the Corporation and any insufficiency in available insurance to cover
any losses resulting from the occurrence of any such event.
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Regulatory and other changes resulting from the factors mentioned above, among others,
or the occurrence of other unanticipated events, could have a material adverse effect on the
Community’s operations or the financial position of the Co-Obligors.

The paragraphs above discuss certain Bondholders’ risks, but are not intended to be a
complete enumeration of all risks associated with the purchase or holding of the Series 2018
Bonds.

STATE OF TEXAS REGULATION OF
CONTINUING CARE RETIREMENT COMMUNITIES

CCRC Act

The Texas Continuing Care Facility Disclosure and Rehabilitation Act of the Texas
Health and Safety Code (the “CCRC Act”) governs the provision of continuing care, which is
defined by the CCRC Act in part as the furnishing of a living unit, together with personal care
services, nursing services, medical services or other health-related services, under a contract that
requires the payment of an entrance fee by or on behalf of a resident in exchange for the
furnishing of continuing care that is effective either for the life of the individual or for more than
one year.

Assisted Living Facility Licensing Act

Personal care facilities, or “assisted living” facilities, must be licensed in accordance with
the Assisted Living Facility Licensing Act, Chapter 247 of the Texas Health and Safety Code
(the “Assisted Living Act”), and must provide each resident with a consumer disclosure
statement approved by DADS. Assisted living facilities licensed under the Assisted Living Act
are defined under State law as any establishment that (i) furnishes in one or more facilities food
and shelter to four or more persons who are unrelated to the proprietor of the establishment, (ii)
provides personal care services, which includes assistance with meals, dressing, movement,
bathing, or other personal needs or maintenance or general supervision or oversight of the
physical and mental well-being of a person who needs assistance to maintain a private and
independent residence in an assisted living facility or who needs assistance to manage the
person’s personal life, regardless of whether a guardian has been appointed for the person, or the
administration of medication by a person licensed or otherwise authorized to administer
medication, (iii) may provide assistance with or supervision of medical administration and (iv)
may provide skilled nursing services for the coordination of resident care with outside home and
community support services agencies and other health care professionals; provision or delegation
of personal care services and medication administration as described in the Assisted Living Act;
assessment of residents to determine the care required; and for periods of time as established by
department rule, delivery of temporary skilled nursing treatment for a minor illness, injury, or
emergency. Licensees must comply with standards that ensure quality care and protection of the
residents’ health and safety without excessive cost, including compliance with the “residents’
bills of rights” promulgated by DADS, and staff educational requirements. Assisted living
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facilities are required to use their state-issued facility identification numbers in all
advertisements, solicitations, and promotional materials.

Assisted living facilities that advertise, market or otherwise promote that the facility
provides personal care services to residents who have Alzheimer’s disease or related conditions
must be certified by DADS and meet specific regulations related to the facility and care of such
residents. Alzheimer’s certified facilities must employ sufficient staff to provide services for and
meet the needs of its Alzheimer’s residents and must submit and update and Alzheimer’s
disclosure statement to DADS. The Corporation is not certified to provide specialized
Alzheimer’s and dementia services in its assisted living facilities.

DADS has the authority to impose penalties on assisted living facilities for deficiencies it
finds in a survey or inspection, including suspension or loss of licensure, assessment of
administrative penalties and referral to the Office of the Attorney General for the imposition of
significant monetary penalties. A loss of licensure or imposition of significant monetary
penalties should be expected to negatively impact revenues of the Co-Obligors. While
historically, it has been unusual for DADS to impose penalties in assisted living facilities, DADS
has recently increased its regulatory scrutiny in this area.

While the Corporation will use best efforts to assure that the operation of its assisted
living facilities will result in either deficiency-free surveys or, at most, the imposition of minimal
penalties that would not negatively impact the revenues of the Co-Obligors, there can be no
assurance that DADS will not seek to impose substantial penalties as a result of inspections or
surveys of the Community’s assisted living facilities.

Health Care Center

Nursing homes in the State are regulated and inspected in accordance with the terms of
the Convalescent and Nursing Homes and Related Institutions Act of the Texas Health and
Safety Code (the “Nursing Home Act”) and the regulations promulgated thereunder in order to
ensure that institutions in the State deliver the highest possible quality of care. Under the
Nursing Home Act, a “home” is defined as an establishment that furnishes, in one or more
facilities, food and shelter to four or more persons who are unrelated to the proprietor of the
establishment; and provides minor treatment under the direction and supervision of a physician
licensed by the Texas Medical Board, or other services that meet some need beyond the basic
provision of food, shelter, and laundry. The Nursing Home Act and the rules and standards
thereunder establish the minimum acceptable levels of care provided by a nursing home.
Components of the quality of care addressed by the rules and standards of the Nursing Home Act
include: quality of life; access to care; continuity of care; comprehensiveness of care;
coordination of services; humaneness of treatment; conservatism in intervention; safety in the
environment; professionalism of caregivers; and participation in useful studies. Accordingly, all
licensed nursing home facilities in the State must implement certain resident rights and must
comply with standards in areas including construction, staffing, education and training,
sanitation, diet, equipment, fire safety, and the use and administration of medication. In addition,
licensees are subject to periodic inspections, both announced and unannounced, by DADS.
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Texas nursing facilities that care for people with Alzheimer’s disease and related
disorders may be certified by DADS. Facilities applying for certification in accordance with the
Nursing Home Act must comply with standards relating to the specialized care and treatments of
persons with Alzheimer’s and related disorders and are required to file an annual disclosure
statement with DADS. While an institution is not required to be certified in order to provide
such care and treatment, an institution that is not so certified may not advertise or otherwise
communicate that the institution is certified by DADS to provide specialized care. The
Corporation does not maintain such a certification and as such, does not advertise that the
Community offers specialized care for its residents.

In order to maintain its licensure and Medicare certification, the assisted living and the
skilled nursing facilities of the Community (together, the “Health Care Facilities”) will be
surveyed by DADS at least annually and more often if there are adverse occurrences at the
Health Care Facilities that impact the health and safety of the residents. CMS has contracted
with DADS to conduct such surveys and inspections of Medicare certified facilities. DADS also
conducts surveys of nursing facilities independent of its role as a CMS contract, to ensure
compliance with State licensing laws. If DADS finds deficiencies at the Health Care Facilities it
may impose certain licensure penalties, including administrative penalties and suspension or
termination of the Health Care Facilities licenses. In egregious cases, DADS has the authority,
through civil court, to install a trustee in the Health Care Facilities to run the operations until the
Health Care Facilities either come back into compliance or are closed pursuant to a court order.
CMS has the authority to impose penalties for survey deficiencies, including civil monetary
penalties, denial of Medicare payment for new admissions, directed in-service training and, in
egregious cases, termination of Medicare certification. The State and the federal government,
through several different agencies, also have the authority to impose civil and criminal penalties
for wrongful or fraudulent billing for nursing care and for violation of the federal and state anti-
kickback laws. The imposition of significant monetary penalties, placement in the Health Care
Facilities of a trustee, loss of licensure or Medicare certification, imposition of criminal or
substantial civil monetary penalties or exclusion from the Medicare program may negatively
impact revenues of the Co-Obligors and could even limit their ability to continue operations in
the Health Care Facilities.

The Corporation is subject to ongoing surveys and inspections in the Health Care
Facilities and audits of their billing practices. The surveys in the Health Care Facilities have
generally been either deficiency-free or have resulted in minimal penalties. The audits of billing
practices in the Co-Obligors’ operations have reflected appropriate billing practices. While the
Corporation will use best efforts to assure that the operation of the Health Care Facilities will
result in either deficiency-free surveys or the imposition of minimal penalties that would not
negatively impact revenues of the Co-Obligors, there can be no assurance that DADS will not
seek to impose substantial penalties as a result of the surveys and inspections of the Health Care
Facilities.

Texas Non-Solicitation of Patients Act

The Texas Non-Solicitation of Patients Act (“TSPA”) is similar to the federal Anti-
Kickback Law. The TSPA prohibits any person, including a physician, from knowingly offering
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to pay or agreeing to accept any remuneration directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash
or in kind, to or from a person, firm, association of persons, partnership or institution, for
securing or soliciting patients or patronage for or from a person licensed, certified or registered
by a state health care regulatory agency. The TSPA is extremely broad and applies to services
covered by any payor, including private insurance and self-pay, whereas the Anti-Kickback Law
is limited to services covered under a federal or state health care program. An offense under the
TSPA by a person other than a government employee is a Class A misdemeanor. A second
offense or an initial offense by a government employee is a third degree felony. An offense
under the TSPA may also result in disciplinary action by the licensing agency and civil penalties
up to $10,000 a day per violation. The Texas Attorney General or a district or county attorney
may seek an injunction to prevent continued violation of the TSPA.

Workers’ Compensation Fraud

Additional laws place administrative penalties on worker’s compensation fraud,
including improper inducements for referring injured employees for services or arranging for the
provision of services payable under the workers’ compensation program. Sanctions for
violations include exclusion from participation in the program and monetary fines.

The Texas workers’ compensation system was restructured by the Texas Legislature in
2005 and further revised in 2007. The objective of the legislation is to lower workers’
compensation costs for State employers, control medical costs, expand access to care and
improve benefits for those hurt on the job so they can return to work sooner. In effect, the
legislation placed greater reliance on the use of networks of medical providers and primarily
impacts individual providers rather than hospitals. Under the direction of the Texas Department
of Insurance, the Division of Workers’ Compensation (“DWC”) continues its efforts to
implement the reforms and rulemaking that have been ongoing. These efforts include rules
updating medical fee guidelines for health care providers, establishing a hospital outpatient fee
guideline and updating a hospital inpatient fee guideline for the State workers’ compensation
system. The guidelines establish standardized formats for billing and reimbursement as used in
group health and Medicare systems. Also, the medical fee guideline establishes new incentive
payments to health care providers caring for injured employees in areas of the State designated
as underserved by the DWC. There is no guarantee that reimbursement rates, as they change
from time to time, will cover actual costs incurred by the Corporation in providing workers’
compensation services. Additional rules implementing this legislation are also anticipated, and
only as they are created, implemented, and tested will the complete impact, if any, of this
legislation on the Co-Obligors be determinable.

Texas Insurance Claim Fraud Act

The Texas Insurance Claim Fraud Act (the “Insurance Fraud Act”) provides that a person
commits an offense if the person, with the intent to defraud or deceive an insurer, presents to an
insurer, in support of a claim for payment under a health insurance policy, a statement that the
person knows contains false or misleading information concerning a material matter and the
matter affects a person’s right to a payment or the amount of such payment. A person also
commits an offense under the Insurance Fraud Act if the person, with the intent to defraud an
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insurer, solicits, offers, pays, or receives a benefit in connection with the furnishing of health
care goods or services for which payment is sought under a health insurance policy. An offense
under the Insurance Fraud Act may be a Class A, B, or C misdemeanor or a felony of the third,
second, or first degree, depending upon the value of the claim, whether the person has been
previously convicted under the Insurance Fraud Act, and whether the commission of the offense
placed a person at risk of death or serious bodily injury. A person or entity who makes a
determination or reasonably suspects that a fraudulent insurance act has been committed or is
about to be committed must report such acts to the Texas Department of Insurance Fraud Unit
within 30 days. The person or entity retains any liability resulting from the failure of the
organization to properly report fraud as required by the new statutory provisions.

Health Insurance Fraud and Unprofessional Conduct Statutes

The Texas Legislature has also adopted legislation regarding unprofessional conduct by
health care providers. Under the Texas Occupations Code, penalties and disciplinary actions may
be imposed against a health care provider that (1) knowingly presents or causes to be presented a
false or fraudulent claim for the payment of a loss under an insurance policy; (2) knowingly
prepares, makes or subscribes to any writing, with intent to present or use the writing, or to allow
it to be presented or used, in support of a false or fraudulent claim under an insurance policy; or
(3) knowingly directs or requires a patient to obtain health care goods or services from a niche
hospital in which the health care provider or an immediate family member of the provider has a
financial interest, unless the provider (a) discloses to the patient, in writing, that the provider or
the provider’s family member has a financial interest in the niche hospital; and (b) informs the
patient that the patient has the option of using an alternative health care facility. Consequently, in
addition to other provisions of civil or criminal law, commission of unprofessional conduct
constitutes cause for the revocation or suspension of a provider’s license, permit, registration,
certificate, or other authority or other disciplinary action. Insurers must also adopt an antifraud
plan describing its procedures for detecting and investigating possible fraudulent insurance
practices.

Medical Records Privacy Act

The Texas Legislature recently adopted a bill which uses HIPAA as a base to create
privacy standards for the access and use of health care information in the State by all parties.
However, certain privacy protections implemented in the State surpass those requirements
enacted under HIPAA. Covered entities under the State statute include any person who for
commercial, financial, or professional gain, monetary fees, or dues, or on a cooperative,
nonprofit, or pro bono basis, engages, in whole or in part, and with real or constructive
knowledge, in the practice of assembling, collecting, analyzing, using, evaluating, storing, or
transmitting protected health information. The term includes a business associate, health care
payer, governmental unit, information or computer management entity, school, health researcher,
health care facility, clinic, health care provider, or person who maintains an Internet site; comes
into possession of protected health information; obtains or stores protected health information; or
is an employee, agent, or contractor of a person described above insofar as the employee, agent,
or contractor creates, receives, obtains, maintains, uses, or transmits protected health
information. The State statute requires that covered entities satisfy certain training requirements,
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including a requirement that training be provided at least biennially for all employees. The
Texas Attorney General is authorized to seek injunctive relief and assess a penalty of up to
$250,000 per violation. In addition to the penalties prescribed by this statute, a violation by a
licensed covered entity is subject to investigation and disciplinary proceedings, including
probation or suspension by any relevant licensing agency. If there is evidence that violations are
egregious and constitute a pattern or practice, the agency may revoke the covered entity’s license
or refer the covered entity to the attorney general for the institution of an action for civil
penalties. The Corporation believes that it operates in compliance with this statute.

Texas Identity Theft Enforcement and Protection Act

Under the Texas Identity Theft Enforcement and Protection Act, a business must
maintain reasonable procedures, including taking any appropriate corrective action, to protect
from unlawful use or disclosure of any sensitive personal information collected or maintained by
the business in the regular course of its business. The Texas Legislature expanded the scope of
this law to include information about an individual’s physical or mental health or payment for
health care services under the definition of “sensitive personal information.” Businesses subject
to the Texas Identity Theft Enforcement and Protection Act must disclose any breach of system
security, after discovering or receiving notification of the breach, to any individual whose
sensitive personal information was, or is reasonably believed to have been, acquired by an
unauthorized person as quickly as possible. The Corporation believes that it operates in
compliance with this statute.

PARITY DEBT

Outstanding Secured Debt

Upon the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds and the refunding of the Refunded Bonds,
there will remain outstanding $2,380,000 aggregate principal amount of the Series 2010 Bonds
and $54,660,000 aggregate principal amount of the Series 2016 Bonds. The Series 2010 Bonds
and the Series 2016 Bonds are fixed rate bonds. The obligations of the Borrower with respect to
such bonds are evidenced by the Existing Notes, each of which constitute Secured Debt under
the Master Indenture.

Pursuant to the Master Indenture, the 2018 Note will be secured equally and ratably on
parity with the Existing Notes and any additional Secured Debt incurred pursuant to the Master
Indenture.

Future Parity Debt

The Master Indenture permits the issuance of additional notes (“Additional Notes”)
which evidence or which constitute Secured Debt. If issued, such Additional Notes would be
secured equally and ratably on parity with the Existing Notes and the 2018 Note. See
“Covenants and Warranties -- Limitations on Debt” in the conformed copy of the Original
Master Indenture and “Amendments to Original Master Indenture” in the conformed copy of the
Master Indenture Supplement No. 1 included in Appendix C-1. The Co-Obligors do not
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currently intend to issue any Additional Notes to finance or refinance any projects of the
Borrower or the Corporation. See “Future Plans” in Appendix A.

UNDERWRITING

The Series 2018 Bonds are being purchased by Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (the
“Underwriter”). The Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Series 2018 Bonds at an aggregate
discount of $214,050 from the initial offering prices set forth on the cover page of this Official
Statement. In addition, the Co-Obligors have agreed to pay certain expenses of the Underwriter.
The bond purchase agreement provides that the Underwriter will purchase all the Series 2018
Bonds, if any are purchased, and contains the Co-Obligor’s agreement to indemnify the
Underwriter and the Issuer against losses, claims, damages and liabilities arising out of certain
incorrect statements or information contained in this Official Statement.

The initial offering prices set forth on the cover of this Official Statement may be
changed from time to time by the Underwriter.

The Underwriter may offer and sell the Series 2018 Bonds to certain dealers (including
dealers depositing the Series 2018 Bonds into investment trusts, certain of which may be
sponsored or managed by the Underwriter) and others at prices lower than the offering prices set
forth on the cover page hereof.

The Underwriter and its affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various
activities, which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial
advisory, investment management, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage
services. The Underwriter and its affiliates have, from time to time, performed and may in the
future perform, various financial advisory, commercial banking, investment banking and swap
counterparty services for the Co-Obligors, for which they received or will receive customary fees
and expenses.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Underwriter and its
affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity
securities (or related derivative securities, which may include credit default swaps) and financial
instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers
and may at any time hold long and short positions in such securities and instruments. Such
investment and securities activities may involve securities and instruments of the Issuer and the
Co-Obligors.

The Underwriter and its affiliates may also communicate independent investment
recommendations, market color or trading ideas and publish or express independent research
views in respect of such assets, securities or instruments and may at any time hold, or
recommend to clients that they should acquire, long or short positions in such assets, securities
and instruments.
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RATING

S&P Global Ratings (“S&P”) has assigned the Series 2018 Bonds a rating of “BBB.”
The Co-Obligors furnished to S&P certain materials and information respecting the Series 2018
Bonds and themselves. Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on such materials and
information and on investigations, studies and assumptions by the rating agencies. These ratings
reflect only the views of S&P.

The rating of “BBB” assigned by S&P to the Series 2018 Bonds is described as follows:

“An obligation rated ‘BBB’ exhibits adequate protection parameters. However,
adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to
a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the
obligation.”

No assurance can be given that such rating will remain in effect for any given period of
time or that they may not be reduced or withdrawn by S&P if in the judgment of S&P
circumstances so warrant. Any downward change in or withdrawal of such rating could
adversely affect the market price of the Series 2018 Bonds.

One other rating agency has assigned a rating to certain other outstanding indebtedness of
the Co-Obligors. The rating carried on such indebtedness is a at a level below the published S&P
rating assigned to the Series 2018 Bonds. The Co-Obligors have not sought a rating relating to
the Series 2018 Bonds from any rating agency other than S&P.

TAX MATTERS

Delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds is subject to the receipt of an opinion of Norton Rose
Fulbright US LLP, Bond Counsel, to the effect that assuming continuous compliance with the
Indenture and Loan Agreement and the covenants described below, interest on the Series 2018
Bonds (i) will be excludable from the gross income, as defined in Section 61 of the Code, of the
owners thereof for federal income tax purposes, pursuant to Section 103 of the Code and existing
regulations, published rulings and court decisions thereunder, assuming continuing compliance
with the covenants described below, and (ii) will not be included in computing the federal
alternative minimum taxable income of the owners thereof who are individuals or, except as
hereinafter described, corporations. The statutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions on
which such opinion is based are subject to change.

For taxable years that began before January 1, 2018, interest on the Series 2018 Bonds
owned by a corporation will be included in such corporation’s adjusted current earnings for
purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax on such corporation, other than an S
corporation, a qualified mutual fund, a real estate investment trust, a real estate mortgage
investment conduit, or a financial asset securitization investment trust. The alternative minimum
tax on corporations has been repealed for taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
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In rendering its opinion, Bond Counsel will rely upon certain representations and
certifications of the Issuer and Co-Obligors made in certificates dated the date of initial delivery
of the Series 2018 Bonds pertaining to the use, expenditure and investment of the proceeds of the
Series 2018 Bonds and the Refunded Bonds and the qualification of Co-Obligors and other
benefited affiliates as charitable exempt organizations, and has assumed continuing compliance
by the Issuer and Co-Obligors, subsequent to the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds, with
covenants under the Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture. The Bond Indenture and the Loan
Agreement contain covenants by the Issuer and Co-Obligors with respect to, among other
matters, the use of the proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds and the Refunded Bonds and the
facilities financed or refinanced therewith by persons other than state or local governmental units
or organizations described in section 501(c)(3) of the Tax Code, the manner in which the
proceeds of the Series 2018 Bonds are to be invested, the periodic calculation of and payment to
the United States Treasury of arbitrage “profits” from the investment of the proceeds of the
Series 2018 Bonds and the reporting of certain information to the United States Treasury.
Failure to comply with any of these covenants may cause interest on the Series 2018 Bonds to be
includable in the gross income of the owners thereof from their date of issue. See also
“CERTAIN BONDHOLDERS’ RISKS -- Tax-Exemptions.”

Bond Counsel’s opinion is not a guaranty of a result, but represents its legal judgment
based upon its review of existing statues, regulations, published rulings and court decisions and
the representations and covenants of the Issuer and Co-Obligors described above. No ruling has
been sought from the IRS with respect to the matters addressed in the opinion of Bond Counsel,
and Bond Counsel’s opinion is not binding on the IRS. The IRS has an ongoing program of
auditing the tax-exempt status of the interest on tax-exempt obligations. If an audit of the Series
2018 Bonds is commenced, under current procedures the IRS is likely to treat the Issuer as the
“taxpayer,” and the owners of the Series 2018 Bonds would have no right to participate in the
audit process. In responding to or defending an audit of the tax-exempt status of the interest on
the Series 2018 Bonds, the Issuer may have different or conflicting interests from the owners of
the Series 2018 Bonds. Public awareness of any future audit of the Series 2018 Bonds could
adversely affect the value and liquidity of the Series 2018 Bonds during the pendency of the
audit, regardless of its ultimate outcome.

Except as described above, Bond Counsel will express no other opinion with respect to
any other federal, state or local tax consequences under present law, or proposed legislation,
resulting from the receipt or accrual of interest on, or the acquisition or disposition of, the Series
2018 Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2018 Bonds should be aware that the
ownership of tax exempt obligations such as the Series 2018 Bonds may result in collateral
federal tax consequences to, among others, financial institutions, life insurance companies,
property and casualty insurance companies, certain foreign corporations doing business in the
United States of America, “S corporations” with “subchapter C” earnings and profits, owners of
an interest in a FASIT, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits,
taxpayers otherwise qualifying for an earned income tax credit and taxpayers who may be
deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have paid or
incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax exempt obligations. Prospective purchasers should
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consult their own tax advisors as to the applicability of these consequences to their particular
circumstances.

Existing law may change to reduce or eliminate the benefit to bondholders of the
exclusion of interest on the Series 2018 Bonds from gross income for federal income tax
purposes. Any proposed legislation or administrative action, whether or not taken, could also
affect the value and marketability of the Series 2018 Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Series
2018 Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to any proposed or future
changes in tax law.

Tax Accounting Treatment of Discount and Premium on the Series 2018 Bonds

The initial offering price to be paid for certain of the Series 2018 Bonds (the “Discount
Bonds”) may be less than the amount payable on such Discount Bonds at maturity. An amount
equal to the difference between the initial public offering price of a Discount Bond (assuming
that a substantial amount of the Discount Bonds of that maturity are sold to the public at such
price) and the amount payable on such Discount Bond at its maturity constitutes original issue
discount to an initial purchaser of such Discount Bond. A portion of such original issue discount
allocable to the holding period of such Discount Bond by the initial purchaser will, upon the
disposition of such Discount Bond (including by reason of its payment at maturity), be treated as
interest excludable from gross income, rather than as taxable gain, for federal income tax
purposes, on the same terms and conditions as those for other interest on the Series 2018 Bonds.
Such interest is considered to be accrued actuarially in accordance with the constant interest
method over the life of a Discount Bond, taking into account the semiannual compounding of
accrued interest, at the yield to maturity on such Discount Bond and generally will be allocated
to an initial purchaser in a different amount from the amount of the payment denominated as
interest actually received by the initial purchaser during its tax year.

However, such interest may be required to be taken into account in determining the
alternative minimum taxable income of a corporation for taxable years that began before January
1, 2018, for purposes of calculating a corporation’s alternative minimum tax imposed by section
55 of the Code for taxable years that began before January 1, 2018, and the amount of the branch
profits tax applicable to certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, even
though there will not be a corresponding cash payment. In addition, the accrual of such interest
may result in certain other collateral federal income tax consequences to, among others, financial
institutions, life insurance companies, property and casualty insurance companies, S corporations
with subchapter C earnings and profits, owners of an interest in a FASIT, individuals otherwise
qualifying for the earned income tax credit, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad
Retirement benefits, and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued
indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to,
tax-exempt obligations. Moreover, in the event of the redemption, sale or other taxable
disposition of a Discount Bond by the initial owner prior to maturity, the amount realized by
such owner in excess of the basis of such Discount Bond in the hands of such owner (adjusted
upward by the portion of the original issue discount allocable to the period for which such
Discount Bond was held) is includable in gross income.
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Owners of Discount Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the
determination of accrued original issue discount on Discount Bonds for federal income tax
purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of
Discount Bonds. It is possible that, under applicable provisions governing determination of state
and local income taxes, accrued interest on Discount Bonds may be deemed to be received in the
year of accrual even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment.

The initial public offering price of the Series 2018 Bonds (the “Premium Bonds™) may be
greater than the amount payable on such Premium Bonds at maturity. An amount equal to the
difference between the initial public offering price of a Premium Bond (assuming that a
substantial amount of the Premium Bonds of that maturity are sold to the public at such price)
and the amount payable at maturity constitutes premium to the initial purchaser of such Premium
Bonds. The basis for federal income tax purposes of a Premium Bond in the hands of such initial
purchaser must be reduced each year by the amortizable bond premium, although no federal
income tax deduction is allowed as a result of such reduction in basis for amortizable bond
premium. Such reduction in basis will increase the amount of any gain (or decrease the amount
of any loss) to be recognized for federal income tax purposes upon a sale or other taxable
disposition of a Premium Bond. The amount of premium which is amortizable each year by an
initial purchaser is determined by using such purchaser’s yield to maturity.

Purchasers of the Premium Bonds should consult with their own tax advisors with respect
to the determination of amortizable bond premium on Premium Bonds for federal income tax
purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of
Premium Bonds.

LEGAL MATTERS

Legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Series 2018 Bonds
are subject to the unqualified approval of the Attorney General of the State of Texas and the
approval of certain legal matters by Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, San Antonio, Texas, as
Bond Counsel and counsel to the Issuer. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the
Underwriter by McKennon Shelton & Henn LLP, Baltimore, Maryland, and for the Co-Obligors
by Foley & Lardner LLP, Chicago, Illinois, neither of which is passing upon the validity of the
Series 2018 Bonds.

FINANCIAL ADVISORS

Hamlin Capital Advisors LLC (“HCA”) will act as a financial advisor to the Co-Obligors
with respect to the Series 2018 Bonds. HCA is a financial advisory firm and is not engaged in
the business of underwriting, creating or distributing securities. SAMCO Capital Markets
(“SAMCO”) will act as financial advisor to the Issuer with respect to the Series 2018 Bonds.
Neither of HCA nor SAMCO is obligated to undertake, and none of them has undertaken, either
to make an independent verification of or to assume responsibility for, the accuracy,
completeness or fairness of the information contained in this Official Statement.
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LITIGATION

There is currently no litigation of any nature to which the Issuer is a party pending in any
court in Bexar County, Texas, or, to the knowledge of the Issuer, pending in any other
jurisdiction or otherwise threatened against it to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or
delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the Series
2018 Bonds or any proceedings taken with respect to the issuance or sale thereof, or in any way
contesting or affecting the validity of or application of any moneys or the security provided for
the Series 2018 Bonds or the existence or powers of the Issuer.

There is currently no litigation of any nature to which the Borrower or the Corporation is
a party pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower or the Corporation, threatened against
either the Borrower or the Corporation to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or
delivery of the Series 2018 Bonds or the issuance by the Borrower of the 2018 Note or in any
way contesting or affecting the validity of the Series 2018 Bonds or any proceedings taken with
respect to the issuance or sale thereof or the issuance by the Borrower of the 2018 Note, or in
any way contesting or affecting the validity of or application of any moneys or the security
provided for the Series 2018 Bonds or the existence or powers of the Borrower or the
Corporation in connection with the operation of the Community, in the opinion of management,
would adversely affect the financial condition or operations of the Borrower or the Corporation
or materially alter the security for the Series 2018 Bonds or the ability of the Borrower to
perform its obligations under the Loan Agreement or the ability of the Borrower and the
Corporation to perform their obligations under the Master Indenture and Deed of Trust,
respectively.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of The Army Residence Community and Affiliates
as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and for the years then ended, included in Appendix B, have been
audited by Fisher, Herbst & Kemble, P.C., independent certified public accountants, to the extent
and for the period indicated in their report thereon. Such consolidated financial statements
include an affiliate of the Borrower that has no liability with respect to the Series 2018 Bonds.

ELIGIBILITY FOR CERTAIN INVESTMENTS IN TEXAS

The Texas Legislature has enacted conflicting statutes which pertain to the eligibility of
bonds issued by a health facilities development corporation as investments for certain entities
and as security for deposits of public funds in Texas: the Act, Chapter 1201, Texas Government
Code; Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code; and Chapter 2257, Texas Government Code,
each as amended. Reconciliation of these four statutes provides that, unless otherwise
prohibited, the Series 2018 Bonds are authorized investments in the State for banks, savings and
loan associations, insurance companies, fiduciaries and trustees.
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VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS

Causey Demgen & Moore P.C., a firm of independent public accountants, will deliver to
the Issuer, on or before the date of issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds if issued, its verification
report indicating that it has verified, in accordance with standards established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, certain information and assertions provided by the
Underwriter with respect to the Refunded Bonds. Included in the scope will be a verification of
the mathematical accuracy of the mathematical computations of the adequacy of the cash and the
maturing principal of and interest on the federal securities deposited with the bond trustees for
the Refunded Bonds to pay the principal of and interest on the Refunded Bonds upon their
respective redemption dates.

The verification performed by Causey Demgen & Moore P.C. will be solely based upon
data, information and documents provided to Causey Demgen & Moore P.C. by the Underwriter.
The Causey Demgen & Moore P.C. report will state that Causey Demgen & Moore P.C. has no
obligation to update the report because of events occurring, or data or information coming to its
attention, subsequent to the date of the report.

RELATIONSHIPS

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP serves as Bond Counsel and is acting as counsel to the
Issuer in connection with the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds.

HCA, the financial advisor to the Co-Obligors, is an affiliate of Hamlin Capital
Management, LLC (“HCM?”), which serves as the bondholder representative for the holders of
the Series 2012 Bonds for which it serves as investment advisor and as investment manager for a
portion of the Co-Obligor’s investment portfolio. HCM may buy or sell Series 2018 Bonds or
may serve as bondholder representative or investment advisor for buyers of the Series 2018
Bonds, at their initial issuance or in secondary market transactions, in its sole discretion.

McKennon Shelton & Henn LLP serves as counsel to the Underwriter in connection with
the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds and represents HCA, the financial advisor to the Co-
Obligors, in various matters unrelated to the Series 2018 Bonds.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

In accordance with Rule 15c¢2-12 (the “Rule”) promulgated by the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission, as amended from time to time, the Co-Obligors have
undertaken for the benefit of the holders of the Series 2018 Bonds to provide certain financial
information or operating data and audited financial statements, and to provide notices of the
occurrence of certain events in accordance with the Continuing Disclosure Agreement. A copy
of the form of Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement is included in this Official Statement
as Appendix E.
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The Co-Obligors, as “obligated persons” under the Rule with respect to certain
obligations previously issued, are in material compliance with all of the continuing disclosure
obligations undertaken by it pursuant to written continuing disclosure agreements executed
pursuant to the Rule with respect to such obligations during the last five years, except as detailed
below:

1. In 2013 through 2017, certain operating data required to be posted on the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, through its Electronic Municipal Market Access system
(“EMMA”) as part of the Co-Obligors’ annual reports were not timely filed in connection with
(1) the Series 2007 Bonds, (ii) the Series 2010 Bonds, (iii) the Series 2012 Bonds and (iv) the
Series 2016 Bonds. All such operating data is currently on file with EMMA.

2. The quarterly report required to be posted on EMMA for the Quarter Ended
December 31, 2016 was filed one day late in connection with (i) the Series 2007 Bonds, (ii) the
Series 2010 Bonds, (iii) the Series 2012 Bonds and (iv) the Series 2016 Bonds.

MISCELLANEOUS

The references herein to the Act, the Bond Indenture, the Master Indenture, the Loan
Agreement and the Deed of Trust and other materials are brief outlines of certain provisions
thereof. Such outlines do not purport to be complete and, for full and complete statements of
such provisions, reference is made to such instruments, documents and other materials, copies of
which are on file at the offices of the Bond Trustee.

The information contained in this Official Statement has been compiled or prepared from
information obtained from the Co-Obligors and official and other sources deemed to be reliable
and, while not guaranteed as to completeness or accuracy, is believed to be correct as of this
date. Any statements involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are
intended as such and not as representations of fact.

The attached Appendices are integral parts of this Official Statement and should be read
in their entirety together with all of the foregoing information.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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The execution and delivery of this Official Statement by the Chief Financial Officer of
the Borrower has been duly authorized by the Borrower.

ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE
SUPPORTING FOUNDATION

By: _/s/ Gordon Shoger
Gordon Shoger
Chief Financial Officer
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APPENDIX A

INFORMATION REGARDING

ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE SUPPORTING FOUNDATION

AND

THE ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE FOUNDATION — SAN ANTONIO
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BACKGROUND AND HISTORY

Overview

Army Retirement Residence Supporting Foundation, a non-profit, non-stock membership
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Texas (the “Borrower”) is a tax-
exempt organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”). The Borrower owns The Army Residence Community (the “Community”),
which is a “Type A,” all-inclusive, continuing care retirement community located in San Antonio,
Texas. The Army Retirement Residence Foundation — San Antonio, a non-profit, non-stock
membership corporation organized and existing under the laws of the District of Columbia and
doing business as The Army Residence Community (the “Corporation”), has operated the
Community for over 30 years. The Corporation is a tax-exempt organization described in Section
501(c)(3) of the Code that was formed by a group of volunteers in 1982 to meet the needs of retired
career military officers and their spouses, widows and widowers.

The Community provides services through a combination of independent living units (both
apartments and cottages), assisted living and skilled nursing care accommodations to approximately
750 residents on its approximately 150-acre campus located in northeastern San Antonio, Texas. The
Community is accredited by the Continuing Care Accreditation Commission of the American
Association of Homes and Services for the Aging.

Eligibility for entrance into the Community is open to retired career military officers of any
of the four uniformed military services plus the United States Coast Guard having a minimum of 20
years’ military service, active or reserve, at least 10 years of which must have been as a
commissioned or warrant officer, and their spouses, widows or widowers. See “Admissions Policy
and Resident Contracts — Eligibility and Resident Contracts” below.

The Community’s management and staff strive to create a sense of “home” for its residents
and bring to life daily its motto: “Live Longer, Live Healthier, Live Younger.”

History

The Corporation began development of the Community in 1982 after a survey determined a
demand for such a facility. Construction on the Community began in August 1985, and the
Community began servicing eligible retirees in January 1987, originally offering 383 independent
living cottages and apartments in a 13-story high rise building which also includes 91 skilled nursing
beds and 30 assisted living units located on an approximately 50-acre campus (the “Legacy
Campus”). Over the ensuing years, the Community has continued to grow and adapt to meet the
needs of its current and future residents.

In 2003, the Board of Directors of the Corporation organized the Borrower as an affiliate of
the Corporation and transferred the assets and liabilities of the Community to the Borrower in order
to enhance the focus of the Corporation’s Board of Directors on operational issues while allowing
the Borrower to focus on capital asset preservation and growth. Between 2006 and 2015, the
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Borrower, through a series of different land purchases, acquired approximately 95 additional acres of
undeveloped land adjacent to the Legacy Campus, which is referred to as the “Lakeside Campus.”

With the acquisition of the Lakeside Campus, the Community embarked on a major
expansion project on approximately 55 acres of the campus to grow the capacity of independent and
assisted living and to add additional common areas, services, and administrative space. This
expansion positioned the Community to meet the changing expectations for retirement of the next
generation of military retirees. Phase one of this expansion, which was completed in November
2011, included the construction of 32 large cottages ranging from 1,674 to 2,018 square feet (all of
which were occupied as of December 31, 2017), a 48-apartment style assisted living facility (which
was 97% occupied as of December 31, 2017), and a large commons area housing a second dining
facility, a suite of medical and dental offices, a bank, a convenience store, a movie theater and
additional staff office space. The expansion concluded with the addition of 52 more cottages in the
final phase, bringing the aggregate number of Lakeside Campus cottages to 84 (all of which were
occupied as of December 31, 2017).

CONCEPT AND MISSION

The Concept and Mission

The Community is a continuing care retirement community designed to provide the services
and amenities necessary to meet the needs of retired career military officers of all branches of
military services, their spouses, widows and widowers, so that residents might achieve the
Community Motto “Live Longer, Live Healthier, Live Younger”. Special emphasis is placed on
wellness, a values based culture, a sense of home and companionship. Residents live in their own
apartments or cottages and have access to the public spaces and health care facilities of the
Community. The mission of the Community is to provide the finest atmosphere for retirement living
and to allow residents to live as independently as possible in superior surroundings, while being able



to use the Community’s services and amenities as they wish, all at a reasonable cost commensurate
with the high quality services offered.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, MANAGEMENT AND STAFF
Board of Directors of the Borrower

The voting power and authority of the Borrower is vested in its Board of Directors, which is
composed of 12 members who serve without compensation. Members of the Board of Directors of
the Borrower all have long relationships with the United States Armed Forces either through service
in the Armed Forces or as the spouse of a service member, giving each member of the Board of
Directors of the Borrower unique insight as to the needs of the residents of the Community. No
director may be employed by, or be under contract with, the Corporation or the Borrower. Members
of the Board of Directors of the Borrower serve three year terms that are staggered to allow
approximately one-third of the terms to expire in any one year. Members of the Board of Directors
of the Borrower may serve multiple terms. The Board of Directors of the Borrower is primarily
responsible for capital growth and the investment policy of the Corporation, in addition to protecting
the financial well-being and the physical integrity of the Community. The Board of Directors of the
Borrower holds quarterly meetings.

[Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank]



The Board of Directors of the Borrower is comprised of the following members, whose
collective and specialized experience contributes to the success of the Community:

Years of Service

Member Occupation on the Board
COL Herb Coley, U.S. Army (Ret.) Senior Healthcare 4
President Executive
COL Clarence Maxwell, U.S. Army (Ret.) Architect and Facility 4
Treasurer Planner
COL Donna Wright, U.S. Army (Ret.) Nursing 4
Secretary Administration
COL David Hayes, U.S. Army (Ret.) Physician, ENT — 3
Otolaryngologist
COL Jesse Brewer, U.S. Army (Ret.) Healthcare Executive, 19
Dietician
COL Don Mills, U.S. Army (Ret.) Dental Surgeon 3
Mrs. Barbara Schneider Rattan Non-profit 1
&Charitable
Foundation Leadership
Mrs. Barbara Gentry Non-profit 1
&Charitable
Foundation Leadership
COL Tom McGuire, U.S. Army (Ret.) Non-profit 1
&Charitable
Foundation Leadership
MAJ Joseph Bar Topinka, U.S. Army (Ret) Healthcare Attorney 1
LTC Larry Luken, U.S. Air Force (Ret.) Nursing Home 1
Administration
Mr. David Dentino Civil Engineer 1

Selected biographical information regarding the members of the Board of Directors of the
Borrower follows:



COL (Ret) Herb Coley (4 years of service on the Board of Directors of the Borrower)

COL Herb Coley, US Army, Retired, served 28 years in command and staff positions with
assignments to include the 1% Medical Group, 25" Infantry Division; the Office of The Surgeon
General, US Army; and Headquarters, US Army Medical Command (MEDCOM). After leaving
active duty, he spent over 3 years as a senior manager for Troy Systems, an information technology
company serving the federal government. COL Coley returned to federal service at HQ, MEDCOM
as a government civilian in 2001. In January 2009, he was selected to be the Chief of Staff and
Deputy to the Commanding General, MEDCOM. Promoted to the Senior Executive Service in
October 2009, he retired in December 2012 with nearly 40 years of combined military and civilian
service. Herb is a graduate of Trinity University and the US Army-Baylor University Master’s
Program in Health Administration. He has been on the Board of Directors of the Borrower since
2013.

COL (Ret) Clarence “CEM* Maxwell (4 years of service on the Board of Directors of the
Borrower)

Clarence E. “CEM” Maxwell Ph.D, US Air Force, Senior Executive Service: Retired; US
Army Colonel, Retired: Licensed Architect, Texas. He served 28 years in the Army in numerous
locations — Europe, Korea, Washington D.C. and others. He commanded the US Army Health
Facility Planning Agency and was the Commandant and Dean, Army Academy of Health Sciences.
He has successfully consulted on health and bio-research facilities. As an Air Force SES, located at
Randolph AFB, he was responsible for the execution of Base Realignment and Closure 2005 at the
four San Antonio bases, to include the establishment of Joint Base San Antonio and oversight of
military construction. COL Maxwell, and his wife, Kathy, have been recognized for their volunteer
work in the San Antonio military community. COL Maxwell holds bachelor and doctorate degrees
from Texas A&M and a master’s degree from Baylor. He has served as a member of the Board of
Directors of the Borrower since 2015.

COL (Ret) Donna Wright (4 years of service on the Board of Directors for the Borrower)

COL Donna M. Wright, US Army, Retired, served as an Army Nurse for 27 years in the
Active Army and 3 years in the Army Reserve. Her military career included care delivery in acute
and ambulatory care settings, postgraduate education (Critical Care Program Director), nursing
administration and Consultant to the Surgeon General for Ambulatory Nursing. Her final
assignment to the USA Medical Command (MEDCOM) continued for 15 years as a MEDCOM
health systems analyst, initially with a national corporation that provided health systems support to
Federal Government agencies, and then as a DOD civilian. COL Wright devised strategies and
supporting policy that improved health care delivery to DOD beneficiaries across the continuum of
care. She retired from Federal Service in 2015. COL Wright has a graduate degree in nursing from
the University of Colorado. She is Region IV Director for the Army Nurse Corps Association and
joined the Board of Directors of the Corporation in 2014.



COL (Ret) David K. Hayes (3 years of service on the Board of Directors for the Borrower)

COL Hayes received his medical degree from the Medical University of South Carolina in
1983 and completed residency in Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery at Brooke Army Medical
Center 1990. During 30 years on active duty, his assignments included staff surgeon at Walter Reed
and Brooke Army Medical Centers; Chief of Surgery, and later Chief of Anesthesia and Operative
Services at BAMC; Assistant Chief of Staff for Clinical Operations at the Southern Region Medical
Command, and Consultant to the Surgeon General for Otolaryngology—Head & Neck Surgery. His
operational assignments included Surgeon, 194™ Ar Bde (sep); Commander, 53rd Head & Neck Det
(deployed - Iraq); Senior Medical Officer, 402nd Civil Affairs BN (deployed - Djibouti); and US
Forces Korea Surgeon. He remains active in the care of soldiers and their families at BAMC where
he is a staff surgeon. He has served on the Board of Directors of the Corporation since 2014.

COL (Ret) Jessie S. Brewer (19 years of service on the Board of Directors for the Borrower)

COL Brewer, US Army, Retired, served 26 years in hospitals, medical centers, and staff
positions directing medical nutrition and food services with assignments to include Brooke Army
Medical Center; Walter Reed AMC; Tripler AMC; 249th General Hospital, Japan; 67th Medical
Group, Vietnam; Fitzsimmons AMC; Belvoir Army Community Hospital; Madigan AMC; Office of
the Army Surgeon General as Career Activities Officer; Chief Dietitian Section and Asst. Chief;
then Chief, Army Medical Specialist Corps. After retirement, COL Brewer volunteered with Habitat
for Humanity building Women's houses; charter member and past president of Women Working
Wonders, a 501 (3) organization teaching women to repair houses for the sick and elderly; church
representative for Randolph Area Christian Association Program; past president of AMEDD
Museum Foundation; past Commander of Post 612 - Windcrest American Legion.

COL (Ret) Don Mills (3 years of service on the Board of Directors for the Borrower)

COL Mills, served in the US Army for 22 years in clinical, command, and staff positions
with assignments as 7th Special Forces Group (Airborne) Dental Surgeon, Chief, Orthodontics at Ft.
Benning, Ft. Sill, Wurzburg Germany and Ft. Sam Houston. He also served as Chief of Staff, US
Army Dental Command and as Consultant to the Army Surgeon General. COL Mills commanded
the US Army Dental Activity at Ft. Riley and Ft. Bliss. After retirement he continued practicing
dentistry in his specialty of orthodontics. With 40 years’ experience, he continues his practice in a
highly successful San Antonio dental group. After graduating from the University of Houston, he
earned his Doctorate of Dental Surgery from the University of Texas Dental Branch after which he
completed a three-year orthodontic residency.

Mrs. Barbara Schneider Rattan (1 year of service on the Board of Directors for the
Borrower)

Mrs. Schneider Rattan has been a resident of the Community since 2011. She is the widow
of Lt. General (Ret) William H. Schneider, former commander of the Fifth Army at Ft. Sam
Houston, and MG (Ret) Donald “Snapper” Rattan. She holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business
Administration from George Mason University and has served in many leadership positions for a



variety of nonprofit organizations throughout her career. She was the former Director of
Administration for the National Republican Senatorial Committee in Washington, D.C. Her
nonprofit service includes serving as President of the World Affairs Council of San Antonio, a
Board member of the Cancer Center Council, Chairman of the Board of the American Red Cross —
San Antonio Chapter, a Board Member of the Southwest Foundation Forum, Board Member of the
Any Baby Can Alliance, President of the Board of Directors of the Bexar County Women’s Center,
Board member of the San Antonio Sports Foundation, Trustee of Texas Military Institute, member
of the Rotary Club, past president of the Alamo City Republican Women’s Club, and she is active in
the Battle of Flowers Association.

Barbara B. Gentry (1 year of service on the Board of Directors for the Borrower)

Barbara Gentry retired from USAA in September 2012 after nineteen years of service. She
retired as Senior Vice President of Community Affairs, President of The USAA Foundation and
President of The USAA Educational Foundation. In this role, she was responsible for the USAA
philanthropic program, community outreach and volunteer programs for employees, retirees and
family members. Prior to joining USAA, she held various positions in the local business community.
Mrs. Gentry currently serves on the Boards of Directors of Fisher House Foundation, Goodwill
Industries of San Antonio, Haven for Hope, Respite Care San Antonio, San Antonio Museum of Art
and San Antonio Women’s Hall of Fame. Additionally, she is a member of the Advisory Council of
the San Antonio Food Bank and serves on a number of committees within the local nonprofit
community. She earned a BA Degree from St. Mary’s University majoring in Sociology. Mrs.
Gentry is married to C. Michael Gentry, a retired attorney and CPA.

COL (Ret) Thomas McGuire (1 year of service on the Board of Directors for the Borrower)

COL McGuire is a retired COL who served in the US Army for 27 years. He currently serves
as the Grants Manager for Kronkosky Charitable Foundation in San Antonio, managing over 150
grants awarded to local area non-profit organizations. He previously served as Executive Director,
USAA, where he managed a unit responsible for coordinating and integrating the Chief Financial
Officer’s (Corporate Finance, Financial Service Center and Internal Audit) Strategic and Operational
Plans, Budget and Forecast. He earned a Bachelor of Arts in History from Cameron University, a
Master of Education in Human Services from Boston University, and a Master of Arts, National
Security and Strategy, Naval War College.

MAJ (Ret) Joseph B. Topinka (1 year of service on the Board of Directors for the Borrower)

MAJ Topinka is a retired military attorney and now an Assistant Professor at Texas State
University where he teaches a healthcare administration seminar, employment law for healthcare
administrators, and public health for healthcare administrators. He is also an adjunct professor at the
University of Incarnate Word’s School of Healthcare Administration where he teaches health law for
healthcare administrators and a doctoral student at the University of Texas School of Public Health
(San Antonio Campus). Previously, he was an Assistant Professor in the Army-Baylor University
Graduate Program in Health and Business Administration and was also a legal instructor for the
Army Medical Department Center and School’s Leader Training Center. He is the former Deputy
Staff Judge Advocate for the U.S Army Medical Command and the former Command Judge
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Advocate and Center Judge Advocate for the Army’s Western Regional Medical Command and
Madigan Army Medical Center respectively. He holds a Bachelor of Arts from the University of
Illinois at Champaign-Urbana; a Juris Doctor from Northern Illinois University; a Master of
Business Administration from Saint Martin's University in Lacey, Washington; a Master of Laws,
Military Law, United States Army Judge Advocate General’s School, Charlottesville, Virginia; a
Master of Health Administration from Chapman University in Orange, California; and a Master of
Laws, Health Law, Loyola University Chicago. He has published or co-published many works over
the last ten years. He is a member of the Illinois, Washington, and Texas bars. He is a Fellow in the
American College of Healthcare Executives, a Fellow in the Healthcare Management Association, a
Fellow of the American Bar Association Foundation, the certification chair for the South Texas
Chapter of the Healthcare Financial Management Association; and is very involved in the San
Antonio Bar Association’s Health Law Section.

LTC (Ret) Larry Luken (1 year of service on the Board of Directors for the Borrower)

LTC Luken has been a resident of the Community since 2011. He served in the USAF for 22
years and retired from INTEL in 1982. He holds a B.A. in International Relations from San
Francisco State College, an M.A. in East Asian Studies from Florida State University, and a
Certificate in Long-Term Care Administration from George Washington University. Following his
military career, he served as Development Director for the National Lutheran Home for the Aged
CCRC, and was Nursing Home Administrator for Manor Care Nursing Homes in San Antonio. He
also served as Administrator for Four Seasons Nursing Home Northwest and Assistant
Administrator for Four Seasons Nursing Home Pecan Valley and Windcrest. His volunteer work
includes Friendly Visitor in Fairfax County, Hospice of N. Virginia as a Bereavement Counselor,
Bexar County AACOG Nursing Home Ombudsman, Universal City Zoning and Planning
Commission, and the Universal City Animal Shelter Committee. His volunteer service at the
Community includes the ARC Angels, the Special Activities Committee, the Movie Committee, and
the Philanthropy Advisory Assistance Team.

David Dentino (1 year of service on the Board of Directors for the Borrower)

David Dentino is a licensed civil engineer. As a member of the Air Force Senior Executive
Service (government civilian equivalent to flag officer rank), he currently serves as the Director of
Installation Support, Air Force Installation & Mission Support Center, Joint Base San Antonio. He
previously served as Deputy Director, Installations Directorate, Air Force Civil Engineer Center,
Joint Base San Antonio. He earned a Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering from the University
of Texas, a Master’s of Engineering Management from George Washington University and in 2007
graduated from Air War College, USAF, Air University, Maxwell AFB, AL. His parents, LTC
Robert and Patricia Dentino live at the Community.

Board of Directors of the Corporation

The voting power and authority of the Corporation is vested in its Board of Directors, which
is composed of 12 members who serve without compensation. The members of the Board of
Directors of the Corporation are selected for their subject matter expertise and experience, coupled
with their willingness to serve the unique military officer resident population of the Community.
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The President of the Resident Council (described below) serves ex officio as a non-voting member of
the Board of Directors of the Corporation. No director may be employed by, or be under contract
with, the Corporation or the Borrower. Members of the Board of Directors of the Corporation serve
three year terms that are staggered to allow approximately one-third of the terms to expire in any one
year. The primary responsibilities of the Board of Directors of the Corporation include governance
and policy development and oversight, strategic planning, oversight of management performance,
quality monitoring, and insuring the financial stability of the Community. The Board of Directors of
the Corporation holds regular quarterly meetings.

The Board of Directors of the Corporation is comprised of the same individuals who make up
the Board of Directors of the Borrower.

Finance Committee

A Finance Committee serves as an advisory committee to the Board of Directors of the
Borrower and the Board of Directors of the Corporation and is comprised of members appointed by
the President of the Board of Directors of the Borrower. The Finance Committee makes
recommendations on matters pertaining to capital growth, investment policies, and other financial
matters affecting the Borrower and the Corporation.

The Obligated Group

Under the Master Indenture between the Borrower, the Corporation and The Bank of New
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (the “Master Trustee”) dated as of January 1, 2007, as
supplemented by Master Indenture Supplement No. 1 dated as of February 1, 2010, Master Indenture
Supplement No. 2 dated as of October 1, 2012, Master Trust Indenture Supplement No. 3 dated as of
October 1, 2016 and the Master Trust Indenture Supplement No. 4 dated as of February 1, 2018
(collectively, the “Master Indenture”), the Borrower and the Corporation are currently the only
members of the Obligated Group. South Texas Army Residence Beverages, Inc., a subsidiary of the
Corporation, is not a member of the Obligated Group and has no liability with respect to the Series
2018 Bonds. Each of the members of the Obligated Group has received from the Internal Revenue
Service a determination of its status as an organization exempt from federal income taxation under
the Code.

Resident Council

A resident council comprised of residents who are elected to represent their respective
residential areas provides a link between the residents and the staff of the Community. Through the
Resident Council, residents share ideas, concerns, problems, suggestions and opinions with those
responsible for operating the Community. The President of the Resident Council is a non-voting
member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

Management of the Borrower and the Corporation

The Community is managed by a Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO”), who is hired by and
reports to the Board of Directors of the Corporation. The CEO position is currently open and the
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Board of Directors of the Corporation is conducting a national search for a new CEO. The former
CEO departed in September 2017. The search is entering the final stages and a new CEO is
expected to be selected in early March 2018. The current Chief Operating Officer, Colonel David
Fulbright, was selected to be the acting CEO in September 2017 upon the departure of the former
CEO. The Corporation employed Colonel David Fulbright as its COO in September 2011.

The CEO oversees two corporate officers, a Chief Operating Officer (“COQO”) and a Chief
Financial Officer (“CFO”), and nine subordinate directors (each, a “Director”) who support the CEO
in the operation of the Community, including: (i) a Director of Corporate Communication; (ii) a
Director of Dining Services; (iii) a Director of Environmental Services; (iv) a Director of
Housekeeping; (v) a Director of Marketing; (vi) a Director of Resident Services; (vii) a Health Care
Center Administrator; (viii) a Director of Information Systems; and (ix) a Director of Development.
Brief descriptions of the positions and biographies of the individuals serving as officers of the
Corporation are provided below.

David Fulbright, Chief Operating Officer and acting CEO (7 years of service as COO, 6
months of service as acting CEO)

The CEOQ is responsible for the overall management and supervision of the Community and
serves at the direction of the Board of Directors of the Corporation. The CEO attends all meetings of
the Board of Directors of the Corporation and most Board-appointed committee meetings. The COO
is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Community. The COO works closely with each
Director to ensure all the needs of the Community are met. Colonel (Ret.) Fulbright assumed his role
as the COO in September 2011 and assumed the role of acting CEO in September 2017.

Before joining the staff of the Community, Colonel Fulbright served as an officer in the
Medical Service Corps of the United States Army for 29 years. In his last military assignment, he
served as the Command Surgeon for the United States Army North, an organization created by the
Department of Defense after Hurricane Katrina to support the continental United States in any man-
made or natural disaster. Colonel (Ret.) Fulbright is certified by the American Association of Homes
and Services for the Aging as a Certified Aging Services Professional. He received his B.S. in
Business Administration from Oklahoma Christian University and his Masters in Clinical
Psychology from the University of Central Oklahoma.

Gordon Shoger (CPA), Chief Financial Officer (9 months of service)

The CFO is responsible for the maintenance of the financial records of the Community in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and procedures. The CFO reports to
the CEO regarding the historical, current and projected financial condition of the Community and is
responsible for managing the activities associated with forecasting, budgeting and accounting
practices. Mr. Shoger assumed these responsibilities in May 2017. His background includes
positions both as auditor and later as senior auditor with the firm of Ernst & Young, where he was
responsible for planning and conducting annual audits for financial, real estate, and asset
management organizations. Mr. Shoger has worked in the senior living industry since 1996, filling a
broad spectrum of roles at both the corporate and community level. He has significant operational
experience serving as Executive Director of continuing care retirement communities for Texas and
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national companies. He has also served in various financial executive roles within the senior living
industry over the course of the past 22 years. Mr. Shoger received a B.S. in Accounting from Texas
State University and is a Licensed Certified Public Accountant in the State of Texas.

Conflict of Interest Policy

The Board of Directors of the Borrower and the Board of Directors of the Corporation have
each adopted a conflict of interest policy for its members. The policy requires periodic reporting of
potential conflicts of interest and all material facts relating thereto. Directors are annually given a
copy of the policy and the opportunity to disclose actual or potential conflicts of interest. Such
disclosures are reviewed by the Executive Committee of the Board. Upon receiving disclosure of a
potential conflict of interest of a director, the disinterested directors may approve or ratify the
transaction. Interested directors are not counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a
meeting of the applicable Board of Directors, which authorizes, approves or ratifies such transaction.

In addition, the Board of Directors of the Borrower and the Board of Directors of the
Corporation have each adopted a Corporate Ethics Plan (the “Ethics Plan”), which applies to all
employees, board members and independent contractors who provide services to the Community.
The Ethics Plan prohibits employees and directors from engaging in any activity that conflicts with
the interest of the Corporation or the residents of the Community. All managers and directors are
required to annually execute a statement stating that they are in compliance with the Ethics Plan.

Employees and Employee Relations

As of January 1, 2018, the Corporation has 376 employees (full-time and part-time) who
work in the following areas: health care (110); dining service (105); environmental service (48);
information technology (2); housekeeping (64); resident services (36); and administration, sales and
communications (11). The Corporation has no contracts with labor unions and is not aware of any
organizing activity involving any group of Community employees. The Corporation has many long-
term employees who provide resident services at the Community. Management believes that this
stable core of employees allows the Corporation to provide more consistent care to the residents of
the Community. Management also views the employees as a key part of the Community due to its
role in maintaining good relationships among the Community’s residents and employees.

The Corporation has contracted with individuals and firms who serve as consultants or
perform other professional services on a regular basis for the Community, including: a dining
services contract with Morrison Senior Living; a medical director; a Health Care Center social
worker; and physical, occupational and speech therapists.

Retirement Plan

The Corporation has a 403(b) Tax Sheltered Annuity Plan (the “Plan”). Employees are
positively enrolled unless electing in writing not to participate. The Corporation makes a dollar for
dollar matching contribution, up to 2% of gross pay. These matching contributions vest over a five-
year period. The Corporation’s matching contribution is discretionary and has been approved for the
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2% matching contribution until otherwise changed. The Corporation’s contributions charged to
operations totaled approximately $146,000 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017.

FACILITIES AND SERVICES

Description of the Facility

Location in San Antonio, Texas

The Community is located on Crestway Drive in northeast San Antonio, Texas and is
approximately 12 miles from the Alamo and the famous Riverwalk areas of downtown San Antonio.
A dynamic city with a wide range of cultural opportunities from the arts, to music, to the historic
missions, to the national basketball team, the San Antonio Spurs, San Antonio is the seventh most
populated city in the United States and rated as one of the fastest growing populations. San Antonio
is known as a leader in health and bioscience industries.

San Antonio offers a full range of modern shopping facilities, world-class healthcare and
research facilities, recreational areas and golf courses. Located near the Community are several
shopping malls as well as several smaller shopping areas with grocery, drug and convenience stores,
restaurants and movie theaters. The metropolitan area-wide transportation system has a bus stop
within a few blocks of the Community’s entrance. In addition to the public transportation system, the
Community provides daily bus service to area hospitals, shopping malls and other business and
recreational establishments for its residents, including special transportation arrangements to cultural
events and social activities.

Proximity to Military Facilities

Joint Base San Antonio is the largest military installation in the U.S. Department of Defense
with over 80,000 employees supporting over 250,000 beneficiaries. Joint Base San Antonio is
comprised of Fort Sam Houston, Randolph Air Force Base and Lackland Air Force Base and
supports over 200 military organizations. San Antonio has one of the largest retired military
populations in the country.

Fort Sam Houston, a United States Army post, is located approximately eight miles from the
Community. Fort Sam Houston is widely-recognized as the premier medical training installation
within the Department of Defense and is home to the San Antonio Military Medical Center
(“SAMMC”). SAMMC is a full-service tertiary care hospital offering inpatient and outpatient
services, an emergency department, graduate level medical education, a world renowned burn center
and a Level I trauma center. Along with the medical missions, Fort Sam Houston is home to two
Army service component commands (US Army North and US Army South), the Army Installation
Management Command and Army contracting Command among others.

Randolph Air Force Base is located approximately five miles from the Community. A flying

training base, Randolph Air Force Base is the headquarters of the Air Education and Training
Command of the United States Air Force. The base provides instructor pilot training for both
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manned flights and unmanned flights. The base also conducts advanced electronic warfare officer
training, as well as operating aircraft for advanced pilot training in support of Specialized
Undergraduate Navigator Training. Randolph Air Force Base also provides primary care medical
services.

Both Fort Sam Houston and Randolph Air Force Base provide shopping, dining, recreation
and healthcare services available exclusively to military personnel.

Lackland Air Force Base is located approximately 15 miles from the Community. The base is
the center for basic airman training, as well as training of enlisted airmen in different technical
specialties. Lackland Air Force Base is the site of the Air Force Services Component Command for
Cyber Services as well as the Department of Defense linguistic training. Lackland Air Force Base is
home to the Air Force’s largest specialty and ambulatory care clinic.

Fort Hood is located approximately 150 miles from the Community to the north in Killeen,
Texas. Fort Hood is a United States Army post and is the largest military installation in the world,
encompassing a 340 square mile area with over 140,000 soldiers, military retirees and family
members.

Given its geographic proximity to these military facilities, San Antonio has a long-standing
and positive relationship with military personnel and their families. Many retirees from military
service choose San Antonio as their place of residence upon retirement. The caliber of military
personnel that these facilities attract, coupled with the reputation of San Antonio as a “military
town” with a low cost of living, make the Community an attractive option for career military officers
to consider for retirement.

The Community - General

The Community consists of the original campus, known as the “Legacy Campus,” and the
expansion, known as the “Lakeside Campus.” See “Background and History — History” above.
Both the Legacy Campus and the Lakeside Campus include independent living units, skilled nursing
and assisted living units, and amenities such as dining, fitness centers, and recreational facilities.
The Legacy Campus and the Lakeside Campus constitute one single campus with amenities for the
benefit of all residents. Sidewalks for walking, bicycle paths, internal Community transportation
service, and personal transportation makes everything within easy access to the Community’s
residents.
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Independent Living

The Community offers 465 residential independent living units consisting of 271 cottages
(consisting of 187 Legacy Campus cottages and 84 Lakeside Campus Cottages), and a 13-story high
rise apartment building containing 194 units. The Legacy Campus cottages (187) are garden-type
units in a landscaped, suburban setting surrounding the apartment building and vary in size from one
bedroom/one bath living units measuring approximately 928 square feet to two bedroom/two bath
plus den living units measuring approximately 1,400 square feet. Each cottage has an attached
garage. The Lakeside Campus cottages (84) feature hill country architecture and custom design,
elegant cabinetry, ambient lighting and modern appliances. These cottages vary in size from two-
bedroom/two bath living units with approximately 1,670 square feet to two-bedroom/two bath units
that include a den and contain approximately 2,264 square feet. Each has a two car attached garage
and abundant storage. The apartments in the high-rise building vary in size from studio living units
with approximately 670 square feet, to two bedroom/two bath living units with approximately 1,165
square feet, to the largest apartments measuring up to 1,835 square feet. Each apartment enjoys a
private balcony with views of the Community’s water features to the downtown area of San Antonio.

The residents of the apartments have access to covered parking. All independent living units are
equipped with a complete kitchen, wall-to-wall carpeting, individually controlled heating and air
conditioning, 24-hour emergency call system, smoke detectors, ceiling fans, mini-blinds, and
bathroom tub and shower facilities with grab bars. A separate laundry room is located near the
lounge on each floor of the apartment building. Community assigned storage rooms are provided to
apartment residents.

In addition to independent living units, the Community buildings contain administrative

offices, activity areas, large craft rooms, a main dining and separate fine dining restaurant, bistro
style dining, a fully equipped fitness center, a library, two auditoriums, a computer facility, a non-
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denominational chapel, three beauty salons, an in-patient rehab center, two sports lounges, many
multipurpose relaxation rooms, hotel style guest rooms available for resident use, and an enclosed
swimming pool with spa. Located on the Community’s landscaped grounds are walking and bicycle
paths, garden plots, a tennis/pickle ball court, a putting green and chipping green, picnic areas, pet
parks, and ponds.

Assisted Living and Health Care

The Community recognizes that some of its residents will require assisted living services.
The Community offers its residents the full complement of assisted living services while at the same
time encourages them to live more meaningful and independent lives in a residential environment.
This illustrates the emphasis of the Community’s focus on the “residential model,” as opposed to the
common “medical model,” with respect to its assisted living services, setting it apart from many
retirement communities.

The skilled nursing and assisted living wings are located on both sides of the Community’s
campus (collectively, the “Health Care Center”). The largest facility is attached to the high rise
apartment building and consists of 91 licensed skilled nursing care beds in three wings (one of which
is a dedicated memory care wing) and a separate wing with 30 licensed assisted living apartments
with 462 square feet each. The Villas at Lakeside Landing, another assisted living facility, features
48 assisted living apartments ranging in size from 476 square feet to 702 square feet. Both Health
Care Center facilities house a full service dental clinic and a beauty salon and barber shop, in
addition to offering extensive physical, occupational and speech therapy services. The Villas at
Lakeside Landing facility also houses a primary care medical clinic available on an appointment
basis for use by all residents of the Community.

Wellness Center

Residents of the Community enjoy access to a modern wellness center built between 2007
and 2009 (the “Wellness Center”’). The Wellness Center is led by a fitness coordinator charged with
helping residents to achieve longer, healthier and younger lives. Residents are offered holistic health
evaluations and personal planning to enrich their lives. The Wellness Center includes a state-of-the-
art fitness facility designed specifically for seniors, featuring both strength and cardiovascular
equipment. Various group fitness classes are offered as well as one-on-one fitness services,
including water aerobics and other classes offered at the indoor swimming facility. The pool offers
open swim with lap swimming and features a lift making it accessible to all.

The Wellness Center also features an outpatient therapy clinic designed to provide an array
of recuperative therapies in a private environment for the residents of the Community. The clinic
provides residents with the ability to recuperate in a more homelike and less-stressful environment,
which the Corporation believes allows its residents to heal more effectively.

Additionally, the Wellness Center contains a resident-centered gathering place that serves as
a general purpose room. This room is capable of accommodating large or small gatherings for
socializing, games, and sports. This room has a host of audio and visual equipment, allowing for
groups to enjoy movies, sporting events and music.
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Dining Facilities

The Community offers several dining venues, each with a unique style allowing residents
choices in daily dining. Menus offer daily features along with a wide variety of selections. A “take-
out” option is also available for pick-up by residents or delivery to their residence. The main dining
room serves breakfast, lunch and dinner, with its highly acclaimed Sunday buffet. The Water’s Edge
dining venue offers a high-end dinner option overlooking the Community lake. For a more casual
dining experience, the “Bistro” offers residents an alternative for lunch and dinner. The Community
also offers a convenience store featuring various sundries, snacks, and beverages.

Mortgaged Property

As described under “Security and Sources of Payment for the Series 2018 Bonds -- Loan
Agreement and Deed of Trust,” the Borrower has granted to the Master Trustee a lien on certain
property owned by the Borrower, consisting of approximately 150 acres in Bexar County, Texas
including the site of the Community (the “Mortgaged Property™).

Resident Benefits

Since Community residents are retired military officers and their spouses, widows or
widowers, in addition to Medicare, they have TRICARE for Life, a Medicare wraparound coverage
for Medicare-eligible TRICARE beneficiaries. TRICARE for Life is a last payer for civilian health
care after Medicare and any other health insurance used by the residents, and also gives them access
to military health care facilities on a space available basis. TRICARE for Life covers gaps in
coverage, for both inpatient and outpatient health care as well as prescription drugs. However,
TRICARE for Life does not cover long-term custodial care, which is provided by the Community.
The Community is a full service life care facility and the Community’s Type A contract
contractually commits the Corporation to provide health care services to its residents, whether short-
term or long-term, which do not require hospitalization and which are not beyond the scope of
services offered by the Community. Minor emergency treatment, personal assistance and care for
minor illnesses (as well as long-term nursing care) are available in the Health Care Center.
Treatment for major emergencies and illnesses, including conditions requiring surgical treatment or
intensive care, may be available at area military medical facilities or at any of the many civilian
medical facilities in San Antonio. The Health Care Center staff assists residents in obtaining such
care.

The Health Care Center rate for residents admitted to the Community’s skilled care facility
covers a bed in a semi-private room, meals, linen and bedding, nursing care and limited laundry
services. Extra charges may include, but are not limited to, guest meals, certain medical equipment
and supplies, transportation charges, long distance telephone service, nutritional supplements,
special nursing care and fees for beauty/barber shop services. Personal physician, pharmacy,
podiatrist, dental, physical/occupational/speech therapy, laboratory, x-ray and other charges are not
included in the monthly maintenance fee charged to residents of the Community (the “Monthly
Maintenance Fee”), but are normally billed directly by the provider to the individual.



In addition, while in independent living and assisted living, all of the following non-medical
services are included in the Monthly Maintenance Fee: a generous meal allowance; utilities,
including electricity, air conditioning, heat, water, sewer fees and trash removal; insurance to protect
the Community against unanticipated losses and liabilities, other than personal liability ofresidents
and coverage of personal property owned by residents; all real estate and ad valorem taxes;
Community security personnel; maintenance of living units and common Community spaces;
lighted, off-street covered parking; basic package cable television; scheduled transportation; weekly
residence house cleaning; planned events and activities; grounds and facilities maintenance; and use
of Community public spaces and activity areas.

The following services are available to Community residents on a fee-for-service basis:
dining fees beyond the current $13/day included in the Resident Contract (as defined below); high-
speed internet services; local and long distance telephone service; expanded cable television
services; unscheduled transportation services; extra housekeeping or maintenance services;
beauty/barber shop service; expendable supplies used in arts and crafts; copy service; catering
service for private parties; group trips arranged for special occasions; guest meals; guest rooms for
visitors; and personal laundry service, among others.

Neither the Corporation nor the Borrower assumes any responsibility for the following
personal contracts or debts of the resident: telephone charges; personal property taxes on items
owned by the resident; personal liability and personal property insurance; hospital or medical
services administered outside the Community; or medical expenses incurred for items other than
those included in the Health Care Center rate for residents.

ADMISSIONS POLICY AND RESIDENT CONTRACTS

Eligibility and Resident Contracts

Eligibility for entrance into the Community is open to retired career military officers having
a minimum of 20 years’ military service, active or reserve, of which at least 10 were served as a
commissioned or warrant officer, and their spouses, widows or widowers. Should the Community
not be fully occupied with individuals meeting this eligibility requirement, the Board of Directors of
the Corporation reserves the right to open admission to other individuals. No individual otherwise
qualified will be denied admission as a resident based on race, religion, sex, nationality or ethnic
origin.

In addition to meeting the above eligibility criteria, the Community requires that a
sponsoring applicant be 60 years of age, ambulatory and capable of independent living as certified
by a physician. Each prospective resident must also be covered by Medicare Part A and Part B, to
the extent that they satisfy the age requirements to be covered, and be enrolled in the Defense
Enrollment Eligibility Reporting System, which establishes an individual’s entitlement to health care
and pharmacy benefits through the military health care system. Finally, the Community requires
each prospective resident to establish, to the Community’s satisfaction, his or her ability to meet the
expected financial obligations of residency. An endowment fund exists from which the Board of
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Directors of the Corporation can direct the movement of funds to assist applicants who are in
financial need.

After a prospective resident has established medical and financial qualifications, he or she
enters into a resident contract (the “Resident Contract”) pursuant to which, in consideration of the
payment of an Entrance Fee (each, an “Entrance Fee”) and Monthly Maintenance Fees, the
Community agrees to provide lifetime living accommodations in the living unit selected by the
resident, use of the facilities, services and amenities of the Community, and a continuum of care for
the life of the resident. The resident’s rights under the Resident Contract are not proprietary and do
not include any right, title or interest in the real or personal property of the Community, nor will any
resident have the right to transfer, convey, assign or devise his or her rights under such Resident
Contract. The resident’s rights are primarily for services, with a contractual right to occupancy.

Application for Priority - The Priority List

The Community maintains a Priority List (the “Priority List”) to engage prospective residents
and determine the order in which prospective residents are offered available living units. The
Priority List places prospective residents in priority for move-in based on when a priority number
was established through the submission of an Application for Priority and a required deposit
consisting of $1,500 for a couple or $1,000 for an individual (each, a “Deposit”). Positions on the
Priority List are assigned sequentially upon receipt by the Community of an Application for Priority
and the required Deposit, together with the sponsor’s Report of Separation from the United States
Armed Forces, DD214 (certification of military service).

Residence in the Community is not permitted until at least one of the prospective residents of
the living unit attains the age of 60 years. The Priority List, however, includes individuals who have
not yet attained the age of 60 years and others who have indicated their wish not to move to the
Community until some future date. Therefore, it is possible for fully eligible prospective residents
with a lower priority position on the Priority List to apply for residency and be offered a living unit
ahead of individuals with a more favorable position who are not 60 years of age or are not ready to
move.

As of January 1, 2018, there were 146 individuals on the Priority List.
With the hire of a new Sales Director and formation of a new Communications/Marketing
Director, management is currently looking at better ways to shorten the time taken to fill vacant units

and is evaluating the marketing and sales processes that have been employed over the past two
decades and possible new initiatives.
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Application for Residency - The Waiting List

The Community maintains a waiting list of those Applicants on the Priority List who are
ready to move to the Community (the “Waiting List”). When an eligible individual is ready to move
to the Community, he or she applies for residency by indicating the type and size of living unit
preferred (i.e., first choice) and whether any other living units (by type and size) might be
acceptable, if offered (i.e., second or third choices). The individual thereafter becomes an Applicant
and is integrated in sequence onto the Waiting List. Only those individuals who have completed the
criteria detailed in the Application for Priority submitted by an eligible individual considering the
possibility of an eventual move to the Community, thereby receiving a Priority Number, will be
eligible for the Waiting List.

The quality of the services and facilities offered at the Community is reflected by the number
of Applicants on the Waiting List — 115 as of January 1, 2018. The Community has maintained a
large number of individuals on the Waiting List for over a decade.

FEES AND MONTHLY CHARGES

Deposit and Down Payment

A Deposit is required to secure a place on the Priority List. A Deposit does not draw interest
and is instead placed in escrow, becoming a part of the Down Payment required from an Applicant
for residency. A Deposit is fully refundable when requested in writing. When a Deposit is refunded,
the individual will lose his or her Priority Number. Should he or she later request to be placed back
on the Priority List, an appropriate Deposit would be required and the Applicant would be assigned
the next available Priority Number, rather than retaining his or her original Priority Number.

A down payment of 10% of the Entrance Fee for the type and size of the living unit selected
(less the Deposit previously paid to establish a position on the Priority List) (the “Down Payment™)
is required to be paid by an Applicant when a living unit acceptable to the Applicant is offered in
order to reserve such living unit. The Down Payment is credited toward the Entrance Fee when the
Entrance Fee is paid. The Down Payment is considered a commitment to move to the Community
and the Applicant is expected to establish residency within 60 days after being advised that a living
unit of the type and size for which the Down Payment was made is available for occupancy. In
return for this commitment, the Applicant is guaranteed the Entrance Fee at the price then in
existence and assured that he or she will be accepted for residency prior to any individual with a less
favorable Priority Number and any resident whose request for an in-house move has not yet been
approved.

Entrance Fee

Entrance Fees vary based on the type, size, amenities and location of the living unit selected.
The Board of Directors of the Corporation may increase or adjust the Entrance Fees from time to
time as economic circumstances require. At the time an Applicant makes a Down Payment,



however, he or she is guaranteed the Entrance Fee then in existence, provided the Applicant does not
request, or otherwise receive, a refund of such Down Payment.

There is a second person fee added to the Entrance Fee for living units occupied by more
than one individual, which is a one-time charge of $15,000 for all types and sizes of units and is
intended to help defray the cost of future healthcare benefits afforded by a Type A contract. In the
event of joint occupancy, should one resident terminate residency for any reason and the remaining
resident retain the living unit, all remaining interest in the Entrance Fee shall inure to the benefit of
the remaining resident. Should the joint occupant desire a different arrangement, the Board of
Directors of the Corporation must be notified in writing prior to occupancy.

A premium is placed on units in desirable locations or that have desirable features in addition
to those of other units of the same size. This market-based strategy is increasing cash flows from the
turn-over of units.

The Entrance Fee is payable as follows: (1) the Deposit must be paid to establish a position
on the Priority List; (2) the Down Payment must be paid for the type and size living unit offered and
accepted to reserve the living unit; and (3) the balance of the Entrance Fee must be paid 60 days
after the living unit is ready for occupancy, or when the Resident Contract is signed, whichever is
earlier.

[Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank]
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The following table shows the Entrance Fees for the different size living units at the
Community as of January 1, 2018.

Plan 0 Plan 50 Plan 90
Apartments Entrance Fee  Entrance Fee Entrance Fee
2 BR/2BA, 1,165 sq. ft. $164,500 $238,600 $304,400
2BR/1BA, 990 sq. ft. 149,200 216,400 276,100
I1BR/1BA, 850 sq. ft. 120,000 174,000 222,000
Studio, 670 sq. ft. 83,300 120,800 154,100
Combined Apartments
2BR/2BA Royale, 1,835 sq. ft. $248,100 $359,800 $459,100
2BR/2BA Deluxe, 1,700 sq. ft. 240,000 348,000 444,100
2BR/2BA Custom, 1,535 sq. ft. 207,600 301,000 384,000
Cottages
2BR/2BA w/Den, 1,400 sq. ft. $223,400 $323,900 $413,300
2BR/2BA, 1,224 sq. ft. 195,400 283,400 361,500
2BR/1BA, 1,154 sq. ft. 184,200 267,100 340,700
IBR/1BA, 928 sq. ft. 145,600 211,100 269,400
Duplex Cottages
2BR/2BA w/Study 2,264 sq. ft. $379,500 $550,300 $702,100
2BR/2BA w/Study, 2,143 sq. ft. 359,300 521,000 664,700
2BR/2BA w/ Study, 2,018 sq. ft. 338,300 490,600 625,900
2BR/2BA w/ Study, 1,910 sq. ft. 320,300 464,500 592,600
2BR/2BA, 1,892 sq. ft. 317,200 460,000 586,800
2BR/2BA, 1,670 sq. ft. 280,100 406,100 518,100

Source: The Corporation

Entrance Fee Refund Programs

To accommodate the diverse economic situations and desires of the prospective residents of
the Community, the Community currently offers three different entrance fee refund programs
(collectively, the “Entrance Fee Refund Programs”). These programs all offer the same benefits of
residence, with the sole difference being the refund provisions applicable upon termination of
residency in the Community. Common to all Entrance Fee Refund Programs is an introductory
period of five months during which the resident becomes acclimated to the Community (the
“Introductory Period”). Should a resident leave the Community for any reason during the
Introductory Period, the resident will receive a refund of 90% of his or her Entrance Fee. Following
the Introductory Period, the specific terms of the Entrance Fee Refund Program selected shall apply.
A change from one program to another is acceptable prior to occupancy, but after the Resident
Contract is signed, no change from one program to another may be made. Although the Corporation
currently has no plans to offer different Entrance Fee Refund Programs than those described below,
the Corporation could offer different or modified programs than those described below in the future.
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The Plan 0 Refund Program (the “Plan 0 Refund Program”) is designed to accommodate
those residents who are not concerned with estate preservation. The Plan 0 Refund Program provides
for a reduced Entrance Fee amounting to 69% of the Plan 50 Entrance Fee. The resident, or his or
her estate, may receive a refund of the reduced Entrance Fee less 10% during the Introductory
Period. There is no refund in the event of death after the Introductory Period. Should the resident
choose to leave the Community, however, the reduced Entrance Fee will be refunded less a
forfeiture of 10% of the Entrance Fee if the resident leaves during the Introductory Period, plus 2.5%
per month thereafter for 36 additional months. If a resident moves out after this time, there is no
refund for any reason. This program is open to all Applicants. As of January 1, 2018, 95.6% of all
Resident Contracts were entered under the Plan 0 Refund Program.

The Plan 50 Refund Program (the “Plan 50 Refund Program”) provides for a resident, or his
or her estate, to receive a refund of the entire Entrance Fee less 10% during the Introductory Period,
plus 1.5% per month thereafter for 27 additional months. After that time, the refund amount remains
unchanged at 50% of the original Entrance Fee regardless of the length of time the resident resides in
the living unit. This program is restricted to those Applicants who have not attained the age of 81 by
the date of payment of the Entrance Fee. As of January 1, 2018, 4.3% of all Resident Contracts were
entered under the Plan 50 Refund Program.

The Plan 90 Refund Program (the “Plan 90 Refund Program”) is designed to accommodate
the needs of those who wish to provide larger returns to their estates. After the reduction of 10% for
the Introductory Period, there is no further decrease in the amount to be refunded to the resident or
the resident’s estate. This program is restricted to those Applicants who have not attained the age of
71 by the date of payment of the Entrance Fee. In the case of two Applicants for a single living unit,
neither Applicant may have attained the age of 71. As of January 1, 2018, no residents were entered
under the Plan 90 Refund Program.

The Plan 95 Refund Program (the “Plan 95 Refund Program), which was previously offered
to residents of the Community, is no longer offered. Two Community residents are currently entered
under the Plan 95 Refund Program. The Plan 95 Refund Program was designed to accommodate the
needs of those who wished to provide larger returns to their estates. After the reduction of 5% for the
Introductory Period, there is no further decrease in the amount to be refunded to the resident or the
resident’s estate. This program was restricted to those Applicants who had not attained the age of 71
by the date of payment of the Entrance Fee. In the case of two Applicants for a single living unit,
neither Applicant may have attained the age of 71. The Plan 95 was replaced with by the Plan 90
for any new Applicants as of March 2016.

Any refund to which a resident or his or her estate is entitled is payable after all of the
residents of a living unit have died or otherwise departed from the Community in accordance with
the Resident Contract, regardless of whether the living unit has been re-occupied or reserved by
other residents.
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Monthly and Daily Maintenance Fees

The Monthly Maintenance Fee charged varies by the size of the living unit selected and the
number of occupants of the living unit. The Board of Directors of the Corporation may adjust these
fees with 60 days’ prior notice to the residents in order to reflect the actual costs of providing
services contractually guaranteed to the residents. The Corporation, as a non-profit organization,
seeks to keep costs of operation as low as possible while maintaining the high quality of living the
residents of the Community expect.

The Monthly Maintenance Fee for the first person in a living unit includes virtually all the
costs associated with the per living unit operation of the Community. The Monthly Maintenance Fee
for a second occupant in a living unit is based primarily on the expendables, anticipated health costs
(allocated on a per-person basis) and meal plans. As discussed previously, the Monthly Maintenance
Fee for the Community is inclusive of the costs of utilities and includes electricity, air conditioning,
heat, water and sewer fees, marking a distinction between the Community and many of its
competitors.

It is the policy of the Board of Directors of the Corporation to avoid asking any resident to
leave because of an inability to pay, provided such inability is due to no fault of the resident and
provided such action does not jeopardize the financial stability of the Community.

The Monthly Maintenance Fee becomes payable at the time the keys to the living unit are
provided to the resident or 60 days after notice that the living unit is ready for occupancy, whichever

is earlier, and is paid monthly in advance.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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The following table shows the Monthly Maintenance Fee for different size living units at the
Community as of January 1, 2018 (changes to fees traditionally occur on January 1).

Monthly Maintenance Fee

Single Double
Apartments
2 BR/2BA, 1,165 sq. ft. $2,720 $3,776
2BR/1BA, 990 sq. ft. 2,490 3,546
1BR/1BA, 850 sq. ft. 2,295 3,351
Studio, 670 sq. ft. 1,904 2,960
2BR/2BA Custom, 1,535 sq. ft. 3,110 4,166
2BR/2BA Deluxe, 1,700 sq. ft. 3,385 4,441
2BR/2BA Royale, 1,835 sq. ft. 3,536 4,592
Cottages
2BR/2BA w/ Den, 1,400 sq. ft. $2,983 $4,039
2BR/2BA, 1,224 sq. ft. 2,812 3,868
2BR/1BA, 1,154 sq. ft. 2,696 3,752
1BR/1BA, 928 sq. ft. 2,340 3,396
2BR/2BA w/ Study, 2,018 sq. ft. 3,728 4,784
2BR/2BA w/Study, 2264 sq. ft. 3,810 4,866
2BR/2BA w/ Study, 1,910 sq. ft. 3,672 4,728
2BR/2Baw/Study, 2,143 sq. ft. 3,736 4,792
2BR/2BA, 1,670 sq. ft. 3,305 4,361
2BR/2BA, 1892, sq. ft. 3,369 4,425

Source: The Corporation

The following table shows the Daily Room Rate for the different sizes of the assisted living
apartment units as of January 1, 2018.

Assisted Living Daily Room Rate Daily Room Rate
Units Apartments (Single Resident) (Couple)
702 sq. feet $151 $250
634 sq. feet 144 244
462 sq. feet 139 N/A

Source: The Corporation
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The Board of Directors of the Corporation has historically reviewed the Monthly and Daily
Maintenance Fees during its review of the annual budget. To sustain the expected standards of its
residents, increases of fees have occurred annually. The percentage increases in the Monthly
Maintenance Fee for the years January 1, 2014 through January 1, 2018 were as follows:

Source: The Corporation

Skilled Nursing

Year
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

Monthly Maintenance Fee
Increase from Previous Year

3.0%

3.5
3.5
3.5
3.5

The following table sets forth the average daily rate for the semi-private skilled nursing
facility and payor class by percentage as of January 1 for the years 2014 through 2018 as

follows:

As of
January 1,

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

Daily Average

Source: The Corporation

Profile of Residents

Rate

81.00
85.00
90.00
93.00
96.00

Medicare

6.6%
6.8%
5.6%
5.7%
4.9%

Private
Pay

93.4%
93.2%
94.4%
94.3%
95.1%

The target market for the Community is retired military officers and their spouses. The
current make-up of the Community’s residents is approximately 51% Army Officers (and their
spouses), 47% Air Force Officers (and their spouses) and 2% Officers from the Navy, Coast Guard
and Marines (and their spouses). This target group has many advantages over other retired groups:

1) Military officers receive retirement pay calculated based on their number of years of service.
After 20 years of service, officers receive of 50% of their base pay at the time of retirement.
After 30 years of service, officers receive 75% of their base pay at the time of retirement.
The rank most common among the Community’s residents is the rank of Colonel, which is
typically associated with 30 years of service.
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2) The retirement pay received by military officers is adjusted upward each year with the
Consumer Price Index at the same cost of living adjustment used for Social Security
adjustments.

3) Retired career military officers are eligible for TRICARE for Life, which covers most costs
associated with healthcare not covered by Medicare, including prescription drugs, enabling
the Community’s residents to maintain significantly lower health care costs than most
retirees in the United States, a benefit afforded to them based on their military service. See
“Facilities and Services - Resident Benefits” above.

4) Retired career military officers have moved often in their military careers (averaging every
three years in the Army) and many have been stationed at military installations in or near the
vicinity of the Community over the course of their service. This unique characteristic of
retired military officers enables the Community to more easily market to prospective
residents outside of the immediate market area.

Source: The Corporation

Cancellation Rights

Prior to occupancy, an individual desiring a refund must request it in writing from the
Corporation. If the individual has made only the Deposit, the entire amount, without interest, will be
refunded within 90 days after receiving the request. If a Down Payment has been received, it will be
refunded without interest within 90 days after receiving the request. Payments made for special
modifications or features in the living unit authorized by the resident cannot be returned.

After occupancy, a resident may terminate the Resident Contract by providing the
Community with a 60-day prior written notice. The resident continues to be responsible for the
Monthly Maintenance Fee until all of the resident’s possessions are removed from the living unit or
the 60-day period expires, whichever is later.

SELECTED MARKET INFORMATION

Market Area

The Community considers its primary marketing area as the metropolitan areas of San
Antonio, Austin, Fort Hood and Georgetown, Texas. Two-thirds of the residents in the Community
come from these geographical areas. The Community, however, has a national draw and considers
the rest of the United States to be its secondary marketing area. One-third of the current residents of
the Community and approximately the same number of Priority List holders come from areas outside
the primary marketing area.

The Community maintains an aggressive marketing program that has sustained a strong
occupancy rate throughout the history of the Community. Primary marketing tools utilized are the
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Community’s website: www.armyresidence.org; monthly advertisement in the Military Officer’s
Association of America magazine and the four service academies’ magazines; an outreach program
to other military officer organizations; and referrals from current residents.

The Corporation has recently hired a new Sales Director and a new
Communications/Marketing Director. The Corporation expects to continue to strengthen the
Community’s sales and marketing program.

Competitors and Other Senior Living Options

Management believes that because of the uniqueness of its target market (retired career
military officers and their spouses, widows and widowers), the Community must consider its
competition on a national basis. The Community’s location near large, active military bases where
officers have and continue to serve provides a concentration of qualified prospects in the Primary
Market, as well as a great historical connection to qualified officers who currently live in the
Secondary Market. Two other large continuing care retirement communities that historically served
an exclusively military market exist within a 100-mile radius of the Community. A number of
additional military-oriented communities exist throughout the United States and have been
considered in the development of the Community's marketing strategy. A brief description of the
competitors in the primary and secondary markets is provided below.

Primary Market

Blue Skies of Texas East & Blue Skies of Texas West formerly Air Force Villages I & 11, are
located on the southwestern side of San Antonio, Texas. It is a non-profit Continuing Care
Retirement Community and viewed as the principal competitor to the Army Residence Community.
It was established by the Air Force Officer Wives Club for USAF widows and then the community
expanded to all military branches for officers, their spouses and/or widows. In 2012, the community
expanded eligibility to those without a military service background. Blue Skies East, built in 1968,
underwent a significant revitalization effort in 2009/2010. Blue Skies East has 80 skilled nursing
beds, 24 assisted living units and 302 independent living residences. Blue Skies West, built in 1987
is currently undergoing significant renovations to cottages and apartments. The West campus
consists of 444 independent living units, 36 assisted living units, 47 skilled nursing beds and 72
memory care beds. As of September 30, 2017, Blues Skies East and Blue Skies West had a
combined total independent living occupancy rate reported to be 80%.

Secondary Market

There are a number of additional military-oriented retirement communities throughout the
United States that compete with the Community. Over time many of these communities have
evolved from serving a specific branch of the service, to being open to all branches of the armed
services as well as any government service workers, while others have opened their communities to
the general public.

1. Altavita, formerly known as Air Force Village West, is located in Riverside,
California. The community was constructed in 1984 and opened in 1989. The campus is on 221
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acres. It includes 55 assisted living units, 35 memory care beds with census at 80% as of January
2018. They have 59 skilled nursing beds with census at 68% as of January 2018. The Independent
Living consists of a combination of 440 apartment and cottages. The current Independent Living
census is at 55% as of January 2018. Altavita no longer requires its residents to have a military
affiliation.

2. Paradise Valley Estates, a non-profit Life Plan Community opened in 1997 in
Fairfield, California. The community initially served only retired and honorably discharged
uniformed service officers, their spouses, widows and widowers. It is now open to all individuals
that otherwise meet their eligibility requirements. The community has 322 independent living
residences, 63 assisted living units, 18 memory care units and 60 skilled nursing beds. The census is
at 97% as of January 2018. Currently, they are pre-marketing to build 70 Independent Living
residences additional 8 acres.

3. Fleet Landing is located in Atlantic Beach, Florida. The CCRC community opened
in 1990 and includes 64 long term skilled nursing beds, 76 assisted living units and 24 memory care
beds. Independent Living consists of 354 residences: 164 apartments and 190 cottage homes. The
community has a reported occupancy close to 100% as of January 2018. While originally exclusive
to military service members, Fleet Landing changed its admission criteria in 2003 to welcome non-
military individuals.

4. Knollwood is a CCRC located in Washington, D.C. on 16 acres. The facility was
constructed in 1962 and includes 160 Independent living apartments, 43 assisted living units and 67
skilled nursing beds to include 33 memory care units. The census is at 94% as of January 2018.
Originally, Knollwood was known as Army Distaff Hall and served only the widows of Army
officers. In 1989, eligibility for residency was expanded to both male and female officers, as well as
their spouses and certain other female family members and in 2013, the Knollwood community was
opened to male family members of retired officers.

5. Patriot's Colony in Williamsburg, Virginia opened in 1996 and is on 90 acres. Itisa
55+ CCRC which includes 182 independent living residences, 60 skilled nursing beds, 48 assisted
living apartments and 20 memory care units. Reported occupancy at Patriot’s Colony is close to
100% as of January 2018. The continuum of care services is open to the public for direct entry
admission. In other words, there is no "career eligibility criteria" for assisted living, memory care or
skilled nursing care as there is for independent living. Patriots Colony residences are reserved for
retired and honorably discharged officers of the seven uniformed services and retired and former
civilian employees of the federal government with grade GS-7 & above, as well as their spouses,
widows and widowers.

6. The Fairfax was opened in 1989 by the nonprofit Army Retirement Residence
Foundation-Potomac (ARRF-P) as a community for retired military officers and their spouses. It
was originally owned and operated by Marriott and then in 2003 taken over by Sunrise Senior
Living. It is located in Fort Belvoir, Virginia and they are open to non-military retirees and/or
federal government retirees. It is a Life Care community with 382 independent living residences
with 35 separate cottages. The 60 acres community includes 52 assisted living units, 56 skilled
nursing beds and 23 memory care units. The occupancy is at 90% as of January 2018. The Fairfax’s
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residents have a military background, but the community is also open to those without military
affiliation.

7. Vinson Hall Retirement Community is a Life Plan Community on 22 acres located in
McLean, Virginia. Vinson Hall Retirement Community is supported by the Navy Marine Coast
Guard Residence Foundation. The facility was constructed in 1969 to serve Navy and Marine Coast
Guard service members. The community consists of 244 Independent Living Hi-rise apartments, 22
assisted living units, 36 memory care beds, 49 skilled nursing beds and with a reported occupancy
close to 100% as of January 2018. Vinson Hall is restricted to commissioned military officers, and
their immediate family, as well as government workers of an equal rank from select agencies.

Source: The Corporation

GENERAL INFORMATION

Insurance

The Corporation maintains insurance in the types and amounts which management believes
to be reasonable and customary in the retirement community industry, including commercial
property coverage of $132,628,966, business income coverage of $15,563,000 and commercial
general and professional liability coverage of $1,500,000 ($500,000 per occurrence), through a Risk
Retention Group.

Accreditation

In 1995, the Community became the first retirement community in San Antonio to be
accredited by the Continuing Care Accreditation Commission (the “CCAC”) of the American
Association of Homes and Services for the Aging and has been re-accredited in 2000, 2005, 2010
and 2015. Accreditation by the CCAC indicates that the Community has been carefully evaluated
and found to have met the standards established by industry-wide professionals for continuing care
retirement communities. A strong premium is placed on financial strength and ability to meet future
service obligations to residents.

Licenses and Certifications

The Community is licensed by the Texas Department of Aging and Disability Services. The
Community also maintains 12 certified Medicare beds in its 91-bed skilled care unit. These beds are
maintained to provide residents the opportunity to return to the Community following an approved
Medicare stay in a local hospital.

A-29



Risk Management

The Corporation changed its approach to risk management in January 2000 from an
insurance-based approach to an operational-based approach. The operational-based approach
requires an annual review of operational risk by senior management covering financial, contract,
medical, dining service, employee, transportation and building/structures. This review quantifies risk
inherent in providing the services of a retirement community. The process puts a premium on
identifying risks and mitigating them through best practices and meeting expectations. Those risks
that cannot be mitigated through better business practices are then reviewed as to likelihood of
occurrence, dollar value and the cost of insurance. The Corporation purchases a comprehensive
package of insurance based on the value and likelihood of the risk versus cost, currently keeping a
$50,000 deductible on property and casualty insurance and no deductible on general and
professional liability.

The Corporation has engaged a risk consultant to review the process continually. The
consultant conducts training and inspections of premises, medical records and healthcare practices
for the purpose of identifying and providing early corrective action.

Litigation

There is no litigation pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower or the Corporation,
threatened, which in the opinion of management would materially adversely affect the financial
condition or operation of the Community. In addition, there is no litigation of any nature to which
the Borrower or the Corporation is a party pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower or the
Corporation, threatened, against either of them which in any manner questions the validity or
enforceability of the Master Indenture, the Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Deed of Trust
or the transactions contemplated by the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds.

Environmental Surveys

The Corporation has performed a phase 1 environmental survey on all land and facilities as
part of the due diligence process before purchase. These surveys did not identify any material issues.

SELECTED OPERATING RESULTS

Occupancy

The Community’s position as a low-cost leader in the career military, retired officer, senior
living market is illustrated by the historic occupancy levels for the Community as set forth below for
the fiscal years ending June 30, 2014 through June 30, 2017 and for the six-month period ending
December 31, 2017.
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Independent Assisted Living

Asof  Living (percent Percent Occupied and Skilled
June 30 occupied) Number of Available Beds  Skilled Nursing* Nursing**
2014 93% 93% (on 76 rooms/apts) 63% 86%
2015 96% 95% (on 77 rooms/apts) 60% 83%
2016 92% 90% (on 77 rooms/apts) 53% 76%
2017 91% 93.6% (on 78 rooms/apts) 56% 82%
2017%** 91% 93.3% (on 78 rooms/apts) 53% 81%

Source: The Corporation

*Based on licensed beds.

**Based on paid beds.

*#* Six-month period ending December 31, 2017.

As seen above, the Community’s commitment to its residents and its strong marketing efforts
have allowed the Community to retain its traditionally high occupancy levels.

The occupancy of the Community is dependent on the ability of the Community to attract
new Deposits from prospective residents. The number of new Deposits continues to be in excess of
the number of Living Units turned over at the Community, demonstrating continued demand for the
Community in excess of its residential capacity, as set forth below.

Period ending Percent of

June 30 New Deposits Units Sold Units Sold
2014 75 77 97%
2015 76 43 176%
2016 62 56 111%
2017 56 44 94%

Source: The Corporation

Selected Financial Information

The selected data presented below for, and as of the end of, the 12-month periods ending
June 30, 2017 and 2016 are derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Corporation which are attached hereto as Appendix B. The consolidated financial statements
attached hereto as Appendix B have been audited by Fisher, Herbst & Kemble, P.C., independent
certified public accountants. The selected data presented below for, and as of the end of, the six-
month periods ending December 31, 2017 and 2016, are derived from unaudited consolidated
financial statements of the Corporation. The unaudited consolidated financial statements of the
Corporation for such periods have been prepared on a basis substantially consistent with that of the
audited consolidated financial statements, except that the unaudited consolidated financial
statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States for complete financial statements. Revenues and expenses of
South Texas Army Residence Beverages, Inc., which were less than $105,000 per year during the
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fiscal years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, are included in this data, but are not included in
calculating compliance with the financial covenants under the Master Indenture. South Texas Army
Residence Beverages, Inc. is not a member of the Obligated Group and has no liability with respect
to the Series 2018 Bonds.

The results for the six-month period ended December 31, 2017 are not necessarily indicative
of the results for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018. All of the information provided in this
Appendix A should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of the Corporation
attached as Appendix B to this Official Statement, the related notes and Management’s Discussion
and Analysis provided below.

[Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank]

A-32



Selected Data from Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets

Unrestricted Net Assets:
Resident Cash Operating Revenue
Resident Cash Operating Expenses
Resident Operating Earnings
Non-Cash Operating Revenues net of non-cash expenses
Interest Expense
Investment and Disposal of Assets Gains (Losses)

Loss on extinguishment of debt

(Decrease) Increase in Unrestricted Net Assets
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets:
Investment (Losses) Gains

Net Assets Released from Restriction

(Decrease) Increase in Temporarily Restricted Net Assets

(Decrease) Increase in Net Assets

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments
Accounts and Contributions Receivable
Prepaid and Other
Assets Whose Use is Limited, at Fair Value
Plant, Property and Equipment, net
Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Current Payables and Accruals
Long-Term Debt, less current portion, net accumulated
amortization

Deferred and Refundable Entrance Fees
Other Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
Unrestricted/Designated

Temporarily Restricted

Total Net Assets
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

Year Ended Six-Month Period Ended
December 31

2017 2016 2017 2016
$26,820,156 $26,005,674 $13,411,344 $12,949,499
(24,173,278) (24,162,467) (11,789,089) (12,175,227)
2,646,878 1,843,207 1,622,255 774,272
529,356 885,521 513,605 230,583
(4,085,838) (4,899,069) (1,901,836) (2,316,701)
854,536 823,400 923,590 688,715
(10,214,944) - - (10,214,944)
(10,270,012) (1,346,941) 1,157,614 (10,838,075)
54,190 1,430 32,740 -
(20,467) (31,616) (11,739) (31,616)
33,723 (30,186) 21,001 (31,616)
$(10,236,289) $(1,377,127) $1,178,615 $(10,869,691)

Selected Balance Sheet Data
December 31

2017 2016 2017 2016
$13,090,072 $5,489,919 $7,504,240 $5,313,579
21,005,535 26,183,254 23,912,185 23,395,993
1,323,072 1,781,328 1,324,598 1,803,840
662,602 555,423 703,104 644,198
4,012,411 9,384,343 4,045,003 6,548,147
103,540,763 106,243,797 104,027,740 104,935,010

$143,634,455

$149,638,064

$141,516,870

$142,640,767

$6,116,345 $5,616,691 $5,327,290 $4,291,020
91,011,184 86,973,446 89,347,782 91,965,556
51,472,307 51,696,354 51,169,393 51,882,015
1,267,081 1,347,746 726,252 1,368,040
149,866,917 145,634,237 146,570,717 149,506,631
(7,431,253) 2,858,749 (6,283,878) (8,010,942)
1,198,791 1,145,078 1,230,031 1,145,078
(6,232,462) 4,003,827 (5,053,847) (6,865,864)
$143,634,455 $149,638,064 $141,516,870 $142,640,767
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Sources of Revenue

The table below sets forth the total revenues for the Corporation by payor source for the Fiscal
Years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 and for the six-month periods ended December 31, 2017 and
2016.

Sources of Revenue

Fiscal Years Ended Six-Months Ended

June 30 December 31
2017 2016 2017 2016
Medicaid - - - -
Private-Pay $25,248,183 $24,506,412 $12,811,423 $12,179,840
Medicare/Insurance 1,571,973 1,499,262 599,921 769,659
Total Revenues: $26,820,156 $26,005,674 $13,411,344  $12,949,499

Source: The Corporation

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

General

The Corporation has, despite weakened economic conditions, maintained a high occupancy rate
throughout and since the great recession of 2008, and its current occupancy for its independent living
units is 91.4%. Based upon its success in marketing its largest and highest priced living units, the
Corporation constructed a total of 84 large cottages between 2010 and 2016. Over this period, the
Corporation increased its cash position from $24.3 million in Fiscal Year 2008 to $34.1 million in
Fiscal Year 2017 (440 days cash on hand). Management believes the new campus coupled with
providing superior quality services and reasonable pricing has enabled the Community to maintain its
high occupancy. Prudent management and the low cost of living in the San Antonio area has helped the
Community remain one of the lowest cost leaders of military retirement communities. Finally, many
military retirees have had second careers following their military career, which in many cases has
strengthened their financial stability and ability to pay the Entrance Fees and Monthly Maintenance
Fees.

Results from Operations — Fiscal Years Ended 2017 and 2016

Revenue from operations, excluding investment and contribution income, totaled $26,820,156
and $26,005,674 in fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively, a 3.1% increase. Additions to operating
revenues can be chiefly attributed to independent living Monthly Maintenance Fee and healthcare daily
room rate increases of 3.5% in both 2017 and 2016 as well as improved operational efficiencies. The
Community saw independent living occupancy drop from 93% in 2014 to 91% in 2017, but the addition
of more profitable expansion cottage units resulted in higher resident fee revenues. This decrease in
occupancy was primarily due to a movement of residents from existing independent living units to
newly constructed independent living units at Lakeside Landings.
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Resident Cash Operating Expenses from operations totaled $24,173,278 and $24,162,467 in
fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively, an increase of only $10,811 year over year. The small increase
was due to operating efficiencies in staffing, food costs, and other supplies.

Total assets declined to $143,634,455 from $149,638,064 between the fiscal years 2017 and
2016. This $6.0 million decline is attributed to the effect of the 2016 bond refunding transaction on the
balance sheet.

Total liabilities between the fiscal years 2017 and 2016 increased by $4.2 million, also due to
the 2016 bond refunding transaction.

Results from Operations — Six-Month Period Ended December 31, 2017

Revenue from operations, excluding investment and contribution income, totaled $13,411,344
and $12,949,499 in the six month periods ended 2017 and 2016, respectively, a 3.6% increase.
Additions to operating revenues can be chiefly attributed to independent living Monthly Maintenance
Fee and healthcare daily room rate increases of 3.5% in both 2017 and 2016. Improved policies and
procedures to capture ancillary revenue also were important.

Resident Cash Operating Expenses from operations totaled $11,789,089 and $12,175,227 in
fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively, a decrease of 3.2% year over year. In August 2017, previously
accrued deferred compensation was reversed, in an amount of $538,329 after a pending matter
regarding a potential deferred compensation payable was dismissed in the Bexar County District Court.
This reversal reduced the general and administrative expense reported in the above 2017 total by
$538,329.

Other factors evident in 2017 were operating efficiencies in staffing, food costs, and other
supplies. The Community saw the benefit of slight staffing reductions and improved purchasing
procedures in Dining Services.

Total assets declined to $141,516,870 from $142,640,767 between the December 31% balance
sheet dates for 2017 and 2016, respectively. This $1.1 million decline is attributed to expected
depreciation and amortization.

Total liabilities between 2017 and 2016 decreased by $2.9 million, primarily due to long term
debt retirement.

Investment Policy and Procedure

The Boards of Directors of the Borrower and the Corporation have each adopted an investment
policy designed to protect and grow the financial strength of the Community. The investment policy,
while conservative in its overall approach, allows for up to a 60% exposure to equity markets with the
balance being retained as cash or placed in fixed income investments. The investment policy as a whole
embodies the virtues of a diversified portfolio and attempts to avoid speculative investments. The actual
mix of equity to fixed income investments has remained at approximately 45% equity securities, 4%
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cash and 51% fixed income securities. Management of the Borrower believes that this asset mix best
protects the Community’s assets.

Cash and Investments

Cash and investments including current and non-current assets whose use is limited and deposits
escrowed totaled $38,108,018 and $41,057,516 in fiscal years 2017 and 2016, respectively. The
decrease of $2,949,498 was driven by the effect of the 2016 bond refunding transaction, and cash was
also used to pay down debt and fund routine capital projects.

The following table sets forth a summary of cash and unrestricted investments as of June 30,
2017 and 2016.

2017 2016
Cash and Unrestricted Investments $34,095,607 $31,673,173
Daily Requirements $77,422 $79,403
Days of Operating Requirements 440 399

Source: The Borrower.

Historical and Pro Forma Debt Service Coverage Ratios

The following table sets forth, for the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, historical and
pro forma Coverage Ratios of the Obligated Group. The pro forma coverage ratios are based upon the
assumption that the Series 2018 Bonds were issued in the aggregate principal amount of $28,775,000
and the Refunded Bonds were refunded as of the first date of each such fiscal year, and the calculations
underlying such pro forma coverage ratios are based upon the definition of Maximum Annual Debt
Service as set forth in the Master Indenture.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

2017 2016
Service Net Income/(Loss) $2,646,878 $1,843,207
Gain or loss on disposal of asset (275,057) 976,742
Interest & Dividend Income 1,063,011 1,145,548
Realized Gains/Loss Realized (Losses) 2,055,673 (1,023,280)
Net Entrance Fees Received 5,387,315 7,655,283
Net Cash Available for Debt Service $10,877,820 $10,597,500
Historical Maximum Annual Debt Service $5,606,192 $5,606,192
Historical Coverage Ratio 1.94 1.89
Pro Forma Maximum Annual Debt Service $5,605,600 $5,605,600
Pro Forma Coverage Ratio 1.94 1.89

Source: The Borrower.
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Swap Policy

The Finance Committee of the Board of Directors of the Borrower adopted the Army
Retirement Residence Supporting Foundation Swap Policy (the “Policy”). The purpose of the Policy is
to establish guidelines for the execution and management of the Borrower’s interest rate and other
swaps, caps, options, basis swaps, rate locks, total return swaps and other similar products and related
agreements (collectively, “Swap Transactions”). The Policy confirms the commitment of the Board of
Directors of the Borrower to adhere to sound financial and risk management practices.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Borrower will not enter into speculative Swap Transactions. The
Policy sets forth the manner in which the Borrower shall enter into transactions involving Swap
Transactions. The Policy requires the Borrower to determine, from time to time, existing and potential
exposure to relevant counterparties with respect to any Swap Transaction. The Policy sets standards for
permitted instruments, risk analysis, procurement, swap counterparties, execution and ongoing
management, swap documentation, termination provisions and reporting and disclosure.

The Borrower has previously entered into Swap Transactions but has no Swap Transaction
pending at this time.

Other Indebtedness

Upon the issuance of the Series 2018 Bonds and the refunding of the Refunded Bonds, the
Borrower and the Corporation, as members of the Obligated Group, will have outstanding $2,380,000
of Outstanding Series 2010 Bonds and $54,660,000 of the Series 2016 Bonds. Other than the Series
2018 Bonds, the Borrower and the Corporation do not currently intend to incur any additional long-term
indebtedness.

FUTURE PLANS

The Borrower and the Corporation do not contemplate any future construction or development
plans at this time, outside of normal maintenance of the Community. However, the Borrower and the
Corporation have coordinated with consultants in the past to study the best use of the Community’s
remaining undeveloped land, to be in a position to respond to changes in the market that may occur in
the future.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors
The Army Residence Community and Affiliate
San Antonio, Texas

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Army Residence Community and Affiliate
which comprise of the consolidated statements of financial position as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the
related statements of activities and changes in net assets, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the
related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.



Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of The Army Residence Community and Affiliate as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and
the changes in its net assets and its cash tlows for the years then ended, in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

Report of Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a
whole. The accompanying supplementary information is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the consolidated financial statements. 'The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
auditing standards. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Ao, Rkt 2 tomlele, P.C.

San Antonio, Texas
August 31, 2017



THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

June 30, 2017 2016
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,090,072 $ 5,489,919
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
of $145,645 in 2017 and $19,746 in 2016 1,279,325 536,078
Insurance receivable on involuntary conversion 43,747 1,245,250
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 662,602 555,423
Assets whose use is limited and required for current liabilities 403,748 389,453
Total current assets 15,479,494 8,216,123
Assets whose use is limited:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,371,487 2,071,344
Investments, at fair value 1,640,924 7,312,999
4,012,411 9,384,343
Less portion required for current liabilities (403,748) (389,453)
Total noncurrent assets whose use is limited 3,608,663 8,994,890
Investments, at fair value 21,005,535 26,183,254
Property, plant and equipment, net 103,540,763 106,243,797

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Accrued payroll and related items
Accrued interest expense
Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, less current portion

Bond issue costs and premium (discount), net of accumulated amortization

Long-term debt, net of costs, less current portion

Deferred compensation and severance payable
Unearned deposits and down payments
Refundable entrance fees
Deferred entrance fees subject to refund period
Deferred entrance fees - non refundable

Total liabilities

Net Assets
Unrestricted:
Designated
Undesignated
Total unrestricted net assets

Temporarily restricted
Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

$ 143,634,455

$ 149,638,064

$ 901,290 $ 790,886
1,298,748 1,267,363
1,691,307 2,208,442
2,225,000 1,350,000
6,116,345 5,616,691

89,400,000 88,840,000
1,611,184 (1,866,554)
91,011,184 86,973,446
754,456 823,791
512,625 523,955
3,184,978 3,445,559
11,640,897 14,309,390
36,646,432 33,941,405
149,866,917 145,634,237
2,992,117 2,810,303
(10,423,370) 48 446
(7,431,253) 2,858,749
1,198,791 1,145,078
(6,232,462) 4,003,827

$ 143,634,455

§ 149,638,064

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

For the Years Ended June 30, 2017 2016
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Core services income:
Residence center $ 15,809,846 $ 15,288,942
Health care center 7,557,911 7,357,650
Dining service 3,452,399 3,359,082
Core services income 26,820,156 26,005,674
Core services expenses:
Residence center 8,662,936 8,547,939
Health care center 5,071,288 5,149,057
Dining service 6,275,313 6,552,153
General and administrative 4,163,741 3,913,318
Core services expenses 24,173,278 24,162,467
Core services income over expenses 2,646,878 1,843,207
Other operating income:
Investment income 1,063,011 1,145,548
Earned entrance fees 5,622,692 5,508,326
Contributions 63,933 37,422
Net assets released from restriction 20,467 31,616
Total other operating income 6,770,103 6,722,912
Other operating expenses:
Depreciation and amortization 6,028,657 5,678,516
Interest expense and accretion 4,085,838 4,899,069
Amortization of bond issuance costs 212,090 158,875
Total other operating expenses 10,326,585 10,736,460
Total operating loss (909,604) (2,170,341)
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets (275,057) 976,742
Loss on extinguishment of debt (10,214,944) -
Realized gain (loss) on investments 2,055,673 (1,023,280)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments (926,080) 869,938
Decrease in unrestricted net assets (10,270,012) (1,346,941)
TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Contributions 100 -
Investment income 54,090 1,430
Net assets released from restriction (20,467) (31,616)
Change in temporarily restricted net assets 33,723 (30,186)
DECREASE IN NET ASSETS (10,236,289) (1,377,127)
NET ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 4,003,827 5,380,954
NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR $ (6,232,462) $ 4,003,827

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended June 30,

2017

2016

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
to net cash used by operating activities:
Amortization of entrance fees
Net realized investment losses (gains)
Net unrealized investment losses (gains)
Depreciation and amortization
Bond premium amortization, net
Loss on advanced refunding of debt
Amortization of bond issuance cost
Provision for doubtful accounts
(Gain) loss on settlement or disposal of property, plant and equipment
Changes in:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Accrued payroll and related items
Accrued interest expense
Deferred compensation and severance payable
Net cash used by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of investments
Sales and maturities of investments
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Insurance proceeds from involuntary conversion of property, plant and equipment
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from entrance fees, unearned deposits, and down payments
Refunds of entrance fees, unearned deposits, and down payments
Payments to retire long-term debt
Principal payments on long-term debt
Payment for bond issue costs
Proceeds from long-term debt
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash payments for interest
Change in construction and retainage payable
Unearned deposits and down payments transferred to deferred entrance fees
Bond costs payable
Change in insurance receivable on involuntary conversion of property, plant and

equipment

Unrealized gain on 457(b) plan

$ (10,236,289)

$ (1,377,127)

(5,622,692) (5,508,326)
(2,157,489) 1,035,082
977,897 (879,352)
6,028,657 5,678,516
(250,511) (32,722)
10,214,944 -
212,090 158,875
125,691 (9,562)
275,057 (976,742)
(868,938) 128,804
(107,179) 50,121
110,404 (156,495)
31,385 94,182
522,735 (23,525)
(83,547) 58,228
(827,785) (1,760,043)
(67,681,372) (10,074,396)
79,724,970 11,616,487
(7,651,735) (8,320,802)
5,252,558 250,000
9,644,421 (6,528,711)
7,060,200 8,498,708
(1,672,885) (843,425)
(62,804,465) -
(1,350,000) (1,175,000)
(1,199,487) -
59,050,297 -
(916,340) 6,480,283
7,900,296 (1,808,471)
7,561,263 9,369,734

$ 15,461,559 $ 7,561,263

$ 4,843,484 $ 4952316

$ - $  (1,667,346)

$ 2,308,634 $ 1,018,092

3 - $ (10,000)

$ 1,201,503 $ 1,245,250

$ (14,212)  $ (1,263)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Mission — The Army Retirement Residence Foundation — San Antonio’s mission is to provide the
finest atmosphere for retirement living to career military officers, spouses, widows and widowers. The
Community allows residents to be as independent as possible, yet free to use the Community’s
services and amenities as they wish — all at the most reasonable cost commensurate with the offering
of first class quality services.

Organization — The Army Retirement Residence Foundation — San Antonio was incorporated in the
District of Columbia in July of 1982, dba The Army Residence Community (“ARC”), to provide
housing and services for retired military officers and their spouses (“Residents”). ARC is located on
150+ acres in northeast San Antonio, Texas and is comprised of 467 independent living cottages and
apartments, 78 assisted living rooms and a 91 bed skilled nursing facility. South Texas Army
Residence Beverages (“STARB”), a wholly owned subsidiary of ARC, was incorporated in The State
of Texas in 1998. STARB was formed to provide beer and wine services to ARC. Army Retirement
Residence Supporting Foundation (“ARRSF”), an affiliate of ARC, was formed in The State of Texas
in 2004. ARRSF was formed to hold and manage the capital assets and related debt.

Residents enter into a life care contract and pay an entrance fee. Residents are also required to pay
monthly maintenance fees and together with the payment of entrance fees are entitled to a lifetime of
certain services and use of the facilities.

ARC and ARRSF are equal members of an obligated group making both corporations equally
responsible for bond debt and all terms contained in the Master Trust indenture.

Consolidation Policy — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ARC,
subsidiary STARB and affiliate ARRSF. The ARC leases from ARRSF facilities in a self renewing
lease arrangement. The inter-company lease payments are eliminated in the consolidation and are
subordinate to the bonds. Additionally, all other significant inter-company accounts and transactions
are eliminated in consolidation. Collectively these entities are referred to as the Organization.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. The amortization of entrance fees, allowance for
doubtful accounts, and estimates of the obligation to provide future services represent significant
estimates made in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents include currency on hand, demand deposits,
and certificates of deposit with original maturities of three months or less.




THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Resident Accounts Receivable and Revenue Recognition — Residents are obligated to pay monthly
service fees and food service charges. Such fees are recognized as revenue on the accrual basis.
Health care fees are recognized as revenue on the accrual basis based on actual usage and are billed at
standard daily billing rates. Resident accounts receivable are considered past due on the first business
day of the month following invoicing. The majority of the receivables outstanding as of June 30, 2017
and 2016 are due from Medicare and private pay residents temporarily occupying the healthcare
center.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — The allowance for doubtful accounts is established as losses are
estimated to have occurred through a provision for bad debts charged to earnings. Losses are charged
against the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of a receivable is confirmed.
Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance. The allowance for doubtful accounts is
evaluated on a regular basis by management and is based on historical experience and specifically
identified questionable receivables. The evaluation is inherently subjective as it requires estimates that
are susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available. At June 30, 2017 and
2016, an allowance for doubtful accounts of $145,645 and $19,746 in 2017 and 2016, respectively, has
been established.

Investments — Investments are included on the accompanying consolidated statements of financial
position in investments and assets whose use is limited. Investments consist of commercial paper,
equities, government-backed securities, and certificates of deposit with maturities greater than three
months.

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values and all investments in debt
securities are reported at fair value based on quoted market values with gains and losses included in
the consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets.

Interest and dividends, realized and unrealized gains and losses from investment transactions are
initially recorded as unrestricted, temporarily restricted, or permanently restricted, based on donor-
imposed restrictions, if any, and are reflected as net assets released from restrictions in the
consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets to the extent amounts become available
for use during the period. Realized gains and losses are determined using the specific-identification
method.

Assets Whose Use Is Limited or Restricted — Assets designated by the ARRSF and ARC Board of
Directors (the Board), restricted as to use by third-party donors, or limited by use under the terms of
the bond trust, are classified as assets whose use is limited. Assets with third party restrictions are
classified as restricted assets.

Capitalization of Interest — Interest on bond funds payable during the construction period, net of
earnings on those proceeds, is capitalized; all other interest is expensed as incurred. No interest was
capitalized into construction in progress for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.




THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Bond Issuance Costs — Bond issue costs are amortized over the term of the related financing
agreements on the effective interest rate method.

Property. Plant, and Equipment — Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method based upon the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
estimated life of buildings and improvements is 40 years, and the estimated life of furniture, fixtures,
and equipment is between 5 and 10 years. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to
costs and expensed as incurred, while expenditures for renewal and betterments are capitalized. Upon
retirement or replacement, the cost of capitalized assets and the related accumulated depreciation is
eliminated with the resulting gain or loss recognized.

Unearned Deposits — Amounts paid by prospective residents in order to reserve a place on the waiting
list for available units and/or to reserve a specific living unit. Unearned deposits are fully refundable
upon written request by the prospective resident.

Unearned Down Payment — Initially, prospective residents remit a down payment equal to 10% of
the entrance fee for the selected living unit. Down payments on entrance fees are fully refundable, less
a small administrative fee, upon written request by the prospective resident.

Refundable and Deferred Entrance Fees — The ARC offers three Entrance Fee Programs: Plan 90,
Plan 50, and Plan 0. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, approximately 95% of contracts were Plan 0.
Plan 95 was no longer offered as of February 29, 2016 and was replaced by Plan 90 starting March 1,
2016. Plan 90 and Plan 50 are designed to provide a refund to the resident of a portion of the entrance
fee paid. Under all three plans, 90% of the entrance fee is refunded if the resident passes away or
leaves the ARC within the first 5 months of move-in. Effective March 1, 2016, the ARC recognizes
the non-refundable 10% (changed from 5% on March 1, 2016) of the entrance fees immediately upon
move-in as an administrative fee. Deferred entrance fees-non-refundable are amortized into income
over the expected life of the resident matching revenues with expense obligation over the life of the
contract holder.

Under Plan 90, there is no further decrease in the amount to be refunded to the resident after the initial
10%, creating a refundable liability of 90% of the entrance fee.

Under Plan 50, a resident receives a refund of the entrance fee less 10% during the 5-month
introductory period, which further decreases 1.5% per month for the next 27 consecutive months,
creating a refundable liability of 50% of the original entrance fee and the temporary refundable portion
amortizes into deferred entrance fees-non refundable.

Under Plan 0, the refund liability of the original entrance fee is decreased by 2.5% for the next 36
months and the temporary refundable portion amortizes into deferred entrance fees-non refundable;
however, there is no refund to the resident in the event of death after the 5-month introductory period.



THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Net Assets — The Organization reports information regarding its consolidated statements of financial
position and consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets according to three classes
of net assets (unrestricted net assets, temporarily restricted net assets, and permanently restricted net
assets) based upon the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

Restricted and Unrestricted Revenue and Support — The Organization recognizes contributions
received as revenue the earlier of the year the unconditional promise to give was made or the
contribution was received. Trusts, gift annuities or pooled income gifts are recognized as revenue in
the year established. Contributions received are recorded as unrestricted, temporarily restricted or
permanently restricted support depending on the existence or nature of any donor restrictions.

Revenues are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets unless the use of the assets received is
limited by donor-imposed restrictions. Restricted support is reported as an increase in temporarily or
permanently restricted net assets, depending on the nature of the restriction. When a restriction
expires, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the
statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions.

Service Fee Revenue — Residence center, health care center, and other monthly service fees are billed
and recognized as income each month as earned.

Advertising — Advertising costs totaling $52,599 and $29,826 in 2017 and 2016, respectively, were
expensed as incurred.

Federal Income Taxes — The ARC, STARB, and ARRSF are not-for-profit corporations as described
in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) and are exempt from federal income
taxes pursuant to Section 501(a) of the Code. Under current accounting standards, an organization
must recognize the tax benefit associated with tax positions taken for tax return purposes when it is
more-likely-than-not that the position will not be sustained. ARC’s management believes it has no
material uncertain tax positions and, accordingly it will not recognize any related liability. For the
years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, ARC did not recognize any tax related interest or penalties.

Tax years 2014-2017 remain open to examination by the taxing jurisdictions to which ARC is subject,
and these periods have not been extended beyond the applicable statute of limitations.

Commitments and Contingencies — Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims,
assessments, litigation, and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount of the assessment can be reasonably estimated.

Obligation to Provide Future Services — The obligations to provide contract services is calculated by
estimating the present value of future net cash flows, excluding capital expenditures, plus the
depreciation of facilities to be charged over the life of the contracted resident. That obligation is
compared to the unamortized deferred entrance fees to determine whether an additional liability should
be recognized. Based on the Organization’s calculations as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, no significant
additional liability was necessary.




THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Change in_Accounting Principle — In 2017, the Organization adopted the new ASU 2015-03,
“Interest — Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30) — Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance
Costs.” ASU 2015-03 requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be
presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability,
consistent with debt discounts. The recognition and measurement guidance for debt issuance costs are
not affected by the amendments in ASU 2015-03. Previously the debt issuance costs were included as
an asset. Therefore, bond issue costs were reclassified from an asset account to a charge against debt
for both 2017 and 2016.

The following is a summary of the effect of implementation of ASU 2015-03 on the consolidated
statement of financial position for the year ended June 30, 2016:

As Previously As
Reported Reclassified
Total Assets $ 151,780,939  $ 149,638,064
Total Liabilities 147,777,112 145,634,237
2. INVESTMENTS
Investments are classified on the consolidated balance sheet as follows:
2017 2016
Investments whose use is not limited $ 21,005,535 $ 26,183,254
Investments whose use is limited 1,640,924 7.312.999
Total investments $ 22,646,459 $ 33,496,253
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

2. INVESTMENTS (continued)

The carrying amounts of investments and assets whose use is limited and their fair values consist of
the following;:

Fair Value
2017 2016
Level 1
Common stocks $ 8,555,225 $ 14,628,933
Mutual funds 3,050,412 2,987,637
Partnerships 544,617 -
12,150,254 17,616,570
Level 2
United States government and federal agency obligations 5,126,893 8,776,880
Municipal bonds 1,193,649 1,396,885
Corporate bonds 4,175,663 5,251,895
10,496,205 15,425,660
Level 3
Partnerships - 454,023
Total $ 22,646,459 $ 33,496,253

Investment earnings consisted of the following:

2017 2016

Unrestricted Net Assets:

Interest and dividends received $ 1,063,011 $ 1,145,548

Realized gain (loss) on sales of investments 2,055,673 (1,023,280)

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments (926,080) 869,938

Total unrestricted net assets $ 2,192,604 $ 992,206

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets:

Investment income $ 4,091 $ 3,818

Realized gain (loss) on sales of investments 101,816 (11,802)

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments (51,817) 9,414

Total temporarily restricted net assets $ 54,090 $ 1,430
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

2. INVESTMENTS (continued)

The authoritative guidance on fair value measurements defines fair value as the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants. A fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market,
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The price in the principal (or most
advantageous) market used to measure the fair value of the asset or liability shall not be adjusted for
transaction costs. An orderly transaction is a transaction that assumes exposure to the market for a
period prior to the measurement date to allow for marketing activities that are usual and customary for
transactions involving such assets and liabilities; it is not a forced transaction. Market participants are
buyers and sellers in the principal market that are (i) independent, (ii) knowledgeable, (iii) able to
transact and (iv) willing to transact.

The authoritative guidance on fair value measurements requires the use of valuation techniques that are
consistent with the market approach, the income approach and/or the cost approach. The market
approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving
identical or comparable assets and liabilities. The income approach uses valuation techniques to
convert future amounts, such as cash flows or earnings, to a single present amount on a discounted
basis. The cost approach is based on the amount that currently would be required to replace the
service capacity of an asset (replacement costs).

Valuation techniques should be consistently applied. Inputs to valuation techniques refer to the
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Inputs may be
observable, meaning those that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability developed based on market data obtained from independent sources, or unobservable,
meaning those that reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information
available in the circumstances. In that regard, the guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy for
valuation inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Level 1 Inputs — Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 Inputs — Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These include quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets
that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (for
example, interest rates, volatilities, prepayment speeds, loss severities, credit risks and default
rates) or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by
correlation or other means.

Level 3 Inputs — Significant unobservable inputs that reflect an entity’s own assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

2.

INVESTMENTS (continued)

In general, fair value is based upon quoted market prices, where available. If such quoted market
prices are not available, fair value is based upon internally developed models that primarily use, as
inputs, observable market-based parameters. Valuation adjustments may be made to ensure that
financial instruments are recorded at fair value. While management believes the Organization’s
valuation methodologies are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments
could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring and nonrecurring basis
include the following:

Common Stocks, Mutual Funds and Partnerships — Valued at fair value utilizing Level 1 inputs.
Common stocks and mutual funds reflect the closing price reported in the active market in which
the securities are traded.

U.S. Government & Federal Agency, Municipal Bonds, Corporation Bonds and Partnerships —
Valued at fair value utilizing Level 2 inputs. The fair value measurements consider observable
data that may include dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury yield curve,
live trading levels, trade execution data, market consensus prepayments speeds, credit information
and the bond’s terms and conditions, among other things.

The estimated fair value amounts of financial instruments have been determined by the Organization
using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable
judgment is required to interpret data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the
estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Organization could realize
in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation
methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.

The changes in investments measured at fair value for which the Organization has used Level 3 inputs
to determine fair value are as follows:

2017 2016
Beginning balance $ 454,023 $§ 291,798
Sales (205,380) -
Purchases 57,875 142,218
Unrealized gain (43,945) 20,007
Transfer to Level 1 (262,573) -
Ending balance $ - $ 454,023

There were no transfers in or out of Level 3 during the year ended June 30, 2016.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

3. ASSETS WHOSE USE IS LIMITED

Cash and investments, whose use is limited at June 30, 2017 and 2016, are summarized as follows:

By the Trust Indentures:
Bond Sinking Fund - 2007 Series
Bond Sinking Fund - 2010 Series
Reserve Fund - 2007 Series
Reserve Fund - 2010 Series
Capitalized Interest Fund - 2010 Series
Bond Sinking Fund - 2012 A
Bond Sinking Fund - 2012 B
Hamlin Fund - 2012 A
Reserve Fund - 2012 A
Reserve Fund - 2012 B
Reserve Fund - 2016 Series
Bond Sinking Fund - 2016 Series

By Donor:
Resident assistance fund
Gift bonus fund
Scholarship fund
Employee relief fund
Chapel fund
Other:
457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan

2017 2016
$ -8 24,238
- 778,992
1,824,000 1,786,791
278,504 4,779,691
- 2
- 250,049
- 153,844
- 155,532
400,000 109,664
100,000 -
97,663 -
4,326 ;
742,166 696,975
132,803 137,761
222,600 213,197
14,516 13,634
86,706 83,511
109,127 200,462
$ 4,012,411 $ 9,384,343

The Bond Sinking Fund and Debt Reserve Fund are established by the Trust Indenture to set aside

funds to retire the debt.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are summarized as follows at June 30:

2017 2016

Land and improvements $ 8,023464 $ 7,886,901
Buildings and improvements 143,207,792 147,357,051
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4,302,538 4,004,911
Construction-in-process 5,973,643 315,846
Other 356,830 353,180
161,864,267 159,917,889
Less: accumulated depreciation (58,323,504) (53,674,092)
Total $ 103,540,763 $ 106,243,797

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property, plant and equipment are as follows:

2017 2016
Depreciation and amortization expense $ 6,028,657 $§ 5,678,516
The Organization sold and disposed of property, plant and equipment as follows:
2017 2016
Cost of depreciated disposed assets $ 59,073 $ 5,157
Loss recorded on disposed assets unrelated to insurance claim $ (26,261) $ -

During the year ended June 30, 2016, the Organization experienced hail damage to several buildings
and recognized a gain on involuntary conversion of $976,742 based on an insurance claim of
$1,495,250 and a depreciated cost basis of $518,508. During the year ended June 30, 2017, the

Organization recognized a loss on involuntary conversion of $248,796 based on an insurance claim of
$4,051,055 and a depreciated cost basis of $4,299,851.

Insurance claim recognized in FY 2016 $ 1,495,250
Payments received in FY 2016 (250,000)
Receivable as of June 30, 2016 1,245,250
Insurance claim recognized in FY 2017 4,051,055
Payments received in FY 2017 (5,252,558)
Receivable as of June 30, 2017 $ 43,747
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The claims for the hail damage have not been settled. Management of the Organization are in

discussions for complete coverage of losses incurred in 2016.

S.  LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following and has a blended interest rate of 4.09%.

2017 2016
Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation
Refunding Revenue Bonds (Series 2007) $ 18,240,000 § 22,800,000
Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation
Revenue Bonds (Series 2010) 2,785,000 51,920,000
Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation
Revenue Bonds (Series 2012-1) 9,535,000 9,755,000
Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation
Revenue Bonds (Series 2012-2) 5,595,000 5,715,000
Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation
Revenue Bonds (Series 2016) 55,470,000 -
Total 91,625,000 90,190,000
Less: bond issue costs and premium/discount 1,611,184 (1,866,554)
Total long-term debt, net of costs 93,236,184 88,323,446
Less: current portion of long-term debt 2,225,000 1,350,000

Long-term debt, net of costs, less current portion $ 91,011,184 $ 86,973,446

Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation Revenue Refunding Bonds (Series 2016)

On September 20, 2016, the Organization issued $55,470,000 Series 2016 revenue refunding bonds to
partially advance refund its Series 2007 and Series 2010 bonds. The Series 2016 bonds were sold at a
premium of $3,580,297 which is being accounted for using the bond outstanding method. The
advanced refunding resulted in a loss on extinguishment of debt of $10,214,944 recorded in the year
ending June 30, 2017. The loss is comprised of unamortized bond issue costs and unamortized bond
discounts that were written off as of September 20, 2016.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

5.  LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

The calculation of the loss is as follows:

Bond proceeds $ 62,804,465
Debt refunded (52,685,000)
Accrued interest (1,039,870)
Bond costs 1,083,026
Premium/discount 52,323
Total loss on extinguishment of debt $ 10,214,944

The Series 2016 bonds were issued under and pursuant to (i) the Constitution and statutes of the state
of Texas, including the Texas Health Facilities Development Act, Chapter 221, Texas Health and
Safety Code, as amended, in conformity with the provisions, restrictions, and limitations thereof, and
(i) a Bond Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement (Trust Indenture) dates as of September 20,
2016.

The Series 2016 bond proceeds were used by the Organization to:

o Partially refund the Series 2007 and Series 2010 bonds; and

o Pay certain costs of the issuance thereof.

Interest on the Series 2016 bonds is payable semi-annually on each January 15 and July 15. The
coupon rate on the bonds range from 4.00% to 5.00%, with the yield varying based on discount
granted at the original time of commitment to purchase. The effective interest rate on the bonds was
3.90% at June 30, 2017. So long as the Series 2016 bonds are maintained under a book-entry system,
payments of principal, premium, and interest on the Series 2016 bonds will be made when due by The
Bank of New York Trust Company of Texas, N.A., Dallas, Texas, current trustee, to Deposit Trust
Corporation, in accordance with the Trust Indenture.

The stated maturity of the Series 2016 bonds is July 15, 2045. The Series 2016 bonds are subject to
optional redemption by the Organization prior to stated maturity at the call date, July 15, 2026, at par
plus accrued interest.

Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation Revenue Bonds (Series 2012-1 & 2012-2)

The Series 2012-1 and 2012-2 bonds were issued under and pursuant to (i) the Constitution and
statutes of the state of Texas, including the Texas Health Facilities Development Act, Chapter 221,
Texas Health and Safety Code, as amended, in conformity with the provisions, restrictions, and
limitations thereof, and (ii) a Bond Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement (Trust Indenture) dates
as of February 1, 2010.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

5.  LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)
The Series 2012-1 & 2012-2 bond proceeds were used by the Organization to:

« Finance a community expansion of 28 independent-living cottages;
« Provide for a deposit to the debt service reserve fund; and

o Pay certain costs of the issuance thereof.

Interest on the Series 2012-1 & 2012-2 bonds are payable on the first of each month. The coupon rate
on the bonds are variable set at 70% LIBOR, with a floor LIBOR rate of 1.00% LIBOR and ceiling
LIBOR rate of 6.50%, plus an applicable spread set by the Community’s credit rating, 3.60% at the
current rating of BBB- by the Fitch rating agency.

Additionally, these bonds have a servicing fee of 30 basis points annually paid to Hamlin. The
effective interest rate on the bonds was 3.87% at June 30, 2017. So long as the Series 2012-1 and
2012-2 bonds are maintained under a book-entry system, payments of principal, premium, and interest
on the Series 2012 bonds will be made when due by Wells Fargo, current trustee, to Deposit Trust
Corporation, in accordance with the Trust Indenture.

The stated maturity of the Series 2012-1 & 2012-2 is July 1, 2042.

Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation Refunding Revenue Bonds (Series 2010)

The Series 2010 bonds were issued under and pursuant to (i) the Constitution and statutes of the State
of Texas, including the Texas Health Facilities Development Act, Chapter 221, Texas Health and
Safety Code, as amended, in conformity with the provisions, restrictions, and limitations thereof, and
(i1) a Bond Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement (Trust Indenture) dates as of February 1, 2010.

The Series 2010 bond proceeds were used by the Organization to:

o Finance a community expansion of 32 independent-living cottages, 48 assisted living
apartments and a 74,300 square-foot commons area;

« Provide for a deposit to the debt service reserve fund;

o Pay a portion of the interest on the Series 2010 Bonds issued to finance the 2010 Project from
the date of their delivery to February 11, 2013; and

o Pay certain costs of the issuance thereof.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

5.

LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

Interest on the Series 2010 bonds is payable semi-annually on each January 1 and July 1. The coupon
rate on the bonds range from 3.50% to 5.875%, with the yield varying based on discount granted at the
original time of commitment to purchase. The effective interest rate on the bonds was 5.97% at June
30, 2017. So long as the Series 2010 bonds are maintained under a book-entry system, payments of
principal, premium, and interest on the Series 2010 bonds will be made when due by The Bank of New
York Trust Company of Texas, N.A., Dallas, Texas, current trustee, to Deposit Trust Corporation, in
accordance with the Trust Indenture.

The stated maturity of the Series 2010 bonds was July 1, 2045, but is now July 1, 2022 following the
partial refund. The Series 2010 bonds are subject to optional redemption by the Organization prior to

stated maturity at the call date, July 1, 2020, at par plus accrued interest.

Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation Revenue Bonds (Series 2007)

The Series 2007 bonds were issued under and pursuant to (i) the constitution and statutes of the state
of Texas, including the Texas Health Facilities Development Act, Chapter 221, Texas Health and
Safety Code, as amended, in conformity with the provisions, restrictions, and limitations thereof and
(i1) a Bond Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement (Trust Indenture) dated as of January 1, 2007.

The Series 2007 bonds were issued at the request of the Organization in order to:

« Refund the outstanding Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation Series 2002
Revenue Bonds issued in a par amount of $21,560,000 and outstanding in the amount of
$20,615,000 (the “Refunded Bonds™);

« Finance a portion of the cost of certain capital projects of the Organization; and

« Fund certain reserves and pay certain costs of the issuance thereof.

Interest on the Series 2007 bonds is payable semiannually on each January 1 and July 1. The coupon
rate on the bonds is 5.00% with the yield varying based on premium paid at the original time of
commitment to purchase. The effective interest rate on the bonds was 4.56% at June 30, 2017. So as
long as the Series 2007 bonds are maintained under a book-entry system, payments of the principal,
premium and interest on the Series 2007 bonds will be made when due by The Bank of New York
Trust Company of Texas, N.A., Dallas, Texas, current trustee, to Deposit Trust Corporation in
accordance with the Trust Indenture.

The stated maturity of the Series 2007 bonds is July 1, 2037.
The terms of the 2007, 2010, 2012 and 2016 bond indentures required that the Organization comply
with certain bond covenants. These covenants include a “Coverage Ratio” and the “Liquidity

Covenant”. As of June 30, 2017, the Organization was in compliance with the required bond
covenants.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

5.  LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

Security for the Bonds — Under the Deeds of Trust, as security for the outstanding secured debt,
including the Series 2007 bonds, the Series 2010 bonds, the Series 2012-1 & 2012-2 bonds, and the
Series 2016 bonds, AARSF (the borrower) has granted to the Bond Trustees liens on certain real
property and a security interest in all personal property of the Borrower. The land subject to the deeds
of trust are subject to permitted encumbrances and the right of the Borrower and the corporation to
obtain a partial release of certain property from the liens of the deeds of trust, and to dispose of assets
under certain conditions.

Annual maturities of the bond payments are as follows:

Year ending June 30,

2018 $ 2,225,000
2019 1,630,000
2020 1,710,000
2021 1,785,000
2022 1,875,000
Thereafter 82,400,000

Total $ 91,625,000

Long-term debt as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 included debt issuance costs, premium/discount and
accumulated amortization/accretion as follows:

2017 2016
Debt issuance costs $ 3,140,843 $ 3,024,382
Accumulated amortization (1,093,597) (881,507)
(Premium) discount (2,918,435) 213,161
Accumulated amortization/accretion (739,995) (489.,482)
Unamortized debt issuance costs and premium $ (1,611,184) $§ 1,866,554

The interest expense for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, was as follows:

2017 2016
Interest expense $ 4326349 $§ 4,928,791
Accretion (250,511) (32,722)
Bond cost and rating fees 10,000 3,000
Total interest expense $ 4,085838 $ 4,899,069
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

5.  LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

In fiscal year 2015, it was discovered that the Series 2012 bond draw fee of $57,150 was paid twice in
prior years. The duplicated amount reduced bond costs as of June 30, 2015 with the offsetting amount
recorded as prepaid consulting fees to be used in future periods for consulting services provided by the
investment advisor. The remaining prepaid balance at June 30, 2017 and 2016 totaled $13,977 and
$33,336, respectively.

6. DEFERRED COMPENSATION AND SEVERANCE PAYABLE
The Organization has the following plans for deferred compensation and severance:

The first deferred compensation plan is a 457(b) plan. Selected employees of the Organization were
allowed to defer an amount equal to one pay period’s salary for each year of service after January 1,
2006. The amounts will be paid to the employee upon termination of employment. The Organization
elected to discontinue the plan as of January 1, 2010. Funds set aside remain the assets of the
Organization until they are paid out, and the employee would be considered ordinary creditors falling
behind bondholders if the Organization was to be dissolved. The Organization has estimated the
deferred compensation payable to these employees is $109,127 and $200,462 at June 30, 2017 and
2016, respectively. The Organization has set aside funds with the same company that also administers
the 403(b) retirement plan and is fully funded.

The second deferred compensation plan was a contingent non-qualified plan, entered into in March
1999 with the former Chief Financial Officer. The Organization did not set aside funds for this plan as
it is not a qualified plan, but the possible liability was recorded in fiscal year 2016. As of June 30,
2017 and 2016 the contingent deferred compensation liability was $538,329. Management of the
Organization continued to pursue all options in settling the deferred compensation payable.
Subsequent to June 30, 2017, the matter was dismissed in the Bexar County District Court. No funds
have been or will be exchanged and management will reverse the deferred compensation liability in
fiscal year 2018 when the deferred compensation matter was dismissed.

The Organization replaced the 457(b) deferred compensation plan with a discretionary severance plan

which is contingent upon approval at the time of separation of the Board of Directors. As of June 30,
2017 and 2016 the discretionary severance plan was $107,000 and $85,000, respectively.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

7.

10.

RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Restricted net assets consisted of the following:

2017 2016
Resident assistance fund $ 742,166 $ 696,975
Gift bonus fund 132,803 137,761
Greer employee scholarship fund 222,600 213,197
Employee relief fund 14,516 13,634
Chapel fund 86,706 83,511
Total temporarily restricted net assets $ 1,198,791 $ 1,145,078

DESIGNATED NET ASSETS

During the year ended June 30, 1998, the Organization received a contribution of $1,029,796 in cash
and debt securities, which the Board has designated for capital improvements. The balance in this
account as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $1,860,866 and $1,747,792, respectively.

Additionally, amounts have been donated to a Resident Assistance Fund to help offset payments due
the ARC by residents in need. Cumulative unrestricted earnings related to these funds have been
Board designated for the same purpose as described above. The balance in this account as of June 30,
2017 and 2016 was $1,131,251 and $1,062,511, respectively.

RETIREMENT PLAN

Effective January 1, 2008, the Organization established a 403(b) retirement plan for its employees
based on service and age requirements with discretionary employer matching contributions in which
the employee is fully vested after 5 years. For the year ended June 30, 2017, the Organization paid a
match of approximately $146,000. For the year ended June 30, 2016, the Organization paid a match of
approximately $105,000.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Credit Risk — The Organization maintains cash balances at several financial institutions located in San
Antonio, Texas in excess of the amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation of
$250,000 per depositor. Management believes exposure to credit loss is minimal due to the
creditworthiness of the financial institutions holding the deposits. As of June 30, 2017, the maximum
credit risk exposure was $5,747,888.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

10.

11.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

Food Service Contract — The Organization entered into a contract with a vendor to provide food
services to the Organization for a period of 10 years. The contract also provides up to $750,000 of
improvements, renovation or capital equipment purchases to be provided by the Vendor. The
Organization is charged depreciation expense from the vendor. In the event the Organization ceases
business with the vendor, the Organization is required to purchase the full-unamortized/undepreciated
value plus interest to the vendor.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE

In 2014, the FASB issued a comprehensive new revenue recognition standard that will supersede
substantially all existing revenue recognition guidance. The new standard’s core principle is that an
entity will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. In doing so, entities will need to use more judgment and make more estimates than under
existing guidance. These may include identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating
the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction
price to each separate performance obligation. Early adoption is permitted for annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2016. The new authoritative guidance will be effective for
annual and interim reporting periods ending after December 15, 2019. Management is evaluating the
amended guidance but expects the adoption will have a significant impact to the Organization’s
financial statements.

In 2016, the FASB issued authoritative guidance regarding the presentation of financial statements for
non-profit entities. = The accounting standards update changes presentation and disclosure
requirements for not-for-profit entities to provide more relevant information about their resources and
the changes in those resources to donors, grantors, creditors, and other users. Under the new standard,
non-for-profit entities will:

(1) Present only two classes of net assets on the face of the statement of financial position, net
assets with donor restrictions and net assets without donor restrictions. This will replace the
current convention of reporting net assets as unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and
permanently restricted.

(2) Present the change in each of the two classes of net assets (noted in item 1) rather than that
of the currently three required three classes.

(3) No longer be required to present or disclose the indirect method if presenting the cash flow

statement using the direct method (presentation of the indirect method alone is still
permitted).
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

11.

RECENTLY ISSUED AUTHORITATIVE GUIDANCE (continued)

(4) Provide enhanced disclosures about:

)

(6)

a.

amounts and purposes of governing board designations, appropriations, and similar
actions that result in self-imposed limits on the use of resources without donor-
imposed restrictions as of the end of the period;

the composition of net assets with donor restrictions at the end of the period and how
the restrictions affect the use of resources;

qualitative information that communicates how a non-for-profit entity manages its
liquid resources available to meet cash needs for general expenditures within one year
of the balance sheet date;

quantitative information, either on the face of the balance sheet or in the notes, and
additional qualitative information in the notes as necessary, that communicates the
availability of a non-for-profit entity’s financial assets at the balance sheet date to
meet cash needs for general expenditures within one year of the balance sheet date.
Availability of a financial asset may be affected by (1) its nature, (2) external limits
imposed by donors, grantors, laws, and contracts with others, and (3) internal limits
imposed by governing board decisions;

amounts of expenses by both their natural classification and their functional
classification either on the face of the statement of activities, as a separate statement,
or in the notes to financial statements;

method(s) used to allocate costs among program and support functions; and

underwater endowment funds, which include required disclosures of (1) a non-for-
profit entity’s policy, and any actions taken during the period concerning
appropriation from underwater endowment funds, (2) the aggregate fair value of such
funds, (3) the aggregate of the original gift amounts (or level required by donor or
law) to be maintained, and (4) the aggregate amount by which funds are underwater
(deficiencies), which are to be classified as part of net assets with donor restrictions.

Report investment return net of external and direct internal investment expenses and no
longer require disclosure of those netted expenses.

Use, in the absence of explicit donor stipulations, the placed-in-service approach for
reporting expirations of restrictions on gifts of cash or other assets to be used to acquire or
construct a long-lived asset and reclassify any amounts from net assets with donor
restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions for such long-lived assets that have been
placed in service as of the beginning of the period of adoption (thus eliminating the current
option to release the donor-imposed restriction over the estimated useful life of the acquired
asset).
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2017 and 2016

11.

12.

RECENTLY ISSUED AUTHORITATIVE GUIDANCE (continued)

This standard will be effective for annual financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2017. The Organization is evaluating the updated standard, but expects the adoption
will have a significant impact on its financial statements with regards to providing enhanced
disclosures about net assets with donor restrictions, expenses, and liquidity.

In 2016, several other Accounting Standards were proposed and approved with effective dates ranging
from fiscal year 2016 to fiscal year 2020. Except as noted above, the new authoritative guidance is
not expected to have a significant impact to the Organization’s financial statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to June 30, 2017, the two outstanding lawsuits the Organization was defending were
dismissed with no financial consideration. See note 6 for discussion of the dismissed litigation related
to deferred compensation.

The Organization has evaluated the potential subsequent events through the date of the opinion of
these financial statements, which is the date the financial statements were available for issuance, and
concluded that there were no other events or transactions occurring during this period that required
recognition or disclosure in the financial statements which were not already disclosed in the notes.
Any event occurring after the issuance date has not been factored into the financial statements being
presented.
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THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

June 30, 2017
Army
The Retirement South Texas
Army Residence Army 2017
Residence Supporting Residence Eliminating Consolidated
Community Foundation Beverages Entries Totals
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,157,879 $ 11,854,721 $ 77,472 $ - $ 13,090,072
Accounts receivable, net 1,123,856 155,469 31,465 (31,465) 1,279,325
Insurance receivable on involuntary conversion - 43,747 - - 43,747
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 648,625 13,977 - - 662,602
Assets whose use is limited and required
for current liabilities - 403,748 - - 403,748
Total current assets 2,930,360 12,471,662 108,937 (31,465) 15,479,494
Assets whose use is limited:
Cash and cash equivalents - 2,371,487 - - 2,371,487
Investments, at fair value 109,127 1,531,797 - - 1,640,924
109,127 3,903,284 - - 4,012,411
Less portion required for current liabilities - (403,748) - - (403,748)
Total noncurrent assets whose use is limited 109,127 3,499,536 - - 3,608,663
Investments, at fair value - 21,005,535 - - 21,005,535
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,240,921 102,299,842 - - 103,540,763
Intercompany receivables 531,474 - - (531,474) -
Investment in subsidiary 107,370 - - (107,370) -
Total assets $ 4919252 $ 139,276,575 $ 108,937 $ (670,309) $ 143,634,455
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Accounts payable and other liabilities $ 714,145 $ 217,043 $ 1,567 $ (31,465) $ 901,290
Accrued payroll and related items 1,298,748 - - - 1,298,748
Accrued interest expense - 1,691,307 - - 1,691,307
Intercompany payables - 531,474 - (531,474) -
Current portion of long-term debt - 2,225,000 - - 2,225,000
Total current liabilities 2,012,893 4,664,824 1,567 (562,939) 6,116,345
Long-term debt, less current portion - 89,400,000 - - 89,400,000
Bond issue costs and premium (discount), net - 1,611,184 - - 1,611,184
Long-term debt, net of costs, less current portion - 91,011,184 - - 91,011,184
Deferred compensation and severance payable 754,456 - - - 754,456
Unearned deposits and down payments - 512,625 - - 512,625
Refundable entrance fees - 3,184,978 - - 3,184,978
Deferred entrance fees subject to refund period - 11,640,897 - - 11,640,897
Deferred entrance fees - non refundable - 36,646,432 - - 36,646,432
Total liabilities 2,767,349 147,660,940 1,567 (562,939) 149,866,917
Net Assets
Unrestricted:
Designated - 2,992,117 - - 2,992,117
Undesignated 2,151,903 (12,575,273) 107,370 (107,370) (10,423,370)
Total unrestricted net assets 2,151,903 (9,583,156) 107,370 (107,370) (7,431,253)
Temporarily restricted - 1,198,791 - - 1,198,791
Total net assets 2,151,903 (8,384,365) 107,370 (107,370) (6,232,462)
Total liabilities and net assets $ 4919252 $ 139,276,575 $ 108,937 $ (670,309) $ 143,634,455

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

27



THE ARMY RESIDENCE COMMUNITY AND AFFILIATE

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Core services income:
Residence center
Health care center
Dining service
Core services income

Core services expenses:
Residence center
Health care center
Dining service
General and administrative
Core services expenses

Core services income over expenses

Other operating income:
Investment income
Earned entrance fees
Contributions
Lease revenue
Net income from subsidiary
Net assets released from restriction
Total other operating income

Other operating expenses:
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense and accretion
Amortization of bond issuance costs

Total other operating expenses

Total operating income (loss)

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Realized gain on investments
Unrealized loss on investments
Increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets

TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Contributions
Investment income
Net assets released from restriction
Change in temporarily restricted net assets

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS
NET ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR

Army
The Retirement South Texas
Army Residence Army 2017
Residence Supporting Residence Eliminating Consolidated
Community Foundation Beverages Entries Totals
14,400,345 $ 1,319,895 $ 89,606 $ - $ 15,809,846
7,557,911 - - - 7,557,911
3,452,399 - - - 3,452,399
25,410,655 1,319,895 89,606 - 26,820,156
9,348,936 - - (686,000) 8,662,936
5,071,288 - - - 5,071,288
6,226,113 - 49,200 - 6,275,313
3,760,972 396,978 5,791 - 4,163,741
24,407,309 396,978 54,991 (686,000) 24,173,278
1,003,346 922,917 34,615 686,000 2,646,878
- 1,063,011 - - 1,063,011
- 5,622,692 - - 5,622,692
63,933 - - - 63,933
- 686,000 - (686,000) -
34,615 - - (34,615) -
- 20,467 - - 20,467
98,548 7,392,170 - (720,615) 6,770,103
428,643 5,600,014 - - 6,028,657
- 4,085,838 - - 4,085,838
- 212,090 - - 212,090
428,643 9,897,942 - - 10,326,585
673,251 (1,582,855) 34,615 (34,615) (909,604)
- (275,057) - - (275,057)
- (10,214,944) - - (10,214,944)
- 2,055,673 - - 2,055,673
- (926,080) - - (926,080)
673,251 (10,943,263) 34,615 (34,615) (10,270,012)
- 100 - - 100
- 54,090 - - 54,090
- (20,467) - - (20,467)
- 33,723 - - 33,723
673,251 (10,909,540) 34,615 (34,615) (10,236,289)
1,478,652 2,525,175 72,755 (72,755) 4,003,827
2,151,903 $ (8,384,365) $ 107,370 $§  (107,370) $ (6,232,462)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

28



APPENDIX C-1

CONFORMED COPY OF MASTER INDENTURE OF TRUST AND SECURITY
AGREEMENT, as amended and supplemented by
CONFORMED COPY OF MASTER INDENTURE SUPPLEMENT NO. 1,
CONFORMED COPY OF MASTER INDENTURE SUPPLEMENT NO. 2 and
CONFORMED COPY OF MASTER INDENTURE SUPPLEMENT NO. 3

CONFORMED COPY OF DEED OF TRUST, ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS AND LEASES,
AND SECURITY AGREEMENT, as amended and supplemented by
CONFORMED COPY OF FIRST SUPPLEMENT TO DEED OF TRUST, ASSIGNMENT
OF RENTS AND LEASES AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
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ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE SUPPORTING FOUNDATION

and

TIEE ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE FOUNDATION-SAN ANTONIO.
as, together, the Co-Obligor

and

THF BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Master Trostee

MASTER INDENTURE SUPPLEMENT NO. 3

Dated as of October 1. 246

relating to

HEXAR COUNTY HEALTH FACLLITIES DEVELOPMERT CORFORATION
EVENLE REFUNDING BONDS

(ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDYNCE FOUNDATION PROJECT)
SERIES 2016

SR019354 4
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MASTER INDENTURE SUPPLEMENT NO. 3

THIS MASTER INDENTURE SUPPLEMENT NO. 3 dated as of October 1, 2016 (this
“Supplemental Indeniure”) is between ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE SUPPORTING
FOUNDATION (the “Supporting Foundation™) and THE ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE
FOUNDATION-SAN ANTONIO (together with the Supporting Foundation, the “Co-Obligors”) and
THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (formerly
known as The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.), a national banking association, as
trustee (the “Master Trustee™),

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Co-Obligors and the Master Trustee have entered into a Master
Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement dated as of January 1, 2007 (the “Original Master
Indenture”), relating to the real property described on Exhibit A; and

WHEREAS, the Bexar County Health Facilities Development Corporation (the “Issuer”)
has previously issued its Refunding Revenue Bonds (Army Retirement Residence Foundation
Project) Series 2007 (the “Series 2007 Bonds”) under a Bond Indenture of Trust and Security
Agreement dated as of January 1, 2007 between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company, National Association (formerly known as The Bank of New York Trust
Company, National Association), as trustee, to finance and refinance the cost of certain health
facilities for the Co-Obligors; and

WHERFAS, in connection with the Series 2007 Bonds, the Co-Obligors entered into
related Secured Debt under the Original Master Indenture; and

WHEREAS, in 2008, the Co-Obligors entered into additional Secured Debt under the
Original Master Indenture in connection with an interest rate swap transaction which has been
terminated; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 8.07C of the Original Master Indenture, the Issuer has
previously issued its Revenue Bonds (Army Retirement Residence Foundation Project) Series
2010 in the initial aggregate principal amount of $53,000,000 (the “Series 2010 Bonds™) under a
Bond Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement dated as of February 1, 2010 between the
ssuer and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National Association, as trustee, to
finance the cost of certain health facilities located in Bexar County, Texas (the “Series 2010
Project”), to pay capitalized interest on the Series 2010 Bonds, to fund a debt service reserve
fund for the Series 2010 Bonds, and to pay a portion of the cost of issuance of the Series 2010
Bonds; and

WHERFEAS, pursuant to Section 8.07C of the Original Master Indenture, the Issuer is
issuing its Revenue Refunding Bonds (Army Retirement Residence Foundation Project) Series
2016 in the initial aggregate principal amount of $55.470,000 (the “Series 2016 Bonds™) under a
Bond Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement dated as of October 1, 2016 (the “Bond
Indenture”) between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National
Association, as trustee (the “Bond Trustee”), to advance refund a portion of the Series 2007
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Bonds and a portion of the Series 2010 Bonds (the “Series 2016 Project”) and to pay all or a
portion of the cost of issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Loan Agrecment dated as of October 1, 2016 (the “Loan
Agreement”), between the Supporting Foundation and the Issuer, the Supporting Foundation has
agreed to issue the additional Secured Debt (the “Secured Debt”) created by this Supplemental
Indenture (this Supplemental Indenture together with Original Master Indenture, the “Master
Indenture”) to evidence the obligation of the Supporting Foundation to make the payments
required under the Loan Agreement; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the delivery of the Secured Debt hereunder, the Co-
Obligors have deemed it necessary and advisable to enter into cerlain covenants contained
herein; and

WHEREAS, the Co-Obligors are authorized by law and by the Original Master Indenture
(pursuant to Sections 6.01B, 6.01C, 6.01G, and 6.02 thereof), and deem it necessary and
desirable, to issue and deliver the Secured Debt pursuant to the Original Master Indenture; and

WHEREAS, the Holder of the Series 2016 Note is deemed to have consented to the terms
hereof, including but not limited to the amendments set forth in Article 111, on behalf of the
owners of the Series 2016 Bonds by its execution of this Supplemental Indenture and acceptance
of the Series 2016 Note; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Master Indenture, both of the Co-Obligors and
any additional Co-Obligor will be jointly and severally liable for payment of the Secured Debt;
and

WHEREAS, all acts and things necessary to make the Secured Debt authorized by this
Supplemental Indenture, when executed by the Co-Obligors and authenticated and delivered by
the Master Trustee as provided in the Master Indenture, the valid, binding and legal obligation of
the Co-Obligors, and to constitute these presents, together with the Original Master Indenture, a
valid indenture and agreement according to its terms and the terms of the Master [ndenture, have
been done and performed and the execution of this Supplemental Indenture and the issue
hereunder and under the Original Master Indenture of the Secured Debt created by this
Supplemental [ndenture have in all respects been duly authorized, and the Co-Obligors, in the
exercise of the legal right and power vested in them, execute this Supplemental Indenture and
propose to make, execute, issue and deliver the Secured Debt created hereby; and

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE WITNESSETH:

That, in order to declare the terms and conditions upon which the Secured Debt
authorized hereby is authenticated, issued, and delivered, and in consideration of the premises
and the purchase and acceptance of the Secured Debt created hereby by the holder thereof and, in
order to add security under the Original Master Indenture, the Co-Obligors covenant and agree
with the Master Trustee as follows:

88019854 4 -2-

payment of principal due on the Series 2016 Note on the same date as the sinking fund payment
date under the Bond Indenture for the sinking fund requirement in payment of which the Series
2016 Bonds have been applied, and the principal amount of the Series 2016 Note created hereby
due on such date will be reduced accordingly.

Section 2.06 If the Co-Obligor shall have complied with the notice requirements of the
Loan Agreement, the Series 2016 Note or portion thereof specified in such notice shall becomne
due and payable on the date and at the place stated in such notice at the principal amount thereof,
together with interest thereon accrued and unpaid to the date fixed for prepayment or
redemption, and on and after such date fixed for prepayment or redemption (unless the Co-
Obligor shall default in the payment of the Series 2016 Note at the prepayment or redemption
price, together with interest accrued and unpaid to the date fixed for prepayment or redemption),
interest on the Series 2016 Note or portion thexeof so called for prepayment or redemption shall
cease 10 accrue.

Section 2.07 In the event of a partial prepayment of the Series 2016 Note, the amount
of installments of such Series 2016 Note coming due after such prepayment shall, to the extent
appropriate and with the approval of the Master Trustee, be adjusted and set forth in a new
schedule of payments prepared by certified public accountants so that, upon the due payment of
all installments thereafter, the entire unpaid principal amount of and interest on such Series 2016
Note shall have been paid in full.

Section 2.08 To the extent provided in the Bond Indenture, the Co-Obligors shall
receive a cash credit against the interest obligations on the Series 2016 Note, on a propertionate
basis, on any interest payment date equal to the difference between amounts required to be paid
on any interest payment date and amounts on deposit in the Bond Fund pursuant to the Bond
Indenture that is not to be released to the Supporting Foundation.

Section 2.09 The place of payment for the Series 2016 Note shall be the Dallas, Texas
corporate trust office of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National Association,
as Bond Trustee with respect to the Series 2016 Bonds.

ARTICLE II1
AMENDMENTS TO ORIGINAL MASTER INDENTURE

Section 3.01 The following provisions of the Original Master Indenture are hereby
amended as follows:

(a)  The following provision shall be added to Article VI as Section 6.05:
“Section 6.05 Deemed Consent.

The parties hereby confirm that the purchasers of any Secured Debt upon the original
issuance thereof in accordance with this Master Indenture may be deemed to have consented to
any amendment to this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Master Indenture permitted to be
made with the consent of the Holders of Secured Debt with the same effect as if such Holders
shall have filed a written consent to such amendment.”

88019858.4 -4-
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ARTICLE 1
DEFINITION OF TERMS

Section 1.01 The terms used in this Supplemental Indenture shall, except otherwise
stated herein, have the meanings assigned to them in the Original Master Indenture.

ARTICLE II
SERIES 2016 NOTE AND RELATED MATTERS

Section 2.01 There is hereby created as Secured Debt under the Original Master
Indenture a promissory note to be known and entitled Army Retirement Residence Foundation
Project Series 2016 Note (the “Series 2016 Note”). The Series 2016 Note, in the initial principal
amount of $55,470,000, may be executed, authenticated, and delivered in accordance with
Article II of the Original Master Indenture.

Section 2.02 The Series 2016 Note created hereby shall be in the form of a fully
registered Secured Debt without coupons, shall be dated as of October 1, 2016, shall bear interest
from the date of its delivery on the principal balance thereof in the amount set forth in the Series
2016 Note, payable on or before January 15 and July 15 of each year, commencing
January 15, 2017 and shall be substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.

Section 2.03 The Series 2016 Note created hereby and its principal installments shall be
subject to prepayment, in whole at any time, or in part from time o time at the option of the Co-
Obligors upon payment of a sum, in cash and/or obligations, sufficient, together with any other
cash and/or obligations held by the Bond Trustee and available for such purpose, to cause an
equal aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Series 2016 Bonds to be deemed to have been
paid within the meaning of Section 5.02 of the Bond Indenture, and to pay all fees, costs and
expenses of the Issuer, the Master Trustee, and the Bond Trustee, accrued and to be accrued to
the date of discharge of the Bond Indenture with respect to such Series 2016 Bonds. Any
prepayment of the principal of the Series 2016 Note shall be credited against the scheduled
principal payment corresponding to the maturity or sinking fund redemption date for the Series
2016 Bonds redeemed with the proceeds of such prepayment.

Section 2.04 The Series 2016 Note created hereby and its principal installments shall
also be subject to prepayment as set forth in Section 3.04A3 of the Loan Agreement.

Section 2.05 If the Co-Obligors (i) shall have elected to apply the Series 2016 Bonds
that have been redeemed or otherwise acquired by the Co-Obligors or the Issuer and delivered to
the Bond Trustee for cancellation by the Bond Trustee, in payment of all or a part of a sinking
fund requirement under the Bond Indenture, (ii) shall have delivered writien notice to the Issuer
and a copy thereof to the Bond Trustee in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.02 of the
Bond Indenture, and (i) the Issuer shall have received a credit against such sinking fund
requirement in the amount of 100% of the principal amount of the Series 2016 Bonds thus
applied, then the Bond Trustee shall promptly notify the Master Trustee, whereupon the Co-
Obligors shall receive a credit, equal to the credit received by the Issuer, in respect of the
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[{5)] The provisions of Segtion1.00(a) shall be clfective immediately upon the
issuance of the Serfes 2016 Note, the agpregate principal amount of which shall then constitate a
majority in principal amount of the Secured Debt Quistanding under the Master Indenture

[ The remainder of this page ifentionally left blank |
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IN WITNESS WHERROF, Lhe parties hereto have caused his Supplemental Indennure to
be duly executed by persons thereunto duly authorized, as of the day and year first writlen abave.

ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCFE
SUPPORTING FOUNDATION,
as Co-Obligor

THE ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE
FOUNDATION-SAN ANTONIO,
as Co-Obligor

_fa o

THE BANK OF KEW YORK MELLON
TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL
ASSOCTATION, as Master Truster

By:
Authorized Signatory

SBN1Yi5a.a

THE STATE OF TEXAS §
§
COUNTY OF BEXAR §
‘This instument was acknowledged before me on the E:J“‘ day of October, 2016, by
4, Kl ol

N .. thef & = f Army Retirement Residence Supponing
Foundatich, a Foxas non-profit cdtporation on hehalf of such cerporation.

(SHAL}

UER V\.{W

=5 Motary Public in and for the State of Texas -
T ANTGIRETTE ROKK
AU fUUEHE N0
Hoiory I 1307°8309 {Printed Name of Notary}
e e ——
My ission expires: 'f!aéjaoao

THE STATE OF TEXAS  §
§
COUNTY OF BEXAR §

This instrument was acknowledged before me on Lhe 20 day of Cewber, 2016, by
dpeade Sui it e PReaaig oF R e Amy Relirement Residence
Foundation-San Antonio, a District of Celumbia non-profit corporation en behalf of such
corporation.

TAURA KATRLEEN PERRY Q . ~

derai Publ<, Sete of 188 S M 2

Sorm Eepras 01 222019 %ﬁﬁ_‘& ‘,‘{_a-cﬁﬁﬂ_& T¥eens
tary Pul

wolary 10 130088413 inand for the Slate uf!r.xas

N T O sz,g,-g‘fi
(Printed Name of Notary)

My commission expires: !

PP ety
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the pariies hereto have caused (his Supplemental Indenture o
be duly executed by persons thereunto duly authorized, as of the day and year first writien above.

ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE
SUPPORTING FOUNDATION,
as Co-Obligor

By:
Title:

THE ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE
FOUNDATION-SAN ANTONIO,
as Co-Obligor

Dy:
Tille:

THE BANK GF NEW YORK MELLON
TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL
ASSOCLATION, a5 Master Trustce

S St
By ',""(_ 3
) Aul.hanzc&csrignatory

51
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THE STATE OF TEXAS §
§
COUNTY OF HARIUS §
“This instrument was acknowledged before me on the /9 day of October, 20186, by Letha

Glover, he Vice President of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, National
Association, a national banking association, on behalf of such association.

Notary Fﬁn: in agnd for the Siale of Texas

Mangy Locoenter
{Printed Name of Nolary)

My commission expives: 4‘5? g S AT

(SEAL)

HANCY CARPENZER
Hetary Publie, Siofe of Texos

280198544 53



EXHIRIT A

REAL PROFPERTY

I'tact I

Teing 3 44.74 acre tract 1,948,710 square feer) of land ou of the Williaom Winflid Survey No. 326, Abamact No, 795,
County Biock 505), and out of the Thomas Hall Survey No. 42, Abstract Ko, 34, County Block 5073, Bexar County, Texas,
being comprised o @ §.0000 acre bact canveyed from Max Mattinez Funeral Home ta Amy Reliement Residence
Foudation, San Ainionic, Inc. by Generai Warraaty Deed recorded in Volame 8273, Page 1241, Real Property Recards of
Bexar County, Texas, 2 2,324 acre 7act known as Tract 32 in Cowaty Block 5054, Tract 108 and 11C in County Block
50318, 2 0,644 acre wacel knewn as P-7H in County Bloek 5073, all conveyed from the County of Rexar to the Army
Retirement Residence Foundation by deed recorded i Yolume 3698, Pagc 733, Real Property Records of Rexar Counly,
Texas, a part of & 75.00 acre tract conveyed from KDJ Wag, L) C #1 ai to the Army Residence Suppoing Fousdation by
Sprecial Watranty [eed recorded in Volume 12187, Page 529, Real Property Records of Bexar County, Texas, and comected
& Volume 12757, Page 392, Real Propery Reeords of Bexar County, Texas, and a 2.259 acre troct, mown as Traet 1,
convéyed from Chepel 1ill Funeral Home LP, t@ the Anny Retirement Residence Supporting Fonadation by Warranty Daed
reconded in Volme 14216, Page 1178, Real Property Recosds of Bexar County, Texas, said 44.74 acre tract belpg more
perticularly described in Exkisit “A-17, arached heseto and meds 2 part hereof,

SAVE AND EXCEPT:

Parcel A, being & 2.259 acre tract out of the Wiliiam Winford Survey No. 326, Abstract Mo, 798, Bexar County, Texas, said
2259 aute trmed being mare partieularly described in Exhibit “A-2" aniached herete and made # part hereaf,

and SAVE AND EXCEPT:

Parce] B, beiag a 6.073 acre trast out of the Willian Winford Survey Mo. 326, Abstwact Xo. 798, Bexar County, Texas, sald
6073 2570 racs being mors particularly described in Expilrk "A-3", attached betot and made o pat hereof

Tract (I Deing a 44.70 acre race (1,947,290 square feet) of land out of the William
Winford Survey No. 326, Abstract No. 798, County Block 5051, and cut of the Charles Trwin
Survey Mo 43, Abswact No. 367, Counly Wock 3072 and 5073, Dexar County, Texas.
comprised of panl of a 75.00 acre tract conveyed from RDJ Wab, LLC, et al. to the Army
Residence Supporting Foundation by Special Wamanty Deed recorded in Volume 12187, |’ag‘e
529, Real Property Records of Bexar County, Texas and corrected in Volume 12737, Page 892,
Real Property Records of Bexar County, Texas, and a G.1611 acre tract known as Tract 2,
conveyed [rom Chapel Hill Funeral Home LP w the Army Retirement Residence Supporting
Foundation by Warranty Deed recorded in Volume 14216, Paye 1178, Real Property Recoreds of
Bexar County, Texas; sald 447 acre tract being more particalarly described in I LA,
attached hereto and made a pant hereof;

SAVE AND EXCEPT

Tasce] €, being a 01611 acre tract of the Charles Irwin Survey No. 43, Abstract No. 367, Bexar
County. Texa d 0.1611 acre tract being more particularly deseribed in Fahibit A-5, attached
hereto and made a part hereof.

'1'.r:1cl 1L Lot 2. Dlock !, Army Retirement Community Unit-2 Subdivision, Dexar
County, Texas, according to plat thereof recorded o Volume 9515, Page 96.97, Deed and Plat
Reenrds of Bexar County, Texas,

8501U8211 A1

EXHIBIT A-1

TRACTT

_ VICKREY & ASSOCIATES, Ine.
5

COMNSULTING ENTGINEER

Wiates and Bounds Descrlption
2

Tesct 1, 44,74 acres owt of the willkam wintord Survey No. 326,
Abstract 798, County Block 5051, and out of the Thomas Hall Survey No. 42,
brsracy 34, County Block £073, Bexar County, Texas

Reing a 44,74 acts irapt (1,848,710 sty /1 of land oLt of the \William Vinforg Sursey No. 328,
Attt 795, Colinty Block 5081, and owt of tha Thomas Hall Survey No. 42, Absiract 34,
County Bitck 5373, Bexar Counly, Texas being comprised of & 6.0000 acre {rac conveysd
o Hmitnes Funofa! Hame to Aty Retivaert Hesidento Prundaler, San Antenio, Inc
by Gensral Warranly Doed recorded in Volume 8278, Fage 1241, Official Public fecords of
faal Property of Bexar Liounty, Texas, a 1724 aers lracl ki as Tract 32 m Gour'y Block
20814, Troct 10B and 14C in Counly Diock 50918, 0,644 ace tract known a5 P-TH in County
Brock 5073, all soneyed from County 6f Bexa o the Army Retivernent Residence Foundotion
£y deed ranarded n Volume 8696, Page 733, Offical Public Records of Real Praporty of Sexar
Ciounly, Texas, part of a 75,00 acre imot conveyad koM RUM Wag, LG, el al fo the Army
Residenca Supporting Fouadation by Special Wananly Deed recorded in Wolume 17187, "ags
Erg, (offcial Publit Records of Real Proparty of Baxar County, Texas ard soregied in Valeme
‘12737, Page 852 Official Public Racords of Real Proparty of Bexar Courty, Texas, and & 2.259
et kmwm 8 Tract 1 conveyed from Chapel Hill Funeral Homa LF 1o the Army

reiment Resk Foundation by Watranty Deed racorded in Voluma 14215,
Page 1178, Official PUBS Recards. of Reel Property of BBxar Gounty, Texas. Said 44.74 acre
10 being mors particulatly described as fellows wih al pearings beiny referencad 1o North
o o Dn of 1983, Tatas Siote Plana Coprinate Systam, South aniral Zone:

BEGINNNG g st %" From rod with cap staraed “Vickrsy Prop. Cor..” on e south ighloiway
e (RO of Wil Road 60 ROW), sald peint also being e fortheast comee of Lot 18,
e AT E TR 13935, Bas! vilage Subsivisian, Urdl 42, as shown on plat recendsd in Vokme
005, Poae 712, Deed and Plat Roconks of Bexar County, Texas, s3rme aeinl alse being e
st cormer of said Tract 10 for the Mortiwest cormer of he herein deserbed ract;

South 73* 26' 43" East, along the commen fire of said Mitkor Road and seid Traet

THENCE,
T08 nod Tract 116, o distange of 318,05 (o0t to & fouad ¥ ran rod wih =20
cimmped “RPLS 4359, 2t he Nerthizask comner of said Tradt 115, s6me point
166 bsing gt Iha nodfwest cormer of gaid 6 DOC word tract, Tor @ Samsr o the
herein described track;

THENGE,  South 74* 27 35" East, along the comman tng of said Mifler Roag and said

#0000 acre wach, at a distance of 55220 feal, passing 4 found %" iron rod with
cap stampad Prajean al e nonteast gommer of gid 6.0D00 aere (rach same
print ol being (o ntthwast oomer of szid 75 0 agre tract, continuing Along
Tha common Ine of sard Miler Ropd and 75.00 acre fract, @ wotal distance of
579,02 faet to a sel ¥~ iren rod with cap stamped “Vickrey Prop. Cor. . atthe
S thernmost northeast comer of tha herein describad keack, said eatner baing
e nohwest comes of Tract 2 a 44.70 asts iract surveyed ihis sama date,

EXHIBIT.Bt
Voce \oFd

IAPS1ZEN011 00T IRE AR 44-74 ac @c o Fage1old
12940 Gountey Forkway » San Assonin, e FEI16 ¢ 2L0ING-3271 « PAN 210 302561

SE0IE54 4 A-1-1
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} Tract I'V: Lot 3, Block 1, Army Retirement Community Unit 3 Subdivision, Bexar
County, Texas, according to plat thereof recorded in Volume 9524, Page 130, Deed and Plat
Records of Bexar County, Texas

Tract Vi Lot 4, Blogk 1. Armyy Retirement Commupity Unit 4 Subdivision, Bexar
County, Texas, according w plat thereof recorded in Volume 9538, Page 58, Deed and Plat
Records of Bexar County, Texas.

ITact Vi A tract of land comaining 2.259 acres, more or less, out of a 25402 acre
tract, being out of the Willilam Winford Survey No, 326, Abstract No. 793, Bexar County, Texas;
said 2.259 acre tract being more particulacly described in Exhibit A-2, avached hereto and mide
a part hereof

Tract VII A traet of land centuining 0.1611 acres, more or les
Charles Irwin Survey Mo, 43, Abstract No. 367, Bexar County, Texas; sul
Dbeing more paniculazly desoribed in Exhibit A

ing out of the
01611 acre tract
attached hereto and madve « pant hereof.

Tract VIIE A 6.073 acre (264,544 square feet) tract, more or less, out of the William
Winford Survey No. 326, Abstract Mo. 798, County Block 5051, Dexur County, Tuxas
comprised of & 2.224 acre tract known as Tract 32 in County Block 50514, ‘Tragt 1013 and 11C
i1| County Block 30518, und a 0.644 acre ract knovwn as P-7H in County Block 3073, conveyed
from Bexar County to The Army Retirement Residence Foundation-SA by deed recarded in
Volume 8698, Page 733, Real Property Records of Bexar County, Texas: said 6073 acre wact
being more particularly described in Exhibit A-3, attached hereto and made a part hereof.

{The vemainder of the page intentionally blank]

BRDIONSEL A2

lsaving said Milter Rd ROW, across said 75.00 acre tract and partially zlong 2
commen line: with sait Traci 2 the following three (3} cals:

THENGE,

Seuth 15° 32° 22' Wesl, a distancs, 315.00 foal to a set 4" iron rod with vap
stamped “Vickrey Frop. Gar,* for a corner of the hercin descibed tract, a
spmmen cofner with Tract 2,

Spith F4° 27 147 Fast. 2 distance of 368,40 feet to & set 147 Iron rod with cap
stamped "Wickrey Prop. Cor,” for @ comer of the herein descibed trawd a
commeon comer with Tract 2, and

Soulh 15% 32" 46" West, el A02 28 fect passing ihe common norharly comer ofa
2,254 acre tract, recorded in Vohirie 14216, Page 1178, O*ficial Public Records
of Real Property, Bexar Counly, Texas, a ramaining portion of a 3.5402 acre
{racy, recorded in Volume 12737, Pape 873, GAficial Public Records of Heal
property of Bexar County, Texas, and a scuthem comer of Tract 2, contimuing
for a tolal distansce of 867,05 fesf to a sel %" iran rod with cap stamped “Vickrey
Prop. Cer," at tha southeast comer of said 2,250 acre fract, same point also
heing the southwest corne of said yamaining portion of 2 3.5402 acts trect and
alsa haing o4 *he norh line of Lot 24, Block 13, East Village Supdivisicn, Unit 41
5 shown on plat recerded in Volume 8300 Pape 207, Deed and Plat Records of
Baxar County, Texas, for fhe most sothzast comer of the heren desoribed
tract,

Naorth 75° 11" 09" West, along the common fina of said 2.259 ace tract and Lots
19 thry 24, In sald East Village Subdiision, Unit 41, at a distance of 260.53 feal
passing the southwas! comer of s2id 2,759 ate Iract, same paint akeo being 8
south comer of said 75.00 acre tract, contir:uing alorg the carmon line of sakd
75.00 acre tract and Lots 11-18, in said East Villagn Subdivision, Und 41 and
Lots 110, Block 13, in East Vilage Subdivision, Unit 40, as shewn an plat
recorded Tn Volume BS00, Page 134, Dasc and Plat Records of Bexar County,
Texas, a total distance of 1413.90 feet to & s¢t mag nail at the norltwest corner
of said Lot 1, same point alse being the northoast cornsr for said Lol P-TH, for a
goraer of ha herein Usscribed vack

THEMNCGE,

South 02° 19' 15" West, departing the south fine of sai 75.00 acre tract, abong
the common line of ssid Lot 1 ard Lot P-TH, & dislanca af 1 12.57 foc to a set 47
iron red with cap stamped Viduey Prop. Cor,” on the north line of Glenn
Heights Drive (50° RO}, same puint also being the sodfvest camer of said Lol
+ and the southeast come of said Lot P-TH, for a comer of lhe herein descibed
tract;

THENCE,

along the cormmen fine of said Lol P-TH and Glenn Heights Drive, the ollowing
two {2} calls:

THENCE,

Mo 75° 11° 09* West, & distance of 257.30 feel to 2 set %" imon rod with cap
stamped “Vickrey Prop, Cor.* at & sangent point of curvature of a curve to the
right for a corner of the ferelin deseribnd tract,

Yoy
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along said curve to the righl 2 distance of 6.78 fes!, wilh a radiug of §.00 fest, a
cenual angle of 777 39" 447, and a chord beasng 2 distance of Marth 26° 217 17"
\West, B.27 fest 1o a eel 16" 1o rod with cap stamped “Vickroy Prop. Cor.,” at the
northwest correr of said Glern Heights Drive, sald point 2lso baing on the east
fine ot Glenmont Drve (50° ROW), for the mos* soultwesterdy comer of the
herein descibed racl;

THENGE, Nerih 02° 28° 35" Easl, afong the cominen iine of said Glanmenl Drive ahd Lat P-
7H and Tracl 32, 3 dismnoe of 255.89 feel 10 A found 578" iren rod af the
southwesl comar of Lot 1, Block 15, NCB 15058, in said East Village subdivision,
Urit 42, same point also buing a comer for said Tract 32, for a comer of the
herein desoribed tract;

THENGE, South 87° 31 25" Easl, deperting sad cemmon fne, along the zommuon Ene of
£aid Lot 1 and Tract 32, a dislance of 120.00 feet to 2 581 4" iron rod with cap
stamped "Vickrey Prop. Cor.,” al tha southeast coiner of said Let 1, same peint
also being 2 re-enfrant comer for said Tracl 42, for 3 comer of Lhe “erein
dascribed tracl;

THENGE, Morh 02° 28' 35" Fast, aiong e sommon fine of Lols 1 thru 18, Block 15, NCB
15858, in said East Viltage Subdivision, Unit 42 and said Tract 32 and Tract 198,
a distance of 1168.61 feal to the POINT OF BEGIMNING containing 44.74 acres
{1,848.710 square fesf; of land, more or i8ss,

VEA Job No. 128%

ID m&b 1,548,713 5q. .
February 1, 2010

Certified this 1% day of February, 2010

Vickrey & Associabes, inc.

EXHIBIT X
Fee Lon
TRPSTTZI0 T O WA ARG 3 7H adie @c Pags 5 of 3

28019854 & Adl-3

BEGIPELE G

FEXHIBIT A-3

TRACT I SAVE AND EXCEPT PARCEL & TRACT VIIL

__VICKREY & ASSOCIATES, Ino. .

CONSULTING ENGINARRS

Pﬁﬂceu%

Metes and Bourds Deseription

for
B5.072 agres oul of the Willizm Wirford Survey No. 326,
Abstiag THE, Courly Block 5051, Bexar County, Texas

Bolng & 6.073-ace (264,544 5q, fu) ract of land oul ol the Willam Wirtord Survey No. 326,
Abstract 799, County Block 5051, Bexar County, Texas boing comprised of & 2.224-acry ¥aet
known as Tract 32 in County Block 5051A, Tract §08 #n6 191G in County Block 0518, and a
©.644-nare frach kngwn as P-7H in Connly Drook 5072, conveyed krom County of Boxar 16 the
Army Hatliament Residenca Foundation by dasd rezorde in Yolume 8634, Page 733, Olklal
Pubic Fceords of Roal Propsrty of Baxar Courly, Texas, Said 6.073-2cre tract belng more
perticularly desoribed as Toliows wih 4l baaiings bsing refersnsed to North American Dalum of
19973, Texas Btate Mana Cocrdina'e System, South Central Zone:

BEGIMNING al sel %5 ivon red with sap stampad “ickroy Peop, Cor..” on the south rgnt-al-way
JRCVY lng o Miler Foad (F ROW), said pont also being the nontheast gothe: of Lo: 18,
Block 15, NGB 15958, Eant Vilage Subdivision, Linlt 42, a5 showr on plat regormed In Volume
£500, Paga 212, Dénd and Plat Recorda of Bexar County, Taxas, same point alsa being the
northwest corner of s Trach 108 for the norbwest comer ol the iereitt e5cilbad act;

THENCE, Souin 73 26 43 East, along tha comman ling of seid Wiiker Road and sald Trael
168 and Trac! 112, a disence of 318.05 et to a found %" fron 108 whh cap
slamped “RPLS 4250," el the nonhesst ¢ormer of said Tract 11C, same point
alae peing Bt the aorbwest Ganar of & 5.0000-acre tragt recordsd in Yolume
8278, Page 1241, DHiciel Fubllc Recards of Raa! Propery of Bexar County,
Texas, for the rertheas] cormet of the herain described tract;

THENCE, South 15°32 1% W, departing said commen line and alond he cammo ling &t
said T-act 11C, Tract 32, and 5.0000-Acre tract, &l a distance of BEZ.24 lget,
passing he soulhwest cornar of sald 6.0030-acre tradt, sama paint also teing &
coman lar a 75.00-agr iract (soarded in Weluse 12737, Page 892, Olficial
Public Records of Real Properly of Bexar County, Taxas, cantinuing alory the
commeon g of said Tract 32 and 75.D0-acre ract, a 10kl distance of 1301.62
feet ko 4 fount %" iron rad on fha fgan [ne of Lt P-7H, same point also baing
the seuthwest corrar of sald 75.00-acre tract and & re-entart comer of sakl
Tract B2, 1 & 18-ertrant corner ot the herain deseribad irack:

THENCE, Soulh 757 13' & East, alang the common line of sa'd 75.00-acra ract and Tract
P-7H. & distanse of 120,52 feat to & set %" iran rod vith cap stamped “Vickrey
Prop. Cow.” ak the nonhaast comer af saxd Tt P-7H, same point slkg baing
the noihyes] pomsr of Lot ¢, Bicck 13, Eagt Witage Supohision, Unit 40, as
shawn on phat reerdad i Vieduma 660, Paga 184, Deed and Plat Reconds of
Benar counyy. Toxas, los 3 comer of lhe hareln tasoribed tract;

THENGE,  Souln 02° 19 157 West. ceparting the soutt §to of sald 75.00-a0re KB, albhg
ihe comman ing of sa d Lot 4 and Lot P74, 2 distance of 112.67 feet toa set ¥~
iron rod with cRp Slampad “Vickiay Prop. Cor.’ on the norh lkre of Glenn:

f:l* EXHIBITRA - Pruted
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EXHIBIT A-2

TRACT 1 5AVE AND EXCEPT PARCEL & TRACT ¥1

- WMETES AND EQUNDS DESCRIPTION
2.258-ACRE TRAGT DUT OF THE WL LK WINFORD SURYEY MO. 326,
ABSTRACT NO. 795, CCUNTY ELOCK 5054, BEXAR COUNTY, TEXAE

Being a 2289-8cTR {98,400 stjuere fami) ract Qul af 2 3,540 2-a0m: trash of iand oLt of the

Wil Winford Survey No. 326, Abstract 793, County B[u:.k 3051, Baxar Caurdy,
Texas, said 3.5402-acre tract being that same traot describec m Cgrrec,'ave Bpedal
Wwarranty Deed resordad in Voluma 12737, Fage 673, Official Public R;uorda of Real
Property of Baxar Counfy, Texas. Said 2.20¢-acre tratﬁ‘hemg mare pa.rhcu.srly
desoriber as follows, with 2l bearings heing referenced Narih Armarican Daium of
1983, Texzs Stts Piane Coorginzte System, South Central Zone:

COMMENCIMNG o 3 point on he west fight-cf-way lins of Miler Roat, a e northeast
aorner of 2 4.25-acte fract daseribed in Volume 12737, Page a'.'?‘ Ofﬂ_maI Public
Aacaids of Reat Property of Bexar Coury, Texzs, same point Siso be\ngla_snul.ﬁaast
~prer of a 73.00-ace ract destribed n Volurme 12737, Page 882, Offical Put_:lzc
Fecords of Resl Propery of Bexar Catny, Tesms, departng said dght-ofwsy e and
along the spmemaon line of said ¢ 25-ccre ract and 75.00-acre fract NTA"ZT‘la."W,
420,00, S15°3Z'48"W, 182.87", MTATTIAW, T340, 3187 EZEEMW, 18355 ba ;vu_lnt
an the noth ine of & 55.2818-zcre act recorded in Volums 12737, Pags 373, Official
Pl Racongs of Real Preperty of Baar Geunty, Texas, contnuing along the Fpmmor:
he of said 75.00-acrs tract and satd 53.28" 8-acre frack, N?S"’._B'S:’:":W‘ 4;1-79“5 !
NEPEZAEE, 214.97), NTE"{Z'36"W, 485.6%, S15°3Z48W, 457,85, NI 1G3EW,

534,24, S5 346, BB.00, NTAZTHA™Y, Bt 207,40 feer pessy F1o northeast somer

of £3id 3.5402-acre act, canfiruing along the carmmen line of sald-2.5407-acms and
75 [ pors ot 2 ot distance of 585.00° to & found W2 jron rod wih cap starnped

SOV ITHTEXAS,” for the POINT OF FEGHNNING and nostrwest comer of oaid 3.5402-

e Teot and the herein described bact

Thsnce S742T4'E reuming along said somman lin2, | distance oi 268,51 festin2
et 172 iron rod with cap stampsd "WIGKRET FROF. COR.* for the northeast comar

the hersin desesibed kert
Thenzs;, S1572248™, deparling szid SGIHHOD lina, into end acToss said 5.5402-a%%

{ract, a cistance of 334,77 Teal to 2 sat 172" ion od with (13 sampad "VICKREY PROF.

COR.," on the comman lire of saild 3.5402-acre tract and Lel 24, Bicox 13, Easi Vilege

Subdision, Unit44, 2s shown on plal recaroed It Yalume 5330, Page 207, Deed ard
. Plat Recards of Bexar Courty. Texes, for ‘he southeast GIMSF OF 416 Hereat describad

ezt

Thenos NTETLGEW, slorg e common e of sejd 35802 aere ek and Lafs 13
24, In stid Block 13, & distance of 358,53 foot in a 56t 1/2" Iron rod with cap stampea

SAGKREY PROP. COR" on the notth lne of said Lot 12, same point being m comer a7
omid] 75.00-a0re Tack for e solthsst corer of seld 3 £402-a0re tract 2nd the hereln

desctipac Ak

arre wack A disEnse oF 366 20 feet fo the POINT OF BEGINNIRNG, 2crtalning 2.258
zores (8,400 square f2el) of land, mora or i3S . .

85198519 A

Thence, N1 5°22'48"E, glong the comimor iine of said 25402808 tract and said 75.00

L

Helghts Drive (50 foo! AOW), same poinl aleo being the soulhwest corner of
said Lot 1 and Lhe soulheast comer of said Lot P-7H, for the south comer ol the
herein described trach

THENCE, along the commien line of said Lot P-7H and Glenn Heights Crive, the following
o (2) Gouses:

Norh 75° 11" 02 “West, a dislance of 257.30 foet 1o 2 set ¥ inon rod with cap
slampsd *Vickrey Prep. Cor.” af a tongent poim of curvature at & curve to the
right for a comer of the hersin described tract,

along said curve 1o the right a distanca ol 6.78 teat, with & radius of 5,00 feet. 2
ceriraf angle of 7¥° 3¢ 44", and & chord bearing a distancs of North 38°21' 17
West, 5.27 leat to a set %" iron md with cap stamped "Vickrey Prop. Cor.,” at the
northwest comer of said Glenn Heights Drive, set point alsa being on 'he eas1
Ine of Glenmont Diive (60 fest ROW), for the wosl carner of the herein
described tract;

THENCE, Norih 02° 28' 35" Fast, along the comman line of said Glenmant Drive and Lot -
7H and Tract 42, a distance of 255.B9 feat o & found &/8" ron red at the
southwest comer of Lot 1, Block 15, NGB 16868, in sald East WVilage subdiislan,
Unii 42, same peint also being a comer for sald Tract a2, for & comar of the
hereln describad Eacl

THENCE, South 87° 31" 25" East, departing said common line, glong the commaen lina ot
sakd Lot 1 and Tract 32, a distance of 120.00 feet 0 & set ¥" Iren rod wilh cap
slamped “Vickray Prop. Cor," at the southeast corner of ezid Lot 1, same paint
also balng a re-entrani comer for said Tract 32, tor a comer of the hereln
descrlbed tract;

THENCE, Naorih 02° 28' 35" East, slong the common line of Lots 1 thry 18, Biock 15, NGB
15958, in sald East Vilage Subdivision, Unit 42 and sald Tract 32 and Tract 108,
a distance of 1168.61 foct to the POINT OF BEGINNING comaling 8073 acres
(264 544 square feol) of land, more or less.

V&A Job Mo. 1281
SH méb 264,544 sa. ft.
December 17, 2009

A5 #
Siephan Marvath, LS.

Regigtered Professional Land Surveyor
Texas Registration No. 2611

vickrty & Associates, Inc.
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EXHIBIT A-4

Malog and Bounds Description

For
Tracl 2, 44.70 acres ol of the Wiliam Winford Survey Mo. 328,
Abstract 798, Gounty Block 5051, and out of thie Charl=s Irwin Survey Mo, 42,
Abstract 367, Gounly Block 5072. Bexar County, Texas

Baing & 44.70 acrs bract {1,847 290 sq. 1) of land oul of the Widam Winford Survey No. 326,
Ahsiracd 798, County Block 5051, and out of the Charles Inwin Survey No, 43, Abstract 367,
Counly Block 5072 and 5073, Bexar County, Texas being comprised of part of a 75.00 acre
tract corveypd from RDJ Wag, LLC, et al ko the Army Residence Suppsrting Foundation by
Special Wamranly Deed recorded in Velurme 12187, Page 529, Official Public Records of Real
Property of Bexar County, Texas and coected in Volume 12737, Page BS2, Ofiicial Public
Records of Real Property of Bexar County, Texas, and a 01644 acre tract known as Tract 2,

. oonveyed frem Chapel Hill Funeral Home 1F fo the Army Refirertent Residence Supperiing

Foundation by Wamanty Deed recorded in Volume 14215, Page 1178, Official Public Records
of Resl Property of Bexar Counly, Texas. Said 44.70 acre fract being more parlculary
described as follows with all bearings being referenced lo North American Datum of 1983,
Texas State Plane Coordinate Systern, South Cenlral Zons:

BEGINNING af set %° iron rad with cap stamped "Vickiey Prop. Cor.,” on the south right-of-way
line (ROW) of Miler Road {60" ROW). the north line of said 75.00 acre lract, sald peint also
haing the nerthemmosi northeast comer of Tract 1, 44.74 acre racl surveyad Lhis same date
fof the noztfvest comer of the herein described fract;

THEKGE, along iha commen fine of said Miner Road and 75.00 acre tract the following
Ihree (3) calls:

Sulh 74° 27 38" Easl, a distance of 291932 feet long Lhe common tine of said
Miller Road and 75.00 acre fract 1o a set " iron 70d with cap stamped “Vickrey
Prap. Gor.," at a tangent paint of curvature of a cunve to the right for & comer af
[h hersin dascribed tract:

aiong said curve to fhe righl, & distance of 431.85 feet, wilh a radius of 274,60
feet, a certral angle of B0° D' 247 and a chord bearing a distance of Smuth 29°
26' 25* Easl, 388,76 fest fo a set 14" ron rod with cap stamped “Vickrey Prop.
Cor.,” for a cemer of ihe herein described radl, and

Soulh 157 34" 48" Wast, a distance 0f 214.56 feel fo & set W iron rod with cap
stamped “Vickrey Prop. Cor,” at the northeast comer of a 4.25 acre frag)
reeorad in Volume 12737, Page 873, Offivial Public Records of Real Property,
Bexar Gounty, Teras, same point also belng the soulhasst comer of said 75.00
acre trec, for the southeast corner of the herein describad tract.
THEMCE,  departing seid common line and aleng the common line of sald 4.25 scre lact
and 75.09 acre tract, the foliowing four (4) calls:

2nd remalning portion of a 3.5402 acre teard, a total distance of 372.4B feet, loa
st %" iron md with ¢ap siamped “ickeay Prop. Gor.’ ot the commen north
gormar of said 3.5402 acre tracl and @ 2258 acre tract, recorded ‘n Volume
14218, Page 1178, Ofidial Public Records of Real Praperly, Bexan Canty,
foxas, belng cn 4 eastery dve of said Tract 1, a4.74 acres, for @ southerly
corner of the barein described fract

acrasa sgid 76.00 acrs tracl and along said commen line vt Teact ¥ the
folkwing Ihieo {3) calle:

North 15° 32 46" Easl, a dislance of §02.25 foet to 2 Bt 14" inon rod wilh rag
slamped ~igasy Prop. Cor.” for o oomer of the hersin described tradl, a
cormmon comer with Tradd 1,

North 74 27" 14" Wast, a distance of 958,40, feet to a sal 187 iren rod with cap
stamped "Vickrey Prop. Cor.” lor a comer of the hercin deacribed iract, a
sommeon corner with Tract 1, ard

North 15° 32’ 22" Fasl, a ¢hstance of 315.00 feel 1o (he POINT OF BEGINNING
containing .70 sors 4,847,200 souars feet) of \and, Mot of 18ss.

C-1-36

Norlh 74* 27 14" Wesl, a digtance of 42000 Fest to a set 34 iren rod with cap
stamped "Vickrey Prop, Cor," for a comer of tha herein described lract,

South 15° 32' 46° West, a distance of 182,97 festto a set " iron rod with cap
stamped “Vickeey Prop. Cor.,” for & comer of the herein described fracl,

North 74° 27 14" West, a distance of 7340 fost to a set ¥&" iron rod wilh cap
stamped “Vickrey Prop. Cor.” for a cafmer of the herein described fract, and

South 15° 37 46" West, a distance of 193,55 feet to a sel W" iron rod with cap
stamped "Vickrey Prop. Cor.* at a corner on the nerh line of the ramaiing
portion of a 55.2818 aqa wract recorded in Volumez 12737, Page 873, Official
Public Records of Real Property of Bexar County, Texas, for & camar of the
herein described tract

depariing sald comman line and along Lhe eommon fine of satd 75.00 acre tracl

THENCE, t
and sald romaining portion of 55.2818 acre trad, fhe following four (4} calls:

Norlh 75°18" 36" West, 8 dislance of 417.99 ool to a found 4" iron rod with cap
stamped “South Texas” for a comsr of the herein describad tract,

North 957 22" 46" East, a distarce of 214 57 feet to a found 4" iron rod with cap
slamped *South Texas” fora comer of the hareln describad tract,

North 75° 18" 38" Woest, a distance af 405,53 feet to a found % iren rod with cap
stamped “Soisth Texas” for a comer of the herein dezoribad tract, and

South T5° 32" 46" West, a distence of 15%.95 feet fo a found 34" iron rod with cap
stamped "South Texas" for a coimer of the hereln described tract.

North 75° 18" 36" West, continuing atong said comman ling, = distance of 456.24
feot to a st %" ron rod with cap stamped "Vickrey Prop. Col 1 the norlheast
comer of said 5.1611 acre tracl, for a comer of the hemein des: d tract;

THENCE,

Seuth 157 32" 26 West, departing said common Hne and along the common lina
of s=id 01611 acre A and said remaining portior of 55.2818 acre tract, a
distance of 34.12 feet io a set 14% iron rod with cep elamped "Vickrey Prop. Ceor.”
2t the southeas! comer of said 0,1611 acre fract, same point also being a earner
of said remaining portion of 552818 acre tract, for & comer of the herein
described lract;

THENCE,

North 74° 27" 14" West, along the common line of said rermaining portion of said
55,2818 acte tract and 03611 acrs fract, 2l a distanca of 74.99 feet passing &
found %" iron rod wilh cap stamped seauth Texas,” at lhe southwast comer of
<aid 0.1311 acra Umct, cominuing along the common lira of sald 75.00 acre tract
and said remaining porion of 557818 acre tmcl, at a distance of 224.25 feet,
passing the norheast comer of the remaining portion of a 3.5402 acre tract,
recorded in Volume 12737, Page 873, Official Public Recortds of Real property of
Bexar Counly, Texas, continuing alcng the ecmmen line of said 75.00 acre ract

THENCE,

RADIFRI 4 4 A-4-2

EXHIBIT A-5
TRACT 11 SAVF AND EXCEPT PARCEL & TRACT ¥

METES AND BOUNDS DESCRIPTION
FOR A :
_ 4.1611-ACRE TRACT OUT OF
THE CHARLES IRWIN SURVEY NO. 43, AGSTRACT 367, GGUNTY BLOCK 3072
BEXAR COUNTY, TEXAS

Being & 0.1877-8ere [7.020 squass ‘eel) iract ot of 2 §5.26812-acre wact oul OF e
Charles lrwin Survey Mo, 43, AbsTact 367, County Block 5072, Bexar Gourty, Texas,
said 55.2718-acre tract beirg that same Tact deswibed In Corrgctive Special Waranty
Dead recordea v Volume 12737, Page 873, Official Public Becords of Feal P Ay of
Bexar Counly, Texas. Szid 0.1611-aste wrast being more partcuaty des
fokows, with arings being refercnced of North American Uatum of 1923, Toxas
State Plane Coordinate Systsm, South Centra Zons:

COMMFENCING ai e point on the west rfght-of-way line of Miller Rozad, at the northeas:
cormer of a 4 25-acre tract descritec Vosme 15737, Page 873, Official Pubiic

- Bacards of Peal Property of Baxar Coutty, Texas, same poiTh also poing @ SOUnenst
comer of B TE.0%acre fract deseribed in Voume 12737, Page #92, Official Public
Hecords of Reaj Praperly of Bexar County, Texzs, depariing safd right-of-way line and
along the sammon lne of said 4.25-acre Tasi and 75.00-acre tract; N74°27'14™W,
42000, S15°3246™W, 18297 N74%2T14"W, 73.40', 515°32'46"W, 193,55 to a point
on the north ling of said 55.2B15-acrs {ract, continuing along the common line of said
\75.00-acre iract and Said 55.2818-acte tmct N7ES1R3S'W, ¢17.89', NTF73Z4EE,
244,07, N7ET1B3B"W, 495,63, 315°32'46"W, 151.85, and NT512'36™, E31.24, 10 2
fausd 142" ircn rod with cap stempet *SOUTHTEXAS, " for the POINT OF SEGINNING
and norfmwest corner of the herein described tract,

Therce; S?E”jB'GS“E, returning along saikt 20mMmon fing, a dissance of 75.00 feetto 2
set 1/2" inr rod with cap stamped "VICKREY PROP. COR," for the northaast comer ot
the hersin dezerbed fract

The1se; deparing said common ling, into and acrosy’ sdid B5.287 B-acre tract, e
jollowing o {2} coursest

S16°3246°W, a disiance of 84,17 teet 1o a 531 /2" iron rod with cap sta'rnpe':‘
SICKREY PROP, COR.," Tor the southeast comer of the 1arat déseribed tract

NT4°2734"W, a distance of 74.58 feet 10 & jound 1/2* Fon rod with cap stamped
SSOUTHTEXAS," on saic commen ling, for the southwest corner I the herein
described tract;

Thence, W15°2246"E, along saiff cemmen fine, 2 distance of 93.00 feet 0 the DOINT
OF BEGINNING, sontaining 0.1811 acras (7,020 sauare faed, mors or less.

ERDLORS A-5-1



EXHIBIT B
FORM OF NOTE
SERIJES 2016 NOTFE.

$55,470.000 Cctober 1, 2016

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE SUPPORTING
FOUNDATION, & Texas non-prefit comporation, its successors and assigns (for purposcs of this
Serigs 2016 Note, the “Rorrower '), promises (@ pay to the BEXAR COUNTY HEALTH
FACHITIES DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, a Texas nor-profit health facilities
development eorporation established by the Commissioners Court of Bexar County. Texas,
pursuant to Chapter 221, Texas Health and Safety Code, as amended {the *fssmer™). its
sugcessors or assigns, (1) the principal sum of $55.470,000 payable on July 15, 2045, and
interest on the unpaid porticn thereof from the date of the initial delivery of the hetefnaller
defined Bonds at the rate for cach day of accrual equal to the arithmetic mean, weighted in
progottion to the principal amounts thereol, of the rates of interest bome by the bonds of the
Issuer nitially designated its "REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS (ARMY RETIREMENT
RESIIENCE FOUNDATION PROJECT) SERIES 2016™ {the “Bonds "} at the time Outstanding
{as defined in the Fond Indenture hereimafier teferred to) on such day. compited on the samc
basis and payable on the same dates as such interest on the Bonds, and (2} the amounts speciticd
in Section 3.0d of the Loan Agreement hercinafler referred to at the times deseribed in such
Section; provided, however, that in no event shall the aggregate of the interest hercon, plus any
other amounts charged or collected in connection herewith which are deemed “imerest” under
the laws of the State of Fexas und the United States of America in effect on the date hercof
permining the charping and collecting of the highest nonusurious interest rate hereon (hereinaller
referred to as “Appticahle Law ") ever exceed the maximwn ameunt of interest which could be
lawfully charged hereon under Applicable J.aw, anything herein or in the Bond Tndenture 1o the
contrary notwithstanding. and if any amount of interest taken or received by the holder of this
Note shall be in excess of the maximum amount of interest which, under Applicable Law, could
lawfully have been callected hercon, then the cxcess shatl be deemed o have been the result of a
mathematical error by the Borrower, the Bond Trustee hereinafier referred to, and such haolder
and shall be refunded promptly 1o the Rorrower

All amounts paid er agreed to be paid in connection with the indcbtedness evidenced
heteby which under Applicable J.aw would be deemed “inferesr” shall, to the extent permiteed
by Applicable I.aw, be amortized. provated, ullocated, and spread throughout the full term hereof.

"The principal hereof {and promium, if any} and the interest hereon shall be payable at the
designated corporate trust office of the corporation then acting as trustee ¢herein referred 1o as
the “Bond Trusree™) under the Bond Indenturg of Trust and Sceunty Agreement dated as of
October 1. 2016 (the “Rond fidenture ") between the Issuer and Fhe Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company. Natienal Association, os trustee, authorizing issuance of the Bonds, All such
payments shatl be in Jmmediately available funds or in such coin or cutrency of the United States
of America as ol the ime of pavment is Jegal tender for payment of public and private debts.
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This ™Note is a contract made under and shall be construed n accordance with and
governed by the laws of the Stale of Texas

ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCT
SUPPORTING FOUNDATION

By: ——

Title:

Pay to the order of The Ttank of New York Mcllen Trust Cempany, Natjonal Association,
as (rustee for the owners of the Ronds hersinabove mentionsd, without recourse against the
undersigned.

BEXAR COUNTY HEALTH FACILITIES
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

President

8019854, B-3
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if the specified date for any such payment shall be a Saturday, Sunclay, or legal holiday or
equivalent {other than a moratorium) for banking institutions gencrally at a Place of Payment (as
defined in the Bond Indenture) ar in the city in which is located the principal designated teust
office of the Bond Trustee shall otherwise be a day other than a Business Day (as defined in the
Bond Indenture), then such pagment may be made on the next succeeding day which is not such
a day without additional interest and with the same foree and effect as il made on the specified
date for such payment,

All sums <ue bercon shall be pavable at the opening of business of the designated
carporate trust office of the Bond Trustee on the date such payments hecome due,  All sums
paid hercan shall be applicd to the satisfaction of, first, the sums specified in Clause {2) of the
first parapraph hereof, second, accrued interest hereon. and, third, the unpaid principal {and
premium, if' any) hereof.

This Mote is the “Neote * referred to in Section 3.04B of that cenain Lean Agreement
dated as of even date with the Bond Indenture (the “Loan Agreemesnt ") botween the lssuer and
the Borrower, relating to the Bonds, and s issued under the Master Trust Jndenture dated as of
January 1, 2007, as supplementcd by Master Indenture Supplement Re. 3 dated as of
October i. 2016 (gether, the “Master Indenture”™} between the Borrower. The Army Retirement
Residence Foundation-San Antonio and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
National Association, as Master Trustee, 1o evidence a lean by the lssuer to the Borrower
thereunder from proceeds of the Bonds. This Note arises aut of the Loan Agreement and the
Bond Indenture.

‘I'he Borrower shall prepay the outstanding principal sum hercof, in whole or in part, in
the same arnount and en the same dates, and with the same promiums. if any, as Bonds called for
redemption prior to their maturity in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Indenture.

It an Event of Default, as defined in the Bond Indenture, shall oecw, the principal hereof’
and accrued interest hereon may be declared due and payable in the manner and w ith the effect
provided in the Bond Indenturc,

The Homower hereby cxpressly waives all notices (including notice of redemption or
acceleration), demands for payment. presentments for payment, and notations of payment

(The vest of this page infentionaily tefi Mank)
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CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION AND REGISTRATION

This instrument is Secured 1ebt as defined in the Master Indenture of Trust and Sceurity
Agreement dated as of January 1, 2007, us supplemented by Master idntare Supplement No, 3
dated as of Octaber 1. 2016, between Ammy Retirement Residence Supponing Foundation and
The Army Retirement Residenee Foundution—San Antonio, as Co-Obligers, and The Dank of
New York Mellon Trust Company, National Association (formerly known as The Bank of New
York Trust Company, N.A.), #s trustce, and is tepistered on the bonks for registration thereof as
No.R__.

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON TRUST
COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSQCIATION, as
Master Trustee

By:
Authorized 5i

BEC 198530 13-4
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DEED OF TRUST, ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS
AND LEASES, AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THE STATE OF TEXAS §
§
COUNTY OF BEXAR &

Preamble

This Deed of Trusl, Assignment of Rents and Leases, and Security Agreement is dated as of
January 1, 2007 (hezeinafier called this "Deed of Trust™) and exceuted by ARMY RETIREMENT
RESIDENCE SUFPORTING FOUNDATION, a Texas non-profit corporation (the “Supporting Foundation™),
and its affiliate THE ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE FOUNDATION-SAN ANTONIO, z District of
Celumnbia non-profit corpocation {the “ARC") (the “Suppornting Foundation and the ARC, together, the
“Granter”), the mailing address of the Grantor being set forth on the execution page hereof, o TAMARA
ELLIS, as Trustee, whose mailing address is 600 North Pear], Suite 420, Dallas, Texas 75201 and also to
any substitutc or successor Trustee as hercinafier provided (all of whom shall be included within the term
“Trustee” as used hercinafter), fer the usc and bencfit of BEXAR COUNTY HEALTH FACILITIES
DEVELGPMENT CORPORATION (the “1ssuer”) and 115 successors and assigns as the ewner and holder of &
nate of cven date herewith (who shall be included within the term “Beneficiary”, “assignee”™ and “Secured
Party™ as used hereinafter), in the siated original aggregate principal amount of $27,010,000 (the “Note™}
executed by the Granter and payable to Tssuer, which Note together with the liens securing the same are
being assigned and ransferred by assigoment of even date herewith 1o THE Bank 0¥ NEw YORK TRUST
COMPANY, N.A., a nalional banking association, as trustee (the “Indenture Trustee™) under a Bond
Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement dated as of January 1, 2007 (the “Bond Indenture™) between
the lssuer and the Indenture Trustee, whose mailing address is 600 North Pearl, Suite 420, Dallas, Texas
75201 (Amention: Corporate Trust Department), aod any successor mustes appointed pursuant o the
Bond Indenture

WITNESSETH:

WIHEREAS, the Issuer desires to finance and refimance the costs of the Project (heremafier
defined) throwgh the issuance of tax-exempt bands by the Tssuer; and

WHEREAS, pursuant 10 and in accordance with the Act (hertinafter defined), the Issuer has
determined o issue and sell its Refunding Revenue Bands {Army Retiremcent Kesidence Foundation
Project) Series 2007, in the original aggregate prncipal amount of $27,010,000 (the “Bonds”). The net
procesds of the sale of the Ronds, after payment of costs of issvence and the funding of ¢entain reserves,
shall be advanced to the Supporting Foundation pursuant lo (he terms of the Note and the Loan
Agreement dated as of Japuary 1, 2007 between  the Tgsuer and the Supporting Foundation and shall be
used to fimance and refimance the ¢osts of the Projeet; and

WHERLAS, ¢ertain equipment and furnishings in the Supponing Foundation's facilitics is owned
by the ARC; and

WHEREAS, pursuant 1o the Bond Indenture, the Issuer will assign its rights under the Documents
{ i defined) to the Ind ‘Trustee, excluding however, the 1ssuer’s Reserved Rights; and

WHEREAS, the Supporting Foundation and the ARC have cxecuted this Deed of Trust 1o
provide secunity for the perfommance by the Supporting Foundaticn of all of the Scewred Obligations

20015

“Collateral” means all of the security for the Lean described i this Derd of Trust und in all of the
other Dacuments, logether with all Proceeds and products thereof and Additions thereto.

“Condemnation” means any taking of title, of use, or of any other property interest under the
exercise of the power of eminent domain, by any govemmenta! body or by any persen acting under
Eovernmental authority.

“Dantage” means (a) any damage, destruction or other imjury (in whole ar in part} by fire or other
casualty, and (b) any Condemmation. “Damaged” means (y) damaged, destrayed, or injured (in whole or
in part) by fire or other casualty, or (2) aken by Condemnation.

“Ded of Trust" means this ideed of Trust, Assignment of Rents and Leases, and Sceuriry
Agrecment, together with all Sapplements hereta.

“Documents” means and includes (without Kmitatior) the Bends, the Loan Agreement, the Note,
the Bond Indenturs, the Master Indenture, the Assignwent of Note, Liens, Security Jaterests, and Other
Documents, this Deed of Trust, and any and ali other documents which the Issuer, the Granter, or any
ather party or partics or their representatives, have executed and delivered, or may herealter execute and
dediver, 10 create, evidence or secwre the Secured Obligations, or any part thereol, or in conncction
therewith, together with all Supplements theroto.

“Encumbrance” means any deed of wust, mortgage, pledge, Jien, scourity interest, charge or other
encumbranee, including but not limited o any covenant or agreement restricting, regulating or otherwise
affecting the use of the Land or the Mongaged Propertics.

“Equipment” means all building materals, fixwres, equipment and tangible prrsonal property of
every kind and nature whatsoever of the Grantor, whether affixed or not, now owned or hezealter acquired
by the Grantor and wherever located, including all Equipment now or hereafler located or contained in or
upen or attached 10 the Land or the Impravements or any part thercof, together with all Additions thereto
and all Proceeds and products thereof.

“Event of Default™ means, including with respect 1o the Master Indenture, those events of default
specified in Section 4.01 thereof; with respect te the Bond Indenture, those events of defaull spevified in
Scction 6.01 thereof; and, with respect to this Deed of Trust, fhose events of default specified in Section
8.1

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state or local g 1l Or quasi-g:
crmty having jurisdicrion over. rhe Projecl, mcludmg, without hmxtauon any ageney, department,
beard, burcau, ad service, or other instrumentality of any governmental entity.

“Grantor” mecans, together, Army Retirement Residence Supportng Foundation, a Texas nen-
profit corporation, and jts successors and assigns, and The Army Retizemnent Residence Foundation-Sen
Antopi, a2 Distet of Columbia non-profit corperation, and its successors and assigns.

“Gross Negligence™ means gross neghigence or willful misconduct.

“Holder™ or “l{olders", as applicable, means the heneficial owner or owners from time to time of
the Bonds, their suceessors and registered assigns

"Improvements” mrans all structures or buildings now or hereafter erected or placed on the Land,
including without limitation, the Project, and all Additions thereto.
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(hereinafier defined), imcluding the Secured Obligalion to pay amounts necessary lo permit the lssuer to
pay the debt service requirements on the Bands,

NOW, THEREFORE, for valuzble i the mufual
herein and in further consideration of the issuance and sale of the Bonds by the Gruntor and the financing
and refinancing of the Projeet, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Grantor
agrees as follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1.1 Delinitions, Certain terms used in this Deed of Trust are defined in his
Seetion. When used herein, such terms shatl have the meanings given to them in this Section, unless
specifically provided otherwise or unloss the comtext clearly indicates otherwise. Further, references to
the Uniform Commercial Code are to the law prier to fhe passage of the Revised Article 9 of the Uniform
Commercial Code (Chapter 9, Texas Business and Commerce Code, as in force without regard to the
Revised Article 9 of the Uniferm Commercial Code). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein
shall have the meanings assigned them in the Bond Indenture.

"Accounts” means all accounts of the Gramtor, both now owned and hereafier acquired, together
with al! cash and non-cash proceeds thercof.

"Act" means the Texas Health Facilities Development Corporations Act, Chapter 221, as
amended, Texas Health and Safety Code, and ali future acts 1 ry thereto or datory thereof.

“Additions™ means any and all alterations, additions, accessions and improvements (o property,
substitutions therefor, and renewals and replacements therool.

“Agent” means, with respeet 1o any entity, aoy official, offlcer, employes or agent of such entity.

“Agplicable Rate” means the applicable rates of mterest payable by the Grantor under the Bonds
from time to time.

*Assignment of Note, Liens, Sccurity Interests, and Cther Documents * means the Assignrnent of
Note, Lienis. Security Interests, and Other Documents dated as of the date hereof from the Issuer 1o the
Indenturs Trusice, pursuant te which the Tssuer assigns o the Indenture Trustee all of its interest in this
Deed of Trust and cerain ather Gocuments (except for certain rights of the Issuer),

“Beneficiary” means the holder of the Note (including the Issuer, the Indeamre Trustee, and their
succgssors and assigns).

“Bond Indenture™ means the Bond Indenturc of Trust and Security Agrecment dated as of the
date bereof berween the Issuer and the Tndenture Trustec.

“Bonds” means the [ssoer's $27,010,000 Refunding Revenue Bonds (Ammy Reurement
Residence Foundetion Project) Series 2007 dated as of the date hereof 2nd issued end delivered on the
Closing Date, together with all replacements and Supplements thereto. Individual Bonds are sometimes
hereinafter referred to in the singular as a "Bond™.

“Closing Date™ meuns the date of initial delivery of the Bunds.
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“Indehiedness” means all sums of moncy secured by this Deed of Trust, including

(4) all money (including al! principal, interest, and premiums (2 any)} due or to become
due urder the Loan Agreement or the Note,

(b} all other money now or herealler advaneed or expended by the Trustee, the Indenture
Trustee, the Issuer or fhe Beneficiary as provided for herein or in any other of the Docaments,
which the (rantor is required 10 tepay or reimburse hereunder, under any of the other Do:umenls
of by applicable jaw, and

(¢} all costs, expenses, charges, liabilities, commissions, half-commissions and
atlomeys’ fees now or bereafter chargeable te the Grantor, or incwred by, or disbursed by, the:
Trustee, the Issuer, (he denture Trustee of the Beneficiary on behalf of the Grantor as provided
for heremn, or in any of the other Documents, which the Grantor is required to pay, repay or
reimburse hereunder, under any of the other Dacuments, or by applicable law,

“Indemnity Payments” shall have the meaning given that term in the Bond Indenture.

“Indenture Trustee” means The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A. | acting as trusiee under
the Bond Indenture, and its successors and assigns.

“Instrument” o “Instruments” means all instruments of the Grantor, together with (a) all money
due and to become dug thereunder, and (b) a1l cash and non-cash praceeds of all of the foregoing.

“Lease” or "Leases” have fhe meaning given such terms in Section 5.1,
“Licenses” means ali Licenses, operating permits, franchiscs, and other approvals which the

Grantor has oblzmmd or is required by any Governmental Authority to obtain in connection with the
ing, leasing, ownership and/or operation of the Project

P

“Loan Agresment” means (he Loan Agreement dated as of the date hercof exceuted between the
Issuer and the Grantor.

“Master Trustec” means The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A., acting as trustee under
the Master Indenture, and its successors and assigns.

“Master Indenture” means the Master Indenture of Trust and Security Agreement dated as of the
date hereof between the Grentor and the Master Trustes,

“Netl Proceeds”, when used with respect to any Condcmnallon awards or \nsurancc proceads
allacable o the Project, means the gross proceeds from C ar after
payment of all expenses (including attomeys” fees) incurred in the callection of such gross proceeds.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means (i) the Loan Agreement and this Decd of Trust, {ii) any other
encumbrances listed in the Title Policy as of the date of the Bond Closing, (ii1) any liens, taxes or other
govermmental charges which are not yeu due and payable; (iv) any lieo, inchuding, but net limited 10,
mechanies’ liens, or olher lens tesulting from a good faith dispuie on the pant of the Grantor, which
dispute the Grantor agrees to resolve dilipently, unless the Indenture Trustee determines the pnority of the
lien of this Deed of Trust on any part of the Project would be endangered or any part of the Project would
be subject to loss or forfeiture, and, within five (5] Business Days following written notice of such
determination, the Grantor shall not have cither satisfivd (he claims giving nise to such liens or posted &
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bend or ebtained an insurance policy to cover such tien; {v) ether licns or ¢encumbrances, including liens
or pledges subprdinate to the lien of the Deed of Trust; and (vi) easements and rights-of-way granted by
Grantor to utility providers and the City of San Antonio, Texas in connection with Ihe planing of the
Project.

“Proceeds” or “proceeds” means, when used with respect to any of the Collateral, all proceeds
within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code and shall include the proceeds of any and all
insurance policies.

"Projecl” means the Project described in the Bund Indenture.

“Property Tuxes” means all taxes, payments in licu of laxes, water rents, sewer rents, ground
rents, assessments and ather govemnmental or municipal or public or private dues, charges and levies and
any liens {including federal tax Kens) which are or may be levied, imposed or assessed opan the Project or
any part thereof or any of the other Collateral, or upon any Leases, or upen the rents, issues, income or
praiits thereof, whether any or all of the aforementioned be levied directly or indirectly ot as excise taxes.
a5 mcome taxes, or ofherwise.

“Reimbursement Rights" means (a) the rights of the Issver, the Trustee, {h: ]ndcumre ‘Trusteg, the
Master Trustee, and the Benefloiary w6 reccive and ind pursuant to the
Dacuments, and (b) all enforcement remedias with respect 1o the foregoing, all of which shall survive any
tramsfer ot payment of the Bonds in full or in part and, if so indicated in this Deed of Trust, in the Lean
Agteement, the Bond Indenture, or the Masler Indenture, which shall also survive the termination of this
Deed of Trust or the Loan Agresment, the Bond Indenture, or the Master indenture, as applicable.

“Requisite Percentage of Holders™ meuns the Holder or Holders of not less than & majority in
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then cutstanding.

“Secured Obligations™ means the obligations of the Grantor under the Note, the Bonds, the Bond
Indenture, this Deed of Trust, the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, and the other Docusments, ta (a)
pay amounts ncogssary 16 permit the Issver to pay the principal of, premium (if any) and interest on the
Bonds, when and as the same shall beeeme due and payablc (whether at the stated maturity thercof, on
any installment payment date, or by acceleration of maturity, ar after notice of redomption or otherwise),
(b} pay all other payments (if any) required by the Bonds, the Bond Tndenture, the Loan Agreement, the
Master Indenture, this Deed of Trust, and the other Documents to which it is 2 party to be paid by the
Grantor 1o the Issuer, the Trustee, the Indenture Trustee, the Masier Trustee, the Holders or to others,
when and 25 the same shall beeome due and payable, and (<) timely perform, chserve and comply with all
of the terms, covenants, conditions, stipulations and agreements, exptess ot implied, which the Grantor is
required by the Bonds, the Bond Indenture, the Master Indenture, or any of the other Documents 16 which
it is a party, 1o perform and cbserve; and reimburse the Benediciary for any sums advanced by Beneficiary
a3 contemplated by the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, and this Deed of Trust and the other
Cocuments.

“Stat™ means the State of Texas,

“Supplements™ means any and all extensions, renowals, modifications, amendments, supplements
and substitutions.

"Taxes™ means 21l faxes, assessments and governmental chargys or levies imposed upun the
applicable Person or en its income or its properties, including, witheut limitation, all Property Taxes.
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inclading any after-ocquired Tight, title or reversion, in and to the beds of the ways, streets,
avenues and alleys adjoining the Land subject to the Permitted Encumbrances, and all
Improvements

(b} furniture, furnishings, fixtures, equipment and other goods necessary for or used in
connection with the use (or propoesed use) of the Project andfor the Improvements, and all
appurenances and addinons thersto and renewals, an ]
thereof, all of the foregoing as now owned or hereafter acquired by the Grantor, wherover
situated, and now or hereafter located on, attached to, contained in, or used or usabic tn
comnection with the Projeet and/or the Improvements or placed on any part thercof, though not
attached thereto, including all sereens, awmings, shades, blinds, curtams, drapencs <arpets, Tugs,
furniture and furnishinps, heating, cicetrical, lighting, plumbi; air
refrigerating, incincrating and/or compacting plants, systenis, fixturcs and equipment, elevators,
hoists, stoves, ranges, vacuum and other cleaning systems, call systems, sprinkder systems and
other fire prevention and extinguishing apparatus, and materials, motors, machinery, pipes, ducts,
conduits, dynamos, engines, compressors, penerators, botlers, stokers, fumaces, pumps, tanks,
apphanct,s equipment, i ittings, and ﬁxtums‘ lackers, exercise and fitness equipment, scales,

and lcul: cash registers, tables, chairs, pianos,
satellite dlshcs Ielevisians, l:lc'phnnzs maid carts, all kitchen equipment (including kitchen
utensils, china ware and glassware) towels, drapes, rmmb!mds Jinens, bedspreads, pillows, robes,
und alt building materials and now ar hereafter deli d ta the Praject and intended o
be installed therein; exchiding however, ail persanal property owned by lessees or vendors and
intangibles owned by third parties. The Grantor shall have the right 4o replace wom or obsolete
material items of persanal property {including items that have become fixtures) provided that (i)
notice is given to the Indenture Trustee of such removal and replacement and setting out the
property that is 1o replace such worn or obsolete item and (i) the replacement property is cqual to
o7 berter than the property remaved with respect to quality, utility and function or is teasonably
helieved to promete greater operating cfficiency for the Project or 10 save operating expenses.

{c) Leases {as hereinafter defined), the Rems (as hereinafter defined), and all rents,
revenues, profits, inceme, damﬂgﬂs‘ BWards. and proceeds from or awributable 1o all or any
partion of the Land h 1 ibud, the Impy and any ather property, both real
and personal, hereinabove described.

(d} money, funds, and accounts of the Grantor, deposits (incloding lessee security
deposils), instruments, documents, general intangibles, notes, and chattel paper arising from or by
wvirtus of any transaction related (o the Project, the Tmprovemenis, of any of the Personal Property
(hereinafter defined), subject to Section 5.1, prior to distibution of any of the foregoing to the
Grantor and except for balances in accounts that are subject to draw by the Grantor for approved
draws under the Loan Agreement and amounts allocated to ordinary expenses for payment by any
manager of the Project.

{e) appunenances and uddmum (o the ilems of tangible personal property described
herein and bel renewals, and tepl thereet and therefor; and, if the
licn and security interest granted by this Deed chrusl is subject to any security interest in said
persenal property, all right, tidle, and intercst of the Grantor as the Grantor, now or hereafter
arising, in and to any and all said property is hereby assigned to the Beneficiary ss the
Beneficiary, together with the benefits of all deposits and payments now or hereafter made
thereon by or on behalf of the Grantor; excluding, however, 2l personal praperty owned by
tenants of Ihe Improvements,
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ARTICLE 2
RULES OF CONSTRUCTION

SECTION 2.1 Rules of Construction. Thg words “hereof™, “herein”, “hereunder”™, “hereto”,
and ather words of similar impon refor to this Deed of Trust in its entirety.

(z) “Including” means “including, but not limited to™

{b) Refcrences o Articies, Sections, and ather subdivisiuns of this Deed of Trust arc ta
the designated Asticles, Sections and other subdivisions of this Deed of Trust as origimally
exeguted.

{c} The headings of this Deed of Trust are for convenience only and shall not define or
limit the provisions hereof.

¢d) All references made (a) in the neuter, masewline of feminine gender shall be deemed
ta have been made in all such genders, and (b) in the singular or plural number shall be deemed 1o
have been madz, respectively, in the plucal or singular number as well.

SECTION 2.2 Recita . The Gramor acknewladges that
the Recitals coniained heseinabove are true and correct and agrees that the same are incorporated herew
as a substantive part of this Deed of Trust.

ARTICLE 3
SECURED OBLIGATIONS

SECTION 3.1 Deed of Trust Secures Described Indebleduess, This Deed of Trust is
executed and delivered by the Grantor (o secure (he payment and performance of the Secured Obligations;
however, the Secured Obligations shall not include and there is expressly excepted therefrom any items
of indebtcdness owing or to beoome owing to the Beneficwary for which applicable law prohibits the
taking of a lien upon teel estate as secutity, including, but net limited to, ilems of indebtedness inpured
pursuant 1o Chapter 4 or 15 of the Texas Credit Code as same be amended or recodified. Each and every
item of the Secured Obligations including any and all renewals, rearrangements and extensions of all or
any part of the Indebtedness described and included in this Section is imtended 1o be fully secured by the
liens, assignments, and security interasts created under and by virue of this Decd of Trust

ARTICLE 4
‘GRANT OF MORTGAGED PROPERTIES

SECTION 4,1 For the purposes and trusts beremafier set
forth, and for TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($10.00) and other valuable consideration paid to the
Grantor, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hercby acknowledged, the Grantor has GRANTED,
SOLD, and CONVEYED, and by these presents does GRANT, S8ELL, and CONVEY, unte the Trustee,
all the following described property {collectively, the "Mortgaged Properties™), to wit:

(a) those certain macy(s) or parcel(s) of land (the “T.and™) being situated in Bexar County,
Texas, being more fully described as set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and hereby referred 1o
and incorporated herein for all purposes, wgether with all right, title and interest of the Grantor,
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() other articles of personal property, tangible or intungible (tegether with those items
described in subsections (b), {¢), and (g), colleetively, the “Personal Property') now er hereafter
attached to or used in or aboul the Improvements or that are necessary or vscful for the complete
and comfortable use and occupancy of the lmprovements for the purpeses for which they ere o
be attached, placed, crected, constrected or developud, er which Personzi Preperty is or may be
used in or related to the planning, development, finaneing or operation of the Improvements, and
all renewals of or replaccments gr substitutions for any of the foregoing, whether or not the same
ars or shall be atiached to the Land or Improvements.

(g} building materials and equipment now or hercaficr delivered w0 and intended 10 be
installed in or on the Land or the improvements.

{h) coplrets how or hereafter eatered into by and between the Grantor and the Original
Contracter {as such erm is defined by §53.001 of the TEX. PROF. CODE ANN., as amended) or
between the Grzntor and any other party, as well as all right, title und interest ol the Grantor
under any subcontmcts, provided for the construction (origingl, restorative or otherwise) of any
improvements to or on any of ihe Land or the furnishing of any matenals, suppiies, equipment or
labor 1n connection with such construction.

(i) right, title and imtercst of the Grantor in and to all plans, specifications and drawings
of the Improvements {inctuding, but not limited to, plat pians, foundation plans, floor plans,
elevations, framing plans, tion of walls, hanit plans, elecrical plans and

i and ing plans, and arch [ i studics and analysis} heretofore
or hereafter prepared by any architect or any engrineer, relating to any of the Land.

() right, utle and imterest of the Grantor in and o Il] _3BTeEMENts now oF hereafter
entered into and with any party, including any assigned relating to
engincering, management, development or consulting services rendered or 1o be rendered relating
to planning, design, mspecton or supervision of the or devel of
any of the Land.

{X) completion bond, performance bond or labor and matenal payment bond or other
bond relating to the Land or to any contract providing for construction of Improvements (o the
Land.

(i) Granter's rights (but nut ils obligations) under any contracts relating to the Land, the
Improvements, or the Personal Property.

{m) night, title, and interest of the Grantor in and 10 all contracts, penmits, certificates,
iicenses, approvals, wtility deposits, utility capacity, and atility rights issued, granted zgreed upon,
or o!h:rw:s: provided by any govemnmental or private authority, persen or cntity relating to the

devel ion, operation, keting, sale or use of the Land
andror lhc ]mprovemmls including alt of the Grantor’s rights and privileges herete or hereafter
othenwise arising in connection with or pertaining to the Land andfor the Improvements,
including, without limiting the penerality of the forcpoing, all water andfer sewer capacity, all
waler, sewer and/or other ulility deposits or prepaid fees, andlor all water andlor sewer and/or
other utility tap rights or other utility rights, any right or privilege of the Grantor under zny Joan
commitment, lease, contract, management confract, Service contract, warranty and compuler
softwere related to the Project, or other agreement with any third party pertaining to the
ownership, developinent, construction, operation, mammienance, marketing, sale, or use of the
Land and/or the Improvements.
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(n) proceeds arising from or by virtuc of the sale, lease or other disposition of the Land.
the Improvements or (he Personal Property.

{0} Met Proceeds (including premium refunds) of each pelicy of insurance reluting to the
Land, the Improvements or the Persenal Property.

(p) Met Proceeds from the taking of any of the Lund, the Improvements, the Personal
Property or any rights appurtenant thereto by right of eminent domain or by private or other
purchase in lieu thercof, imcluding ¢hange of grade of strésts, curb cuts or other dghts of aceess,
for any public or quasi-public use under any law.

{q) right, tile and intcrest of the Grantor in and to all sirects, roads, public places,
easements and rights-of-way, existing or proposed, public or private, adjacent 10 or used in
connection with, belonging or pertaining lo the Land.

10 the forcgoing.

{t) rights, and app p

{s) imterests of every kind and charzcter that the Grantor now has or at any Bme hereafier
acquires in and to the Land, Improvements, and Personal Property desenibed herein and all
property that ix used or useful in connection therewith, including nights of ingress and cgress and
all reversionary rights or interests of fhe Grantor wilh respect to such. property.

TO RAVE AND TO HOLD the hareinabove described properties, together with the rghts,

privileges, and appurtenances thcn:to belonging (all of which propertics, rights, privileges, and

are hereinafier collectively called the “Mi d Propertics™), unto the Trustee and to its

substitutes or successors forever, and the Grantor does herehy bind itself, its successors, assigns, and kegai

Tepresentatives w warrant and forever defend all and sivgutar the Mortgaged Propertics unto the Trustee,

his successors and assigns, against every person whomsoever fawfully claiming or 1o claim the same, or
any part thereof, subject only 1o the Permined Encumbrances.

SECTION 4.2 . Without in any
way limiting the above conveyance and the warrangy herein contained, the Grantor represents itself to be
the owner of all the Mortgaged Properties as heremabove conveyed and, should any ambiguity exist in
regard {0 the description of said properties, refarance may be had to the Grantor's ownership of properties
held by i1 in the survey(s), subdivision(s) or sechon(s) described in attached hereto and made a
part hercof for further description of the propertics hercin conveyed, the Granlor agrees that it will, upon
reques{ by the holder of the Qccured Obiigations, execule any funher instruments, amendments, or

desired to more ad ]y describe the Mortgaged Properties which it has agreed to make
subject 1o this Deed of Trust

SECTION 4.3 . This eonveyance, however, is intended as
a deed of trust and security agreement and is made upon the following trusts, terms, 2nd conditions, (o
wit: In the event the Grantor shall well and tuly perform and pay the Sccured Obligations (inciuding
payment of all principal and all interest and attomeys’ fees and oiher amounts, if any, owing or 10 become
Gwing thereon) to the legal holder thereof when the same shall become due or muke provision for such
payiment such that there are no Secuted Obligations that are cutstanding, then this Deed of Trust and all
herecin contained shall be null and veid and shali be released at the Granter's cost and expense, otherwise
this Decd of Trust shall continue in full force and effect; however, the Secured Gbligation to indemnify
and hold harmless the Beneficiary, the Trustee, the Indenture Trustes, the Holders, the Master Trustee,
and their respective officers, directors, emplayecs, agenis, and attomeys pursuant to the provisions hereol
shall survive any such payment or release.
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SECTION 5.3 Affirmative Covenants. The Grantor shall, at the sole cost and expensc of

the Grantor:

t8) duly and punctually obserwe, perform snd discharge, all of the material obligations,
TCITS, covenants, conditions and warrantice of the Iessor under the Leases; and

{b} give prompt notice to the Beneficiary of any failere on the part of the Gramtor 1o
observe, perform and discharge the same or of any claim made by any lessee of any such failure
by the Grantor, but only to the extent that such failure, or alleged failure is a material obligation
of the Grantor under the [ezses; and

(c) enforce in accordance with sound commercial practices the Leases, or secure the
performance of ¢ach and every obligation, term, vovenant, condition and agreement in the Leases
te be performed by any lessee or any guarantor, and

(d) usc its best efforts to keep the Mortgaged Properties leased ar a sufficient rental and
on other lerms and conditions reasonably acceptable to the Beneficiary; and

{e) at the request of the Benefloiary, execute @ writlen mstrument cvidencing that the
ights, title, and imerest of the Grantor in and to, but nonc of its obligations, responsibilities or
Tiabilities refating to such future Leases have been transferred and assigned to the Beneficiary in
aceordance with the terms and cenditions as herein contained; and

(f) make, exceute and deliver to the Beneficiary upon demand and at any time or times,
any and all assif and other d and other which the Bencficiary may
deem advizsable to carry out the tmge purposcs and intent of this assignment.

SECTION 5.4 . The Grantor shall not, tavept in compliance with the
Eond Indenture or the Leuses, and except as noted below and in the ordinary course of business:

(2} consent to any sublemting of Mortgaged Properties or any part lher:of to any
assignment of any Leascs by any lesses th der, 10 any or further subl of any
sublease; or

(b} pledge, tansfer, morigage or otherwise cncumber or assign or permit an
encumbrance upen future payments of Rents or any other interest of the Grantor in the Leases
except as penmilted by the Loan Agreement.

SECTION 5.5 Subjecr to the License as deseribed and
limited in Section 5.2, the Granior herehy constifates and appoints the Beneficiery the true and lawful
attomey-in-faet, coupied with an interest, of the Grantor, empowered and authorized in the name, place
and stead of the Grantar t0 demand, sue for, attach, levy, recover and receive the Rents, or any premmium
or penzlty payable upon the exercise by any lessee under any Leases of & privilege of cancellation
originally provided in any such Leases, and to give proper receipls, releases, and acquittaness (herefor
and, after deducling expenses of collection, to zpply the nel proceeds as 2 credit upon any portion of the
Securcd Obligations sclected by the Beneficiury, notwithstanding the fact that such portion of the Secured
Obligations may nol then be dug and payable or that such portion of the Secured Obligations is ntherwise
adequately secured; and the Granter docs hereby authorize and direct any such lessee to deliver such
payment 10 the Beneficiary, in accordance with this assignment, and the Grantor hereby tatifies and
confirms all that its said attomey-in-fact shall do ur cause to be done by vittue of the powers granted
hereby. The foregoing appointment is imevocable and continuing and such rights, powers and privileges
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ARTICLE 3
ABSIGNMENT OF RENTS

SECTION 5.1 - The Grantor dees herchy GRANT, TRANSFER, ASSIGN and
SET OVER unto the Beneficiary, its successors and assigns, the following:

{4) alt rights, interests and estates of the Grantor in, to and under, but none of its
abligations, responsibilitics, or Yiabilitics related to, any leases, now or herealior made, executod.
or delivered, whether written or verbal, covering all or any portion of the Land, or the
Imprevements now or hereafter erected or construcled Uwereon, or any olber portion of the
Morigaged Properties, together with sl renewsls, extensions, modificetions and replacements
thereof (such lease agreements, renewals, extensions, modifications and replacements thercof
being hereinaller collectively called the “Leases™); and

(b) all rents, rentals, security deposits, voyaltits, bonuses, issues, profils, revenue,
income, and other sums of money or bencfits that may now or hereafier be derived from 1he
Morgaged Properties, bul none of its obligations, responsibilities, or Habilitics related 1o, or
arising from the use or enjoyment of any portion thereof, or from any lease pertaining thereto,
including but not limited te, liguidated damages arising from any default under a lease, amounts
that may be collected from any guaranier of 2 lease, any proceeds payable under any insurance
policy covering loss of rents, and any and all gghts that the Grantor may have agsinst any lessee,
guaranter or sublessee under such Leases (hereinafter collzctively called the “Rents™).

The partics intend to establish an absolute ransfer and assignment of all the rights, title, and
interest of the Grantor in and to, but nene of its obligations, respansibilities or liabilities relating to the
Leases and the Rents 16 the Beneficiary and not just lo create z security inlerest,

SECTIONS.2 Limited License. Although this assignment constitutes an absolute, present
and current assignment of all Leascs and Rents, se long as there exists no Event of Default hereander (as
dcfined in Article 8.1), the Grantor shall have the right under a limited licensc granted hereby, and the
Beneficiary hereby grants to the Grantor a limiled license (the “License™ 1o colicet (but not more than
one month in advance or two months in advance where anc month's rental is atribuable to the next
ensuing mouth and onc month’s rental is atuibutable to the Tast monih in the lease term, if any, and is
collected as security under the provisions of a written lease or rental agreement) all of the Rents ansing
from or out of the Leases or any renewals or extenstons thereof, or from or out of the Mortgaged
Properties or any part thereof. The Grantor shali receive such Rents and hold them in trust and as a trust
fund to be applied, and the Grantor hereby covenants to apply the Rents so collecied, fitst, o the
salisfaction and discharge of the Secured Obligations and, second, 1o the satisfaction and discharge of ali
obligations under the Leases; thereafter, so long as there exists no Event of Default hereunder or under
any of the other decuments cvidencing or sceuring the Secured Obligations the Granior may use the Rents
in any manner provided in the Loan Agreement. The License shell be revoked automatically upon the
occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder or under any of the documents ewidencing or securing the
Secured Obligations, but to the extent the Grantor continues to collect the Rents after an Event of Default,
the Gramtor shall continue o hald the Rents in wust for the benefit of the Bemeficiary. Upon the
aceurrence znd continuation of an Event of Defaull, the Grantor shall canse the tenants under the Leases
1o pay Rents by cheek payahle to the order of the Grantor or a name designated by the Grantor. Any such
payment 1o the Beneficiary shall constitute payment to the Grantor under the Leases, and the Grantor
hereby appoints the Beneficiary as the Grantor’s lawful attomey-in-fagt, coupled with an interest, for
giving, #:1d is hereby cmpowered to give, acquiltances 1o any tenants for such paymenis and 1o give the
Grantar's endorsemment to any ¢heek made payable to the Grantor,
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shal] be exclusive in the Beneficiary, its suceessors and assigns, €0 long as any part of the Sccured
Ghligations secured hereby remains unpard and undischarged. A lossee necd not inguire dnto the
authurity of the Beneficiary to coliect any Rents, and its obligations to pay Rents (o the Grantor shall b
absolutely discharged to the extent of any payment to the Beneliciary. Subject 1o the License. the Grantor
hereby constitutes and appoints the Beneficiary the true and tawful anomey-in-fact, coupled with an
interest, of the Grantor, empowered and authorized in the name and stead of the Grantor to subject and
subordinate al any time any Leases or any part thereof to the lien and security interest of this Deed of
‘Trust and the Loan Agreement, or to reguest or Tequire such subordination in any case where the Grantor
otherwise would have the right, power or privilege so to do, and to cause some or all of the provisians of
any Leuses that are subordinate ta the Jien and sceunity interest of the Deed of “I7ust to become superior to
this Deed of Trust and the Loan Apreement. The foregoing appomtmcnl is irrevecable and continuing
and such rights, powers and privileges shall be exclusive in the Y. its and assgns, so
long as any Secured Obligations secured bereby remain unpaid and discharped, and the Grantor herehy
warrants that the Grantor hag not at eny Lime prior to the date hercof exercised any such right, and the
Grantor hereby covenants nol to exercise any such right, to subordinate any such Leases to the licr of this
Deed of Trust, the Loan Agreement, or to any other mortgage, deed of wust or security agraement or 10
any ground lease.

SECTION 5.6 Default. If an “Event of Default” under the Secured Obligations or any of
the documents evidencing er securing the Secured Obligations shall have oceurred, or if he Granter shall
fuii 1o make any payment or fail Io perform any ather obli , covenant or ined in this
assignment, or il there pccurs an Event of Default as defined in this Deed of Trusi, then the Beneficiary
may, al its option, but subject to the prior wrilten conscnl of the Owners of preater than fifty percent
(50%) of the Qutstanding Bonds, and shall at 1he wricten direction of the Owners of greater than filty
prrcent (50%) of the Quistanding Bonds, without notice and without regard to the adequacy of security
for the Seeured Obligations hereby scoured, terminate the License, and cither in persen or by agent, with
or without bringing any action or proceedings, or by a receiver 1o be appointed by court, enter upon, take
possession of, manege and operate the Mortgaged Properties or any pertion thereof; make, cancel, enforce
or madify Leases 10 the same exteat that the Grantor could do; ebiain and eviet lessees, and fix or modify
Rents, and do any acls whmh the Beneficiary decms proper 0 protect the sccarity hereof; and cither with
ar without taking of the ged P , in its 0wn name sue for or otherwise collent
and receive such Rents (including lessee's security deposits and Rents that arc past due and unpaidy, and
apply the same, loss costs and gxpenses of operation and collection, including attomeys® fees, upon any
Sccured Obligations sccured hereby, in such order as the Beneficiary may determine subject to the
provisions of the Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture. Upon demand by the Beneficiary, the Grantor
shall deliver to the Bereficiary all lessees’ security deposits which the Grasitor has in its possession or
control. The entering upon and taking possession of the Morigaged Propertics or the collection of the
Rents and Security deposils and the application theseof as aforesaid, shall not cure or waive any default
under the documents evidencing or securing the Secured Obligations, or waive, modify or affeet notice of
an Event of Default under this Deed of Trust or the documents evidencing or securing the Secured
Obligatons, or invalidate any #¢t done pursuant to such netice. The Benefictary may exercise its rights
under this paragraph as often as any such Event of Default may occur, and the exercise of such right shatl
nol constitute a waiver of any of the other remedies of the Beneficiary under this Deed of Trust or other
dncument evideocing or securing the Sceurcd Obligations.

SECTION 5.7 . It is understood that the Beneficiary's
acceptance of this assignment shall not operate 10 place respensibility for the contrel, ¢are, management
ar repair of the Morigaged Properties upon the Beneficiary, nor for the catrying out of any of the terms
and cenditions of said Leases; nor shall it apcrate to make the Beneficiary responsible or liable for any
wasle committed on the Mortgaged Properties by the lessces or any other parties, or for any dangerous or
defective vonditien of the Mortgaged Properties, or for any negligenee in the management, upkeep, repair
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or control of the Morigaged Properfies resulting in Joss, injury or death to the Grantor of any lessee,
licensee, employee or stranger. The Beneficiary shall not be liable for any less sustaincd by the Grantor
resulting from the Beneficiary's failure 1o Jet the Mortzaged Properties after default or from any other act
of omission of the Beneliciary in dealing with the Mortgaged Properties alter defmult. The Beneficiary
shall not be obligated 1o perform or discharge, nor does the Beneficiary hereby undettake to perform or
discharge, eny obhigation, duty or liability under any of the Leases or under or by rcason of this
assignment and TEE GRANTOR RELEASES THE ISSUER, THE CUUNTY, THE TRUSTEE, AND THE
INDENTURE TRUSTEE FROM, AGREES THAT THE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, THE TRUSTEE, AND THE
INDENTURE TRUSTEE SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR, ANIF INDEMNIFIES THE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, THE
TRUSTEE, AND THE INDENTURE TRUSTEE AGAINST, ALL LIABILITIES, LOSSES, DAMAGES (INCLUDING
REASONABIF. ATTORNEYS' FEES), CAUSES OF ACTION, SUITS, CLAIMS, COSTS AND EXPENSES,
DEMANDS AND TUDGMENTS OF ANY KATURE IMPOSED LPON OR ASSERTED AGAINST THE iSSUER, THE
CounTy, THE TRUSTEE, OR THE INDENTURE TRUSTEE, ON ACCOUNT OF () ANY LOSS O DAMAGE TD
PROPERTY OR INJURY 10 OR DEATH OF OR LOSS #Y ANY PERSON THAT MAY BE OCCASIONED BY ANY
CAVSE WHATSOEVER PERTAINING TO THE CONSTRUCTION, MATNTENANCE, OPERATION AND USE OF
TEE PROJECT; (i} ANY BREACH OR DEFAULT ON THE PART OF THE GRANTOR IN THE FERFORMANCE
OF ANY COVENANT OK AGREEMENT OF THE GRANTOR UNDER TIIS DEED OF TRUST, THE LOAN
DOCUMENTS UR ANY RELATED BOCUMENT, OR ARISING FROM ANY ACT OR FAILURE TG ACT BY THE
GRANTOR, OR ANY OF ITS AGENTS, CONTRACTORS, SERVANTS, EMPLOYEES, TENANTS OR LYCENSEES;
{ili) VIOLATHIN BY THE GRANTOR, ANY PARTNER OF THE GRANTOR OR ANY AFFILIATE THEREOF OF
ANY LAW, ORDINANCE OR REGULATION AFFECTING THE OWNERSHIP, OCCUPANCY OR USE OF THE
PROJECT] (I¥) THE AUTHORIZATION, ISSUANCE AND SALE OF THE BONDS, AND THE PROVISION OF
ARY INFORMATION FURNISHED BY TIIE GRANTOR IN CONNECTION THEREWITH CONCERNING TIIE
PROJECT OR THE GRANTOR OR ARISING FROM (1) ANY ERRORS OK OMISSIONS OF ANY NATURE
WHATSOEVER SUCH THAT THE BONDS, WIIEN DELIVERED TO THE BONDOWNERS, ARE NOT VALIDLY
1SSUED AND HINDING GHLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER, OR (2) ANY FRAULF GR MISREPRESENTATIONS OR
OMISSIONS CONTAINED IN THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE ISSUER OR THE INDENTURE TRUSTLE, IN
EITHER CASE WITH RESPECT TO, OR A5 A RESULT OF, MATERIALS FURNISHED IN WRITING BY THE
CRANTOR RELATING TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS WHICH, IF KNOWN TO THE ORIGINAL
PURCHASER OF THE BONDS, WOULD REASONABLY BE A MATERIAL FACTOR IN ITS DECISION 10
PURCHASE THE BONDS; (¥} FAILURE TO PAY REBATABLE ARBITKAGE WHEN REQUIRED; (vi) ANV
CLAIM OR ACTION OR PROCEEDING WITH RESPECT T0 THE MATTERS SET FORTH IN SUBSECTIONS: (i),
(i}, (li, (1v) AND (v} ABOVE BROUGHT TREREON; AND (¥ii) AS TO THE IS5UER AND THE COUNTY
ONLY, ITS ACTS OR OMISSIONS UNDER THIS DEED OF TRUST Ok THE BOND INDENTURE ARISING
FROM ANY CLAIM WHATSOEVER IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY
OR OTLEHWISE IN CONNECTION WiTH THE PROJECT, THE BONDS, OR ANY DOCUMENT (OR
AMENDMENT THERETG) RELATING THERETG DELIVERED IS CONNECTLON WITH THE PROJECT OR
THE BONDS. TIE {RANTOR BOES NOT HEREEY RELEASE THE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, OR THE
INDENTURE TRUSTEE FROM, OR AGREE THAT ANY OF THEM SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FGR, OR
INDEMNIFIED OR HELD HARMLESS AGAINST ANY LIABILITIES, LGSSES, DAMAGES (INCLUDING
ATTORNEYS® FELS), CAUSES OF ACTION, SCITS, CLAIMS, COSTS AND EXPENSES, DEMANDS AND
HDGMENTS OF ANY NATURE IMPOSED UPON OR ASSERTED AGAINST ANY OF THEM ON ACCOUNT OF,
WITH RESPECT TO EACH OF THE ISSUER AND THE COUNTY, ITS WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OR FRAUD,
OR, WITH RESPECT TO THE INGENTURE THUSTEE, IT5 NEGLIGENCE, WILLFUL MSCONDUCT, CR
FRAUD, BUT THE GRANTOR DOES RELEASE AND INDEMNIFY THE [SSUER AND THE COUNTY FOR
CAUSES OF ACTION, SUITS, CLAIMS, COSTS AND EXPENSES, DEMANDS AND JUDGMENTS BASED UFON
ALLEGATIONS OF ORDINARY NEGLIGENCE AND GROSS NEGLIGENCE.

{#} In casc any action or procceding is brought zgainst the Issuer, the County, the
Truslee, or the Indenture Trustee (each an “Indemnified Party”) in respect of which indemnity
ay be sought hereunder, the parly sccking indemnity promptly shall give notice of that action or
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(d} cxcopt in the ordinary coursc of business, cxcept as indicated in the Lewsss, the
Grantor has not received any funds or deposits from any lesser for which ¢redit has net already
been made on account of acerued Rents; and

(¢} no settlemnenl for damages for wermination of any of the Leases under the United
States Benkrupley Code or under any other federal, state, or local statuts shall be made withowt
the prior written consent of the Beneficiary, and any check in payment of such damages shall be
made payable to both (he Grantor and the Beneficiary, and the Crantor agrees to endorse any
cheek for such payment to the order of the Beneficiary, to be applied to the Indebtedness as the
Beneficiary may elect,

SECTION 5.10 - Upopn the payment or performance in
Tull of the Sccured Obligations, this assignment shall become vaid and of no effect, bur the affidavit of
any officer or loan correspondent of the Beneficiary stating that any part of the Indebtedness remains
unpaid shall be and constilute evidence of (he validity, effectiveness and continuing force of this
assignment, and ary person may and is hereby authorized to rely thercon.

SECTION .11 . In exercise of the aghts and powers created
under this Article, if an Event of Default has occurred of is continuing under the Bond Indenture, the
Grantor specifically agrees that the Bensficiary, the Bencficiarys agent, or the Indenture Trustee, as such
party may see fit, may do any of the foliowing: (i) use against the Grantor or any other persons lawful or
peaceable means to enforce the collestion of any such rents, revenues, profits, and income, (ii) scoure
passession of the Morigaped Propertics, or any part thereof. settle or ¢compromisc on any terms the
tiability ef any person or persons for any such rents, revenues, profits, or ingome; institute and prosccute
10 final conclusion actions of forcible entry and detainer, or actions of trespass to mry title, or actons for
damages, or zny other appropriate actions, it the name of such person or in the name of the Grantor; and
(iii] settle, comprornise, or abandon any such actions. T furtherance of the forcgoing and not by way of
limitation, the Grantor binds itself to take whatever lawtl or peaceful steps the Beneficiary may ask it to
take for such purposes, including the institution and prosecution of actions of the character shove stated;
hewever, the Grantor recognizes that neither the Indenture Truster, the Beneficiary, or any person acting
on behalf of the Beneficiary shall ever be required to collect any such rents or income or be liable or
chargeable for failure so to do.  All money coliccted by the Reneficiaty shall be applied to the Secured
Obligations as provided in the Bond Indenture.

SECTION 5.12 . Neither the forcgoing assigament
of Rents and Leases to the Beneficiary, nor the exercise by the Beneficiary of any of its rights or remedigs
hercunder shall be deerned (o meke (he B jary a -p 1" or otherwise Hable in
any menmer with respect to the Mortgaged Properties, unless the Beneficiary, in person or by agent,
assumes actual possession thereol. Nor shall appointment of a receiver for the Mortgaged Properties by
any court at the vequest of the Beneficiary or by agreement with the Grantor, or the éntry inko possessien
of the Morigaged Properties hy such receiver, be deemed to meke the Beneficiary a
"mrigagee-in-possession” or otherwise liable in any manner with respect (o the Mortgaged Propertivs

ARTECLE &
SECURITY AGREEMENT
SECTION 6.1 ‘Withowt limiting any of the other provisions of
the Loan Agreement and this Deed of Trust, the Grantor, as Debtor (referred to in this Article 6 as

“Debtars,” whether one or mere), expressly GRANTS unto the Bencficiary, as Secured Party (referred to
in this Article as “Secured Party”, whether one or more), a seeunfy interest in el the Morigaged
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proceeding 1o the Grantor, and the Granter upan receipl of thet nutice shall have the ohiigalion
and the right to assume the defense of (he action ot proceeding; provided that faiture of 2 party la
give that notice shall net relicve the Grantor from any of its obligations under this Section unless
that failure prejudices the defense of the action or proceeding by the Grantor. Any Indemnificd
Party shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such action and Lo participare in the
defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such
Indernnified Perty. M the Indenmificd Party is advised in an opinion of counsel thal there may be
conflicting interests between the Grantor and the Indemnifted Party or legal defenses available to
the Indemnified Party which are different from or in addition to those avajlahle to The Grantor or
if the Grantor shall, after this notice and within a period of time necessary to prescrve any and ali
defenses o any claim asscrted, fail te assume the defense er to employ counsel for that pumpose
reasanzably satisfactory to the Indermified Party, the Tndemnified Party shall have the right, but
not the obligation, to underiake the defense of, and to compromise er settle the claim or ather
mater on behalf of, for the account of, and at the tisk of, the Granter. The Grantor shall be
responsible for the reasonable counsel fees, costs, and expenses of the Indernnified Party in
conducting its defense under the cir described in the ding sentence,

(b) The indemnmification set forth abeve is imtended to end shall include Ithe
indemnification of all affected officials, dircctors, officers, staff apd employees of the
Indemnified Party. Thal indemnification is intended to and shall be enforcesble by the
Indemnified Party to the full extent permitted by law.

(e) Nothing in this Section shall require the Grantor o satisfy o7 pay any claims settled
by an Indemnificd Party without the prior written consent of the Grantor.

SECTION 58 No Waiver of Benefici - Nothing contained in this assigrunent
and no act dene er omitted by the Beneficiary pursuant to the powers and rights granted to it hereunder
shall be desmed to be a waiver by the Beneficiary of its other nights and remedies under the Loan
Agreement, the Note, the Bond Indenwre, 1his Deed of Trust, the Master Indenture, or other document
evidencing or sccunng the Secured Cbligations, and this assignment is made and secepted without
prejudice to any of the other rights snd remedies possessed by the Bencficiary under the terms of the Loan
Agreement, the Note, the Bond Indenture, this Decd of Trust, the Master Indenture and other documents
evidencing or securing the Secured Obliganons. The right of the Beneficiary te collect the principal sum,
interest and other indebtedness under the Bonds and o enforce any sccunty thercfor held by it may be
exercised by the Beneticiary either prior to, simultancously with, or subsequent to any action taken by it
hereunder.

SECTION 59 . The Grantor represents and
wairants to the Beneficiary that, to the best of Grantor's current actual knowledge:

() the Grantor has good title to the Leases and Rents hereby assigned and the authority
to agsign them, and no other person or cutity has any right, title or interest therein, and no Rents
have been or will be assigned, mortgaged or pledged;

{b) ali existing Leases are valid, unmadifled and in full force and cifect, and no material
default exists thereunder.

{¢) exeept in the ordinary course of business, no Rents have heen or will be, without the
Deneficiary’s prier writen consent, anticipated, waived, teleased, discounted, setoff or
compronised;
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Properties (including both those now and those hereafter existing) to the fink extent that the Mongaged
Propertics may be subject to the Unifonn Commercial Code—Sscured Transactions (Chapter 9, Toxas
Business and Commerce Code, as in oree without regard to the Revised Artick 9 of the Uniform
Commercial Code) thereinafier called the "Uniform Commercial Code™).

SECTION 6.2 Debtors” Covenants.  Debtors covenant and agree with Secured Party as
follows:

(a) In additlon to eny other remedies grantcd in this Decd of Trust 1o Secured Party or
the Indenture Trustee {including specifically, but not himited te, the right to proceed against ail
the Mortgaged Properties in accordance with the righls and remedies in sespect of those
Mortgaged Properties which are real property pursuant to section 9.604 of the Uniform
Commercial Code), Sceured Party may, shouwld an Event of Defaulr ocour and be continaing,
proceed under the Uniform Commercial Code as to all or any part of the Collateral, and shall
have and may exercise with respect to the Collateral all the rights, remedies, and powers of a
secured party under the Uniform Commercial Code, inchuding, without Emutation, the right and
power to sell, at anc ar mare public ar private saks, or otherwisc dispose of, lease, or utilize the
Collatera] and any part or parts thereof in any marner authorized or permitted under the Uniform
Commercial Code after default by a debtor, and to apply the proceeds thereaf taward payment of
any costs and expenses and antomeys’ fees and legal expenses thereby incurred by Sccured Party,
and toward payment of the Sceured Obligations in such order or manncr as Secured Party may
elect.

(b} Amaong the rights of Secured Party upon pccurrence and contimiance of an Evett of
Default and without limitation, Secured Pasty shail have the right, by any lawful means, 10 take
possession of the Collateral or any part thercof and to enter, in any lawful manner, upon any
premises where same may be situated for such purpose without being deerned guilty of trespass
and without liability for damapes thereby occasioned, and to take any lawful action deemed
necessary or appropriate or desizable by Secured Party, to repair, refurbish, or otherwise prepare
the Collateral for sale, Jease, or other use or disposition 2s herein authonized.

{c} To the extent permitted by law and except as otherwise provided in the Loan
Agreement, Debtors expressly waive any notice of sale or other disposition of the Collateral and
any other rights or remedics of a deblor or formalities prescribed by law relative 10 sale or
disposition of the Collateral or exercise of any other right or remedy of Secured Party existing
after defautt hercunder, and, to the sxient any such nofice 1s required and cannot be waived,
Debtors agree that, if such notice is mailed, postage prepaid, to Deblors at the address shown
uppasile: Debtors® signatures hereinbelow at least five (3) days efore the time of the sale or
disposition, such notice shall be deemed reasunable and shall fully satisfy any requirement for
giving of smid notice,

(d) Upon cocurvence and <ontinuance of an Event of Default, Secured Party is horchy
granted the express tight, 2t its oprion, 10 wansfer 10 iself o7 1o its nomince, the Collateral, or any
part thereof, 1o rotify any obliger or account debtor in the case of any Collateral to muake payment
directly to Secured Party, and 1o receive the money, inceme, proceeds or benefits anributable or
accraing thereto and to hold the same as security for the Secured Obligations or to apply the same
on the principal and interest or ather amounts owing on any of the Secured Obligations, whether
ar not then due, in sush order or manner as Secured Party may elect, subject to the Loan
Agreement and the Bund Indenture, With respect 1@ the Collateral, Deblors, for themselves, their
heirs and assigns, hereby expressly and spesifically waive all rights to a marshaiing of the assets
af Debtors, including the Collateral, of to a sale in inverse order of alienation,
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{2} All recitals m any instrument of assigument or any ether instrument executed by
Secured Party or by the Trustee incident to sale, ransfer, assignment, lease, or other disposition
or utilization of the Coltateral or any part thereof hereunder shall be full proof of the matters
stated therein, no other proof shall be requisite to cstablish fult legal propriety of the sale or other
action or of any fact, condition or thing incident thereto, and all prerequisites of such sale or other
actien and of any fact, condition or thing ineident thereto shall be presumed conclusively to have
been performed or 1o have occurred. Proceeds of any sale of the collateral shall be applied to the
Securcd Obligations as set out in Section 9.5.

{[) Secured Party may require Debtors to assemble the Collatera) and make it available 1o
Sccured Party at a place to be designated by Secured Party that is reasonably convenient o boty
parties. Debtors shall be fully Jiable for all expenses of retaking, holding, preparing for sale, iease
ar sther use or disposition, selling, ieasing or otherwiss using o disposing of the Collateral which
are incurred or paid by Secured Party as authorized or permitted hereunder, inciuding also all
attorneys’ fees, Jegal expenses, and costs, ali of which expenses and costs shall constitule a part
of the Sceured Obligations.

(g) Certain of the Colleteral is or will become “fixtures” (as that term is definad in the
Uniform Commercial Code} o the resl estate hereinabave described, and this Deed of Trust upan
being filed for record in the real estate records shali eperate also a5 a financing statement upey
such of the Collateral which is ot may become fixtures. Debtors have an interest of record in the
Teal estate.

(h) Any copy of this Deed of Trust which is signed by Debtors or any carbom,
photographic, or other reprodustion of this Deed of Trust may also serve as a finaneing statement
under the Uniform Commercial Code by Debiors, whose addresscs are set opposite their
respective signahuires hercinbelow, in faver of Secured Party, whose address is set owt
hereinabove.

(1) So long as any Secared Cbligations remain outstanding, unless the priar written
specific onsent and approval of Secured Party shall have first been obtained, Deblors will not
execute and there will not be filed in any public office any financing statement or statements
affecting the Collateral other than financing statements in favor of Secured Party hereunder,

SECTION 6.2 Debtors” Warranics an . Debtors wamant and represent to
Secured Party that, except for the secwrity interest granted hereby in the Collateral, Debtors arc the
owners and holders of the Collateral, free of any adverse claim, security interest or encambrance (ather
than as disclosed in herete), and Debtors agree to defend the Collateral against all claims and
demands of any person at any time claiminy the same or any interest therein, Deblors further warrant and
represent with respect 1o the Collateral thal they have not heretofore signed any financing statement and
that no fipancing statements signed by Debtors are now o file in any public office cxcept those
statements true and carrect copies of which have been delivered 1o Secured Party.

ARTICLE?
CERTAIN COVENANTS AND WARRANTIES OF THE GRANTOR

SECTION 7.1 . As further assurances with regard
to the Secured Obligations, the Gramtor hereby covenants, wareants, snd agrees in favor of the
Beneficiary, as follows:
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whin known by the Grantor, and will diligenlly codeavor to cure any dufect which may be developed ar
claimed, and will take all necessary and proper steps for the defense of such action or proceeding,
including the employment of counsel, the progecution or defense of litigation, and, subject o the
Beneficiary's approval, in its sole reasonable discretion, the compromise, release, or discharge of any and
all adverse claims. If the Granlor fails (o perfermn its obligations under this Section promptly, or if the
pasitions of the Grattor, the Beneficiary and Indenture Trustee zre not identical, each of Indenrure
Trustce and the Buncficiary (whether or nol named as 2 party to such actiens or proceedings and with or
without Truslee) is hereby authorized and empowered {but shall not be oblipated) to take such additional
Steps a3 it may deem necessary or proper for the defense of any such actien or proceeding or the
protection of the hien, security mterest, validity, enforceability, or priority of this instrument or of such
title or rights, including the employment of counsel, the prosecution or defense of litigation, the
compromise, release or discharge of such adverse ¢laims, the purchase of any tax title, and the removal of
such prior liens and security interests. The Grantor shall, on demand, reimbuorse the Bencficiary for all
expenses {including reasonable attorneys' fees and dishursements) incurrad by it (directly or indivectly on
its behalf by the Indenture Trustee) in connection wilh the foregoing mauers, All such casts and expenses
of the Beoeficiery, until réimbursed by the Grantor, shall ke part of the Secured Obligations and shall he
deerned to be secured by this Deed of Trust

SECTION 7.4 - The Grantor will perform and comply prompily
with, and cause ihe Project to be maintained, used, and operated i accordance with, any and atl ()
present and fulwre laws, ordi , Tules, i and of every duly-constituled
govemnmental or quasi-gevernmental authority or agency apphcable to the Grantor or the Project,
including, withaut Jimitation, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and the Fair Housing Act; (if)
simifarly applicable orders, rules, and regulations of any regulatory, licensmg, acerediting, insurance
underwriting, oF rating organization, or olher bedy cxercising similar functions; (iii) similarly applicable
duties or obligations of any kind imposed under any Permitted Encumbrance or otherwise by law,
covenant, condition, agreement, or easement, public or private; and {iv} policies of inswrence at any time
in force with respect to he Project. I the Grantor receives any notice that the Grantor or the Project is in
default under or s not in compliance with any of the foregoing. or notice of any progesding inttiated
under or with respect to any of the foregoing, the Granter will promptly fumish a copy of such netice o
the Benefiviary.

(a) . The Grantor warranls that the Projeet is currently zoned such
that the Grantor may lawfully opeme a continuing care facility thereon. The Grantor alse
warrants that it will not, without the prior writlen consend of the Beneficiary, such consent not to
be unreasonably withheld or delayed, (i) initisie or support any roning Teclassificaion of the
Morigaged Properties, the Project, or the Improvements, seck any variance under cxisting zoning
ordinances applicalle to the Mortgaged Propertics, the Project or the Improvements, or use or
permit the use of the Mortgagnd P‘ropeme‘: the Pro;ect and Improvements in 2 manner which
waould result in such use b g% use under zoming ord : (i)
modify, amend, or supplement any of the Permittcd Encumbrances except utility distribution
casements zcross the Land which will permit utility service lo the Project; (iii) impose any
restictive covenants or encumbrances upon the Mortgaged Propertics, exscute or Hle any
subdivision plat affecting the Morigaged Propertics, or the Improvements, or consent to the
annexation of the Mortgaped Properties, or the Improvements to any municipality except ulility
distribution easements acress the Land which will permit utility service to the Project; or (iv)
permit or suffer the Mortgaged Propertics, and the Improvements 1o be used by the public or any
person ir such manner as might make pessible a claim of adverse usage or possession or of any
implied dedication or casement,
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(3} The Grantor herchy agrees and binds itself to perform and pay the Securcd
Obhgations and every installment of principal and interest thereof promptly as the same becornes
due or payzble.

(b} The Grantor, te the extent same can lawfully be levied, hereby covenants and agrees
o pay all taxes and assessments of every kind or character charged, levied, or assessed against the
Mongaged Propertiss or any part thereof, before any such taxes or assessments become
delinquent; to pay all water, gas, scwer, clectricity, and other wlity rates and charpes with regard
to the Mortgaged T'roperties; to pay all maintenance fees or charges of any owners” association or
like group assessed with respect Lo the Mortgaged Propertics; to pay any ground renis or charges
for any casement, license, or agreement existing for the benefit of the Mortgaged Properties; to
pay any interest, costs or penalties with respect to the foregoing items; and, upon request of the
Beneficiary, to fumish to the Beneficiary evidence of the timely payment of such ftems.

(¢} The Land consists of one or mors parcels assessed for purposes of Property Taxes as
scparate and distinct parcels from any other real property so thal the Land shall never become
subjeet to the lien of any Property Taxes levied or assessed against any real property other than
the Land.

{d} The Grantor, shall, at its sol¢ cost and expense, oblain and maintain the insurance
coverage as described in the Master Indenture.

SECTION 7.2 . The Grantor has, or will have prior to the Closing Date or
prior to the first cequisition to pay Project costs, all necessary certificates, licenses, and other approvals,
governmental and otherwise, necessary for the construetion of the Imprevements, and all required zoning,
building cade, Yand use, environmental, and other similar permits or approvals, all of which are, or will be
on the Closing Date or prier to the first requisition to pay Project Costs, in full force and cffect and net
subject to revacation, suspension, forfeiture, or modification, and all necessary certificates, licenses, and
other approvals, governmental and otherwise, necessary for operation of the Project and Improvements
aud the canduct of 1ts business thersat have been obtained or will be obtained prior 1a the Closing Date,

(a) The Grantor will cause alt debts and Jiabilities of any charactet, including without
limitation all debis and Habilities for labar, material and equipment and zli debis and charges for
wilities servicing the Project, incurred in the construction, maintenance, operafion and
development of the Project 10 be promptly paid, cxcept for those being contested or bonded
around in accordance with the applicable prowisions of thie Loan Agreement, the Master
denture, or this Deed of Trust.

(b} The Project and Improvements are served by all utilities required for the
contemplated construction and use thereof.

(¢} All public rouds and streets necessary (0 serve the Project and Improvemeants for the
contemplated construction and use thersof have been completed er will be completed prier to the
completion of construction, und will be  scrviceable, and have been dedicuted to and formally
accepted by the appropriale governmental entitics

SECTION 7.3 Defense of Title and Li I the lien or seourity interest ercated by this
Deed of Trust, er the validity, enforceability, or priority thereof or of this instrument or if utle or any of
the nghts of the Grantor, Trustee, or the Beneficiary in or to the Project, shall be endangered or shall be
attacked direcily or indirectly or if any action or proceeding is instituted against the Grantor, the Indenture
Trusiee, or the Beneficiary with tespect thercto, the Grantor will promptly notify the Beneficiary thereof
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()] The Granmior shall net operste or permit the
Project or the Improvements to be operated as a cooperative, condotinium, or other form of
cwnership in which the lessees or other accupants thereof participate in the ownetship, control, or
management of the Project, or amy part thereof, as lossees, stockholders, or atherwise; provided, it
shall not be & breach of this subscetion for persans who are residents of the Project o participate
in mechings af the board of direciars of the Grantor.

ic) . The Grantor hercby covenants and aprees fo keep and maintain the
Improvements now or at any Bime hereafter coustituting 2 portion of the Mortgaged Properties in
2 state of good repair and conditicn; to make all repairs, replecements, reconstructions and
restorations necessary 1o kcep such Improvements in such condition; angd, withoul the prior
wnitien consent of the Beneliciary, not to tear down or remove or permil to be tom down or
remaved any such Improvements now existing or hereafier rected,

{d) . The Grantor covenants and agrees that, should it be discovered after
the execution and delivery hereof, that there is a lien or encumbrance of sny nature whatsoever
{other than Permitted Encumbrances) upen the Mongaged Properties or any part thereof, equal or
superior in tank to the lien of this Deed of Trust, or in case of an emor os defect herein, or the
execution or scknowledgment hereof, the Grantor shall immediately give written notice, logether
with a copy of such lien or encumbrance, to the Beneficiary and shall immediately thereafier, but
in no event latet then thirty (30) days of discovery of such lien or encumbrance, comrect such
defects in such title, or remove said liens or encumbrances or homestead claim, or corect such
error or defect in this Deed of Trust or its exectlion ot any acknowledgment hereof and provide
evidance thereof 10 the Beneficiary.

(e} The Grantor covenants and agrees that, afler any sale under
this Deed of Trust, it, or its successors or assigns, shall be mere tenants at sufferance of the
purchaser of the properly at said sale, and that such purchaser shall be entitled to immediate
possession thereof, and that, if the Granwt fals to vacate such property immediately, such
purchaser may and shall have: the nght to go into any justice court having venue, or in any other
court hereafter having junisdiction of forcible detsiner actions, and file an action in forcible
detainer, which aetion shell Jic against the Grantor or iS SUCCESSOTS or assigns as 1enants at
sulferance,

) . The Grantor expressly agrees that the Bencficiary shail be fully
subrogated to the rights of all holders of any vendor’s liens or other liens whose indebledness is
paid in whole or m pan with the proceeds of the Secured Ohligations, To (be cxtont that the
Securcd Obligations represent funds advanced for the acquisition of any of the Mortgaged
Properties, the Grentor acknowledges and agrees that the Bencficiary is entitled to a vendor's livn
securing the payment of said indebtedness, and the Granter further spevifically sovenanis,
stipulates and agrees that foreclosure under the power of sale contained in this Deed of Trust shalt
aperate filly 10 foreglose such vendor’s lien.

(g . 'The Grantor covenants and agrees that the Bencficiary shall weat any
sale, ransier, or conveyance of the Mortgaged Properties or any interest therein {or otherwise, as
provided in and in accerdance with the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, and the Bond
Indenture), as an Event of Default, and thercupon may invoke any remedies perminted by this
Deed of Trusi.

thy . The Grantor covenants and agtees that the Beneficiary
may treat any morigage, pledge, hypothecation, or encumbrance of the Mortgaged Properties or
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any interest therein other than the Permitted Encumbrances (collectively veferred 1o as the
“Pledge™), whether or not such Pledge is expressly subordinate to the lien of this Deed of Toust,
as an Event of Default and thereupon may invoke any remedies permitted by this Deed of Trust

() . The Grantar shall not sell, convey or otherwise transfer or dispose of ils
interest in any machinery or equipment in which the Beneficiary has a security infercst pursuant
1o any Document without the prior written consent of the Bencficiary, unless (1) such machinery
or equipment has beceme unnecessary for the purposes it was onginally intended Lo serve or (it}
such machinery of equipment is inadequate, obsolete or worn out and 1s being ceplaced in the
ordinaty course of busincss with other machinery ot squipment to (he extent necessary to perform
the functions served by such inadequate, obsolete or worn out machinery or equipment, or fiii}
the sale, conveymmee, tansfer of other disposition of such machinery or equipraent will not
adversely affect the financial condirion of (he Grantor or the operations of the Project.

1) . The Grantor will give the Beneficiary prompt netice of
any casually loss, threat of Condernnation, Condemnation, or taking affecting all or any purtion
of the Morigaged Properties.

(k) . In the event the Secured Obligations shall becotne due and
payable by virnae of an Event of Default, the Grantor agrees that any tender of payment of the
Secured Obligations prior to a foreclosure sale shall, at the option of the Beneficiary, be deemed 2
voluntary prepayment by the Grantor requiring the puyment of any prepayment penalty, or
redemption premivm requited under the terms of the documents evidencing the Secured
Obligations 1o the full extent that such payment, when added to all other amounts then and
theretofore paid and which constitule interest, would not exceed the maximum lawful interest
permilted 1o be charged of the Granter.

SECTION7S5  Indemnification. THE GRANTOR HEREBY AGREES TO INDEMNIFY, 1IOLD
HARMLESS AND DEFEND THE [SSUER, THE COUNTY, THE TRUSTEE, THE INDENTURE TRUSTEE, AND
THEIR RESPECTIVE OFFICERS, COMMISSIONERS, MEMBERS, DIRECTORS, OFFKIALS, AGENTS,
ADVISGRS, COUNSEL, AKD EMPLOYEES AND EACH OF THEM (EACH AN “INDEMNIFIED PARTY*) FROM
AND AGAINST, ANY AND ALL ACTUAL GUT-OF-POCKET LOSS GR EXPENSE SUFFERED OK INCURRED BY
ANY INDEMNIFIED FARTY 70 THE EXTENT CAUSED BY CLAIMS, JOINT OR SEVERAL, BY OR ON
BEWALF OF ANY PERSON ARISING FROM ANY UNTRUE STATEMENT OR OMISSION OR ALLEGED
UNTRUE STATEMENT OR OMISSION OF A MATERIAL FACT BY GRANTOR IN CONNECTION WITH
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREEY OR OTHERWISE [N CONNECTION WITH THE MORTGAGED
FROPERTIES, THE BONDS AND WITH RESFECT TO THE INDENTURE TRUSTEE, ACCEPTANCE OR
ADMTNISTRATIGN OF THE TRUST IMPOSED BY THE BOND INDENTURE, OR TIE EXECUTION OR
AMENDMENT OF ANY DOCUMENT RELATING THERET(, AND ALL REASONABLE ACTUAL OUT-OF-
POCKET COSTS, COUNSEL FEES, EXPENSES OR LIABILITIES INCURRED IN CONKECTION WITIL ANY
SUCH CLAIM, OR PROCEEMNG BROUGHT THEREON, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT SLCH DAMAGES ARF.
CAUSED BY THE BAD FAITH, NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONPUCT OF THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY
(O, AS TO THE ISSUER QR THE COUNTY, ITS WILLFUL MISCONEUCT OR BAD FAITH OR FRAUD ON 175
PART), IN THE EVENT THAT ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING 1S BROUGHT AGAINST ANY INDEMNIFIED
PARTY WITH RESPECT ‘IO WHICH INDEMNITE MAY BE SOUGHT HEREUNDER, THE GRANTOR, UPON
WRITTEN ¥OTICE FROM THE INDEMNIFIED PARTY, SHALL ASSUME THE PAYMENT OF ALL EXPENSES
RELATRD THERETO.

NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, UPON ANY PERMITTED ‘TRANSFER OF THE
MORTGACED PROPERTY TG ANOTHER FERSON, THE RELEASE OF THE MORTGAGED PROPERTY FROM
THE LIEX OF THIS DEED GF TRUST, THE FORECLOSURE OF THE LIEN OF THIS DEED OF TRUST, THE
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() any warranty or representation of the Grantor set forth in this Deed of Trust or the
Docuinents shall prove untrue in any materiai respect;

(d any event of default under the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, the Bond
Indenture or other Document.

SECTION 8.2 Upon the accurrence of an Event of Default, so long as such
default remains uncured, the Beneficiary shall have the option and right 1o take any one or more of the
foliowing actions: (i) witbout demand, presentment, notice of intent to accelerate, nutice of acceieration,
or other notice or demand, all of which are expressly waived by the Grantor, declare the Secured
Obligations immediately due and payable, (ii) proceed to ¢nforee the lien of this Deed of Trust, and
{iii) pursue any and all other remedies available to the Beneficiary whether set forth herein, in the Bond
Indenrure or otherwise available at law or m equity,

SECTION 83 Remedies Cumulative. Each of the rights and remedies set forth in this Deed
of Trust or available at faw or in equity shall be cumulative and concurrent, may he pursued jointly or
severally agamst the Grantor or any of the M d B . and shall be The tlection
te pursue¢ any such right er remedy shall ot be deemed a waiver, then or thereafter, to pursue any other
such right or remedy.

SECTION 5.4 No Waiver. The acceplance of payment of any portion of the Secured
Obligations after its duc date or afier the giving of notice of an Event of Default and of election to
accelerate the maturity of the Secured Obligations shall net waive any right of the Beneficiary to require
prompt payment when due of all other sums constituting Secured Obligations or to declare an Event of
Default for failure to pay ithe entire unpaid balance of the Secured Obligations, or any right of the
Beneficiary to preceed with foreckosure sale pursuant to any such notice and acceleration for any unpaid
balance of the Secured Obligations. Waiver of a right granted ta the Beneficiary as to one transachon gr
occurrence shall not be deemed a waiver of such right as to any subsequent transaCtian r oecurTence,

ARTICLE &
CERTAIN REMEDIES; POWER OF SALE

SECTION %.1 . In the event that the Granlor fails or refuses
fo pay any taxes of assessments upon the Mortgaged Propertics before the same become delinguent, fails
to wke oul ar procure er maintain such insurance as is required by the Master Indenturc or this Dead of
Trust, or fails to perform any other covenant or to pay any orher obligation of the Grantor set forth in the
Bond Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, or this Decd of Trust or sct forth in any other
agreement or instrumenl cvidencing or securing the Secured Obligations, then in any such case the
Bencficiary, at ils option and withont any obligation to do so, may pay any such taxes or assessmants
{witheut being required to examine the legality or justice of same), take out or procure sach insurance, or
tender such perfonnance or payment. All amounts advanced by (he Beneficiary as aforesaid shall be duc
and payable upon demand, shall become 2 part of the Sccured Obligations, shall bear interest from the
date such paynients are advanced until the repayment thereof at the highest nonusurious rate of wnterest set
forih ine the instruments evidencing the Secured Obiigations, and shall be fully sccured by the liens,
assignments, and secwrity intercst of this Deed of Trust. Any amounts so paid, as well as the time of
payment thereof, shall be deemed fully established by the affidavit o7 cenificate of the Indenture Trustee,
the Master Trustee, the Issuer or Beneficiary. The Grantar agrees that the payment of such 1axes or
asscssments, the procuring and maimtaining of such insurance, or the tendering of any such performance
or payment by the Beneficiary shall not prevent the Reneficiary from declaring the Secured Obligations 1o
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APPOINTMENT OF A RECEIYER O THE (KCURRENCE OF ANY OTHER EVENT WHICH DIVESTS THE
GRANTOR OF CONTROL OF THE MORTGAGED PROPFRTY OR THE RECEIPTS TIEREOF {EACH, A
“TRANSFER"), THE CRANTOR $HALL REMAIN OBLIGATED TO INDEMNIFY EACK INDEMNIFIED PARTY
PURSUANT TO THIS SECTION WITH RESPECT TO (BUT ONLY WITH RESFECT T0) ACES OCCURRING
PRIOR TG TIE DATE OF SUCH TRANSFER (IRRESPECTIVE OF WHEN A CLAIM IS ACTLALLY MADE},
PROVIDED TIAT EXCEPT AS TO THE ISSUER, THE INDEMNITY PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION (AS 50+
LIMITED) SHALL SURVIVE THE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT, SUCH TRANSFER OR OTHER
DISPOSITION OF A MORTGAGED PROFERTY FOR A PERIOD OF TWw( YEARS. THE RIGHTS OF THE
I55UER HEREUNDER SHALL WOT TERMINATE AT SUCH TIME.

IE GRANTOR IERERY FURTHER INDEMNIFIES, AND AGRELS TO DEFEND AND HOLD
HARMLESS, THE ISSUER, ANY MEMBER, OFFICER, OFFICIAL OR EMPLOYEE OF THE 1SSUER, AND EACH
PERSON, IF ANY, WHO CONTROLS THE ISSUER, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE COUNTY, ARD
ANY OFFICIAL THEREGF, WITIUR THE MEANING OF SECTION 15 OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF [933, AS
AMENDED, AND THE [NDENTURE TRUSTEE, ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, OFFICIALS (bR EMPLOYEES
AGAINST ANY ANIF ALL LOSSES, CLAIMS, PAMAGES, LIABILITIES OR EXPENSES WHATSOEVER CAUSED
BY ANY UNTRLUE OR MISLEADING STATEMENT OR OMISSION BY GRANTOR, OR ALLEGED UNTRUE OR
MISLEADING STATEMENT OR OMISSION BY GRANTOR, OF A MATERIAL FACT CONTAINED IN ANY
OFFICIAL STATEMENT RELATING TO THE BONDS AND NOT SUPPLIED FOR USE THEREIN BY ANY
INDEMNIFIED PARTY {“OFFICIAL STATEMENT™) OR THE OMISSION OR ALLEGED OMISSION OF SUCH
MATERIAL FACT OF ANY OFFICIAL STATEMENT, NECESSARY IN ORDER TC MAKE THE STATEMENTS
MADE THEREIN, IN LIGHT OF THE CIRCEMSTANCES UNDER YWHICH THEY WERE MADE, NOT
MISLEADING.

SECTION 7.6 Environmental Audit. Atany time and from time to time, that Beneficiary
shall reasonably believe that any hazardous substance shall have been disposed of on or released ento the
Martgaged Properties, Grantor agrees to deliver to Benefi iciary, within s\xty (60) days of a written requuest
by Beneficiary, an environmental audit prepared by an 1 T ble 1o
Beneficiary in Bmct'c:ary s reasonable Judgmcnr at Grantor's cost and expense, detailing the results of
an of the d release or disposal ar the Morigaged Properties prepared
in accordance wﬂh prudent ¢ngincering standards, including, without limitation, where approprizte, the
interpretation of and results of z chemical znatysis of soil and ground water samples, Grantor covenants
and agrees o take such action as required by any Applicable Environmental Law (hereinailer defined) in
connection with any hazardous substances investigated by the environmental audit which tay be tocated
on the Mortgaged Properties a5 a result of such release or disposal, including, without limitation, asbestos,

ARTICLE §
DEFAULTS

SECTION 8.1 Event . Should sny of the following events or conditions occar,
the same shall constitute an event of defawlt under this Deed of Trust {hercin called “Event of Defaul™):

() the Grantor shall fail or refuse 1o pay all or any portion of the Secured Obhgaunns
when due, sulsject to any grace periods applicable to such in the D i
such Sccured Obligations;

{b) the Grantor shall fail to perform or to fulfil] in a timely maoner any ether of the
Secured Obligations, including specifically, but not limited to, the covenants and obligatiens of
the Grantor contained in this Deed of Trust, subject to any applicable grace periods contained in
this Deed of Trust or the Documents;
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be duc and payable under the provisions hereof by reason of such Event of Default and pursuing any other
remedies availuble (o the Beneficiary shovld the Beneficiary so elect.

SECTION 9.2 Upen failure te pezform or to pay the Secured Cbligations,
or any part therzof, when the same shall become due, in whatever way the maturity thereof may be
braught about, it shal thereupon, or at uny time thereafter while any part of the Secured Obligations
femaing undischarged, he the duty of the Trustee, or ber successors, as hereinaller provided, a1 the request
of the Deneficiary made pursuant to the Bond Indenture, to enforce this trust and to seli the Martgaged
Properties, The Trustee may sell the Morigaged Propertics as an entirety or in parcels, by one sale or by
several sales, held at one time or at different times, ali as the ‘lrustee may ¢leet, each sale to be held at the
location within the county courthouse designated for the holding of nonjudicial foreclosure sales by the
Comnuissioners Court of wny county in which a part of the real property to be sold is siteated (or if no arca
has been so degignated, then in an area within said courthouse deseribed in the notice referred to in
Section 9.3) and to be made on the first Tuesday of some wmeonth besween the hours of 10 o'clock a.m. and
4 o'clock pm. to the higaest bidder for cash at public venue, after the Trustee (or a person or persens
selected by the Trustee) and the Beneliciary shall have given potices of the proposed sale in the manner
berainafter vet forth, and (o make due conveyance to the purchaser or purchasers, with general warranty of
title {subject to Permiticd Encumbrences) 1o such purchaser or purchasers binding upon the Grantor, its
successors and assigns. Such sale nust begin at the time stated in the notice referred to in Section 9.3 or
0ot later than three hours afer that time, The Grantor, for isclf, s successors and assigns, bercby
expressly and specifieally waives all rights to 2 marshaling of the assets of the Grantot, inchuding the
Merngaged Propenies, or10 a szle in inverse order of alicnation,

SECTIONS3 . The Trustee {or a person or persons sclected by the
Trustee) shall give notice of each such proposed sale by pesting written notice of the time, place, and
terms of sale al the courthouse door, and by filing a copy of such written notice in the office of the county
elerk, of the county in which the sak is to be made for at least twenty-one (21) consecutive days
preceding the date of the sale. Where real properties to be sold arc situated in more than ane county, one
notice shall be posted at the courthouse door, and 2 copy of such notice shall he filed with the county
clerk, of each county in which a part of the: real properties to be sold is situated, and such notices shall
designate the county where such real properties will be sold, which may be any county in which a part of
said real properties is sitated. In addition to the foregoing notice or notices to be posted and filed by the
Trustee (or & person or persons selected by the Trustee), the Beneliciary shall, at least twenty-one (21)
days preecding the date of sale, serve or cause o be served, writlen notict of the proposed sale by
cenified mail on each debtor chiigated to pay such indebtedness according to the records of the
Beneficiary. The service of such notice shall be completed upon deposit of the natice, enclosed in a
postpaid wrapper, properly addressed to each such debtor at the most recent address (which shall be
within the United States of America) as shown by the records of the Bencficiary, in a post office or
official depository under the care and custody of the United States Postal Service. If the real property
described m hereto is used as the residence of a debtor obligated to pay the Secured
Otligations, then, notwithstanding any agreement to the contrary, the Bencficiary shall serve such debtor
with written notice by certificd mail stating that such debtor is in defavlt uader 1his Deed of Trust, and
such debtor must be givar at least twenty days to cure the default befors the entire Secured Obligatiens
are due and notice of saie pursuant to this Section is given. The affidavit af any person having knowledge
of the facts to the effect that such service was completed shall be prima facie evidence of the fact of
service. In this respect and to the fult extent it may legally do so, the Grantor also cxpressly covenants,
stipuiates, and agrees that: (i) the address of the Grantor ser out in Axticle 13 shall he deemed and
congidered conclusively to be and remain at al! times the most recent address of all debturs obligated 1o
pay such indebtedness as shown by the reeords of the Bencficiary, provided such address may be changed
to some cther address within the United States of America from time to time only by express written
natice of change thercof siyned by all debiors ebligated 1o pay such indebtedness and actually delivered
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and received by the Beneficiary and setting forth a new address which shall be within the United States of
Amcaica and which shall be deemed and considered conclusively to be and remain at all times thereafter
the most recent address of all debtors abligated to pay such mdebtedness as shown by the records of the
Beneficiary until changed in the manner herein provided, (&) the records of the Beneficiary shall not be
deemed to refleet any change in the name or identity of the debtors obligated to pay the indebredness {10
whorm notice of a proposed sale shall be required to be mailed as provided for above) unless and until
express wrilten notice of such change signed by all debtors obligated to pay such indebtedness shall have
been actually delivered to and received by the Beneficiary, and (1) ne netice of such sale gr sales other
than the netices hereingbove provided shall be required by this instrument to be given o the Grantor or
any ather persons, and any other notice is cxpressly waived.

SECTION 94 The provisions of
Section 9.3 with respect to postmg, serving, fihng, and giving notices of sale arc intended to comply with
the provisions of Scction 31.002 of the Texas Property Code, as amended (in this Section such
Section 51.002 being called the “Subject Statne™). In the event the requirement for any notice, or the
posting, serving, flling, or giving thereof, under the Subject Swtute shal! be eliminated or the prescribed
manner of posting, serving, filing, or giving same is madified by Tuture amendment 1o the Subject Statute,
the requirement for such particular netice shall be stricken from, er the manner of posting, serving, filing,
of giving any notice hereunder modified in, this Deed of Trust in conformity with such amendment. The
manner herein prescribed for posting, serving, filing, or giving any notice, sther than that to be pesied and
filed or caused 1o be posted and flled by the Trustes, shall not be deemed exclusive, bul such notice or
notices may be posted, served, filed, or given in any other manner which may be permitied by applicable
law. Further, in relation 1o this Deed of Trust and the exercise of any power of sale by the Trustee
hereunder, if the Subject Statute shall be amended or modified to require any other notice or the posting,
filing, serving, or ghving thereof or any statute hereafier enacted shall require any other notice or the
posting, filing, serving, or giving therecf, the Truslee or the person selected by her is herchy authorized
and empuowered by Ihe Granwr to give such nokice or make such posiing, filing, serving, or giving
thereof; provided, however, the Grantor waives such other netice or the posting, filing, serving, or giving
thereal to the full exient the Grantor may lawfully so do.

SECTION9.S
. At any sale conducted under this Deed of Trust, credit upon all or any part of the Secured
Obligations shall be deemed cash paid for the purpose of Secuien 9.3, and the holder of all or any part of
the Secured Obligations may purchase at any such sale. With the procecds arising from such sale or sales,
the Indenture Trustee shall apply the proceeds in the following order:

(2} first, to payrment of all cxpenses of advertising, sale and conveyance, including the
reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee acting;

(b) next, to the payment of all principal, interest and costs legally due and sccured
hereby, in such erder and priority as set forth in the Bond Indenturc; and

(¢} finally, any remaining proceeds Lo the Grantor,

SECTION 4.6 Judicial Fereclosure. This instrument shall be effective as 8 mortgage as well
as a deed of must, and upon the octurrence of un Event of Default may be foreclosed us to any of the
Mongaged Properies in any manner pennitted by the laws of the State of Texas or of any other state in
which any part of the Land is situated, and any foreclosure suit may be brought by the Trustee or the
Beneficiary. In the event a forec) h der shall be 1 by the Trustee, ot any substitute or
successor Trustee, the Beneficiary may at any time before the sale of the Mertgaged Properties direct the
said Trusies to abandon the sale and may then institnte suit for the collection of the Note and the other
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Trustee or Successor or Substitute Trustee may make other and successive sales until a1 the Mortgaged
Properties shall be legally sold.

SECTION 9.11 . “The purchaser at any
foreclosure sale may disalfirm any casement granted or rental, lease or other contract made subordinate to
or in violaton of any provision of this Deed of Trust, and may take immediale possession of the
Mortgaped Propertics free from, and despite the temms of, such prant of easement or remtal or lease
contract.

SECTION .12

{a} If an Event of Default ocours and 15 continuing, a receivership may be necessary 1o
protect the Mortgaged Propertics, whether before or after maturity of the Secured Obligations, or
at the lime of or afier the institution of suit to colizet the principal of, preminm (if any), or interest
on the Secured Obligations, or to enforce this Deed of Trusi; accordingly, the Indenture Trustee,
at the direction of the Benefigiary, shall, as a mater of strict righl and regardless of the valuc of
the Morigaged Properties or of the solvency of any party bound for the payment of the Secured
QObligations, have the right to the appoiniment on application and notice to the Grantor, by any
vourt having jurisdiction, of a receiver to take charge of, manage, pressrve, protect, and operate
the Morigaged Properties and any business or businesscs located thereon, to collect the revemyes,
rents, issues, profits, products, and income thereof, 10 make all necessary and necded repairs, to
complcte the construction of any improvements which have been undertaken but net completed,
o pay all taxes and assessments against the Mortgaged Properies and insurance premiums for
insurence thercon, and afier the payment of G expenses of the receivership, including reasonable
artorneys’ fees o the Indenture Trustee's sttorney, and after compensation for management of the
Mortgaged Propertics, 1 apply the net proceeds to pay the Sccured Obligations or in such manner
as the court shall direcl. Al such expenses shall be secured by the lien of this Deed of Trust until
paid.

(b} The recgiver or its agents shall be entitled to enter upon and rake possession of any
part and all of the Mortgaged Properties, together wath any and all businesses conducted and all
business assets used therewith or thereon, or any part or parts thereol, and to operate and conduct
the business or busi ar complete ion of impy , to the same extent and in
the same manner as the Grantor might lawfully do. The receiver, personally o through its agents
ot aterncys, may cxclude the Grantor and its subsidianies, apenis, servanis, and employess
wholly from the Morigaged Properties and may have, hold, use, operate, manape, and control the
same and each and every puri therco, and in the neme of the Grantor, its subsidiarics or agents,
way exereise sll of their rights and powers and use all of e then existing items of security and
collateral, materals, current supplies, stores, and assets and, at the expense of Mongaged
Properties, may maintain, restore, complete construction, insure, and keep insured the properties,
equipment, and apparatus provided or required for use in cenncction with such business or
businesses, and may make all necessary and proper repairs, renewals, and replacements and all
such useful alierations, scditions, betwerments, and improvements as the receiver may deem
Judieais,

{c) Such receivership shall, at the option of the Beneficiary, continue until full payment
of the Secured Obligations, title to and interest in the Morigaged Properties having passed by
foreclosure sale under this Deed of Trust, or the Event of Defanit having been cured,

SECTION 9.13 tion of Proceeds. The Indonture Trustes acting shall pay, distribute,
and apply the proceeds of any disposition of the Mortgaged Properties to the Benefictary for deposit and
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Secured Obligations and for the foreelasure of this Deed of Trust. It is aprecd that if the Beneficiary
should institute a suit for the collection of the Note or any other Secured Obligations and for the
foreclosure of this Deed of Trust, the Rencficiary may at any time before the entry of a final judgment in
said suit dismiss the same and require the Trustee, any substitute or successor Trusiee, to seil the Project
in accordance with the provisions of this instrement.

SECTION 9.7 Installment Fereclosure.  Without limiting any of the powcrs or Temedies
provided clsewhere, the Grantor agrees that, in the cvent the Sceured Obligations are paysble in
installments or incfude, at any Lime, items of matared as well as urmatared indebtedness, the holder of the
matured nstallments or iwms of indebtedness, as the case may be, shall have the right to have the
Mortgaged Propertics sold, subject 1o the part of the Sccured Obhgations which is unmatured at the time
the Trustee is requested to make such sale, at Trustee’s sale to satisfy the lien and security interest hereot
seeuring the then matured portion of said indebtedness, and the Trustec is expressly authorized and
empowercd w0 conduct such sale which is called in this Section "Installment Foreclosure”.  Any
Instatlment Foreclosure made under this Section shall not affeet the liens, assignments, and security
imterest of this Deed of Trust existing 10 secure that portior: of the Secuwred Obligations to which the sale is
to be made subject. No Installment Foreclosure shall exhaust the power of the Trustee to conduct future
Installment Foreclesures nor in any way limit the powers of sale provided elsewhere in this Deed of Trust
The provisions elsewhere in ttus Deed of Trust relatng to manner of conducting trustee’s sales, including
the pasting, filing, and giving of notices thereaf, shall alsa apply to any Installment Forectosure, and the
same presumptions shall be applicable to any trustee's deed or recital therein contained in connection
wilh an Installment Forcelesure and 1o any other aflidavit as hereinabove provided.

SECTION 9.8 In the case of the ahsence of the
Trustet from the state, or of her death, refusal, or failure to act, or in the event the Beneficiary should
elect at any time (with or without causc) 1o remove the Trustee then acting, a successor or substitute (the
“Successor or Substitute Trustee™) may be named, coostituted, and appeinted, without further formality
than an appointment and desigmation in writing, which appuintment and designation shall be full evidence
of the right and authority to muke the same and of all facts therein recited; and this conveyance shall vest
in the Successor or Substitule Trystes the tille, powers, and duties confeived on the Trustee named herein,
and the 'y by the or Trustee 10 the h at any sale made pucsuant
herete shall be valid and cffective as fully as hereinabove provided m the case of a conveyance by the
Trustee. Such right  appoint 4 Successor or Substitute Trustee shall exist as ofien 25 and whenever the
Trustee, original, successor, or substitute, cannot or will not act or has been removed

SECTION 99 Recitals Conclusive. The Grantar covenants and stipul that
{i} the recitals in (e ¢onvéyance made lo the purchaser, cither by the Trustee or any Successar or
Substitute Trustee, shall be full proof and evidence of the matters thetein stated; (i) no other proof shall
be requisite of the request by the holder of the Secured Obligations o the Trustee or on any Successor or
Substitute Trustee to 2aforce this trust, or of the due, Uimely, and proper pesting, filing, and giving of all
notices and making of the sale, or any particulars thereof, or of the inability, refusa], or failure of the
‘Trustee or any Successor or Substitute Trustee to act, or of the removal of the Trustee or any Successor or
Substiture Trusice, or of the app ol 2 & or itute Trustee, as herein provided, either
as 1o the legality of her appointment ar otherwise, or of the contingencies which brought about the failure
or inability of the Trustee or any Successor or Substitute Trustee 19 act, or of her removal, as the case may
be; (iii) all prerequisites of said sale shall be presumed to have been performed; and (iv) any sale made
under the powers herein granted shall be 2 perpetual bar against the Grantor, ils successars and assigns,

SECTION 9.10 The right of sale hereunder shall not be
cxhausted by one or any sale, but, so long as any of the Secured Cbligations remain undischarged, the
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use as previded in Scotion 2.5, Said dispesition shall forever be 2 bar against the Grantor, its legal
fepresentatives, successors and assigns, and all other persons claiming under any of ther. It is expressly
agreed that the recitals it each conveyance to the purchaser shall be full evidence of the truth of the
matters therein stated, and all lawful prerequisites 1o said d ition shall be lusively p dto
have been performed

SECTION 9.14  Remedies Net Exclusive,  No lien, right, or remedy herein conferred upon or
otherwise available to the Indenture Trusiee is intended to be or shall be construed to be exclusive of sny
other available hien, right. or remedy, but each and every such lien, right, or remedy shall be cumulative
and shall be in addition to every other lien, Hight, or remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter cxisting
at law or in equily or by statute. No delay or omission Lo exercise any right, pewer, or remedy aceruing
upon any default or Event of Default shall impair any such right, power, or remedy or shall be construed
to be a waiver of any such defeult or Event of Defaull, or an acguiescence thetein, bul every such right,
pawer, or remedy may be exercised from time to tme and as often as may he deemed expedient. No
waiver of any default or Event of Default hereunder shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default
or Event of Default or shal] impair any rights or remedies consequent thereon, The giving, taking, or
enforcemnent of any other or additionai security, collateral, or guaranty for (he payment of the Sceurcd
Obligations shatl net operale to prejudice, waive, or affect the secunity of this Dued of Trust or any rights,
powers, or remedics hereunder, nor shall the Indenture Trustee be reguired to first look (o, enforce, or
exhaust such other additional security, collateral, or guarantees.

SECTION 9.15

{a) If foreclesure should be commenced by the Trustee, the Beneficiary may, at any time
before the sale direct The Trustee to abanden the sale, and may &t any time or times thereafter
dircet the Trustee to again commence foreclosure; or, imespective of whether forcclosure is
comnienced by the Trustee, the Beneficiary may at any time after an Event of Default as
described in Article 8 of this Dioed of Trust institute suit for coilection of all or any part of the
Secured Obligations or foreclosure of the Vien of this Deed of Trust or beth. If the Beneficiary
should institute suit for collection of the Sccured Obligations and foreclosure of this Deed of
Trust, the Beneficiary may at any time before the entry of final judgment dismiss the same and
require the Trustee 1 sell the Mortgaged Propertics in accordance with the provisions of this
Deed of Trust,

(b) In case the Indenture Trustee shall have proceeded w enforce any night under this
Deed of Trust by the appointment of a receiver, by entry, or otherwise, andl such proveedings
shall have been discontinued or abandosed for any reason, or shall have been determined
adverscly to the Indentare Trustee, then and in every such case the Grantor, the Indenture Trustee,
and the Beneficiary shall be restored o their former positions and rights hereunder, and all rights,
remedies, and powers of the Indenture Trustee shal! continue unimpaired as if no such
proceedings had taken place.

SECTION 9.16 Waivers.

{2 All rights of marshaling of asscts or sale in inverse order of alienation in the event of
foreclosure of any Jien at any time securing the Secured Obligations o any part thercof
(inctuding, but not limited 1o, the Yen hereby created) are hereby waived,

(b} The Grantor agrees, to the full extent permitied by law, thal in case of an Event of

Default hereunder, neither the Cirantor nor anyone claiming through or under il shal] set up,
clam, or seek to take advantage of any appraisement, valuation, stay, extension, homestead,
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dower, elective share, exeroption, or redemption (or, “equity of redemption™} laws, statutory or
atherwise, now or herealter in foree, in order to prevent or hinder the enforcement of foreclnsure
of this Deed of Trust, or the zhsolute sale of the Mortgaged Propertics, or the delivery of
possession thereof immediately afiur such sale 1o the purchaser at such sale, and the Grantor, for
itself amd all whe may 2t any time claim threugh or under it, hereby waives 1o the full extent that
it may lawfuliy do s6, the benefit of all such laws.

{c} To the extent allowed by applicable law, the Granter shail not at any time insist upon
or plead or in any manner whatever claim or take the benefit or advantage of any stay or
extension law or any law exempting the Morigaged Fropertics from aftachment, levy, or salc on
execution now or at any time hereafier in force in any locality where the Mortgaged Properties or
any part thereof may or shall be situated, and the Grantor hereby expressly waives all benefit and
advantage of any such law or laws and covenants that the Granter will not kander, obstruct, delay,
or impede the execution of any power herein granted and delegated ta the Trustee, but that the
Grantor will suffer and perinit the execution of every such power as though no such law or laws
had been made or enacied

SECTION 9.17 . The Trustee shall have no duties and shall net be
obligated to perform any acts other than those herein cxprcssiy seq forth or intended. Without hmitation,
the Trustee shall not be responsible for The 4 t, or validity of this Deed of Trust,
or of any v hereaf or supp i hereto or of the Loan Agreement or the Secured
Obligations or of any other indebtedness, or for the sufficiency of the secuwrity purported (o be created
hergby. The Trustce shzll not incur any personal lisbility hereunder except for its own wiilful neglect,
willful misconduct or default, and the Trustee shall have the right to rely on any instrument, document, er
signature authorizing or supporting any action taken or proposed to be taken by it hereunder, believed by
it in good faith 1 be genuine. The Trustes shall be entitled 1o reimbarsement for all expenses incurred by
it in the performance of its duties, and shall be entitled (o reasonable compensation for such of its services
as shall be rendered.

ARTICLE 19
CONDEMNATION AND CASUALTY LOSS

SECTION 10.1  Condemnation. I the Mongaged Propertics, or any part thereof, shall be
conderaned or taken for public vse under the power of eminent damain, the Beneficiary shall have the
right to demand all Net Proceeds from awards, compensation, sctilement, and damages for such taking of
or injury to the Mortgaged Properties be paid to the Bencficiary. To the ¢xtent such money is received by
1he Benefisiary, the Beneficiary shall apply the same 1o the Secured Obligations or to the Tesioration,
repair, ebuilding or reequipping of (e Project.

SECTION 10.2  Casualty. Should the Mortgaged Properties be wholly or partially destroyed
or damaged by fire, explosion, windstorm, or other insured casialty, the Beneficiary shall have the right
to collect, receive, and reccipt for, in the name of the Grantor ot otherwise, any and all Net Procceds that
may become payable or collectible upen any policy of insurance by reason of such domage lo ar
destruction of the Mortgaged Properties. To the extent such money is reccived by the Beneliciary, the
Beneficary shail apply the same or 56 much Thereof as is necessary to the Secured Obligations or to the
restoration, repair, rebuilding or reequipping of the Project.
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no revenug-preducing improvements (as to Tract V, no revenue-producing improvements other
than a hiking and walking path) have been made to such property, as determined by an Officer’s
Certificate (as defined 1n the Master Indenture) delivered to the Master Trustee and the Bond
Trustee; ar

{e) o grant 1o the Beneficiary additional property, rights, remedies, powers or privileges,
in mrust, for the purposes of this Deed of Trust,

SECTION 113 Consent to Substance Not Form, It shall not be necessary for any written
consent of the Holders of cutstanding Bonds, as the case may be, or of the Grantor given pursuant 1o
Section 11.1 1o specify the particular form of the proposed documents to be executed and delivered
pursuant to Scetion 11.1, but it shall be sufficient if sueh sonsent shall be given in writing to the substance
thereof,

SECTION 114  Documents Mailed to Holders. The Bencficiary shall mail, by certified mail,
postage prepaid, a phorocopy of coaformed copy thereof, of any agrecment or instrument cntered into
pursuant to Section 11.1 or 11.2, to cach Holder of any Bonds at its address shown in the Bond Register.

SECTION 18.5  Arhitration. The Grantor will not, without the prior written consent of the
Bencficiary, submit to arbitration any question, dispute or other matter arising under the Bond Indenture,
the Loan Agreernent, the Master Indenture, this Deed of Trust, or any document relating to the Bonds.

SECT!ON IL6 If, in the gpinion of the institution acling as the

der, any required 1o be executed pursuant to the terms of Sections 11.1 and

11.2 affects any nghl duty, immunity or indemnity with respeet to it under this Deed of Trust, the
Beneficiary may, in its discretion, decline to execute such document.

ARTICLE 12
ENVIRONMENTAL AND LAND USE MATTERS
SECTION 12.1 . The Grantor covenants as follows

{2) the localion, construction, occupancy, operation, and use ofr.hc Murt,gagcd Properties.

does not violate any applicable law (including, withaut timi P of the
Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, the Employee Retiremenl Income Security Act of
1974, the Americans with Dissbilities Act of 1999, and Ny Tules and regulations),

statule, ordinance, rule, order, or det of any go | autherity or any
board of fire underwniters {or other body exercising similar functions), or any restrivtive covenant
or deed restriction (recorded or otherwise) affecting the Mortgaged Properties, including, without
Limitation, all applicable zaning ordinances and building codes, Nood disaster laws, and health
and cnvironmenial laws and regulations (hercinafter sometimes collectively called “Applicable
Regulations™);

(b) neither the Mortgaped Properties nor the Grantor is in viclation of or subject to any
cxisting, pending, or, to the best of the Grantor's knowledge, after due inquiry, threatened
Investigation or inquiry by any governmentai autherity or to any remedial obligations ender any
Application Regu]atmns _peraining w0 health or the envirooment (herein sometimes cu]lx.c!w:ly
called “Applical 1 Law™), without 1 the €
Envi Resp: ion aod Lisbility Act of 1980, 42 U.5.C. $9601 o1 seq, as
amended (“CERCLA™), Lh: Hnurdnus Materials ‘Iransportation Act, 4% U.S.C. {1801 ct seq., as
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ARTICLE 11

AMENDMENTS OF AND SUPPLEMENTS TO THIS
DEED OF TRUST ANT} QTHER DOCUMENTS

SECTION 111 With the prior
written consent of (a) the Beneficiary and the Grantor (bat withour the prior consent of the Bondholders
or notice 10 them) may al any time and from time to time enter inte a supplemental deed of trust for the
purpose of adding provisions to, or changing or climinating provisions of, this Decd of Trust, and (b) the
Grantor and the Beneficiary may execute and deliver any written waiver or modification of the terms of
this Deed of Trust; however, nu such consent shall be necessary 10 empuwer or permil e parties lo this.
Deed of Trust and the other agreements and instruments referred to in Section 11.2 10 execule the
agrcements and insruments and take the actinns referred ta therein for any of the purpnses specified
therein; and provided, further, that without the consent the chulsl(: Pereentage of Holders of eny Bonds
10 be affected by such il ] deed of trust, d 1 . waiver or modification, no
such instument or act shall:

{a) modify any of (he pravisions of Scction 11.2, the definitions of the term “Event of
Dejuuli* as such term ts defined, dircctly or by crossteference, herein {except to add additional
events of default);

(b} reduce, amend or medify any indemnities (except to add additional indemmities) in
favor of the Beneficiary, or

{v} adversely affect the Project or the licn of this Deed of Trust thercon;

however, in no event shall any such supplemental deed of trust or waiver or modification of the tcrms
hereof shall permit the creation of any lien on the Project or any portion thereof, or deprive the Holder of
any Bonds then outstanding of the lien of this Deed of Trust on the Preject. Any supplemental decd of
trust or other agreement, instrument or action made, entered into or taken in 2 mannér inconsistent with or
contrary to the provisions of (hus Article shatl be void and of no effeel.

SECTION 11.2 .
Notice 10, but net consent of, the Bondholders and except as provided below, no written consent under
Section 11.1 shall be required to ¢mpower the Beneficiary at any time or from 1ime 10 tine to enter into
any supplemental deed of trust with the Grantor:

(a) 1o add to the covenants and agreements of the Grantor contained in this Deed of Trust
additional covenants or agresments of the Granter ot conditions or restrictions upen the Grandor,
©or 1o surrender ot climinate any righi, power or privilege granted 10 or conferred upon the Grantor
in this Deed of Trust:

(b) o cure any minor ambiguity, or formal defect or emission, contained herein or in any
of the other said agreements or istruments {provided, however that the interests of the Holders of
the Bonds shall not he adversely atfected thereby);

fc) to correct ar amplify the deseription of the Project {provided, however, that the
interests of the Holders of the Bonds shall not be adversely afiected thereby) or i reflect any
release of any property from the Project pursuant 1o the express terms hercef;

(d) to release fram the tien of this Deed of Trust Tract V described on {or any
other undeveloped property subsequently subjected 1o the ten of this Deed of Trus), so long as
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smended, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA™), 42 US.C. §690] et seq.. as
armended, the Toxic Substance Contral Act of 1976, 14 U.S.C. §2601 ct seq,, as amended, the
Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §466 ct seq., as amended, the Clean Air Act, 42 US.C. §7401, e
scq., as amended, and any other federal, state, or Jocal law similar w0 those set forth in this
definition, and, to the best of the Grantor's knowledge, after due inquiry, this representation and
warranty would continue to be i and correet (ollowing disclosure to the apphicable
govermmentai sutherities of all relevant facts, corditions, and circumstances, if any, pertaining to
the Mortgaged Propertics. if any such igation or mqu:ry is o y initiated, the
Grantgr wilt premptiy netify the Ind Trustee and the B Y:

(c) the Grantor has not obtained and, to the best of the Grantor's knowledge, afler due
inquiry, is not required to obtain any permits, licenses, or similar authnnzanons 10 Constret,
occupy, operate, or use any buildings, imp , fixteres, and forming a part of”
the Mortgaged Properties by reason of any Applicahl: Ervironmental Law,

(d) e Morigaged Properties have not previousty been used 28 2 landfill or as a dump for
parbage or refuse; the Site docs not lie within a flond plain or tn an area that has been identified
by the Secretary of HUD as an area having special flood hazards, er, 1o the extent a portion of the
Site may fall within such flood plain, the Grantar shalt provide sufficient insurance coverage
against sueh huzard. The Granter has nat illegally or improperly manufactured, used, penerated,
slored, found, released, or disposed or any Hazardous Substance (as herein defined) on, under, or
about the Site in violation of applicuble foderal, state, or local law, statute, ordimance, or
regulation {"Law™). The Grantor has no knowledge that any hazardous substance or sohid wastes
have been iltegally er improperly dispesed of or otherwise illegally or improperly relcased on or
abouw the Mortgaged Propertices;

(¢) the Mortguged Properties do oot centzin lead based paint, asbestos,
urcaformaldehyde foam insulation, ov any other chemical, material, or substance exposuTe (o
which may or could posc a health hazard whether or nol the substance is prohibited, limited, or
regulated by any govemnmental authority; and

{f) the use which th: Grantor makes or intends to make of the Morigeped Properties will
not result in the illegal or improper ng, refining, generation,
storupe, disposal, or other release or presence of any Hazardous Substance or solid waste on or to
the Mortgaged Propetties. For purposes of the Deed of Trust, the terms “Hazardons Sebstance™
and “release” shall have the meanings speoified in CERCLA, and the terms “solid waste” und
"“disposal” {or “disposed”} shall have the meanings specificd in RCRA, provided, in the event
cither CERCLA or RCRA is amended se as Lo broaden any meaning of any term defined thereby,
such broader meaning shall apply subsequent to the effestive date of such amendmeni, and
provided, further, to the extent that the laws of the Statc of Texas establish & meaning for
“bazardous substance”, "release”, “solid waste™, or “disposal” which is broader than that
specified in either CERCLA or RCRA, such breader nieaning shall apply; provided, further, that
the term “Hacardous Substance” shall also include thesc listed in the US, Department of
Transpartanon Table (49 CF.R. 172.101) and amendments thereto from time to time.

The forcgoing representations, covenants, and warranties are in addition to, and in no way mit
the representations, covenants, and warranties of the Granter ta the Indentare ‘Trusiet, ihe Master Trustee,
and the Beneficiary under the Loan Agreement andior the Master Indenture,

The Grantor shall immediately advise the Beneliciary in writing of () any governmentai or
regulatory actions institdted er threatened under any Hazardous Material Law affecting all or any part of
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or any interest in the Mortgaged Properties, (h) all claims made or threatened by any third party against
the Grantor or the Mentgaged Proportics relating to damage, contribution, ¢ost récovery, compensalion,
or 1oss or injury resulting from any Hazardous Material, {¢) the discovery of any occurreice or condition
on any real properly adjoining or in the vicinity of the Mortgaged Properiis that could cause the
Mortgaged Prapertics to be classified in a manner which may support & claim under any Hazardous
Mazterial Law, and (d) the discovery of any ot<umence or condition ¢a any pat of the Mortgaged
Propertics or any real property adjoining or in the vicinity of the Mortgaged Properties which could
subject the Grantor or any part of the Mortgaged Propertics to any limitations or resmrictions on the
ownership, occupancy, transferability or use thereof. The Beneficiary may elect (but shall not be
obligated} o jain and participate in any settlements, remedial actions, legal proceedings of other actions
initiated in connection with any claims or responses under any Hazardous Malerial Law and to have its
reasonable attomeys’ fees relating to such participation paid by the Grantor. Al its sole cost and expense,
the Grantor agrees 10 promptly and completely cure and remedy every existmg and futwre vielation of 2
Hazardous Material Law occurring on or with tespect lo any parl of the Mortgaged Properties and to
premptly remeve all Hazardous Materials now or hereafter in, on ot under all ot any part of the
Wortgaged Propertics and to dispese of the same as required by Hazardous Materal Law{s).

Upon written direction by the Beneflciary (by s officers, employees and agents) at any lime and
from time to time (not more than once each calendar year unless an environmental condition is reported
or found 10 exist on 1the Mortgaged Propertics in which event no limit shall appty) shall contract for the
services of persons or entities (the “Site Reviewers™) 1o perform covironmental site assessments (“Site
Assessments”) on all or any pan of the Mongaged Properties 1o determine the existence of any
environmental condition which under any Hazardous Matcrial Law might result in any labikty, cost or
expense W the owner, aceupier or operator of any of the Mortgaped Properties. The Site Reviewers are
authorized 1o enter upon all or any part of the Mortgaged Propertics to conduct Site Assessments. The
Site Reviewers are further authorized to perform both sbove and below the greund testing for
environmental damage or the presence of Hazerdous Materials on any of the Mertgaged Propertics and
such other tests on or of any of the Mongaged Propertiss as the Sile Reviewers, the Beneficiary may
deem necessary.  The Grantor agrees to supply to the Site Reviewers and the Indenture Truslee such
historicai and operational infe garding the Mi d Properties as may be reasonably requested
to fagilate the Sik Asscssments and will make available for meetings with (he Sitc Reviewers
approprialc personnel having knowledge of such matters. The results of Site Assessments shall be
furnished to the Grantor upen ruquest. The cost of performing Site Assessments shall be paid hy the
Grantor.

THE GRANTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, AND HOLD HARMLESS THE INDENTURE
TRUSTEE, THE TRUSTEE, THE ISSUER, BEXAR COUNTY, TEXAS (THE “COUNTY") AND THE
BENEFICIARY, THEIR DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS FROM
AND AGAINST (A} ANY LOSS, LIABILITY, DEMAND, DAMAGE, COST, EXPENSE, CLAIM, ACTION OR
CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING FROM THE IMPOSITION OR RECORDING OF A LIEN, THE INCURRING OF
COSTS OF REQUIRED REFAIRS, REMEDIATION, CLEAN UP OR DETOXIFICATION AND REMOVAL UNDER
ANY HAZARDOUS MATEREAL LAW (INCLUDING OTHER ASSOCIATED COSTS, INTEREST, FEES, AND
PENALTIES) WITH RESPECT TO ALL OR ANY FARY OF THE MORTGAGED PROPERTIES OR LIABILITY
T ANY THIRD PARTY IN CONNECTION WITH ANY VIOLATION OF A HAZARDOUS MATERIAL Law;
(B) ANY OTHER LOSS, LIABILITY, DAMAGE, COST, IXPENSE, OR CLAIM {INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, REASONABLE ATTORNEYS® FEES AND DISEURSEMENTS AND EXPENSES, AND COSTS AND
EXPENSES REASONABLY INCURRED IN INVESTIGATING, PHEPARING, SETTLING OR DEFENDING
AGAINST ANY LITIGATION OR CLAIM, ACTION, SULT, PROCEEDING OR DEMAND OF ANY KIND OR
CHARACTER, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THOSE ARISING BY RFASON OF ANY ACTION TAKEN
WY EACH OF TIE INDENTURE TRUSTEE, THE TRUSTEE, TIE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, AND TUE
BENEFICIARY UNDER TEE DEED OF TRUST, EVEN IF CAUSED BY SUCHI PARTYS OVN NEGLIGENCE OR,
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Cbligations, and all ether instruments and agreements related hereto and thereto to the maximem amount
of interest lawfully permitted to be charged under applicable law. Therefore, none of the werms of this
Deed of Trust, the Sceured Obligations, or any instrument pertaining to or refating to this Deed of Trust or
the Secured Obligations shall ever be construcd to ercate a contract 1o pay interest at a rate in excess of
the maximum tate perminted 1o be charged under applicable law, and neither the Granior nor any ather
party liable or to become liable hereunder, under the Secured Gbligations, or under any other instrurnents
and agreements related hereto and thereto shall ever be labic for intercst in excess of the amount
determined al such maximum rtate, and the provisions of this paragraph shall comtrel over ali other
provasions of this Deed of Trust, the Secured Cbligations, or of ary other instrument pertaining to ar
relating to the transactions hercin contemplated.  If any amount of inlercst taken or received by the
Bencliciary shall be in excess of said maximum amount of interest which, under applicable law, could
lawfully have heen coilested by the Beneficiary incident to such transactions, then such excess shall be
deemed 1o have been the result of a mathematical error by all parties hereto and shall, at the election of
the Benediciary, either be applied as credit against the then unpaid principal amount of the Seeured
Obligations or refunded premptly to the party paying such amount. All amounts pad or agreed 1o be paid
in connection with such wansactions which would under applizable law be deemed “interest” shall, to the
extent permitted by such applicable law, be amortized, prorated, allocated, and spread throughout the
slated term of the Scoured Obligations, “Applicable law™ s used in this paragraph means that law in
effect from time Lo fime which lewfully permits the charging and collection of the highest permissible
lawfel, norusurios rate of interest on the transactiens herein contemplated, including laws of the State of
Texas and of the United States of Americe; and “muximum rate™ as used in this paragraph means, with
respect to each portion of the Secured Obligations, the maximum lawiuY, nonusurious Tate of interest (if
any} which under applicable law the Beneficiary is permitted to charge from time te time with respect to
such portion of the Secured Obligations.

SECTION 13.4 . The Grantor agrees that no othet security, now existing
or hereafter taken. for the Secured Obligations shall be impaired or affected in zny manner by the
execution hereaf; no security subsequently taken by any holder of the Secured Obligations shall impair o
affeet in any manner the security given by this Deed of Trust; alt security for the payment of the Secured
Obligations shall be taken, considered, and huld as cumuiative; and the raking of additional security shall
at no time telease or impair any sceurity by endorsement or otherwise previously given. The Grantor
further agrees that any part of the security herein described may be released withoul in anywise ahicring,
varying. er diminishing the force, eflcet, or lien of this Deed of Trust, or of any renewal or extension of
said lien, and that this Deed of Trust shall continue as a first ten, assignment, and security interest on all
the Mortgaged Properties not expressly released until all Secured Obligations arc fully discharged and
paid.

SECTION 13,5  Suit Mot an Election of . The filing of z suit to foreclose any licn,
Bssignment, of security interest under this Deed of Trust either on any matured portions of the Secured
Obligations or for all Secured Obligations shall never be considered &n clection so as (v preclude
foreclosure under any power of sate herein contained afier dismissal of the suit.

SECTION 13.6 - The term “Grantor” 28 used herein shall include not
onty the party designated as the Gramior that exccutes this Deed of Trust but also the respective legal
Tepresentalives, Successors and assigns of sach party. Whengver the context requires, the gender of words
used herein shall include the masculine, feminine, and neuter, and nurmber of words used herein shall
inchude the singular and the plural.

SECTION 3.7  Notices. Any netice required or permitted 1o be given hereunder by one

party to another shalt b in writing and shall be given, except where a particular niethod is otherwise
specificd in this Deed of Trust, using one or more of the following methods: {a) delivered in person t the
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AS TO THE ISSUER AND THE COUNTY, ITS GROSS NEGLIGENCE), WHICH MAY BE INCURRED BY OR
ASSERTED AGAINST THE ENDENTURE TRUSTEE, THE TRUSIEE, THE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, AND THE
BENEFICIARY, ITS DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOVEES, SUCCESSORS OR ASSIGNS, DIRECTLY OR
INDIRECTLY, AHISING FROM THE PRESENCE ON OR LNDER, OR THE DISCHARGE, EMISSION OR
RELEASE FROM ANY OF THE MORTGAGED PROPERTIES INTO OR UPOR THE LAND, ATMOSPHERF, QK
ANY WATERCOURSE, BODY OF SLURFACF. OR SUBSURFACE WATER OR WETLAND, ARISING FROM THE
INSTALLATION, TUSE, GENERATION, MANUFACTURE, THEATMENT, HANDLING, REFINING,
PRODUCTION, PROCESSING, STORAGE, REMOVAL, REMEDIATION CLEAN UP OR DISPGSAL OF ANY
RAZARDOUS MATERIAL WHETHER OR NG CAUSED BY THE GRANTOR; (C) LOSS OF YALUE QF ANY CF
THE MORTGAGED PROPERTIES A5 A RESULT OF ANY SUCH LIEN, REMEDIATION CLEAN UP,
BETOXIFICATION, LOSS, LIABILITY, DAMACGE, EXPENSE OR CLAIM OR A FAILURE OR DEFECT IN TITLE
OCCASIONED BY ANY HAZARDOUS MATERIAL OR HAZARDOUS MATEREAL Law: AND (D) ALL
FORESEEABLE AND UNFORESEEABLE INCIDENTAL AND CONSEQUENTLAL DAMAGES. THE GRANTOR
SHALL DEFEND SUCH CLAIM, AND THE INDENTURE TRUSTEE, THE TRUSTEE, TRE JS5UUFR AND THE
EBENEFICIARY, AS THE CASE MAY BE, SIIALL COOPERATE IN THE DEFENSE. THE INDENTURE
TRUSTEE, THE TRUSTEE, THE ISSUER, THE COUNTY, AND THE BENEFICIARY MAY HAVE SEPARATE
COUNSEL AND THE GRANTOR $HALL FAY THE FEES AND EXFENSES OF SUCH COUNSEL,

Notwilhstanding any other provision of this Deed of Trust ta the contrary, the Indenture Trustee
ray first require, in the exercise of its sole and unlimited discretion, that it receive (2) a Phase 1 or other
environmental report in form and substance satisfactory to it and (b} indernilcation for all costs and
cxpenses incurred in commection therewith, before the Trustee shall be required W foreclose apon or tzke
possession or title o any Mortgaged Property in connesction with an Event of Defaulr. Further, if the
Indenture Trustee determines, in the exercise of its sole and unlimited discretion, that 1 does not desire to
become the owner of, or talte possession of such real property or improvements thereon, in its capacity as
Trustee or Indenure Trustee, the Trustee shali not be required to proceed with such foreclosure or to take
possession, und shail give written notice of such determination to the Issuer. If the Bondholders (as
defined in the Bond Indenture) nonetheless desirc to proceed with foreclosure and so notify the Indenture
Trustee in writing, the ndentwre Trustee may resign, and such tesignation shali become effective upon
the appointment of a successor trustee in wccordance with the provisions hereof. THE INDENTURE
TRUSTEZE SHALL IIAVE NQ OELIGATION TO INDEMNIFY OR OTHERWISE COMPENSATE ANY SUCH
SUCCESSOR INDENTURE TRUSTEE FOR ANY LOSS, COST, OR EXPENSE ARISING DUT OF AXY SUCH
FORECLOSURE GR OTHER MATTER, AND IF ANY SUCH SUCCESSOR INDENTURE TRUSTEE REQUESTS
SUCH INDEMNIFICATION, THE HONDHOLDEKS SHALL HAVE THE SOLE RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PROVIDING SUCE INDEMNIFICATION.

ARTICLE 13
MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 13,1 . Inthe event any item, term, or provision contained in this Deed
of Trust is i conflict or muy be held hereafter 10 be in conflict with any applicable Jaws, this Deed of
Trust shall be affected only as to its application to such item, torm, or provisicn and shall in all other
respeets remain in full furce and effect.

SECTION 13.2 - All article and scetion titles or captions contained in this
Deed of Trust of i any schedule or exhibit hereto are for convenience only and shall not be deemed a part
of this Deed of Trust and shall not affect the meaning or interprexation of this Deed of Trust,

SECTION 1.3 The Grantor and the Bencficiary specifically inlend
and agree to limil contractually the ameunt of interest payable under this Deed of Trust, the Scoured
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address set forth below for the party to whom the notice s given; (b} placed in the United States mail with
postage prepaid, certified or registered mail retumn receipt requested, properly addressed to such party at
the address hereinafier specified; (c) transmitted by telegram or by telecopy (with the origina! to be sent
the same day by nationally recognized ovemight delivery service); or (d) deposited into the custedy of @
natienally recognized ovemight delivery service, such as Federal Express Corporation, addressed to such
party at the address herein speeificd. Any nolice given in the abuve manner shall be deemed effective (1)
if given by mail, three days ailer its deposit into the custady of the 1.8, postal service {exccpt as to the
Tadenture Trustce for whom notice shall be effective only upen reecipty; or (i) if employing any other
method, upon receipt. The addresses for notices for the Beneficiary and the Grantor under this Deed of
Trust and for all notices hereunder shall be as follows:

1f to the Beneficiary
and the Indenrare Trustes:
The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.
600 North Pearl, Suite 420
Dallas, Texas 75201
Attn: Corporate Trust Department

Army Retirement Residence Supporting Foundation
7400 Crestway Drive

San Antonin, Texas 78239-3091

Aftention: Executive Director

If Lo the Granor:

and

The Army Reti 1d F 1 San Antonio
7400 Crestway Drive

San Anlonio, TX 78233-1091

Attention: Execative Director

Bexar County Heahb Facilities Development Corporation
Bexar County Courthouse, Surte 101

100 Delorosa

‘San Antonio, TX 78205

Atm: President

If to Issuer:

Tamara Ellis

/o The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A,
600 North Pear], Suite 420

Dailas, Texas 75201

[fto Trusiee:

SECTION 13.8 I ois
expressly agreed that any of the Sceured Obligations at any time secured heraby may be from time to time
extended for any period, reartanged, or renewed, and that any part of the sccurity herein described, or any
other security for the Secured Obligations may be waived or released without i anywise allering, varying
or diminishing the fotce, effect, or ken of this Deed of Trust as lo unaffected property.

SECTION 139 Gowverning Law, THIS DEED OF TRUST SHALL BE GOVERNED IN ALL

HRESPECTS INCLUDING VALIDITY, IXTERPRETATION ANI» EFFECT BY, AND SHALL BE ENFORCEABLE 1%
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF TIE STATE OF TEXAS,
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SECTION 13.10 No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Deed of
Trust, nor consent 1o any deparure by the Grantor therefrom, shall in any event ba effective unless the
same is consented 1o in writing by the Beneficlary and is in writing and signed by the Grantor, the
[ndenture Trustee, and the Issuer and is accomplished in accordance with Anicle 11, and then such waiver
or consent shell be effective only in the specific smstance and for the specific purpose for which given.

SECTION 13.11 . This Deed of Trust shall be binding upon the Granter and its
sugcessors and assigns and shall inwre to the benefic of the Beneficiary and its respective successers,
trangferees, and assigns, and no person othur than the Beneficiary and its soceessors, transferces, and
assigns shall under any cireumistances be deemed to be a bencficiary of any provision of this Deed of
Trust. Withowt limiting the g ity of the fc g, the B ¥ may assign, grant a security
interest in, or otherwise transfer this Deed of Trust 10 any other person ar entity, and such other person or
entity shal! theréupon become vested with all the benefits in respect thereof granted to the Beneficiary
herein or gtherwise. Upon execution and delivery of the Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture to the
Beneficiary, all appeintments, designations, i ies, covenants, remedics,
fle, witerest, privileges, directions, permits, liconses, and rights of every kind whalsoever herein
canferred upon the Beneficiary shall be deemed 10 be conferred also upon the Beneficiary, in its capacity
&5 the Indenture Trustee under the Bond Indenture. The Grantor agrees that the assignments made of this
Deed of Trust shall not subject the Beneficiary 10 or ransfer or pass or in any way affect or modify any
obligation of the Grantor under the Loan Agreement, the Master Indenture, the Bonds, or this Deed of
Trust, it being understood and agreed that all such obligations of the Grantor shall be and remain
enforceable only against the Grantor,

SECTION 13,12 - The Grantor shall do and perform all acts necessary to keep
valid and effective the charges and len hereof, to earry into effect its objective and purposes, and to
pratect (i} the position of the lawfui Holders of the Bonds and (i} the other Secured Obligalions.
Promptly upon request by the Beneficiary and at the Grantor's expensc, the Grantor shall execute,
acknowledge, and deliver ko the Beneficiary or the Indenwre Trustee such other and further instruments
and do such other acts 2s in the reasonable opimion of the Beneficiary that may be necessary or
appropriaie 1o {a} grant 10 the Beneficiary and the Indenture Trustee fbe highest available perfected ben
on all of the Monigaged Properties; (b) grant 1o the Beneficiary and the Indenture Trustee, to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable law, the right o forevlose an the Mortgaged Properties nonjudicially; {c)
correct any defect, error, or omission which may be discovered in the contents of this instrement or any
ather Document, (4} identify more fully and subjeet (o the liens, encumbrances, and security interests and
assignments created hereby any property intended by the terms hereol to be coversd hereby (including,
withgut Iimiitation, any rencwals, addif b 1oms, il or 10 the
Mortgaged Propenties), (¢) assure the first priarity hereof and thereof, and (1) otherwise effect the intent of
this Deed of Trust. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Grantor shall promptly and,
insofar as not contrary 1o appliceble law, al the Grantor’s awn expense, record, rerecord, file, and refile in
such offices, as such times and as often as may be necessary, this instrument, additional mertgages and
deeds of trust, and every other instrument in additien or supplementa! hereto, ncluding applicable
financing siatements, as may be necessary to create, perfect, maiptain, and preserve the liens,
encumbratices, and security interests intended to be created hereby and the nights and remedies of the
Beneficiary and the Indenture Trustee hereunder. Upon request by the Beneficiary, the Grantor shall
supply evidence of fulfillment of each of the herein ined ing which 1 request for
such evidence has been made.

SECTION 13,13 Capitalized terms herein shall have the meanings
described in Section 1.1, unless the context requires otherwise
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N WITNESS WHEREOF, the Grantor has executed this Deed of Trust as of the date first above:
writien,
ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE SUPPORTING

FOUNDATION,
a Texas non-profit

ADDRESS OF GRANTOR:
7400 Crostway Drive
San Antenio, Texas 78239-3091

By
Title:

THE ARMY RETIREMENT RESIDENCE
FOUNDATION-SAN ANTONIO,

B of Columbia non-profil corporation
THE STATE OF TEXAS §
§
COUNTY OF BEXAR §
1 was e bofore me on the L8M%day of Dz, 2006 by
the of Army Relicement Residence Supporting

Foundation, a Texas non-profit corporation gh behalf af such corporation,

(SEAL)
Notery and for the Stalc of
MARY BETH BRADLEY
(Printed  ame of Notary}
My commission cxpires: 2780
018877 3
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SECTION 13.14 Without the prier written consent of the
Beneficiary, which consent may be withheld for any reason whatsecver at the sole and abselute discretion
of the Benefrciary, the Crantor shall not and shall not consent to drilling or exploring for or extraction,
removal, or production of minerals ftom the surface or subsurface of the Land. The term “minerals™ a5
used herein shall include, without Iimmiting the generality of such term, oil, gas, casinghead gas, coal,
lignite, hydrocarbons, methane, carbon dioxide, helium, uranium and ail other natural elements,
compounds and substances, including sand and gravel.

SECTION 1315 “Cons . This Deed of Trust is a “Construction Mortgage™
as defined in Texas Business and Comumeroe Code Seetion 9,334,

SECTION 13.16 . Nothing contained in the Loan Documents is
intended to create any partnership, Joint venture, or association between the Grantor and the Beneficiary,
or in any way make the Beneficiary a co-pringipal with the Grantor with reference to the Mongaged
Froperties, and any inferences to the contrary arc hereby expressly negated.

SECTION 13.17  Submission to Jurisdiction. Without limiting the right of the Beneficiary to
bring any action or proceeding against the undersigned or iis property arising out of ar relating 1o the
Secured Obligations (an “Actton”) in the courts of other jurisdictions, the Grantor hereby irrevovably
submits 1o the jurisdiction of a Texas court in Bexar Counly or any federal court sitting in the Southern
District of Texas, and the Grantor hereby imevocably agrees thal any Action may be heard and
determined in such Texas state court of in such federal court.

SECTION 1118 Busine . The Grantor warmants that the extension of
credit evidenced by the Bonds secured hereby is solely for business or cotnenercial purposes, other than
agricubtural purposes,

THE LOAN AGREEMENT, THIS DEED OF TRUST, THF, BONDS, THE BOXD INDENTURE, THE
MASTER INDENTURE, TOGETHER WITH THE OTHER DOCUMENTS AND INSTRUMENTS CREATING,
EVIBENCING, AND SECURING THE SECURED OBLIGATICGNS, REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENT OF
THE PARTIES HERETO AND THERETO AND MAY NOT BE CONTRARICTED BY EVIDENCE OR ORAL
AGREEMENTS OF THE UNDERSIGNED PARTIES, WHETHER MADE BEFORE, ON OR AFTER THE DATE OF
TS DFED OF TRUST. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE UNDERSIGNED
PARTIES.
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TIHE STATE OF TEXAS §
COUNTY OF BEXAR §

before me o (e 11’5 dauy of Dee, 2005 by
of The Army Retirement Residence Foundation-San:
Antonio, a Distriet of Columbia non-profit corporation on behalf of such corperation.

(SEAL)
MARY BETH BRAILEY Nofary Public in 1he State of Texas
Ty £ O s
o8 e b 28, 2008
(Printed of Notary}
My commission cxpires: 2-—15-'5 ?
01738878 52



EXHIBIT A
Description of Real Property

Tract L Lot 2, Block 1, Army Retirement Community Unit-2 Subdivision, Bexar County, Texas,
acsording 1o plat thercof recorded in Volume 9515, Page 96-97, Deed and Plat Rocords of Bexar County,

cxas.

Tract IL: Lot 3, Block 1, Army Retirement Commuruty Unit 3 Subdivision, Bexar County, Texas,
according 1o plat thereof recorded in Volume 9524, Page 130, Deed and Plat Records of Bexar Counly,

‘exas.

Tract 1T Lot 4, Block 1, Army Retirement Community Unit 4 Subdivision, Bexar County, Texas,
according 1o plat thereof recorded in Volume 9538, Page 58, Deed and Plat Records of Bexar County,

Texas.

TraciIV: A 6.0000 acre mact of land out of County Block 3051, William Winford Survey No. 326,
Abstract 798, Bexar County, Texas and being mere particularly deseribed in Exhibit A-1, attached hereta

and made a part hereof.

Tract V: A 75.00 acre (3,267,000 square feel) tract of land out of 92.831% acres of land more or
1ess, out of the Wiltiam Winford Survey No. 326, Abstract 793, County Block 5051, the Charles Irwin
Survey No, 43, Abstraci 367, County Block 5072 and the Richard Bushel Survey No. 325, Abstract 46,
County Block 5052 in Bexar County, Texas. The said 32,8319 acres as descrived in Deed of Trust
recorded in Yolume 5350, Page 855 of the Deed of Trust Records of Bexar Couanty, Texas, fronts on the
south side and on the west side of Miller Road, approxi Iy 11 milesina s 1y direction from
the Courthouse in Bexar County, Texas; said 75.00 acre tract of land being more particularly deseribed by
metes and bounds oo Exhibil A-Z, anached hereto and made a part hereof.

{remainder of the page intentionally blank)

THENCE Nonth 74 degrees 49 minutes 00 seconds West, 310.31 feel to 2 172 inch iron rod found for the
most southwesterly corner of the herein described tract of land;

THENCE North 16 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West, 620.75 foet 1o a 5/8 inch iron od set of comer;
THENCE South 74 degrees 00 minutes 00 sveonds East, 203.96 feet to a 5/5 inch iron rod set of comer;

THENCE North 43 degrees 42 minutes 24 seconds Bast, 770.49 feet 1o a 578 inch iron rod sct of comer on
the southerly right of way line of Miller Road being the most northwesterly comer of the herein
deseribed tract of land;

THENCE South 74 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds East, 2936.00 feet along the southerly right of way
line of Miller Road 10 a 1/2 inch capped iron rod found for the point of curvature of 2 curve lo the right;

THENCE in a southerly direction along said curve to the right having a radius of 274.80 feet, ceniral
angle of 90 degrees 02 minutes 00 seconds {chord bears South 28 degrees 59 minutes 00 seconds East,
388.74 feel) and an arc lengih of 43 81 feet 1o 3 5/8 inch iron rod set for the point of tangency in said
western it of way line of Miller Road;

THENCE South 16 degrees 02 minutes 00 scconds West, along said westerly Tight of way line of Miller
Road, 213.85 feet 1o the POINT OF BEGINNNING and point of closure containing 7500 acres af lund

C-1-49

EXRIBIT A-2
METES AND BOUNDS DESCRIPTION OF 7500 ACRES OF LAND

319 acres of
stract 793, C

oF less conla 50.19
k3051 and 4 actes out

Lourses;
39 deprees 07 m 00 see 91.70 feet Lo an angle point on the westerly 1
: B y right of way
iller Road ar the of the tioned cut back Jine; ¢ !
164 02 minwe € Fast, ng the wes line of Miller
5¢8 on tod set e TOF of the here

THENCE North 74 degraes 00 minutes 00 scconds West, 420.00 feet to a 5/8 inch iren rod sct for comer;
THENCE South 16 degrees 00 ininutes 06 seconds West, 182.97 feet to & 3/8 inch izon rod set for comer;
THENCE North 74 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West, 763.40 foet 10 a 5/8 inch iron rod set for comer;
THENCE Sauth 16 degrees D2 minutes 00 seconds West, 193,55 feet 1o 2 5/8 inch iron rod set of comer;
THENCE Norih 72 degrees 51 minutes 22 seconds West, 417.99 fect {0 a 5/8 inch iron rod set of corner;
THENCE North 16 degrecs 90 minutes 0 seconds East, 214.57 feet to 2 5/8 inch iron rod set of comer;
THENCI: Morth 74 degrees 51 minutes 22 seconds West, 495.63 feet 10 2 5/8 inch iron rod set of comer;
THENCE South 16 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West, 151.95 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod set of comer;

THENCE Korth 74 dogrees 31 minutes 22 scconds West, 531.24 feet 10 2 5/8 inch iton rod set of comer;

THENCE South 16 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West, 93.00 feet 10 2 5/8 ingh iron rod set of carner;
THENCE Nerth 74 degrees 00 miinutcs 09 sceonds West, $66.00, fect to a 3/8 inch iron rod set of comer;
THENCE South 16 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds West, 368,20 feet to a 578 inch fron rod set of cormer,

THENCE North 74 degrees 1 minutes 00 seeands West, 358 58 feet to 2 548 inch iron rod set of comer;

EXHIBITB

Permitted Encumbrances

1 Various casements cstablished by, and shown on plat recotded in Velume 9515, Page 96-97,
Bexar County Deed and Plat Rerords.

2 Electric easement granted to San Antonio Public Service Company by instrument regorded in
Volume 1803, Page 407, Bexar County Deed Records.

3. Electric casernent granted to San Antonio Public Service Company by imstrument recorded in
Volume 1827, Page 198, Bexar County Desd Records.,

4 Telephone easement granted to Southwestern Bell Telephone Company by instrument recorded in
Volume 1881, Page 443, Bexar County Deed Records,

5 Pipcline casement, 30 feet wide, yranted to Texas Gas Pipeline Company by instrument recorded
in Violurne 2976, Page 1687, Real Preperty Records of Bexar County, Texas.

6. C.P.S, easement, 135 fect wide, as shown on plat recorded in Velume 9513, Page 96-97, Bexar
County Deed and Plat Recards, and granted to the City of San Amonio by instrument recorded in
Volume 6163, Page 65, Bexar Caunty Deed Records; and as shown on plat recorded in Volume
9538, Page 58, Bexar County Deed and Plat Records.

7 Easements established by and as shown on plat recorded in Volume 9524, Page 130, Deed and
Plat Recerds of Bexar County, Texas.

8. Easements established by and shown on plat recorded in Volume %538, Page 58, Deed and Plat
Records of Buxar County, Texas.

9 Building sctback line, 25 feet wide, along Crestway Road property line, and 25 fect wide, along
the Miller Road property line, as shown on plat recorded in Volume 9515, Page 86-37, of the
Deed and Plat Recards of Bexar County, Texas.

14. Building setback lin